CITY OF Alpharetta

Comprehensive Plan 2025 Edition

Population Economic Development Natural Resources Facilities & Services Intergovernmental Coordination Land Use Transportation Housing



For Information Contact:

Department of Community Development 287 South Main Street Alpharetta, GA 30004 Tel: 678.297.6070 Fax: 678.297.6071 www.alpharetta.ga.us Arthur Letchas Mayor

D.C. Aiken, Council Member Douglas J. DeRito, Council Member Debbie Gibson, Council Member R.J. Kurey, Council Member Jim Matoney, Council Member Jim Paine, Council Member

Robert J. Regus City Administrator

Diana Wheeler, Community Development Director Brian Patton, Zoning Administrator Lynn Pierson, Plans Administrator James T. Drinkard, Economic Development Coordinator Kathi Cook, Boards Administrator Eric Graves, Traffic Engineer





Introduction



Population



Economic Development







Community Facilities and Services







Land Use



Transportation



Housing



Plan Implementation



Appendices

Table of Contents

Introduction	
Alpharetta's Vision	1-1
The Planning Process	1-1
Step 1: Inventory and Assessment	1-2
Step 2: Statement of Needs and Goals	1-2
Step 3: Implementation Strategy	1-2
Plan Elements	1-2
Population	1-2
Economic Development	1-2
Natural and Historic Resources	1-2
Community Facilities	1-3
Transportation Network	1-3
Housing	1-3
Land Use	1-3
Annexation Plan	1-3
Population Element	
Introduction	2-1
Population and Household Trends	2-1
Population and Household Forecasts	2-2
Comparison in Rates of Growth	2-2
Age Distribution	2-4
Racial Composition	2-6
Educational Attainment	2-6
Income	2-9
Assessment — Population	2-10
Economic Development Element	
Introduction	3-1
Economic Development Action Plan	3-1
Setting – The Region	3-2
Setting – The Alpharetta Area	3-3
Economic Base Inventory	3-5
Employment by Sector	3-6
Sector Earnings	3-8
Sources of Personal Imcome	3-9
Major Development Trends	3-11
Retail Trade and Services	3-11
Construction	3-13
Manufacturing and Wholesale Trade	3-13
Unique Economic Actvities	3-13
-	

Downtown Enhancement	3-13
Communication Network	3-14
Master Planned Developments	3-14
Labor Force Analysis	3-15
Education	3-15
Labor Force Participation	3-15
Unemployment	3-16
Commuting Patterns	3-16
Local Economic Development Resources	3-18
Development Agencies	3-18
City of Alpharetta Office of Economic Development	3-18
Alpharetta Development Authority	3-18
North Fulton Chamber of Commerce	3-18
Metro Atlanta Chamber of Commerce	3-18
Fulton County Economic Development Office	3-19
Resources—Programs and Tools	3-19
North Fulton Chamber of Commerce Workforce Development	3-19
Quick Start	3-19
Georgia Center for Advanced Telecommunications Technology (GCATT)	3-20
Yamacraw	3-20
Georgia Power Company, Economic Development Division	3-20
Georgia Department of Industry, Trade and Tourism	3-20
Georgia Electric Membership Corporation	3-21
Downtown Alpharetta Partners Program	3-21
Georgia Business Expansion Support Act	3-21
Community Improvement Districts	3-23
Special Tax Programs	3-23
Development Impact Fees	3-24
Assessment—Economic Development	3-24
Natural and Historic Resources Element	
Introduction	4-1
Public Water Supply Sources	4-1
Water Resources	4-1
Water Supply Watersheds	4-1
Groundwater Recharge Areas	4-2
Wetlands	4-3
Rivers and Streams	4-4
Coastal Resources	4-4
Flood Plains	4-4
Climate	4-5
Topography	4-5
Soil Types	4-5
Prime Agricultural and Forest Land	4-6
Prime Agricultural Land	4-6
Forest Land	4-6

Plant and Animal Habitats	4-7
Major Parks, Recreation Areas and Conservation Areas	4-8
Greenways Plan	4-8
Governor's Greenspace Program	4-8
Scenic Views and Sites	4-10
Air Quality	4-11
Historic Resources	4-15
Historic Resources Survey	4-16
Downtown	4-17
Northwest Area	4-17
Organizations	4-18
Assessment of Current and Future Needs	4-18
Land Use	4-18
Regulations	4-19
Education	4-20
Historic Preservation	4-20
Cultural Resources	4-20
Community Facilities and Services Element	
Introduction	5-1
General Government	5-1
Water Supply and Treatment	5-2
Sewerage System and Wastewater Treatment	5-3
Solid Waste Management	5-4
Public Safety	5-4
Police	5-4
Fire	5-5
Public Health Facilities and Services	5-6
Recreation and Open Space	5-7
Future Needs	5-8
Educational Facilities	5-9
Libraries and Other Cultural Facilities	5-10
Assessment of Needs	5-11
Intergovernmental Coordination	
Existing Conditions	6-1
Adjacent Local Governments	6-1
School Boards	6-2
Independent Special Districts	6-2
Independent Development Authorities	6-3
Other Units of Local Government	6-3
Utility Companies with Condemnation Powers	6-3
Interrelated State Programs and Activities	6-4
Atlanta Regional Commission	6-4
Governor's Greenspace Program	6-4
Coastal Management	6-4

Appalachian Regional Commission	6-4
Water Planning Districts	6-4
Georgia Department of Transportation	6-5
Georgia Regional Transportation Authority	6-5
Metropolitan Atlanta Rapid Transit Authority	6-6
Transportation for Non-Attainment Areas	6-6
Assessment	6-6

Land Use Element	
Introduction	7-1
Development Patterns Today	7-1
Residential	7-1
Commercial/Retail	7-2
Offices	7-3
Industrial	7-3
Transportation, Communications and Utilities	7-3
Public and Institutional	7-3
Parks, Recreation and Conservation	7-4
Agriculture and Forestry	7-4
Undeveloped	7-4
Existing Land Use	7-5
Influences on Future Development	7-5
Historic Patterns of Growth	7-5
Land Use and Infrastructure Patterns	7-6
Areas of Transitional Land Use	7-8
Incompatible Land Use Relationships	7-8
Market Forces and Development Policies	7-8
Environmentally Sensitive Areas	7-9
Infill Development Patterns	7-9
Land Resources for Future Development	7-9
Outlook for Development	7-10
Opportunities	7-11
Constraints	7-11
Development Assumptions	7-12
Future Land Use	7-12
Future Land Use Plan Map	7-12
Interpretation	7-13
Future Land Use Categories	7-13
Residential Estate	7-14
Residential	7-14
Commercial	7-14
Industrial	7-15
Transportation/Communications/Utilities	7-15
Parks/Recreation/Open Space	7-15
Public/Institutional	7-15
Agriculture/Forestry	7-15

Undeveloped	7-16
Downtown Development Plan	7-20
Design Guidelines	7-20
Land Use Assessment	7-21
Transportation Network	
Introduction	8-1
Roads	8-1
Bridges	8-2
Signalization and Signage	8-2
Alternative Modes of Transportation	8-3
Transit	8-3
Pedestrian and Bikeway System	8-4
Railroads	8-5
Airports	8-6
Requirements for Non-Attainment Areas	8-6
Assessment	8-8
Housing Element	
Introduction	9-1
Housing Stock Inventory	9-1
Housing Type, Age and Condition	9-1
Trends in Housing Construction	9-3
Housing Occupancy Characteristics	9-4
Housing Value and Activity	9-5
Assessment and Future Growth Needs	9-6
North Main Street Area	9-6
Thompson Street Area	9-6
Properties North of Marietta Street and East of Wills Road	9-7
Trailer Street Area	9-7
Canton Street Area	9-7
Workforce and Senior Housing	9-7
Future Growth Needs	9-8
Plan Implementation	
	10.1
Introduction	10-1
Implementation Process Communication	10-1
	10-1
Formal Adoption Continuous Monitoring	10-1
-	10-1
Implementation Tools Detailed Planning Studies	10-1
Unified Development Code	10-1
Capital Improvements Program	10-2
Inducements	10-2 10-2
Indecidenti	10-2

Citizen Involvement	10-2
Overarching Implementation Strategy	10-3
Goals and Strategies	10-3
Economic Development Goal	10-3
Natural, Historic and Scenic Resources Goal	10-4
Community Facilities and Services Goal	10-5
Transportation Goal	10-7
Housing Goal	10-8
Land Use Goal	10-9
Annexation Goal	10-11
Short Term Work Program	10-12
Plan Amendments and Updates	10-12
Annual Plan Review	10-12
Updates to the Short Term Work Program	10-13
Minor Plan Amendments	10-13
Major Plan Amendments	10-13
Fifth Year Review and Tenth Year Plan Update	10-13

Appendices

Roadway Inventory	Α
Bridge Inventory	В
Traffic Signal Inventory	С
Capital Improvement Element	D
Short-Term Work Program	Е
Report of Accomplishments	F
Solid Waste Management Plan	G

1. Introduction

The Alpharetta Comprehensive Plan is a long-range plan for guiding development in the city for the next twenty years. The overall goal of the plan is to accommodate development in a timely, orderly, and efficient arrangement of land uses and public facilities and services that meet the needs of the present and future residents and businesses of Alpharetta. In addition, the plan encompasses neighboring areas outside of the city limits that may be considered for annexation.

The City has been on the forefront of planning for over two decades. The original Comprehensive Plan for the city was revised in 1973, and subsequently given a major update in 1989 following a period of extraordinary growth in land area and development activity. That update was supplemented with an Addendum in 1992 that brought the 1990 census data into the plan and included items then required to meet Georgia's new Comprehensive Plan guidelines. Another major update was completed in 1995 and in 2000 extending the planning horizon to 2020, consolidating various portions of past plan publications and separate functional plans into a single text, and adding a number of items needed to meet the State guidelines.

This update has been undertaken for several reasons. During the last 6 years the city has once again experienced explosive growth, and therefore population and employment projections are greater than projected in the 2000 plan.

This plan update has been prepared within the context of an overall vision for the city that emerged during plan development. This vision guides the goals and strategies created under each of the plan elements, as well as overall implementation of the plan's recommendations. This Comprehensive Plan is the City's vision and intent to provide guidance for the city's future growth. Nothing contained in this Plan is meant to provide any vested property right or any other right. The vision is simply stated as:

Our Vision is to advance Alpharetta as a Signature City by ...

- Offering the highest quality of environment for our residents and businesses,
- A strong sense of community including a safe and secure environment, and
- Providing a business climate that attracts the top echelon companies.

■ The Planning Process

Georgia's Minimum Planning Standards and Procedures require that all local government Comprehensive Plans follow a specific planning process in their development. This process consists of the following three steps, as described by the Georgia Department of Community Affairs. The results of these steps are interwoven into the plan elements that follow.

Step 1: Inventory of Existing Conditions

In order to plan for the future, a community must know about its existing conditions. This step answers the questions "what do we have as a community?" and "What is good or bad about our community?" Once completed, this step provides a picture of the existing conditions within a community.

Step 2: Assessment of Current and Future Needs

Based upon the inventory and assessment, existing community needs are identified and goals for future growth and development are prepared. These goals provide guidance for the community and the framework from which detailed policies and recommendations are developed. This step of the planning process answers the question "where do we want to go?"

Step 3: Community Goals and Implementation Program

This step combines all of the plan's recommendations and describes how they will be implemented. This step answers the question "How are we going to get there?" The Minimum Planning Standards and Procedures also require that a Short-Term Work Program be prepared as part of the Implementation Strategy. The Short-Term Work Program is a listing of specific actions that a local government anticipates taking over the next five years to implement its plan. The Implementation Strategy and its Short-Term Work Program is to ensure that the plan will become a working tool which will be used to guide decision-making rather than being just another unused report on the shelf.

Plan Elements

The basic planning process is applied to each of the planning elements required in the State's Minimum Planning Standards and Procedures. The following briefly describes the elements of Alpharetta's Comprehensive Plan—2025.

Population

This element provides the foundation for the plan. In order to plan for the future, the city must have a general idea of approximately how many people to plan for. The Minimum Planning Standards and Procedures require that all local plans contain an analysis of historical population, estimated population and projected population. Only Step 1, Inventory and Assessment, of the planning process is applied to the Population element.

Economic Development

This element provides an inventory and assessment of the city's economic base and its labor force. An analysis of the past trends of a the city's economic base and its labor force, as well as an analysis of regional comparisons in these areas, will provide insight into the city's economic health. An understanding of the city's economy is necessary in order to develop goals and strategies for the city's future economic development.

Natural and Historic Resources

This element provides an inventory and assessment of the city's natural features (topography, wetlands, prime agricultural and forest land, plant and animal habitats, etc.) and historic resources (historic homes,

landmark buildings, etc.). Goals, objectives, and polices are developed to address the impact that future population growth and its related development could have on these resources, as well as what role they could play in economic development.

Community Facilities

This element provides an inventory and assessment of the various services that are provided by the City, Fulton County or others. Existing needs are identified. The impact of future population growth on public services such as police protection, water and sewer service, schools, and garbage disposal is addressed. Goals and strategies are developed to address the future provision of community facilities.

Transportation Network

Although roads, transit, sidewalks and bikeways are technically "community facilities," their importance is recognized as a separate element of the plan. Existing needs are assessed and the improvements needed to serve future growth are identified, leading to goals and strategies for future system expansion.

Housing

This element provides an inventory and assessment of the city's housing. The inventory includes the age, type, condition, and location of housing units within the city. Based upon population projections, a rough estimate of the number of additional housing units needed to house the city's future population can be made. Goals and strategies are developed to address existing needs and the future provision of housing in the community.

Land Use

This element provides an inventory and assessment of how land is used in the city. The estimated acreage of each land use type is calculated and projections are made of the amount of land required for each land use type. Goals and strategies are developed to address existing land use problems and to address how the city's land should be used in future years.

Annexation Plan

Though not an element required by the State, it is important for the City to plan ahead with regard to areas of potential annexation. This element provides priorities for annexation of areas that would increase the effectiveness of delivering services such as public safety, and includes areas where land development would play a significant role in the realization of the City's vision.

2. Population Element

Introduction

This chapter provides basic information about Alpharetta's residents, including trends over the past several decades, the population's characteristics as of 2000, and forecasts of the future. When combined with development opportunities and constraints contained in the Historic and Natural Resources Chapter, this Chapter provides a basis for the Community Facilities, Housing and Land Use Chapter of the Comprehensive Plan. Future population and household data, along with future employment forecasts contained in the Economic Development Chapter, help determine demand for housing and employment opportunities, infrastructure improvements, and land development patterns that are consistent with the goals and policies established in the other Chapters of the plan.

Located 28 miles north of downtown Atlanta, for the past decade the City of Alpharetta has been one of the fastest-growing cities in the fastest-growing area of the Atlanta Region—the northern arc. Growth in the northern portion of the Region will continue to outpace the Region as a whole, and Alpharetta will share in this continued pace of development, but at a relatively slower pace as more growth in the Region shifts to the rural northern counties. The demography of this growth in terms of population and household characteristics is discussed below.

Population and Household Trends

Since 1980, Alpharetta has experienced explosive growth. The city's population increase to 1990 exceeded *four times* the 1980 population, adding some 10,000 residents. During the decade of the 1990s, the pace of growth dropped to about 2.7 times the 1990 population, but another 22,000 people became city

ousehol	d Irend	IS		
1980	1985	1990	1995	2000
				2000
3,128	8,065	13,002	19,073	34,854
1,101	3,183	5,265	7,743	13,911
2.84	2.53	2.47	2.46	2.50
•	1980 3,128 1,101	<u>1980</u> <u>1985</u> 3,128 <u>8,065</u> 1,101 <u>3,183</u>	3,128 8,065 13,002 1,101 3,183 5,265	1980 1985 1990 1995 3,128 8,065 13,002 19,073 1,101 3,183 5,265 7,743

residents (more than twice the number during the 1980s). At the same time, the number of households increased at an even greater rate of growth reflecting the population increase combined with smaller household sizes. Table 2-1 shows the past trends to 1995, and the increase between the 1995 estimated population and household counts to the actual population and household counts for 2000. Population and housing growth to 2000 has continued the high rate of increase estab-

lished during the 1980s, but at a slightly lower pace. This same period of the 1990s has seen an increase in average household size to that last observed in the mid-80s.

Population and Household Forecasts

The basic resource data for the population and household forecasts has been provided by the Alpharetta Community Development Department, which took as its point of departure the Atlanta Regional Commission's Mobility 2030 Plan. Refinements have been made to the Mobility 2030 figures, which are shown on

Alpharetta							
	2000	2005	2010	2015	2020	2025	2030
Total Population	34,854	39,021	42,360	46,623	50,552	52,370	54,164
Number of Households	13,911	15,568	17,286	19,154	20,943	21,688	22,424
Household Size	2.51	2.51	2.45	2.43	2.41	2.42	2.42

Table 2-2. The full methodology used to prepare the population and household forecasts for Alpharetta is located in Appendix A. As noted, a gradual slowing in population growth is expected, reflecting both a regional shift further north and, more importantly, less land left for development in the city. The forecast anticipates an additional 7,600 residents by 2015, with 5,700 new residents added between 2015 and

Alpharetta							
	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011
Total Population	34,854	39,518	40,423	41,521	41,941	42,360	43,479
Number of Households	13,911	15,794	16,292	16,905	17,096	17,286	17,724
Household Size	2.51	2.50	2.48	2.46	2.45	2.45	2.45

2025.

In addition to forecasts for the next twenty years, Table 2-3 has been prepared to estimate population increases for each year over the coming five-year period. Since 1997, on average, building permitting has been on the decrease. This trend is expected to reverse briefly during a period from 2005 through 2011, as

discussed more thoroughly in Appendix A.

Comparison in Rates of Growth

Alpharetta has far outpaced Fulton County as a whole, as well as the State of Georgia, in its rate of growth in every five-year increment since 1970. Alpharetta experienced an enormous rate of growth in the early 1980s, reflecting both actual increases in population and voluntary annexation of surrounding areas.

3. Economic Development Element

Introduction

This chapter provides an inventory and assessment of Alpharetta's economic base, labor force characteristics, and local opportunities and resources for economic development. This data provides a basis for economic needs and goals for the city that, in combination with information from other chapters of this Comprehensive Plan, lead to strategies for the economic well-being of Alpharetta.

Several factors will contribute to Alpharetta's positive growth outlook. The North Fulton population is highly educated, providing skilled workers for high tech companies. Major infrastructure improvements have been made or are planned to the water, sewer, and transportation systems. An extensive fiber optic system has a strong appeal for high-tech companies and computer operations. Alpharetta has a favorable national image as a technology community conveniently located near a major city and international airport. Corporate relocations and in-migration are projected to continue due to quality business parks, an existing core group of Fortune 500 companies, unspoiled setting, a high quality of life including an award wining park system and an abundance of executive housing and amenities.

Economic Development Action Plan

A council of local business and government leaders created the City of Alpharetta's first Economic Development Action Plan in 1996. Through a series of monthly meetings the council developed a plan comprised of two main goals covering five objectives. The goals and objectives of the plan are as follows:

- Economic Self-Sufficiency
 - Small Business Development and Expansion;
 - Business and Job Creation;
 - Business Recruitment and Retention
 - Downtown Enhancement
- High Quality Business Environment
 - Image and Value Creation

The council's stated mission was to Advance Alpharetta as a signature city by providing a pro-business climate that attracts and retains quality jobs and businesses, which contribute towards the City's objectives of obtaining economic self-sufficiency while improving the quality of life for City residents within the parameters of the City's Comprehensive Plan."

Since the implementation of that plan, Alpharetta has enjoyed unprecedented growth and prosperity, which has led to a change in the economic development challenges the community now faces. The question now is not one of how to attract business to Alpharetta, but how to encourage growth and sustainability of the existing businesses while continuing to attract quality new business investment as the rapid growth trends begin to level.

Meeting the continuing goal of providing a quality lifestyle within an affordable tax base structure requires significant business investment in the community. The key is to be proactive and steadfastly work towards a shared community vision for Alpharetta.

In November of 2000, the city undertook an initiative to update the Strategic Plan for Enhanced Economic Development Operations to update and expand upon the original Action Plan. The new plan, completed in early 2002, focuses on economic sustainability through expansion and diversification of the local economic base and enhancement of key quality of life and community issues.

■ Setting—The Region

During the early 1990s, the Atlanta Region experienced a period of slow growth mirroring the national recession as compared to the tremendous boom period from 1983 to 1988 when employment grew by over 400,000 jobs and 500,000 new residents.

By the mid 1990s the Atlanta Region was once again experiencing strong growth in both population and employment, particularly in the northern sector. During the past 20 years population and employment growth has extended outward from the center of the region, particularly to the north. Since 1980, nearly three-fourths of the region's population growth and more than 80 percent of its employment growth has occurred north of I-20.

Looking to the future, a large share of the region's employment growth is forecast to occur in the "northern arc," the area formed by North Fulton, Cobb, Cherokee and Forsyth County.

Several factors contribute to the Atlanta Region's continued growth. The region has an excellent transportation system of roads, and public transportation allowing convenient travel within the region, providing a central distribution location, and access to a diversity of housing choices. The extension of GA 400 directly to the Central Atlanta area has opened faster channels to the Buckhead and Midtown business districts. Most importantly, Atlanta's Hartsfield – Jackson International Airport remains one of the busiest air hubs in the world, making the region a front door to the global economy. The region has a very positive housing market, leading the nation in permits and starts over the last ten years. The Atlanta Region remains a top choice in corporate relocations and in-migration. In fact, ARC projects that in-migration will account for almost half of the region's increase between 1990 and 2020.

The Atlanta Regional Commission forecasts that growth will continue to be strong in the region, although at a slower rate than the past decade. The Services and Retail Trade sectors will account for more than one-half of the region's job growth. The Services industry will claim one of every three new jobs created between 2000 and 2025 and Retail Trade employment will nearly double to be the region's second fastest growing industry between 2000 and 2025. Strong growth is also forecast in the Wholesale Trade and the Transportation, Communications and Utilities (TCU) sectors, both major users of office space and business centers.

Because of its status as an "executive community" in the northern arc, and its proximity to other key employment areas, Alpharetta has become one of the leading employment hubs in Metro Atlanta. Alpharetta is located 14 miles north of Atlanta's central business district and 28 expressway-miles from Harts-field International Airport. While Alpharetta's business future is closely allied with that of the Metro area, growth in the mid to late 1990s has evolved the city into a destination in itself, a community that has numerous live, work and play opportunities.

Setting—The Alpharetta Area

Incorporated as a trading post in 1858, the City commemorates its heroes with colorful parades, festivals and living-history events at the historic log cabin and at the new Alpharetta Welcome Center, located in historic downtown. The name "Alpharetta," is derived from the Greek for "first town."

Despite its phenomenal growth, Alpharetta holds firmly to its small-town character. The city has retained its traditional values and has carefully planned its evolution into a national and international headquarters for many large corporations and a myriad of smaller scale businesses.

When Georgia 400 opened the area to development in 1965, development rolled northward past Sandy Springs and swept into the beautiful equestrian countryside surrounding Alpharetta. During the 1990s Alpharetta was named one of the first "edge cities" in the United States. It was recognized that Alpharetta was becoming a self-contained place where people could live, work and play within the City limits.

There are many reasons attributable to Alpharetta's growth:

Residential Growth: From 1980 to 2004, the total number of households increased over 1,300% from 1,101 to 14,993, accounting for 17% of the total number of housing units in North Fulton. The Median house value in Alpharetta in 1999 was \$119,269, approximately 30% higher than the Atlanta Region's median of \$91,600, with 62.3% of Alpharetta's housing valued at \$100,000 or more. By 2004, the median house value had climbed to \$226,300, with more than 94% of the city's housing units occupied. In addition approximately 60% of the City's households consist of married couples, with nearly 1/3 of that number having children living at home.

Buying Power: During the last 2 decades, Alpharetta has seen the immigration of highly affluent families that are of traditional family age. The City's median household income increased from \$44,335 in 1990 to \$71,207 according to the 2000 Census. This compares to North Fulton's median household income of \$73,462. In 1999 the City's average household income was estimated at \$117,263.

In the City of Alpharetta, 71% of all households have an income of at least \$50,000, and only 2.9% of families are categorized as being in poverty status, based on the 2000 Census. The tremendous growth in retail services reflects the higher than average buying power of this market.

Alpharetta's residential population falls mainly into four key descriptive segments:

Boomburbs:	The newest addition to the suburbs, these communities are home to younger families with a busy, upscale lifestyle. Median home value is \$275,000 (and growing), and most households have two workers and two vehicles. Growth is characteristic of the communities and these families.
	These affluent families, who recently moved to their homes, fo- cus their attention on upgrades, furnishing and landscaping. <i>Boomburbs</i> residents spend on family, leisure and other activi- ties, too. They are one of the top markets for sport utility vehi- cles. They participate in golf, tennis and swimming and own an array of electronic equipment
Enterprising Professionals:	This market is home to young, highly educated working profes- sionals. Single or recently married, they prefer newer neighbor-

hoods with townhomes or apartments. Typically found in cities, these residents would rather rent than own. Median household income is almost \$65,000. Their lifestyle reflects their youth, mobility and growing consumer clout. To keep in touch, Enterprising Professionals rely on cell phones, PDAs and PCs. They use the internet to search for a job or a place to live, track their investments, or shop. Enterprising Professionals travel for business and pleasure. They practice yoga, take aerobics classes and jog to stay fit. Suburban Splendor: These successful suburbanites are the epitome of upward mobility, just a couple of rungs below the top and situated recently in growing neighborhoods of affluent homes with a median home value of more than \$377,000. Most are two-income families with children. The household population is younger (median age of 40 years), well educated and well employed. Suburban Splendor homes feature the latest amenities and home design. Residents are more likely to hire home services than to undertake do-it-yourself projects. They place importance on family time and travel. They purchase timesaving gadgets and equipment. Suburban Splendor residents are proactive in financial planning, actively investing and owning life insurance policies. **Top Rung:** Top Rung residents are the wealthiest consumer market, representing less than 1% of all U.S. households. Their median household income tops \$170,000, three-and-one-half times the national median. Their median home value is approximately \$1 million. These residents are in their peak earning years, 45 - 64, primarily in family households with no children or older children. Their median age is 4e years. With the purchasing power to indulge any choice, Top Rung residents are the best market for the purchase or lease of luxury or imported cars. They travel in style, both domestically and overseas, for business and pleasure. They set aside time in their busy lifestyles for exercise and community activities.

Work Force: Alpharetta has attracted a highly educated workforce with typically 10 to 25 years of work experience, and upper and middle managers that want to work close to home. Approximately 19,700 people comprise Alpharetta's resident civilian labor force, according to the 2000 Census, which also indicated that only 2.5 percent of that group was categorized as unemployed. The majority of the resident labor force, almost 55 percent, is employed in management, professional, and related occupations.

Within Alpharetta's labor draw area, however, the unemployment rate rises to 4.6 percent indicating a ready supply of more than 100,000 potential employees for Alpharetta businesses.

Alpharetta has some of the area's best schools. The Fulton County Public School System was recently rated "One of the Top 100 School Districts in Places You Can Afford" by Money Magazine. The percentage of persons 25 years of age and older without a high school diploma was 7.51% in 1999. The percentage of persons 25 years of age and older with some college was 71% in 1999.

Quality of Life: Alpharetta is consistently ranked as one of the top cities in the U.S. for business and family life. Excellent schools, executive housing, shopping and access to jobs combined with plenty of green space, recreation and cultural opportunities and a small town feel all contribute to an excellent overall quality of life.

Employment forecasts by the Atlanta Regional Commission indicate particularly strong business growth concentrated in the areas north of Atlanta. In terms of number of employees, the census tract that includes Alpharetta's east side and GA 400 corridor is forecast to be the second highest in growth, exceeded only by the Town Center area in Cobb County. The west side of Alpharetta places fourth in employment growth region-wide, while the portion of North Fulton east of Alpharetta from Jones Bridge Road to the Chattahoochee River places tenth

Since 1980, Alpharetta has gone through a metamorphosis from a small town to a booming employment and residential location, experiencing a phenomenal population increase between 1980 and 1995. Currently it is estimated that a little over 100,000 people work in Alpharetta, thereby developing the city into a major destination and employment center. The majority of workers are employed in technical, administrative and managerial professions. By 1995 economic opportunities had expanded so much that more people worked in the city than lived there. Since 1980, Alpharetta's population has increased to 37,611 residents. By the year 2025, the number of residents is expected to increase to 52,370, with an employment base of over 129,000.

The completion of the Georgia 400 leg south to the City of Atlanta has provided Alpharetta with rapid, convenient access to Atlanta employment centers and an expanded labor draw area. Located about midway between I-285 to the south and the proposed Outer Loop to the north, Alpharetta is well positioned for accessibility to employees, clients and shoppers alike. Convenient access, large mixed-use planned development areas and a central location in the fastest-growing area the Atlanta Region will continue to fuel Alpharetta's growth to the year 2025.

Economic Base Inventory

Much of the following analysis uses the term "economic sector." The federal government classifies local industries and businesses into the following nine major "sectors":

- Agriculture, forestry, fishing & mining;
- **O** Construction;
- O Manufacturing;
- **O** Transportation, Communications, Utilities (TCU);
- **O** Wholesale Trade;
- O Retail Trade;
- **O** Finance, Insurance, and Real Estate (FIRE);

- Services; and
- **O** Public Administration (government).

As of 2000 2,673 businesses were located in the City of Alpharetta. Of these businesses, the largest sectors of the city economy are services, retail, technology and wholesale trade.

Major employers include: ADP, Lucent Technologies, AT&T, Equifax, HBOC, Aetna US Healthcare, Travelers Insurance, GE Capital TMS, Met Life, Hewlett Packard, Ryder Transportation Systems, Siemens Energy and Automation, UPS Integrated Logistics, Radiant Systems, ChoicePoint and Cingular Wireless.

Employment by Sector

Alpharetta's economy is generally based on a dominant office sector specializing in technology companies, and the strong emergence of commercial retail and service businesses to support the affluent residential population. At present, the industries of agribusiness and mining do not play significant roles in the economic base.

Employment refers to the number of people employed by local businesses and industries, sole proprietors and those that are self-employed. This includes people living in surrounding areas coming into the city to work, but does not include residents of the city who commute to jobs outside of the city limits. The data does not determine if a worker is also a resident of the City. Table 3-1 "Employment Trends and Forecasts" examines employment opportunities and trends within the City from 1990 to 2000 and projections to 2025. Since A full description of the methodology used can be found in Appendix A.

	1990	1997	2000	2005	2010	2015	2020	2025
Construction	1,223	2,065	2,426	2,102	1,777	1,453	1,128	804
Manufacturing	2,670	2,279	2,111	2,111	2,382	2,652	2,389	2,396
гси	1,784	2,570	2,907	3,402	3,896	4,390	4,908	5,409
Nholesale	2,090	5,776	7,356	7,843	8,330	8,817	10,880	12,074
Retail Trade	1,921	6,233	7,609	11,648	15,661	19,925	22,734	26,229
Services*	5,070	59,570	76,524	72,698	75,674	77,648	80,290	82,765
Government	457	1,126	1,413	1,815	2,217	2,619	3,021	3,423
Total Employees	15,215	79,619	100,346	101,619	109,937	117,504	125,351	133,099

Alpharetta has seen a tremendous rate of growth in employment over the last decade. In 1990 it is estimated that the city had a little over 15,215 employees. Predominate sectors were manufacturing, wholesale and services. By January 2005, employment had ballooned to over 100,346 persons. The distribution of employment opportunities also changed; manufacturing and wholesale trade accounted for a much smaller overall percentage of employment opportunities as service and retail trade became the two predominate sectors within the economy. The majority of office employment is included within the service sector. Employment projections to 2025 show employment growth continuing in the future, but at a much slower pace. It is expected that the city will see an increase of 29,170 employees over this 20-year period for a total of 129,516 employees in the year 2025. The dominance of retail trade and services sectors will continue into the future. Due to the overwhelming service sector capture of the market, TCU, manufacturing and wholesale trade will capture a smaller percentage of the market, although they will increase numerically.

Like much of Metro Atlanta and the country, Alpharetta felt the effects of the economic downturn that began in the third quarter of 2001. The telecommunications sector, which is a key employer in the city, was especially hard hit and responded with downsizing and consolidations that directly impacted the local economy. Early in the economic cycle this resulted in job losses; however, as telecommunications forms moved from downsizing into consolidation mode, many companies elected to bring their unified operations to Alpharetta. Combined with the emergence of new employment sectors such as life sciences and growth within software and financial clusters, this trend stabilized Alpharetta's employment base.

Many reasons exist to explain the phenomenal growth of the 1990s and the attraction of the city to employers during the economic trials of the past four years. An excellent transportation system, a positive housing market and continued consumer confidence continued to attract business investment and keep local cash registers ringing. The availability of affordable land, natural beauty, executive housing and amenities has made Alpharetta an attractive community for executives and professionals. The city's attention to land use issues, recreational opportunities, the availability of infrastructure and protection of the natural environment have attributed to Alpharetta's reputation as a prime business headquarters location.

The decade of the 1990s saw the opening of Northpoint Mall and numerous large campus style office complexes. As part of the Atlanta metro area, Alpharetta enjoys big-city sophistication and amenities— symphony, theater, opera and ballet companies, museums and galleries and fine restaurants, while at the same time enjoying a "small town" atmosphere. Technology companies, professional services and retail trade are attracted to the city because of the affluent market that exists.

As noted above, employment growth is expected to continue in the city, but at a much slower pace. It is expected that between 2005 and 2025 the city will attract 29,170 new jobs, or an increase of 29.07%. The slowing down of economic growth in the city can be explained by several factors. First, historic economic trends indicate that a period of relatively slow but stable economic growth typically follows extended boom periods. Mirroring the national economy, Alpharetta and Metro Atlanta will see positive economic growth; however, it will be significantly slower than that of the 1990s, with annual job growth averaging about 2%. Second, master planned developments are close to completion within the city. The availability of appropriately zoned and planned commercial land will in itself limit the supply of future employment opportunities. Lastly, many of the telecommunications sector jobs lost during the economic downturn are unlikely to return to the area as companies rethink corporate strategies, take advantage of improved technologies and increased productivity, and streamline their workforces in responses to mergers and acquisitions. While area economic development strategies are working to grow new technology segments in response to these shifts, companies in the new sectors tend to have fewer employees, albeit at much higher wage scales, than the telecommunications cluster. In addition, as interest rates trend upward from their recent all-time lows consumers will have less disposable income, resulting in slower retail trade growth.

In comparing employment in Alpharetta to statewide percentages, in 2000, the city followed state trends for employment distribution among the transportation, manufacturing, wholesale trade and retail trade

sectors. In addition, the city had notably above average concentrations in the services, communications and utilities (TCU) and wholesale trade sectors. Both the city and State showed services as the top sector.

Within Alpharetta, employment within offices is primarily categorized as part of the service sector. Both the State and city see these trends continuing into 2025 with services and retail becoming the top two sectors. Within the city, wholesale trade is the third largest sector, while manufacturing continues to be third within in the state. Most notably, the construction, manufacturing and TCU sectors within Alpharetta fell to below 3% as services claimed over 75% of sector employment.

	1990	1997	2000	2005	2010	2015	2020	2025
Construction	8.04%	2.59%	2,42%	2.07%	1.62%	1.24%	0.09%	0.06%
Manufacturing	17.55%	2.39%	2.42 %	2.07 %	2.17%	2.26%	1.91%	1.80%
TCU	11.73%	3.23%	2.90%	2.00%	3.54%	3.74%	3.92%	4.06%
Wholesale	13.74%	7.25%	7.33%	7.72%	7.58%	7.50%	8.68%	9.07%
Retail Trade	12.63%	7.83%	7.58%	11.46%	14.25%	16.96%	18.14%	19.71%
Services*	33.32%	74.82%	76.26%	71.54%	68.83%	66.08%	64.05%	62.18%
Government	3.00%	1.41%	1.41%	1.79%	2.02%	2.23%	2.41%	2.57%

Both current state and city trends are expected to continue to the year 2025. Service and retail trade will continue to dominate both the state and the city employment sectors, while wholesale trade in the city and manufacturing in the state will continue to be the 3^{rd} strongest sectors, respectfully. Construction, manufacturing and TCU are expected to continue to take smaller and smaller portions of employment opportunities within the city.

Sector Earnings

Earnings represent the total of wages, salaries, and other earned income paid to persons working for the businesses or industries in a given geographic area. City specific data is not available, so county data was used. 2000 census wage data is not available, so the latest figures of weekly wages for the county were derived from the Georgia Department of Labor. Unfortunately only an average weekly wage is available from the state for comparison.

Table E-3										
Average Week	ly Wage	by Sect	or1990	0-1999						
Fulton County and G	eorgia									
	Total Earnings									
	1980		1985		1990		19	99		
Industry	Fulton	Georgia	Fulton	Georgia	Fulton	Georgia	Fulton	Georgia		
All Sectors							\$833	\$622		
Agriculture, Forestry,										
and Fishing	\$164	\$179	\$245	\$225	\$342	\$276	\$498	n/a		
Mining	n/a	\$323	\$386	\$462	\$405	\$589	\$936	n/a		
Construction	\$318	\$264	\$411	\$386	\$513	\$434	\$780	n/a		
Manufacturing	\$329	\$261	\$466	\$366	\$594	\$449	\$1,001	n/a		
TCU	\$437	\$372	\$573	\$517	\$644	\$603	\$1,072	n/a		
Wholesale Trade	\$381	\$337	\$531	\$473	\$691	\$603	\$1,138	n/a		
Retail Trade	\$193	\$164	\$257	\$208	\$287	\$236	\$381	n/a		
FIRE	\$320	\$274	\$511	\$423	\$679	\$543	\$1,183	n/a		
Services	\$233	\$214	\$342	\$310	\$489	\$414	\$769	n/a		
Public Administration	\$319	\$287	\$444	\$374	\$545	\$457	\$762	n/a		
	0	a Dept. of Lat and Wages A		ot available fo		•		0		

Fulton County as a whole compares favorably with the state in every economic sector except mining (which has no importance to Alpharetta). Overall, wages in Fulton County in 1990 were 24% higher than in Georgia as a whole. In 1990 two of Fulton County's top employment sectors, TCU and wholesale trade were also among the best paid. Average weekly wages were higher in the county, \$342 as compared to the state, \$276. In 1999 wages continued to be higher in the county, \$833 as compared to the state, \$622. As was shown in table E-1, the primary sectors within the city of Alpharetta tend to be some of the most highly paid. Executive positions and high tech industry will continue to grow within the city supplying high paying jobs to residents. The 1997 Economic Census records a total annual payroll of \$1,894,828,000 within the City.

Sources of Personal Income

The sources of personal income are indicators of how a community receives its income. The State of Georgia Department of Community Affairs, with the assistance of Woods & Pool Economics, Inc., has developed categories and numbers for the analysis of sources of personal income. These five categories of personal income include the following:

- Wage and Salary Total income earned as compensation for working or rendering services;
- Other Labor Income Total employer contributions to private pension or worker's compensation funds;
- **Proprietor's Income** Proprietor's Income measured total profits earned from partnerships and sole proprietorships;

Table E-4									
Sources of Personal	Income	by Type	1990-2	000					
Fulton County and the State o	f Georgia								
		1990			1995			2000	
	Fulton	Alpharetta	Georgia	Fulton	Alpharetta	Georgia	Fulton	Alpharetta	Georgia
Wage and Salary	69.0%	66.0%	60.1%	60.4%	46.6%	58.7%	67.5%	70.7%	58.0%
Other Labor	6.7%	6.4%	6.0%	6.3%	4.9%	6.3%	7.5%	7.2%	6.1%
Proprietor's Income	5.0%	4.8%	6.6%	4.6%	3.5%	6.9%	5.4%	5.2%	6.6%
Dividends, Investment, Rent &									
Interest Payments			14.5%			13.3%			14.3%
	13.3%	15.7%		10.9%	7.1%		13.2%	10.8%	
Transfer Payments	6.1%	7.1%	12.5%	6.3%	4.1%	14.5%	7.4%	6.1%	14.8%
Percentage from wages	80.6%	77.2%	72.7%	71.2%	55.0%	71.9%	80.4%	83.1%	70.7%
Source: Georgia Department of	Community Af	fairs, Data for F	Planning, W	oods & Pools E	conomics, Inc.	, 1999, Alpa	ahretta: Wages	, Other Labor a	nd
Total Personal Income by Type	22912475	406291		27039539	1109899		27039539	1109899	

• **Dividends, Investment, Rent and Interest Payments and Interest Income** – Total income from investments and rental property; and

• **Transfer Payments** – Total income from payments by the government under many different programs that include Social Security, unemployment insurance, food stamps, veterans benefits, and countless others.

Table E-4 presents income estimates for the City of Alpharetta and Fulton County. Since no data is available for the city, the estimates are based on the ratios of employment and population between the city and the county. Since employment data for the city is not available for years prior to 1990, estimates cannot

Table E-5									
Sources of Perso	onal Incor	ne by Typ	e2005	-2020					
Fulton County, Alphare	tta and State	of Georgia							
		2005			2010			2015	
	Fulton	Alpharetta	Georgia	Fulton	Alpharetta	Georgia	Fulton	Alpharetta	Georgia
		7 lipitar otta	Coorgia	1 uton	7 apriarotta	Coorgia	1 41011	7 apriarotta	Coorgia
Wage and Salary	66.5%	70.3%	56.9%	65.4%	69.9%	55.6%	64.1%	53.8%	54.1%
Other Labor	6.7%	9.1%	5.9%	6.5%	6.9%	5.7%	6.3%	5.3%	5.5%
Proprietor's Income	4.8%	6.5%	6.4%	4.7%	5.0%	6.2%	4.2%	3.8%	5.9%
Dividends, Investment, Rent & Interest	44.00/		15.3%	15.3%	11.00/	16.4%	40.00/	0.4%	47.00
Payments	14.2%	15.5%			11.9%		13.6%	9.1%	17.6%
Transfer Payments	7.8%	8.3%	15.3%	8.2%	6.3%	15.9%	7.3%	4.9%	16.7%
Percentage from wages	78.0%	85.9%	69.2%	76.5%	81.8%	67.5%	74.6%	63.0%	65.5%
Source:	Georgia Depart	ment of Comm	unity Affairs, I	Data for Planni	ng, Woods & Po	ols Economic	s, Inc., 1999		
Total Income	30441399	1478715		34159631	1931000		38264886	2506151	
	Source: Georg	ia Department o	of Community	/ Affairs, Data f	or Planning, Wo	ods & Pools I	Economics, Inc	., 1999	

be made for those years.

Based on this methodology, 77% of income in 1990 was attributable to payments for labor, whether wages and salaries, other labor payments, or income to sole proprietors. This figure was lower than Fulton County's 80.6% of wages. Comparing Alpharetta to the state, the city clearly receives a larger proportion in wages and salaries, and this proportion is forecast to grow over the next twenty years while the proportion statewide falls. In 2000 Alpharetta was higher in wage collections (83.1%) than both the county (80.4%) and the state (70.7%) In addition, while Alpharetta's percentages were rising, both the county and state were falling.

■ Major Development Trends and Unique Economic Opportunities

In 1990 Alpharetta began a growth and development boom that carried through the end of the millennium. In spite of a moratorium on sewer taps in the area and local downsizing of high tech companies, the promise of continued prosperity will continue. The number of new commercial construction projects in 2000 showed an increase of over 89% from last year. At the end of the third quarter of 2001, over 100 new commercial building permits and 606 new business licenses have been issued. Based on the valuation of the building permits alone, business interests have invested in excess of \$145 million in the community since January 1, 2001.

Alpharetta's popularity with the private sector is obvious, especially along the North Point Parkway and Windward Parkway corridors. Much of the development within the city has been built to master planning standards that include a variety of uses, housing choices and aesthetic controls. The Windward Development, which includes 3,400 acres of commercial development, corporate offices, and upscale residential has won 70 awards of excellence for planning. Alpharetta is a location of choice for headquarters and office projects and competes with the Buckhead Area in both the quality of office space and lease rates being paid.

In 1998 over \$360 million in new private investment was initiated including 560 new single-family homes and approximately 2 million square feet of office space. In addition, over 50 projects were completed during the course of the year. These projects added an estimated 3 million square feet of commercial space to the City. Key notable business development trends within the City include the emergence of the life sciences sector, strong growth in businesses designing software and security systems, and the rising appeal of Alpharetta's Historic Downtown Area as a business location.

Retail Trade and Services

Since the opening of North Point Mall in 1993, Alpharetta has been a popular location for mid-to-highend retailers. The area's strong population growth, especially among highly educated, affluent professionals, continues to fuel that attraction today.

The following include major development announcements that have been made since the last quarter of 1995, many of which have already been constructed.

Hotels. The GA 400 corridor and the Alpharetta submarket is one of the strongest economy and corporate hotel locations. There are currently 23 hotels containing 2,352 rooms in the City of Alpharetta. Preliminary market studies show the same occupancy rates for hotel on Mansell and Haynes Bridge Roads.

Retail Expansion. Alpharetta's four neighborhood level shopping centers include the following: Ingles Shopping Center lies along Highway 9 on the north side of town and has approximately 56,337 square

feet of retail space. Alpharetta Square Shopping Center is located on the south side of town along Highway 9 and has approximately 93,100 square feet of retail space. The third shopping center is Alpharetta Crossing, which lays in the southwest quadrant of the intersection of Old Milton Parkway and Haynes Bridge Road, and has approximately 100,624 square feet of retail space. The newest addition is the shopping center at Crabapple and Arnold Mill Roads on the west side, which was annexed into the city. A fifth shopping center was built across Old Milton Parkway from Alpharetta Crossing. This center is anchored by a Publix grocery store.

North Point Mall, a 1.5 million square foot regional mall anchors the North Point Retail District, which runs along North Point Parkway between Mansell and Haynes Bridge Roads. The mall offers four anchor tenants and some of the most desired brands in retailing; including Coach, Williams-Sonoma, Pottery Barn and Banana Republic. Two movie theatre complexes and an ice and roller-skating facility provide entertainment options near the mall, while a variety of dining options, from marquis names like Cheese-cake Factory to standard family fair, entice residents and visitors to the district.

Freestanding retailers, new shopping centers and absorption and expansion of existing centers were announced between the fourth quarter 1999 and third quarter 2001. The recent openings of centers such as North Point Village and Windward Promenade have added in excess of 100,000 square feet of retail space to the market in that period.

A key strength of the local economy is Alpharetta's prosperous and diverse small business community. Making up 85% of the Greater North Fulton Chamber of Commerce's membership base, most new jobs are created from this sector.

Office: Alpharetta is developing a large portion of its economy in the office and high technology sectors. Such major corporations as Microsoft, Equifax, ADP, Ryder Systems, and Cingular Wireless have chosen to locate in the Alpharetta area. Many of the master planned areas east of GA 400 and much of the land west of GA 400 are anticipating future business development in these areas. Build-to-suits and expansion in the established office parks of Windward, Preston Ridge and Royal 400 account for much of the office activity in the Alpharetta area during the past decade. Master planned developments continue to build out. During the first half of 2004, known new lease activity to larger office projects accounted for approximately 430,000 square feet being absorbed from the active market. This excludes new office lease under 25,000 square feet and non-reported activity. Downsizing has resulted in a relatively large volume of sublease space being placed on the active market, with 643,000 square feet currently on the market.

As of March 1, 2005 approximately 3.2 million square feet of available office product was in recorded inventory. During the last five years several major built-to-suit and spec projects were developed. These included

- WorldCom: North Point Parkway @ Kimball Bridge (233,640 sf);
- Choice Point Expansion: Alderman Drive @ Windward Parkway (254,000 sf);
- Cingular Wireless: Windward Parkway (368,000 sf);
- The Falls at Sanctuary Park: Westside Parkway @ Sanctuary Parkway (287,000 sf);
- Georgia 400 Center Building 4: Westside Parkway @ Haynes Bridge Road (152,500 sf);
- Parkview Four at Opus Woods: North Point Parkway (310,135 sf);

In 2004 several large leases were made to well-known companies; including AIG, GE Consumer Finance, Microsoft, and Enhancement Services Corporation. The continued expansion of existing companies like ADP, Cingular Wireless, Hewlett Packard, and UPS also reflected the strength of the local economy.
By the end of the year 2004, the North Fulton sub-market contained more than 14 million square feet of office space. Vacancy rates were running near 30% at mid-year but had fallen to roughly 26% by year-end.

Construction

After the phenomenal growth of 1990s, residential growth has followed a marginal decline through 2004, which ended with 306 residential permits issued on projects valued at just under \$40 million. One reason for the decline in residential construction is a dwindling supply of available land for residential development. Alpharetta's residential population grew by 8% between 2001 and 2004, showing that there is no shortage of people who would like to live in Alpharetta: however there is a limit to the amount of residential property available and to the population density that will preserve the quality of life. Over the next 20 years the construction industry will take a smaller percentage of overall employment due to the slowing in population growth in the city.

Manufacturing and Wholesale Trade

Manufacturing and Wholesale Trade play a small role in the economy of Alpharetta. The location of industrial development is primarily located off Hembree and Mansell Roads. In the last 5 years there has been no major new activity is these sectors.

Unique Economic Activities

Alpharetta has become the shopping and employment center for its sector of the region, with a particular emphasis on a higher-income clientele. North Point Mall and its nearby supporting commercial facilities, serves a north-south sector focused on GA 400, with its market draw area extending between Town Center in Cobb County to the west, Gwinnett Place Mall to the east, and Perimeter Center to the south. At the same time, the city is experiencing strong growth in corporate and executive offices, sometimes associated with manufacturing or distribution functions. The GA 400 corridor has become one of the "hottest" markets for corporate offices, appealing to the higher echelon administrative and executive functions and to companies seeking a high profile location. The business center market (front office activities coupled with storage, transfer or distribution space) is also strong in the city, and expected to remain so.

Downtown Enhancement

Alpharetta is fortunate to have a traditional downtown shopping district and Main Street. The City has been aggressively marketing and enhancing the overall appearance and make-up of this traditional shopping street since 1993. Programs to enhance the downtown include:

- Encouraging the development of the traditional downtown shopping district, restaurant, entertainment and cultural destination point;
- Developing special events and ongoing activities in the downtown area;
- Providing the necessary infrastructure such as utilities, parking, streetscape, and pedestrian amenities;
- Enhancing the appearance and identifying the boundaries of downtown through the use of distinctive elements such as light poles, flags, flower baskets, planters, signage and landscaping;

- Providing financial incentives and design services to encourage private property enhancement;
- Development of special Historic Downtown Incentive Zoning policies

Communications Network

As part of the Bellsouth telecommunications system, Alpharetta is part of the largest fiber-linked network in the United States. With over 3,300 square miles of toll-free calling coverage, Atlanta's telecommunications infrastructure is the largest electronic highway in the county.

Master Planned Developments

The majority of growth within the city over the last two decades has been within master planned zoning districts. For example, Windward, a 3,400-acre master planned community has continued to develop since its original zoning approval in the mid 1980s. Residential commercial, and hi-tech businesses have flocked to this area due to the community's appeal of living, working and playing in the same area. Development in this area has been aided by proper infrastructure of fiber optic cable, sewer, water, fire protection, etc. Attention to detail and amenities have aided Alpharetta in attracting both quality residential and commercial developments. The city continues to implement regulations intending to attract high quality companies, while at the same time protecting the quality of life that is sought after in Alpharetta.

Table E-6 Labor Force Participation: 1990 And 2000 Alpharetta, Georgia, And Nation 1990 2000 U.S.A. Alpharetta Georgia U.S.A. Alpharetta Georgia Total In Labor Force 77.4% 67.9% 65.3% 66.1% 63.9% 76.5% **Civilian Labor Force** 77.2% 66.4% 64.4% 76.5% 65.0% 63.4% Employed 75.2% 62.6% 60.3% 74.0% 61.4% 59.7% 2.0% 4.1% 2.5% 3.6% 3.7% Unemployed 3.8% 0.9% 0.5% Military Labor Force 2.0% 1.5% 0.0% 1.1% Males In Labor Force 86.7% 76.6% 74.4% 87.0% 73.1% 70.7% Females In Labor Force 69.2% 59.9% 56.8% 66.7% 59.4% 57.5% Source: US Census Bureau

Labor Force Analysis

Table E-6 shows the percentages of total employment by occupation classifications for 1990 and 2000 in Alpharetta, the State of Georgia and the Nation. 2000 Census data is the latest data available. The analysis looks at the occupations of the residents of the county, regardless of where they worked in the region.

The city's labor force is notably "white collar." According to the 2000 Census, 54.6% of Alpharetta's employed population aged 16 years and older worked in management, professional and related occupations with another 27.6% categorized as being in sales and office occupations. These figures reflect a dramatic change from 1980, when less than 30% of the labor force fell into the executive or professional categories, but over 25% were "blue collar" workers. This change underscores the major movement of house-holds with higher paying jobs into Alpharetta during the decade of the 1990s.

If Alpharetta's businesses have to rely solely on the City's labor pool to operate, there is the probability of a labor shortage. While many people who work in the City live outside of Alpharetta, businesses should not have to be so dependent on outside workers. As traffic congestion and commuting time increases access to employment opportunities may become a problem for business in the future. It is important to address continued availability of quality housing within the area, and increased transportation options for production workers and laborers, including public transportation.

Education

There are 5 elementary schools, 2 middle schools and two high schools in the public school system within the city, as well as a number of private facilities. The public schools serving Alpharetta consistently win awards and recognition for the high quality of education they provide: Milton High School was named among the top 13 in the state of Georgia and was recently named a state School of Excellence. The elementary and middle schools are similarly noteworthy, boasting high test scores and academic achievement: two were recently named Merit Pay schools by the state, helping Fulton County achieve more winners than any other district in the state.

The city of Alpharetta has a highly educated work force. According to the 2000 Census 82.9% of the adult population had some college and 57.1% held bachelors or graduate degrees. Alpharetta's working age population is better educated than in surrounding counties.

Residents also have access to higher education and training opportunities close to home at the Alpharetta campuses of Georgia State University, DeVry University, Georgia Perimeter College and Reinhardt College. In addition there are numerous colleges and universities in the Metro Atlanta area, including the world famous Georgia Institute of Technology.

Labor Force Participation

"Labor Force participation 1990 and 2000" presents data on the employment status of the labor force in Alpharetta and compares it to the state and the nation. The tables also reflect the major changes that occurred in the city during the explosive growth of the 1990s. These trends have continued to 2000

In 2000, 76.5% of the city's population over 16 was working or seeking employment. In 1980, this figure was only 65%. The percentage of males in the civilian labor force in 1980 was 79%, which grew to 87% in 2000.

The change in the percentage of females 16 or older who were working or seeking employment in 1980 and 2000 is particularly dramatic—increasing from 52% to 66.7%, respectively. Comparisons to the state

and the U.S. are equally enlightening. In 1980, the participation of males and females 16 and older in Alpharetta's labor force was roughly equivalent to state and nation averages. By

2000, however, while state and national labor force participation rates were about two-thirds for Georgia and the U.S., Alpharetta's was over 76%. Only 13% of the males were not in the labor force, and females had fallen from 48% to 33%, representing a 17-percentage point drop on labor force non-participation. During the same period, state and U.S. non-participation dropped only 7.6 and 6.9 percentage points, respectively. Thus, participation in the labor force of females 16 and older in Alpharetta has grown considerably both in proportion (from 52% to 69%) and in relation to increases in society in general.

Applying the 2000 labor force characteristics to 2010, it is expected that the percentage of the total labor force will continue to increase. This is expected for several reasons. First, in the 2000 Census education and income statistics present a highly educated and affluent population. Housing production and quality of life will continue to attract middle and upper management employees to the city. Second, in 2000 there was a high proportion of the age cohort of "traditional family age," 25 to 44 who would be entering the labor force. This trend is expected to continue to 2025 as the population continues to grow and age. These figures suggest several concurrent trends—the continuing trend in America away from the one wage-earner family, and the increasing proportion of families with fewer children in the city. The figures also suggest a larger proportion of two-income households, where a high proportion of the wives work either full or part time, and a larger proportion of single person households attracted to the city's apartment market (which was virtually nonexistent in 1980). It is anticipated that the city residents in 2025 will include a labor force of over 129,000.

Unemployment

Employment data is not available for the City of Alpharetta for any years other than 1990 and 2000, when the rate was 2.6% and 2.0% respectively, according to the U.S. census. This rate was considerably lower than in any surrounding jurisdiction, the state or the country as a whole. Considering the types of households that have long occupied Alpharetta, and the high participation rates in the labor force discussed above, it is estimated that the city has always enjoyed a low unemployment rate relative to all other juris-

Commuting Patterns				
Employed Residents of		4.7		
Employed Residents of	Funton Cour	119		
	19	90		
Place of Work	Number	% Total		
Alpharetta	1,546	20.2%		
Atlanta	1,000	13.1%		
Remainder of Fulton	2,357	30.8%		
Remainder of Dekalb	1,190	15.5%		
Cherokee	53	7.0%		
Clayton	85	1.1%		
Marietta	92	1.2%		
Remainder of Cobb	364	4.8%		
Douglas	7	0.1%		
Fayette	10	0.1%		
Forsyth	108	1.4%		
Gwinnett	617	8.1%		
Outside of Atlanta MSA	187	2.4%		
Unknown	41	0.5%		

dictions, and that generally the rate has fallen since 1980 as more affluent households migrated to Alpharetta with wage earners in executive and professional occupations.

Commuting Patterns

In 1990, Alpharetta had a resident labor force of almost 7,900 and an employment base of over 15,215. However, in that year, only 1,546 workers who lived in the city actually worked there. Data on commuting patterns for 1990, the last year for which such data is available, presented on Table E-9, indicate that 98% of the city's employed residents commuted outside of the city to work. Conversely, almost 8,000 of the city's employees, or 84%, commuted into the city every day to work. By 2000, Alpharetta's resident labor force had grown to 19,696 and its employment base had swelled to over 100,000. While commuting data is not

Table E- 10				
Labor Force By Place of Wo	rk			
Alpharetta and Fulton County				
	Alpharetta		Fulton County	
	1990	2000	1990	2000
Total Population	13,002	34,854	648,951	816,006
Worked In State of Residence	7,616	18,795	312,049	380,341
Worked In Place of Residence	1,546	5,786	221,309	265,870
Worked Outside Place of Residence	6,070	13,009	90,740	114,471
Worked Outside State of Residence	0	0	3,317	5,101
Source: US Census Bureau				

currently available for that year, it is expected that trends from the 1990s would be largely consistent with patterns of today.

The mode of transportation to work is not surprising for a suburban city. According to the 2000 Census nearly 92% of the city's employed residents commuted to work by car—a few (8.3%) in carpools—while about 1.5% took public transit. In 1990 transit was virtually nonexistent in Alpharetta, which is far beyond MARTA's rail lines and served by only a few bus routes. During the 1990s, However, the bus routes were expanded to include service to the full length of North Point Parkway, along Windward Parkway, Highway 9, and portions of Old Milton Parkway. Additionally, a new park and ride lot was opened on Windward Parkway in early 2001 with long –term plans for conversion to a rail station. In spite of concerted efforts by the City and the private sector, however, MARTA eliminated service to portions of Old Milton Parkway in late 2001, due to budget constraints. The City continues its efforts to expand public transit options within the City, however, and worked hard to have lands reserved near North Point Mall for location of a future MARTA station.

Of the 80% of the city's workers who commute outside of the city, the largest percentages work in Fulton County; presumably primarily in Roswell and Sandy Springs. The next largest group (only 15%) drives to DeKalb County to work, while 13% commute into the City of Atlanta. In 1990, almost two-thirds of the city's workers either worked in the city or worked in Roswell, Sandy Springs or DeKalb County outside of Atlanta (such as the Perimeter Center area). GA 400 is the basic transportation facility serving these areas from Alpharetta.

Employment in the city has grown considerably since 1990 to over 100,000, and detailed commuting pattern data is not available. Many of the new jobs created since that time, however, have been in the Retail Trade sector, principally in sales and services occupations. Considering the higher than average proportion of white collar workers living in the city, the low unemployment rate, the limited supply of lower age individuals who could be attracted to the labor force, and the high participation rate for females that already exists, it is estimated that the disparity in resident workers to local employment has increased considerably. While these commuting patterns create increased pressures on transportation facilities, the disparity is a surfeit of riches for Alpharetta residents, since total jobs currently outnumber current population. If the labor force participation rate remains the same, in 2025 Alpharetta's 38,696 residents in the labor force will be matched to an employment base of 129,516 or more than 3.34 jobs for every working resident in the city. As traffic congestion increases in the region and internal circulation is improved, it is anticipated that a much higher percentage of residents will work in the city than now. A major goal of the city is to increase live, work and play opportunities by providing the necessary housing opportunities and infrastructure. As Alpharetta moves closer to this goal, it is anticipated that a much higher percentage of the residential population will actually work within the city.

Local Economic Development Resources

Development Agencies

Effective economic development programs are a group effort, involving not only local government staff but also the cooperation of and resources available from other potential partners that have programs underway at various levels.

City of Alpharetta Office of Economic Development

The City of Alpharetta maintains an office of Economic Development staffed by a professional Economic Development Coordinator. The office is an integral part of the city's Department of Community Development. The office maintains a database of available buildings and sites, tracks business financing programs and assists entrepreneurs in starting businesses in the city. Additionally, it is the center of economic development planning and marketing and is responsible for assisting and building relationships with existing businesses and industries.

Alpharetta Development Authority

In 1995 the Economic Development Council (EDC) was formed to develop an economic development action plan. The E DC was disbanded following the completion of this study in 1996. In February 1981 the Alpharetta City Council adopted a resolution creating the Alpharetta Development Authority. The body was activated in 1997 and has since held the primary role of financing targeted development projects through the issuance of revenue bonds.

North Fulton Chamber of Commerce

The Chamber has an aggressive economic development program and offers an excellent resource to the City for coordinating activities. The Chamber is a designated agency for the State's Red Carpet Tour, which brings major national and international companies interested in the Atlanta area to North Fulton. The Chamber works closely with the Alpharetta Economic Development Department in coordinating with the Georgia Power Company and the Metro Atlanta Chamber, as well as with State Industry, Tourism and Trade, and can act as a go-between to these agencies on behalf of the City.

Metro Atlanta Chamber of Commerce

The Metro Atlanta Chamber is involved in a wide range of economic development and regional improvement programs, some of which have particular significance for Alpharetta. The Metro Atlanta Chamber's overall goal is regional in scope and addresses the attraction, creation and retention of business in metro Atlanta, which includes particular attention to the maintenance and provision of the physical infrastructure needed to support and expand the business base. The Metro Atlanta Chamber provides a coordinated program of business promotion at the national and international level, promoting the entire metro area, including Alpharetta. The Chamber's promotional activities emphasize the biomedical fields, telecommunications and software, all of which are important parts of Alpharetta's current and future employment base.

The Metro Atlanta Chamber is an important link in the network of local economic development partners who attract and nurture prospective businesses and business expansion in the metro area. Once a contact is made, a business potentially interested in an Alpharetta location is referred to the City of Alpharetta for direct assistance. Thus, the Metro Atlanta Chamber is a first-line contact for prospects that may be attracted to the city through their normal metro promotion activities.

Fulton County Economic Development Office

The Fulton County Department of Planning and Economic Development maintains a variety of economic development programs and initiatives that have application throughout the county. The County's staff coordinates closely with the Metro Atlanta Chamber of Commerce, attends marketing shows and outreach events on behalf of the County, and orients its programs to regional initiatives such as biotechnology, communications and high-technology industry attraction.

Resources—Programs and Tools

North Fulton Chamber of Commerce Workforce Development

Recognizing that the future of any community is directly related to the education and skills of its workforce, the North Fulton Chamber of Commerce has set up several programs to assist in workforce development, including:

- Workforce Development—acts as a liaison/facility to secondary education facilities on issues
 regarding training and works towards improving community awareness of job opportunities
 and getting business involved with schools through programming.
- WIN—improves academic achievement and teaches important skills while promoting a strong work ethic though in-school mentoring.
- Career Direction—exposes students to workforce experiences and promotes classroom learning become more relevant to the real world.
- Educator Internship Program
- Scholarships—provide several sponsored scholarships to qualified seniors. These include DeVry/GNFCC,

Quick Start

The Quick Start Training Program provides high quality, tailored training at no cost to area business. Both manufacturing training and service training are available to manufacturing operations, warehouse and distribution centers, national and international corporate headquarters, information technologies and customer service operations. The program includes a training needs analysis, a detailed training program, high quality training and expert training staff.

Georgia Center for Advanced Telecommunications Technology (GCATT)

GCATT is an initiative of real virtual clusters of excellence in advanced telecommunications. GCATT supports development of the latest technologies and applications in communications, computing and content processing. Formed in 1991, GCATT is a program of the Georgia Research Alliance, a public/private partnership fostering technology-based economic development across the state. Although GCATT is based at Georgia Tech, it supports research programs in advanced telecommunications at the Georgia Research Alliance's six research universities.

The GCATT partnership of industry, government and universities works together in a three-pronged strategy of Technology, Policy and Commercialization for high-tech economic development in Georgia. There are approximately 20 different research centers that fall under the GCATT umbrella. The research programs of the centers are funded by the industry and government through grants, industry consortia and directed research projects. GCATT staff provides support by promoting collaboration across the various research centers, leveraging the knowledge and resources that already exists.

Yamacraw

Yamacraw is an economic development initiative to make Georgia a world leader in the design of broadband communications systems, devices and chips—thus creating in Georgia both high-paying design jobs and support and supply-chain jobs. Yamacraw research is grouped in three targeted areas of broadband technology: Embedded Software, Broadband Access Devices and System Prototyping. At its core, Yamacraw is made up of 200-300 world-class researchers who take the best of technologies one step further by integrating them to patent a new generation of compatible infrastructure products.

Georgia Power Company, Economic Development Division

Georgia Power is the oldest economic developer in Georgia, and has an Economic Development Division whose primary role is to attract businesses to the state. The Economic Development Division of Georgia Power has two sections, a domestic section and an international section. Each section is responsible for marketing Georgia as a positive place to do business. There are 130 local offices statewide with a primary concern of job development. Although Georgia Power has offices throughout the state, it does not provide any specialized programs for any particular city or county. Georgia Power's primary local contact for economic development issues are generally with the Chamber's of Commerce. Alternative points of contact are with the various levels of government in Georgia Power's service area. Georgia Power has in the past-formed different alliances with other organizations and agencies for the purpose of attracting businesses to an area.

Georgia Department of Economic Development

The Georgia Department of Economic Development (GDECD) is a state funded agency mandated to serve as agent for all the cities and counties in the state of Georgia. GDECD's primary purpose is to assist potential businesses considering locating in the state of Georgia in identifying an optimal location for their operational needs. The Georgia Department of Economic Development also assist the movie industry in locating appropriate movie sets throughout the state of Georgia. The identification of international markets for the export of Georgia goods and services is another duty of GDECD.

Because GDECD is a statewide agency, there are no specific programs or projects tailored to the needs of Alpharetta. In the event that a potential business client is interested in the Alpharetta area, GDECD policy

is to work with both the Chamber of Commerce and the local governmental entity. GDECD has a working relationship with the utility companies, rail systems, banks, universities, and other agencies with resources to facilitate economic development. GDECD maintains a substantial computer based inventory of commercial and industrial sites throughout Georgia.

Georgia Electric Membership Corporation

Georgia Electric Membership Corporation maintains a robust economic development program that works in concert with the local communities, the Georgia Department of Industry, Trade & Tourism and other statewide economic development programs to bring industry into Georgia. Over the past 20 years, these efforts have resulted in numerous commercial and industrial firms locating or expanding in the state. Georgia Electric Membership Corporation is a founding member of the Georgia Allies, a public-private economic development partnership of ten private companies with statewide economic development interests and the Georgia Department of Economic Development. The Georgia Center for Site Selection was established to help businesses, both large and small, establish or expand operations in Georgia. Information on how to find the most appropriate community in Georgia, and information regarding available industrial buildings and sites to statistical information on communities across Georgia is provide free of charge.

Downtown Alpharetta Partners Program

Downtown Partners is a joint effort of the City of Alpharetta, with participating banks to collectively contribute resources in order to improve the downtown business climate. A low interest loan program and grant program is available for building improvements in the historic downtown district.

Georgia. Business Expansion Support Act

In 1994, the State passed legislation for tax credits against state income taxes to encourage economic development in Georgia. Some of the programs are targeted to specific industry groups manufacturing, warehousing and distribution, processing, telecommunications, tourism, or research and development, but does not include retail business).

Job tax credits and investment tax credits are available to the targeted industry groups at different levels, depending on the relative need of the area for economic development. Some credits are available to specific industry groups, while others apply to all employers. Overall, Fulton County and its cities are categorized as "Tier 3" communities within the plan and qualifying companies are eligible for associated credits. The following is a summary of the various provisions of the Act as they relate to Alpharetta:

Job Tax Credit. Applies to business or headquarters of a business engaged in manufacturing, warehousing and distribution, processing, tourism, and research and development industries. Does not include retail businesses.

In Alpharetta, companies creating fifteen or more new jobs may receive a \$1,500tax credit. Wages for the new jobs must be at least ten percent (10%) above the average wage of the county

Investment Tax Credit. Allows a corporation or person, which has operated an existing manufacturing or telecommunications support facility in the state for the previous three years to obtain a credit against income tax liability.

Such companies expanding in Alpharetta that invest a minimum of \$50,000 qualify for a 1% credit. That credit increases to 3% for recycling, pollution control and defense conversion activities. Taxpayers qualifying for the investment tax credit may choose an optional investment tax credit with the following threshold criteria. In Tier 3 a minimum investment of \$20 million would qualify for a 6% tax credit. A taxpayer must choose either the regular or optional investment tax credit. Once this election is made, it is irrevocable.

Retraining Tax Credit. Any employer in Alpharetta that provides retraining for employees to use new equipment, new technology, or new operating systems is eligible for a tax credit worth up to 50% of the direct cost of retaining full-time employees up to \$500 per employee per approved retaining program per year

Child Care Credit. Any employer in Alpharetta that provides or sponsors childcare for employees is eligible for a tax credit of up to 75% of the direct cost of operation to the employer. In addition, employers who purchase qualified childcare property will receive a credit totaling one hundred percent of the cost of such property. The credit is claimed at the rate of 10% per year for 10 years. These two childcare credits can be combined.

Research and Development Tax Credit. A tax credit is allowed for research expenses for research conducted within Georgia for any business or headquarters or any business engaged in manufacturing, warehousing and distribution, processing, telecommunications, tourism, or research and development industries. The credit is 10% of the additional research expense over the "base amount" provided that the business enterprise for the same taxable year claims and is allowed a research credit under Section 41 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.

Small Business Growth Companies Tax Credit. A tax credit is granted for any business or headquarters of any business engaged in manufacturing, warehousing and distribution, processing, telecommunications, tourism, or research and development industries having a state net taxable income which is 20% or more above that of the preceding year if its net taxable income in each of the two preceding years was also 20% more.

Ports Activity Job and Investment Tax Credits. Businesses or the headquarters that increase their port traffic tonnage through Georgia ports by more than 10% over their 1997 base year reported traffic, or by more than 10% over 75 net tons, 5 containers, or 10 20-foot equivalent units (TEUs) during the previous 12-month period are qualified for increased job tax credits or investment tax credits. In Alpharetta companies can receive an additional \$500 per job or 5% investment tax credit or 10% optional investment tax credit.

Companies that create 400 or more new jobs, invest \$20 million or more in new and expanded facilities and increase their port traffic by more than 20% above their base year port traffic may take both job credits and investment tax credits.

Headquarters Tax Credit. Companies establishing their headquarters or relocating their headquarters within Alpharetta must pay at least 110% of the average wage of the county, invest a minimum of \$1 million dollars and create 100 new jobs may take a credit equal to \$2,500 annually per full-time job or \$5,000 if the average wage of the new full-time job is 200% above the average wage of the county.

Sales Tax Exemptions: Several sales tax exemptions are available within the City:

- Manufacturing Machinery and Computers;
- Primary Materials Handling; and
- Electricity

Community Improvement Districts

The Georgia Constitution provides for a special kind of tax district called a Community Improvement District (CID). This type of district can be created only upon the petition of the property owners themselves, and is managed by a board that includes representatives of the property owners and the City. Under a CID, only nonresidential property is subject to the special tax, and the funds must be used only for certain public facilities, such as roads and water and sewer utilities. The funds can be used for both capital and operating expenditures, and the special nature of the Act allows the basis of taxation to be the development density or impact of a property as well as its assessed value. The Act also allows debt financing without referendum since a majority of the property owners (who must own at least 75% of the properties by value) must request the CID designation. A plus for the City is that debts of a CID are not debts of the government and do not affect the City's debt limit, while the CID can enjoy a lower interest rate due to its quasi-governmental structure.

A CID for Alpharetta was recently developed that is centered on the Georgia 400 Corridor. The focus of the CID is infrastructure, primarily sewer and roads. CIDs can be useful in encouraging a single major development by assisting in financing at an interest rate lower than on the open commercial market, and can be useful in developed nonresidential centers where additional services or facilities beyond those provided by the City are desired.

Special Tax Programs

There are two special tax programs in place in other jurisdictions that are not available in Alpharetta. Either of these programs could have some limited application to specific economic development needs in the city, such as encouraging investment in the central business district. State legislation would be needed to enact either of the following:

Urban Enterprise Zone. Under an Urban Enterprise Zone, specific areas are delineated where deteriorating physical or market conditions have resulted in little or no investment in property improvements or development. Within an Urban Enterprise Zone, if a property owner renovates or develops a site, the City's property taxes can be frozen at the pre-improvement level for a specified time period, then rising in annual steps to full value taxation at the end of the period. This approach is useful in encouraging investment that would otherwise not occur, and in eventually increasing the tax base where taxes would otherwise continue to fall through depreciation.

Urban Enterprise Zones can be set up for commercial, industrial or housing investment, but should be used only where development would not otherwise occur.

Tax Increment Financing. This approach allows property taxes to rise as sites are developed or improved, but directs all or some of the increase over and above the pre-improvement tax level into public facilities that have been built to support the area's revitalization. In effect, the government takes the risk through provision of public improvements up front, and then pays itself back through the higher tax collection increment while assuring that the pre-improvement tax collections continue to go into the general fund. Once the improvements are paid for, all of the taxes will go into the general fund. This approach can be very useful in a carefully controlled revitalization effort for a deteriorating area, where future renovations and development can be reasonably anticipated but are dependent on a general improvement to the area.

Development Impact Fees

Alpharetta was the first community in the state to adopt impact fees after enactment of the Georgia Development Impact Fee Act in 1988. The fees have produced considerable income that can be seen today in improved roads, fire services, and parks and recreation facilities. Fair and reasonable development impact fees can be a useful tool in encouraging economic development when the development community recognizes that adequate public facilities are important to attracting buyers and tenants to their developments. This maintains the long-range health of the community and therefore the continued ability of development to be a profitable enterprise.

■ Assessment—Economic Development

Over the last two decades Alpharetta has seen drastic changes and explosive growth both in its residential population and its employment opportunities. Currently it is estimated that more than 100,000 people work in the city, primarily in the services and retail sectors. These sectors have grown as a response to Alpharetta's location, amenities, positive executive housing market, available land, potential buying power of the residential population and high quality of life. Employment growth is expected to continue over the next 20 years, but at a much slower rate as the national economy slows down and available land for new development becomes tighter. Several issues have emerged during this economic development analysis:

- Services and retail sales are the primary sectors in the Alpharetta market, encompassing over 77% of the total employment market. The services sector includes the majority of employment activity that is done within an office building.
- Manufacturing, Technology and Warehousing will continue to increase numerically over the next 20 years, but will encompass less than 10% of the entire employment market due to the overwhelming growth of the service and retail sectors.
- The city must assure that there is adequately zoned land with appropriate infrastructure to service the expected growth in employment within the city. Industrially zoned land (manufacturing and wholesaling activities) will require less land than in the past.
- The local economy is heavily dependent- on technology industries and while to a lesser degree than in the past, the telecomm sector. Recent events in the national economy saw many companies within this sector downsize operations. The city should look at ways to further diversify the local economy to continue to reduce its heavy reliance on this sector.
- Retail sales will continue to grow in response to the higher than average incomes in the Alpharetta area. Appropriate land and infrastructure should be provided to meet this need.
- Traffic issues are identified as a major threat to the continued viability of the business market. Mobility options other than the automobile must be pursued, such as pedestrian access, local bus circulation, express buses, park and ride lots, and eventually the extension of the MARTA rail line to support existing and proposed additional employment within the city.
- The city has invested substantially in the redevelopment of historic downtown Alpharetta. Due to these efforts the downtown area has become a destination for area residents for shopping, recreating and eating. The historic character of this area has been emphasized through several festivals and events. The city will continue to promote this area as a live, work, play center

through continued development incentives and appropriate land use and transportation coordination.

Moving forward, the City will have an increased focus on business retention and creating an entrepreneurial climate that promotes the growth and development of companies seeded in Alpharetta while also continuing to fuel the in-migration of leading corporations. The combination of increased competition for private sector investments, traffic congestion, and a reduced supply of undeveloped land will require the City to become more creative and more aggressive with its economic development efforts.

4. Natural and Historic Resources Element

Introduction

An important element of land use planning is an assessment of how natural resources are utilized, managed and preserved in a responsible way during the land use process. This chapter provides an inventory and assessment of natural, scenic and historic resources found in Alpharetta. These resources include: public water sources; water supply watersheds; groundwater recharge areas; wetlands; protected rivers; floodplains; soils; steep slopes; prime agricultural and forest lands; plant and animal habitats; major parks, recreation and conservation areas; and scenic views and sites. As Alpharetta continues to develop, the City strives to find a balance between retaining areas of natural significance for animal and plant habitats and allowing growth through land development. This chapter outlines areas that are sensitive and important natural resources that the City should work to protect during the next 20 years.

The City of Alpharetta has always had a proactive stance towards growth management and the protection of valuable resources. The Engineering and Public Works Department, along with other city departments, has developed a wide range of programs, requirements and ordinances to address the many environmental needs of Alpharetta. In addition, the Department embodies the philosophy that educating the general public and developers with regard to environmental issues will bring about increased awareness of the importance of maintaining a proper balance between people and their environment. In 2001, the City implemented Ordinances consistent with the Department of Natural Resources (DNR) Environmental Protection Division (EPD) Rules for Environmental Planning Criteria. This included passing the Small Water Supply Watershed, Wetlands and Groundwater Recharge Ordinances.

Public Water Supply Sources

The City of Alpharetta does not have a drinking water intake within the City limits. However, the City does have areas of significant groundwater recharge and is located within a small water supply watershed. Ordinances were passed in 2001 that meet the DNR Rules for Environmental Planning Criteria for the protection of groundwater recharge areas and small water supply watersheds.

Water Supply Watersheds

A water supply watershed is the area of land upstream of a public drinking water intake. DNR criteria protect water supplies by establishing buffer zones around streams and by specifying allowable impervious surface densities within such watersheds. Since large drainage basins are less vulnerable to contamination by land development than small basins, more stringent watershed protection criteria are applied to water supply watersheds less than 100 square miles in size.

Almost all of Alpharetta is located in the Big Creek watershed, a recognized small water supply watershed of just under 100 square miles that serves as a tributary for the City of Roswell's water intake and also the Chattahoochee River, the primary source of water for the Atlanta region. Foe Killer Creek is a tributary to the Big Creek watershed. Since the Big Creek water supply watershed area constitutes a small water supply watershed, certain minimum criteria must be met to insure clean and safe drinking water for the service area of this basin. The minimum criteria for small watersheds are:

- 100-foot undisturbed buffers and 150-foot impervious setbacks required from the banks of all perennial streams within a seven-mile upstream radius of the water supply intake. Septic tanks and their drain fields are not allowed in the 150-foot setback.
- Beyond the seven miles, perennial streams must maintain a 50-foot undisturbed buffer and 75foot impervious surface setback from both banks. Septic tanks and their drain fields are not allowed in the setback areas.
- New sanitary landfills are subject to special regulations.
- New hazardous waste treatment and disposal facilities are prohibited.
- The overall impervious surface area of the basin is limited to 25 percent of the basin area, or the existing amount, if greater.
- New hazardous materials handling facilities must use spill and leak collection systems.

Section 3.3.12 *Water Supply Watershed Protection* of the City of Alpharetta Unified Development Code contains protection criteria, which meets these requirements for the Big Creek small water supply watershed.

■ Groundwater Recharge Areas

An aquifer is any stratum or zone of rock beneath the surface of the earth capable of containing or producing water from a well. Recharge areas are portions of the earth's surface where water infiltrates the ground to replenish an aquifer. In order to avoid toxic and hazardous waste contamination to drinking water supplies, groundwater recharge areas must be protected. While recharge takes place throughout practically all of Georgia's land area, the rate or amount of recharge reaching underground aquifers varies from place to place depending on geologic conditions.

According to data provided by the Georgia Department of Natural Resources on the Ground-Water Pollution Susceptibility Map of Georgia, Hydrologic Atlas 20, several areas in Alpharetta have potentially significant groundwater recharge areas, and are therefore, vulnerable to ground water contamination. The Ground Water Pollution Susceptibility Map identifies areas in Alpharetta that are considered "most significant ground water recharge areas." The susceptibility rating in the majority of Alpharetta is "lower susceptibility." The soils in North Fulton County tend to be well drained, enabling water to percolate into the ground; however, most of the rock types have low permeability, supplying only small amounts of water to wells suitable for household use. The Chattahoochee River Basin in underlain by bedrock, and ground water is contained within the crystalline rock aquifer. The crystalline rocks contain little primary porosity; instead, most ground water is stored in the porous saprolite and transmitted to wells in the bedrock via fractures. Currently, the crystalline rock aquifers are used primarily for private water supplies and livestock watering.

Both the state and federal government regulate groundwater recharge areas. Requirements from the Environmental Protection Division (EPD) include restrictions and regulations on sanitary landfills, land disposal of hazardous wastes, spray irrigation of wastewater and wastewater treatment basins.

Overall requirements of significant recharge areas, as defined and delineated by the DNR Rules for Environmental Planning Criteria, are as follows:

- New sanitary landfills, if permitted by DNR and the zoning district, shall have synthetic liners and leachate collection systems.
- New hazardous waste treatment or disposal facilities are prohibited.
- Any new facility that involves the treatment, storage or disposal of hazardous waste, if permitted by DNR and the zoning district, shall perform such operations on an impermeable surface having a spill and leak collection system.
- Any new facility that handles hazardous materials of the types listed in Section 312 of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 (excluding underground storage tanks) in amounts of 10,000 pounds or more on any one day shall perform their operations on impermeable surfaces having spill and leak collection systems as prescribed by DNR.
- No construction may proceed on a building to be served by a septic tank unless the Fulton County Health Department approves the proposed septic tank installation as in compliance with the DNR Part 5 Criteria.
- Permanent storm water infiltration basins shall not be constructed in areas having high pollution susceptibility.
- A new above-ground chemical or petroleum storage tank must have secondary containment of 110% of the volume of the tank or 110% of the volume of the largest tank in a cluster of tanks. This requirement does not apply to:
 - Any tank having a maximum capacity of less than 660 gallons; and,
 - Any tank used for agricultural purposes, provided it complies with all Federal requirements.

Some requirements for ground water recharge areas vary according to the susceptibility of the recharge area. The water recharge area in Alpharetta is classified as having "lower" susceptibility to pollution; therefore, the following restrictions apply:

- New agricultural waste impoundment sites larger than 50 acre-feet must be lined.
- Any new home served by septic tank/drain field system must be approved by the County Health Department and must have a lot that is at least 110% of the subdivision minimum lot size required by Table MT-1 of the Department of Human Resources Manual for On-site Sewage Management Systems.
- Any new manufactured home park served by a septic tank/drain field system must be approved by the county Health Department and must have a lot or space that is at least 110% of the subdivision minimum lot or space size required by Table MT-2 of the Department of Human Resources Manual for On-Site Sewage Management Systems.

In Section 3.3.13 of the Unified Development Code, the City has adopted a Groundwater Recharge Area Protection Ordinance that meets the above DNR Rules for Environmental Planning Criteria.

Wetlands

Wetlands serve as important fish and wildlife habitats and breeding ground, and are an integral factor in food chain production. Numerous plant and animal species have adapted to the special conditions of freshwater wetlands and cannot survive elsewhere. Wetlands generally include swamps, marshes, bogs and similar areas. In Alpharetta, wetlands are adjacent to Big Creek and its tributaries throughout the City.

Wetlands are an important natural resource that recharge ground water; store floodwater by releasing water slowly; filter pollutants, especially polluted storm water run-off, from ground and surface waters; provide habitat for plants and animals; and provide recreation opportunities. These qualities are extremely important in light of rapid development occurring in Alpharetta. Alpharetta has significant areas of delineated wetlands within its boundaries that must be protected and has put into place several programs and policies to ensure protection of wetlands. The Soil Erosion and Sedimentation Control Ordinance (UDC Section 3.1.1), the Stormwater Management Ordinance (UDC Section 3.3) and the adopted Metro Rivers Protection Act provide for protection of stream areas that typically include wetlands. In addition to these measures, as part of its land disturbance permitting procedure, the City requires proof of compliance with the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers permitting procedure, Section 404 of the Clean Water Act, or verification that the project will not have any impact on wetlands. This procedure assures the City that valuable wetlands will not be lost to development.

In order to provide additional criteria for the protection of wetlands in Alpharetta and to ensure compliance of existing policies, the City has adopted the DNR's minimum "Criteria for Wetlands Protection" (391-3-15.03). In 2001, Section 3.3.7 *Wetlands* of the UDC was approved by City Council. This ordinance specifically implemented measures consistent with the DNR Rules for Environmental Planning Criteria. A Wetlands Protection District was established in addition to specific wetlands protection and permitting criteria. Land uses that are deemed acceptable within wetland and flood prone areas include: (1) Timber production and harvesting, (2) Wildlife and fisheries management, (3) Wastewater treatment, (4) Camping, hiking, hunting and fishing recreation activities, (5) Natural water quality treatment and purification, (6) Other uses permitted under Section 404 of the Clean Water Act. In addition, as outlined elsewhere in this chapter, the city is working towards developing a greenway system to further protect sensitive areas.

Protected Mountains

There are no mountains that fall within the Department of Natural Resources "protected mountains" criteria in the City of Alpharetta.

Protected Rivers

There are no protected rivers within the City of Alpharetta.

The city has adopted more stringent requirements than the Metropolitan River Protection Act. Section 3.3.6 *Stream Buffer Protection* of the UDC requires a 100-foot undisturbed buffer and 150-foot impervious setback on perennial streams and a 50-foot undisturbed buffer and 75-foot impervious setback on non-perennial streams.

■ Coastal Resources

There are no coastal resources located in the City of Alpharetta.

Flood Plains

The Flood Insurance Program of the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) has delineated the 100-year floodplain of streams within the City of Alpharetta on its Flood Insurance Rate Maps. The

City requires new residential structures to be at least three (3) feet above the 100-year base flood elevation defined by FEMA. In 2004, the City updated the Floodplain Management Ordinance (UDC Section 3.4), which sets guidelines and standards for development in and adjacent to the flood plain. The Floodplain Management Ordinance meets FEMA floodplain management standards and the requirements set forth in the Metropolitan North Georgia Water Planning District's Model Floodplain Management/Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance. This Ordinance regulates new development based on the Regulatory Flood which is defined as the flood having a one percent chance of being equaled or exceeded in any given year assuming the drainage basin is fully developed as shown on the current land use map. This may be equal to or higher than the FEMA Base Flood. The City will be mapping the regulatory floodplain in 2005.

Currently, much of the flood plain of Big Creek and its major tributaries has been designated as open space and is being incorporated into the City's greenway system.

Climate

Alpharetta has a four-season climate where summers average 78 degrees and winters are short and mild. Average temperature in the winter is 51 to 56 degrees, and 73 to 82 degrees in the summer. Average rainfall is 48 to 50 inches per year. Alpharetta's elevation results in moderate temperatures throughout the year and protection from the extremes of heat and humidity often associated with other Southern cities.

Topography

Alpharetta is located within the foothills of the Southern Appalachians in north-central Georgia. Topography in the Piedmont Region consists of gently sloping, rolling hills. The average elevation is 1,050 above sea level. There are some steep slopes surrounding Big Creek in the Congaree-Chewacla-Wickham soil association. Development in this area is regulated by the floodplain ordinance. The topography in Alpharetta poses few development constraints; however, during the land development process, the City of Alpharetta requires the notation of steep slopes on all site plans.

■ Soil Types

According to the U.S. Department of Agriculture's Natural Resource Conservation Service Fulton County, "Georgia Soil Survey Report, 1958," there are three main soil associations in Alpharetta: the Appling-Cecil and Lloyd-Cecil-Madison located throughout the City and the Congaree-Chewacla-Wickham association predominately located around Big Creek.

There are no development constraints associated with soils in the Appling-Cecil and Lloyd Cecil-Madison soil associations, although there are potential development restrictions within the Congaree-Chewacla-Wickham Association due to drainage quality, slope and floodplain restrictions. For development proposals seeking permits, the City requires site-specific soil studies to be submitted as a part of the site erosion and sedimentation control plan.

Appling-Cecil: These soils are located predominately in the northern portion of the Alpharetta vicinity. These soils are well drained and occur on rolling and hilly uplands primarily used for pastureland. There are no development restrictions associated with this soil type.

Lloyd-Cecil-Madison: These soils are well drained and occur on rolling and hilly uplands. There are no development restrictions associated with this soil type.

Congaree-Chewacla-Wickham: These soils are predominantly along Big Creek. The slope is usually level although the banks along the Big Creek are quite steep in some areas. Drainage is generally good, although in some areas is poor due to sediment and vegetation along stream channels. As noted above, this soil association does present some development restraints. Much of the area associated with this soil type is protected within stream buffers or floodplain.

Steep Slopes

Alpharetta is located within the foothills of the Southern Appalachians in north-central Georgia. Topography in the Piedmont Region consists of gently sloping, rolling hills. The average elevation is 1,050 above sea level. There are some steep slopes surrounding Big Creek in the Congaree-Chewacla-Wickham soil association. The Floodplain Management Ordinance regulates development in this area. The topography in Alpharetta poses few development constraints; however, during the land development process, the City of Alpharetta requires the notation of steep slopes on site plans.

Prime Agricultural and Forest Land

Prime Agricultural Land

Very little area within Alpharetta is in agricultural use today. Scattered gardens, limited crop fields and a few pastures are all that remain of the City's agricultural past. Horse farms, however, dot the western portion of the City and become more common to the northwest. These farms are generally small and oriented to the boarding of horses for pleasure and personal enjoyment. In terms of prime agricultural land, Alpharetta's location on the fringes of a major urban community indicates that the small amount of remaining acreage that is zoned for agricultural use may eventually be converted to some other form of development.

Forested Land

Native forests in the Piedmont Province were dominantly deciduous hardwoods and mixed strands of pine and hardwood. Cotton production in the Piedmont Province left the land relatively infertile and almost devoid of topsoil. The secondary forests that cover most of the area today replaced abandoned agricultural lands. Much of the undeveloped land in Alpharetta is currently forested. Private sector interests have master planned the majority of this land for future mixed-use developments.

All development in Alpharetta must conform to tree protection requirements as indicated in the tree protection and parking regulations of the Alpharetta Unified Development Code (UDC). The ordinance requires replacement of 20 units per acre for new or infill development and 200 square feet of area per newly planted tree in parking lot islands. The regulations establish maximum tree removal criteria as well as replanting criteria for new development and existing development. The city's tree protection ordinance is very strict in protecting specimen trees. The definition of a specimen tree is a 24" Diameter Breast Height (DBH) overstory tree, 30" DBH pine tree and 8" DBH understory tree. The critical root zone of a specimen tree is defined as 1.3 feet radius per inch DBH. Specimen trees are protected through an alternate design requirement whereby developers are required to redesign a site if specimen trees can realistically be saved. If specimen tree is removed, three times the unit credit is assessed on top of all other site requirements. The Alpharetta Unified Development Code also specifies densities, building coverage, setback and buffer requirements that, in effect, mandate vegetated areas in the various established zoning districts. Conformance to the DNR regulations for protection of wetlands, ground water recharge areas and aquifers and water supply watersheds, together with the currently adopted tree protection policies and procedures, should adequately control development and preserve as much forested land as possible.

Plant and Animal Habitats

North Fulton County is home to several species of plants and animals that are classified as endangered, threatened, or rare. State and Federal legislation relating to endangered plants and animals include the Endangered Species Act of 1973, the State Wildflower Preservation Act of 1973, and the Endangered Wildlife Act of 1973.

As an element of community sustainability, the City of Alpharetta is a strong advocate for the appreciation and use of native plant materials that have increased chances of survival and thriving without dependency on constant watering and fertilization. Understanding the complete vegetation dynamic is vital to a successful community and the quality balance of life as well as to the sustainment of natural resources: air, soil, water and wildlife.

The following list contains plant and animal species native to North Fulton County and, in general, to this part of Georgia which are classified as protected by the State of Georgia and/or the Federal Government. Classifications are as follows T-Threatened, E-Endangered, R-rare. Designations with an "S" are specifically identified at the state level.

Plants		Animals		
Туре	Habitats	Туре	Habitats	
Piedmont bar- ren strawberry (SR)	Rocky acedic woods along streams with mountain laurel; rarely in drier upland oak- hickory-pine	Gulf moccasin- shell mussel (E,SE)	Medium streams to large rivers with slight to moderate current over sand and gravel substrates; may be associated with muddy sand substrates around tree roots	
Bar star-vine (SPS)	Twining on subcanopy and un- derstory trees/shrubs in rich alluvial woods	Red-cockaded woodpecker (E)	Nest in mature pine with low un- derstory vegetation; forage in pine and pine hardwood stands	
		Bald Eagle (SPS)	Inland waterways and estuarine areas in Georgia	
	Plants	Animals		
		Bachman's spar- row (SR)	Abandoned fields with scattered shrubs, pines, or oaks	
		Appalachian Be-	Dense undergrowth, overgrown fields, thickets, and brush in open	

	wick's Wren (SR)	or semi-open habitat; feed pri- marily on insects
	Bluestripe shiner (ST)	Brownwater Streams
	Peregrine falcon	Anatum nests on cliffs, high hills, or tall buildings

Properties using federal funds, applying for federal permits or State public agencies using federal funds must survey their properties for endangered species and prepare plans to reduce or avoid impact. In addition, during both the master plan process and the land disturbance-permitting process the City requires identification of any plant or animal habitats. As part of the city's Tree Protection Ordinance, developments must retain certain existing mature trees and replant additional trees. Native vegetation is suggested to provide habitats for indigenous birds and animals.

The city of Alpharetta is proposing to build a new Environmental Education Passive Park on 40 acres situated along Big Creek at Kimball Bridge Road. This project will include more than 32 acres of wetlands, floodplain, meadow and upland forest. Visitors will be able to stroll through specialty areas, view exhibits, attend classes, conduct research or volunteer to help with various duties. This area will link with the Alpharetta Greenways Trail System, and will further the goal of protecting native plants and habitats.

■ Major Parks, Recreation Areas and Conservation Areas

Descriptions and plans for park, recreation facilities, greenways and opens space are included in the Community Facilities Chapter of this plan. As part of several districts outlined in the Unified Development Code, the city requires the dedication of open space for conservation. The City of Alpharetta Stormwater Management Ordinance gives water quality credits to builders and developers that provide permanent conservation easements or green space areas in Alpharetta.

Greenways Plan

The Greenway Conceptual Master Plan outlines the development of several open space areas connected throughout the City to provide access to recreational areas from all sections of the City; this is particularly true along both Big Creek and Foe Killer Creek. Currently a 45-acre River Corridor facility at Mansell and Haynes Bridge Road along Big Creek has been dedicated to the City. Upon completion, the City's urban greenway will have a network of trails and environmental educational opportunities along a 1000-4000 foot wide corridor extending approximately ten miles through the City along the banks of the Big Creek connecting residential and commercial areas.

Governor's Greenspace Program

The City of Alpharetta's long-term goal is to set aside 20% of its land mass as permanently protected greenspace. There are 13,434 acres within the City; 20% open space would require that 2,687 acres be set aside. The county currently has 767.54 acres designated as permanently protected Greenspace. Several types of property will be utilized to achieve this goal, including: 100 year floodplain (11%); passive

parks (1%); Redevelopment, Annexations, and Donations (7%); and GA 400 Buffer (1%). In 2000 the City submitted a Greenspace Program Plan to the state for acceptance. The City of Alpharetta was allocated \$179,318 from the Governor's Greenspace Fund for the first year, which was based on the City's percent of total population in Fulton County.

Obtaining additional greenspace in the City can be accomplished in several ways. First, additional greenspace can be obtained through further annexation of residential/agricultural property north of the city and redevelopment of existing industrial property, where appropriate. Second, permanent protection may be provided through the use of conservation easements and/or land use trust.

Presently, the city owns 427.54 acres of existing floodplain within the City of Alpharetta's Greenway System; of the total 427.54 acres, 416.12 acres are fee simple ownership and 11.42 are under conservation easements but are not protected in perpetuity. The City of Alpharetta has 151 acres in passive parkland and 189 acres in the GA 400 buffer. Existing conditions are as follows:

Ownership	Acres	Usage
City of Alpharetta	416.12	Greenway
City of Alpharetta	11.42	Greenway (conservation easement)
City of Alpharetta	30	Wills Park—Passive land
City of Alpharetta	77	North Park—Passive land
City of Alpharetta	.5	Citizen Square—Passive land
City of Alpharetta	43	Webb Bridge Park—Passive land
Various private owners	189	GA 400 Buffer
Total	767.54	

The City owns 40 acres of land in Forsyth County resulting from a gift from a developer that is protected in perpetuity and must remain an educational preserve.

Strategy

Greenways Plan

The greenways plan delineates areas along Big Creek and its tributaries that will be utilized as passive open space. Land is acquired through donations, condemnations, and purchases. Protection will be provided in the future through conservation easements, land trusts, etc.

Development Ordinances and Regulations

Open Space Requirement--There is an open space requirement within several zoning districts. Developments within master plan districts require 15% open space. Presently no permanent protection is required; however, it will be considered in the future.

Buffer Requirements—The city of Alpharetta has one of the most comprehensive stream buffer requirements in the state. The current ordinances require a 150-foot impervious setback on perennial streams and 75-foot impervious setback on non-perennial streams. Additionally, the city prohibits filling of the 100-foot floodplain.

GA 400 Tree Protection Buffer—This is a 120 foot buffer running adjacent and on each side of GA 400 throughout the city limits. The ordinance requires the buffer to be undisturbed, which means that no grading activity or tree removal is allowed within the buffer. Presently this land is owned by private owners and is not permanently protected according to administrative rules.

The City of Alpharetta will continue to fund the greenway system, as well as large regional parks to accommodate the need of its citizens for open space recreation. Additionally, the city will continue to use the authority of its zoning ordinance to require open space allotments in master planned districts and require buffers along GA 400.

Barriers to Achieving Greenspace Goal

There are several barriers to achieving greenspace goals, including the following:

- Lack of available land—large tracts of land are scarce due to aggressive development and high real estate values;
- Lack of sufficient funds for acquisition;
- Efforts to preserve greenspace directly conflict with rights of property owners for reasonable economic use.

There are several mitigation steps that the City can follow:

- The City of Alpharetta will consider the annexation of additional lands in the less developed areas of the city. These areas provide an additional 16,415 acres of land.
- Other methods of ownership need to be considered, such as donations, conservation easements, etc.
- Other funding sources such as grants, bonds and donations will be investigated.
- Tax incentives would need to be considered to provide help induce landowners to relinquish development rights. Development rights transfers and property tax abatements would be two important incentives to discuss.
- Continue to encourage conservation easements through water quality credits.
- Request a revision of the administrative rules regarding the "permanent protection" definition.

Scenic Views and Sites

The City of Alpharetta is interested in protecting the appearance of several areas within its corporate limits that contribute to Alpharetta's character as a unique and aesthetically pleasing community. The GA 400 corridor is of specific importance to the future of Alpharetta. This corridor serves as a view corridor for traffic traveling through Alpharetta via GA 400 and creates a first impression for visitors. A tree protection zone enhances this major arterial 120 feet wide along both sides of GA 400 that is required to remain virtually undisturbed. Alpharetta has incorporated this tree protection zone into its zoning ordinance and intends to continue to enforce this regulation in the future. The interchanges with GA 400 are also considered important view corridors that need to be protected.

The Big Creek Greenway currently provides over six (6) miles of continuous trails that provide views of Big Creek, wetlands, forests and wildlife. This Greenway is an important part of the character of Alpharetta and will be expanded in the future.

■ Air Quality

Air quality has a direct and far reaching impact on public health and well-being. Young children, the elderly, and people with asthma and other respiratory ailments are especially vulnerable to polluted air conditions.

Air quality is affected by a number of factors including dust, pollen, temperature, and humidity, smoke and chemical emissions. Natural sources of air pollution, such as weather conditions and seasonal changes (pollen) are difficult to control. However, the greatest amount of polluting emissions released into the atmosphere comes from man-made sources.

Ground level ozone is the most serious threat to ambient air quality in Fulton County. Ground level ozone is the principal component of smog, which is a major irritant to the mucous membranes and causes burning and irritation of the eyes, nose and throat. As much as half of the ground level ozone found in urban areas can be traced to mobile sources of air pollution, such as automobiles, trucks and buses.

Another important air pollutant is carbon monoxide (CO), an odorless and colorless gas that in high enough concentrations can cause brain damage. Approximately 90% of carbon monoxide emissions in the atmosphere come from motor vehicle exhaust.

Fulton County is one of the 13 counties that together comprise the Atlanta area's urban air quality basin. Overall air quality in this 13 county area is measured and compared against the National Ambient Air Quality Standards. The Atlanta area is considered to be a "non-attainment area" for air quality. This non-attainment status directly affects the region's ability to expand roadway capacity. Due to federal regulations, the current non-attainment designation directly impacts the county's road improvement program and its ability to add additional travel capacity to regionally significant roads.

The Atlanta Regional Commission (ARC) is attempting to develop solutions to the area's air quality problems that can be implemented at local and regional levels. These include efforts aimed at reducing the number of vehicle miles traveled, reduction in the number of vehicle trips, and exploring new technologies that would reduce the severity of mobile sources of air pollution, such as electric and natural gas powered vehicles.

The City of Alpharetta is working toward improving air quality through coordination and integration of land use and transportation, the encouragement of mixed use and pedestrian friendly facilities, and building of the necessary infrastructure for alternative modes of transportation.

Water Resources

The Alpharetta area is characterized by rolling hills, heavy forest cover in undisturbed areas, and several streams and creeks. Jones Bridge Road, Alpharetta Highway/Main Street, and Crabapple Road/Mayfield Road generally follow the ridgelines that define the city's drainage basins. Most of the city drains into two stream systems, the largest being Big Creek that flows down from Forsyth County east of Georgia 400, where Camp Creek and Caney Creek at Lake Windward, and Long Indian Creek farther south near Havnes Bridge Road join it. The other major basin, Foe Killer Creek, drains the west side of the City up to Crabapple and Mayfield Roads. Foe Killer Creek joins Big Creek at the southern end of the City at GA 400, where they flow into Roswell and the Chattahoochee River. The area generally north and west of the City drains into Cooper Sandy Creek, which flows west into the Little River and Lake Altoona as part of the Etowah River basin. In Alpharetta, drinking water comes predominately from the Chattahoochee River fed by the many streams and tributaries in the Big Creek Watershed. The watershed streams and other bodies of water, such as lakes and ponds, are suffering from illegal dumping, chemical runoff from farms and lawns, petroleum runoff from roads and parking lots, sediment from construction sites, sewage from failing or overloaded septic systems and broken sewer lines, toxic discharges from spills and deliberate releases and other problems including airborne pollutants. Alpharetta is part of the Chattahoochee River Basin, which originates in the southeast corner of White County, Georgia within the Blue Bridge Mountains, and flows southwesterly, and flows through the Atlanta metropolitan area, until reaching the Alabama border at West Point, Troup County, Georgia. From this point south, the Chattahoochee forms the border between Georgia and Alabama, and terminates in Lake Seminole, at the Georgia-Florida border for a total distance of about 434 miles. The Chattahoochee River Basin or watershed constitutes all land areas draining into the river, occupies a total of 8,770 square miles. Water resources within the Chattahoochee River Basin are affected by runoff from all parts of the basin.

The City of Alpharetta is charged with being a good steward of water resources within its municipal borders. To aid the protection of water resources and to protect the public, the city operates a laboratory and conducts tests on source water samples that are collected every week. The samples are taken from lakes, streams, ponds, storm drain outfalls and other drainage pipes. Additional information is taken from recorded observations of land use changes and other physical characteristics that are impacted by the actions of man and nature. Data are used to identify problems such as erosion and sewer spills as well as to make local policy recommendations. Data is kept in the ES office and analyzed for problems in stream as well as for quality assurance/quality control purposes.

As part of the requirements of the Georgia Department of Community Affairs' Minimum Planning Standards, communities must comply with minimum standards established by the Department of Natural Resources with respect to land and water resources. Commonly known as "Part 5 Minimum Environmental Standards," these statewide standards were developed by DNR pursuant to Code Section 12-2-8 and address three basic concerns:

- Aquifers and groundwater recharge areas;
- Water supply watersheds; and
- Wetlands.

To comply with the Part 5 Standards for each category of resource, communities must:

- Identify and inventory any occurrences of these resources within the community's jurisdiction;
- Determine whether the community has appropriate protective regulations that are at least as stringent as those imposed by DNR; and

• Determine whether additional regulations are needed to meet or exceed the minimum standards imposed by DNR.

The city is in compliance with the DNR's "Part 5" requirements. Following is a description of resources within the community in addition to an outline of programs the city has developed to address water resource issues. The city has also developed appropriate regulations that meet the requirements outlined in the "Part 5 Minimum Environmental Standards" and has incorporated these requirements into its recently developed Unified Development Code.

Aquifers and Groundwater Recharge Areas

Recharge areas are portions of the earth's surface where water infiltrates the ground to replenish an aquifer, which is any stratum or zone of rock beneath the surface of the earth capable of containing or producing water from a well. In order to avoid toxic and hazardous waste contamination to drinking water supplies, groundwater recharge areas must be protected. While recharge takes place throughout practically all of Georgia's land area, the rate or amount of recharge reaching underground aquifers varies from place to place depending on geologic conditions.

According to data provided by the Georgia Department of Natural Resources on the Ground-Water Pollution Susceptibility Map of Georgia, Hydrologic Atlas 20, several areas in Alpharetta have potentially significant groundwater recharge areas, and therefore, vulnerable to ground water contamination. The Ground Water Pollution Susceptibility Map identifies areas in Alpharetta that are considered "most significant ground water recharge areas." The susceptibility rating in the majority of Alpharetta is "lower susceptibility." The soils in North Fulton County tend to be well drained, enabling water to percolate into the ground; however, most of the rock types have low permeability, supplying only small amounts of water to wells suitable for household use. The Chattahoochee River Basin in underlain by bedrock, and ground water is contained within the crystalline rock aquifer. The crystalline rocks contain little primary porosity; rather, most ground water is stored in the porous saprolite and transmitted to wells in the bedrock via fractures. Currently, the crystalline rock aquifers are used primarily for private water supplies and livestock watering.

Both the state and federal government regulate groundwater recharge areas. Requirements from the Environmental Protection Division, (EPD), include restrictions and regulations on sanitary landfills, land disposal of hazardous wastes, spray irrigation of wastewater and wastewater treatment basins.

As part of the Unified Development Code, the City has adopted a Groundwater Recharge Area Protection Ordinance that meets DNR Part 5 Minimum Requirements. This Ordinance establishes a groundwater recharge area district, determines pollution susceptibility, and establishes permit development review, site plan requirements and enforcement policies. The objectives of the ordinance are:

- Protect groundwater quality by restricting land uses that generate, use or store dangerous pollutants in recharge areas;
- Protect groundwater quality by limited density of development; and
- Protect groundwater quality by ensuring that any development that occurs within the recharge area shall have no adverse effect on groundwater quality.

Overall requirements of significant recharge areas, as defined and delineated by DNR, are as follows:

• New hazardous waste treatment or disposal facilities are prohibited.

- New sanitary landfills, if permitted by DNR and the zoning district, shall have synthetic liners and leachate collection systems.
- Any new facility that involves the treatment, storage or disposal of hazardous waste, if permitted by DNR and the zoning district, shall perform such operations on an impermeable surface having a spill and leak collection system.
- Any new facility that handles hazardous materials of the types listed in Section 312 of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 (excluding underground storage tanks) in amounts of 10,000 pounds or more on any one day shall perform their operations on impermeable surfaces having spill and leak collection systems as prescribed by DNR.
- A new above-ground chemical or petroleum storage tank must have secondary containment of 110% of the volume of the tank or 110% of the volume of the largest tank in a cluster of tanks. This requirement does not apply to:
 - Any tank having a maximum capacity of less than 660 gallons; and,
 - Any tank used for agricultural purposes, provided it complies with all Federal requirements.

Requirements for ground water recharge areas vary according to the susceptibility of the recharge area. The water recharge area in Alpharetta is classified as having "lower" susceptibility to pollution; the following applies:

- New agricultural waste impoundment sites larger than 50 acre-feet must be lined.
- Any new home served by septic tank/drain field system must be approved by the County Health Department and must have a lot that is at least 110% of the minimum lot size required by Table MT-1 of the Department of Human Resource's Manual for On-site Sewage Management Systems.
- Any new manufactured home park served by a septic tank/drain field system must be approved by the county Health Department and must have a lot or space that is at least 110% of the minimum lot or space size required by Table MT-2 of the Department of Human Resource's Manual for On-Site Sewage Management Systems.

In addition to an Ordinance for Groundwater Recharge areas, the City has taken, and is in the process of taking, several additional steps to protect ground water:

- Review proposed capital improvements, zoning districts and comprehensive plan in order to minimize impact on critical recharge areas. Critical areas have been identified on the city's Future Land Use Plan Map.
- Identify critical recharge areas for purchase or protection as part of the County's Greenspace Plan.

Rivers & Streams

Metropolitan River Protection Act

The City has adopted the Metropolitan River Protection Act's Chattahoochee River Tributary Protection Ordinance. For approximately 45 miles downstream of Lake Lanier, the Chattahoochee River is again classified trout water because of the cold hypolimnetic discharge from the Buford Dam. Approximately 350,999 catchable and fingerling trout are stocked annually by the GA DNR, supporting a major trout fishery that provides a unique recreational opportunity for metropolitan Atlanta area. Most of this river section is considered part of the Chattahoochee River National Recreation Area, and the National Park Service owns scattered tracts of land adjoining the river. These areas serve as public access points for recreational use of the river. This section is considered a secondary trout stream.

This ordinance establishes an undisturbed buffer requirement along all perennial streams in the drainage basins of all tributaries of the Chattahoochee River that enter the Chattahoochee down-stream from Buford Dam to the downstream limits of Fulton and Douglas Counties. The city has established a 100-foot average stream buffer and a 75-foot buffer on intermittent streams. The Environmental Protection Division's NPDES project is designed to allow the City to control pollution levels in storm drainage within the Big Creek basin.

Flood Plains

The Flood Insurance Program of the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) has delineated the 100-year flood boundary of creeks within the City of Alpharetta on its Flood Boundary and Floodway Maps. Much of this area is contained in the flood plain areas, and is usable to some extent for non-intensive uses such as agriculture, recreation, etc.

The City has adopted a flood prevention ordinance, which sets guidelines and standards for development in the flood plain. Even though FEMA rules do not require it, the City has a policy of prohibiting filling in the 100-year flood plain.

Currently, much of the flood plain has been designated as open space and is being incorporated into the City's greenway system. Due to changing patterns and developmental impact on Big Creek over the last several years, several flood plain areas have are not identified on FEMA maps. To address this issue, the City needs to conduct additional technical and hydrological studies. Storm Water Management Program

Federal Clean Water Act revisions in 1987 resulted in recognizing municipal storm water pipes and outfalls as sources of pollution to be regulated in the same manner as industrial wastes. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) adopted regulations in 1990 controlling storm water pipes. The Georgia Environmental Protection Division (EPD) designated the City of Atlanta and Fulton, Cobb, Gwinnett and Clayton Counties as one government for purposes of filing an application for a stormwater discharge permit under the federal guidelines. The Atlanta Regional Commission (ARC) established a regional Storm Water Management Task Force to eliminate duplication and address inter-jurisdictional problems/issues.

As a part of this process, each municipality was given the option of filing a separate application. To ensure local accountability, Alpharetta chose this option; EPA approved its NPDES permit. Alpharetta has chosen a more restrictive policy regarding buffers than that required by EPA. The Stormwater Management Ordinance has one of the more comprehensive stream buffer requirements in the state. The ordinance also requires water quality treatment, specifically that the first one-half inch of run-off must be related to meet water quality standards. The City is committed to continuing to monitor storm water runoff and require strict compliance to its requirements.

Historic Resources

Every year in the 1800's farmers and merchants from South Carolina and North Georgia met in Cumming, Georgia on their way to Atlanta to trade. They formed a caravan of covered wagons. At the corners of Main Street and Union Hill Road in Alpharetta they stopped and spent the night. They often set up tents and as the years went by the acquired land and built log houses. A tiny village named New Prospect Camp Ground was formed. This village, made up of tents, a log school, and arbor became a trading post where Indians and white settlers traded. The surrounding countryside provided excellent farming land, especially for cotton. On December 11, 1857 the town was chartered and became the county seat of Milton County. The town was renamed Alpharetta from the Greek words "alpha" meaning first and "retta" meaning town. The corporate limits of the township of Alpharetta extended over and embraced one-half miles in all directions from the newly built Wooden County Court House

In 1856 Dr. Oliver Skelton built a small brick Greek revival home on the highest point in Milton County. The house has been restored and stands today at 61 Roswell Street. It is believed to be the oldest house in Alpharetta. During the 1870s the "academy" was built and opened for students. Room and board was offered. Academy Street earned its name form this institution. Many years later a public school was erected on this site and served all students until Milton High School was opened in 1921. Little remains of Alpharetta's rugged, nineteenth-century history. Only a few structures, such as the Skelton Teasly and Sim Manning houses, predate the 1910 fire that destroyed much of the City's business district. Development of the downtown area proceeded at a modest pace until after 1931, when Milton County's merger with Fulton County brought improved services, including the area's first paved roads. The "main street" character of the downtown area reached maturity during the 1930s and 1940s, when the town served as a crossroads catering to salesmen and other travelers as well as residents of the surrounding area.

In 1950 the community continued to be a cotton and farming community. Cotton was brought into Alpharetta for ginning, sale, and warehousing. Three gins were located in Alpharetta. Farmers also began raising chicken and cattle. In the 1970s, continued expansion of Atlanta northward made Alpharetta a popular residential area. The 1980s economic boom and proliferation of office complexes changed the skyline and overall character of Alpharetta to a major business and residential area. The North Fulton Regional Hospital was built in 1983. During the decade of the 1990s Alpharetta's population mush-roomed to over 30,000 residents, and includes 21 square miles.

The downtown area has lost many of the landmarks that defined its pre-World War II character. Fifty-one per cent of the buildings surveyed for a Main Street application in 1989, were constructed after 1960. Many of these newer structures, which include freestanding fast-food restaurants and ranch-style residences, do not perpetuate the character of the earlier storefronts and bungalows. Of the potentially historic properties that remain, some commercial storefronts appear to have been encased recently in brick veneer, while some early residences have been altered for conversion to commercial use. An inventory of historic resource structures has been prepared with the help of the Alpharetta Historical Society.

Historic Resources Survey

Historic Resource	Circa	Exterior Material	Form/Style	Vulnerability/ Encroachment
Waters Building	1860	Block with brick	Tar Urban Block	None
Oliver Building	1860	Brick over brick	Tar Urban Block	None
Cotton House	1870	Brick	Tar Urban Block	None
Old Milton Company		Brick	Tar Urban Block	None
Oliver/Jones Grocery		Brick	Tar Urban Block	None
Poole/Martin/Alpha Soda		GA English Bond	Brick Urban Block	None
Weatherford Feed & Seed		GA English Bond	Brick Urban Block	None

Inventory of identified historic resources include:

Historic Resource	Circa	Exterior Material	Form/Style	Vulnerability/ Encroachment
Manning Store	1850	Brick Stucco	Greek Revival	None
Manning Clothing	1915	Brick	Urban Block	Renovated
Teasley Barnett	1920	GA English Bond	Queen Anne	None
Milton Log Cabin	1921	Logs	Log Cabin	None
Skelton Teasley House	1864	Brick	Greek Revival	None
7 th Day Adventist Church		Wood	Clad	Renovated

Downtown

As a result of these conditions, the few downtown resources that appear old enough and were preserved enough to be considered historic are not consolidated into a cohesive district unified by any common time frame, physical appearance, and so forth. Instead, these resources are scattered or in small clusters along the arteries that converge on downtown. These resources are valuable assets that could best convey Alpharetta's historic, "small town roots" if restored to their original pre-World War II character. The remaining properties reflect a more suburban era of development and present a number of challenges to comprehensive, sensitive treatment of the downtown area.

No archaeological resources have been identified within the city limits. Though its historic resources are limited, Alpharetta can capitalize upon its small-town history and character by continued application of its urban design standards in the central business district. Alpharetta is developing a strategy to build upon the historic downtown as a tourist attraction. Historic Downtown Alpharetta Square, at the intersection of Milton and Main Streets, features antique, gift, flower shops and dining. Several events are held every year to promote the historic character and small town charm of the area, including:

- Harp Singing, which has been held in Alpharetta for the past 129 consecutive years. The singers sing the notes and then the words.
- Old Soldiers Day has been held each year for the past 46 years on the first Saturday in August. Many marching units come from all over the state to participate. A memorial service is held to honor those that paid the supreme sacrifice.
- Special promotional festivals, such as "Historic Downtown Alpharetta Sidewalk Sale and Trade Day," "Historic Downtown Alpharetta Antique Festival" and Taste of Alpharetta.

If further research identifies that any district or building within the City of Alpharetta is eligible for the National Register of Historic Places, the City will take appropriate action to protect the structure or structures.

Northwest Area

Although no formal "rural" resources have been identified, Alpharetta has earmarked the northwest sector of the city to remain as low-density residential. This area is the center of equestrian activity in the area, and is dotted by many small horse farms. The city's goal is retain the horse farm character of this area through the Residential Estate zoning district. Sewer is not available in this area, nor is it planned in the future. The preservation of the low density life style offered in this area benefits the City because it contributes to the open space and air quality objectives.

Organizations

Several organizations promote the unique and historic character of Alpharetta, including:

- Awesome Alpharetta Welcome Center—Alpharetta Convention and Visitors Bureau at 20 North Main Street;
- The Greater North Fulton Chamber of Commerce; and
- Alpharetta Historic Society.

Assessment of Current and Future needs:

The vulnerability and encroachment of the above historic resources is based on population and economic development projections. While there are no immediate concerns regarding the vulnerability of these structures, it is imperative that continued care and attention be maintained to preserve the historic character and structural virility of these resources. Present land use goals and objectives are in keeping with maintaining the character of the properties. The structures should continue to be monitored for physical deterioration. However, due to the continued growth and redevelopment interest, the structures are being studied for historically sensitive renovations on an on-going basis by the development community. The City's Design Review Board reviews such renovations and requires such to maintain the proper sensitivities. This board is important for this process and should be maintained for their continued aid. Additionally, the City of Alpharetta participates financially in a grant program called "Downtown Partners", which seeks to provide financial incentives for the preservation of the structures.

Alpharetta has an abundance of natural resources that warrant attention because of their sensitive nature and valuable contribution to the community. The city has taken several specific steps for the protection of water resources and conservation of the natural environment and sensitive area. Responsibility for the protection of the natural environment is regulated under several agencies and regulations: through city departments, including Environmental Services, Public Works and Engineering and Community Development; through regulations such as the Tree Protection Ordinance, Soil Erosion Ordinance, Flood Protection Ordinance, the Unified Development Code, site plan/engineering review, land disturbance and building permits and construction permits; through the Georgia DNR—Water resource and soil erosion regulations and inspections; and through the US EPA/Corps of Engineers—wetland (404) permits. Alpharetta is unique in several ways. First, land use and development has been primarily master planned into appropriate locations that contain the appropriate infrastructure, while naturally sensitive areas are preserved. Second, the city has recently adopted a Unified Development Code that address in detail several environmental issues, such as tree protection, soil erosion, flood protection, steams and buffers and storm water. The city's regulations tend to be more stringent than state requirements. Third, the city has an entire department set aside for continuous educational opportunities for its citizens. In addition to classes and information regarding city ordinances, the city has gone the additional step in developing a natural education center and program to promote environmental awareness and a love of nature among the citizens, and especially among school children.

Land Use

Much of the growth and development within the city is within master planned zoning districts that take advantage of existing and planned infrastructure such as fiber optic cable, sewer, fire protection and transportation facilities, while being sensitive to natural resources important to the city. Greater development intensity is encouraged closer to downtown and along major roadways. Environmentally sensitive areas have been protected by the dedication of open space and the dedication of large tracts for public use. Many open space nodes dedicated from master planned developments are connected by a linear greenway system along Big Creek. This greenway system has been utilized for recreational and transportation purposes by citizens of the community and connect residential areas to commercial and office nodes.

In order to protect critical areas, the location of public capital improvements, such as sewer line extensions, roads, fire, and police is directed away from these sensitive areas. Where sewer is not available, the land is being utilized for large-lot residential development, such as the rural "horse country" in the northwest. The city is also looking at an additional zoning district to protect the major water recharge area located in the Crabapple vicinity.

Forested land and agriculture land has been identified on the future land use map, although the likelihood that these land uses will continue into the future is small due to limited available land and development pressure within the city. It is anticipated that these land use uses may eventually be converted to some other form of development. GA 400 is considered a scenic corridor and is protected by a 120 foot undisturbed tree buffer.

Regulations

Land development and natural resources protection regulations are very strong within the city, with several requirements above the state recommended minimums. The recently developed Unified Development Code incorporated various city ordinances into an easy to understand and easy to use format to assist the development community in understanding the breath of the city's restrictions and requirements. Due to the anticipated growth of the City, the City will continue to enforce current regulations with regards to floodplains, wetlands, drinking water supply watershed, groundwater recharge areas, rivers and streams and trees, and to develop additional regulations and requirements as necessary in the future. The City has outlined the DNR's "Part 5" Environmental Planning Criteria within this chapter of the Comprehensive Plan, in addition to incorporating requirements into the Unified Development Code.

Recently the definition of a specimen tree was amended from 32" to 24" in caliper. Strict adherence to these guidelines reduces the heat island effect and helps to reduce impervious surfaces. Several developments have been denied permits to protect existing large trees on the site.

The City is currently studying or developing additional regulations to provide natural resource protection:

- Study purchasing sensitive lands outright through the county or a non-profit organization. These lands could be used in the public interest for such purposes as wildlife refuges, parks, recreation areas, etc. Offer development incentives for projects that contribute to recharge area protection by setting aside critical recharge areas (as passive parks/recreation areas, for instance), using large lot sizes.
- Identify any and all uses during the development process that are located within special districts that may endanger valuable water resources, such as hazardous waste handling facilities, new stormwater infiltration basins. The districts are: wetlands, drinking water supply watershed within 7-mile radius, and groundwater recharge areas. Ban uses that would harm water resources.
- The city is researching the possibility of limiting impervious surface or ground area coverage.

The City will continue to control development location and practices so that unsuitable soils are not built on, erosion is minimized, wetlands are not disturbed and floodplains are avoided. The City currently enforces responsible development practices through land disturbance and building permits, inspection and review process. This process adequately mitigates negative development practices and will remain intact in the future.

Education

In addition to direct protection of the natural environment, the city will continue to educate its citizens about local threatened or endangered species and environmental impacts through the existing educational programs and the City web page. Several volunteer opportunities exist for the citizens of Alpharetta, including:

- Adopt A Mile/Adopt A Spot- The longest running and most successful volunteer program operated by the city. It requires an individual or groups to agree to clean up a mile of roadway or a spot at least 4 times a year. A sign is erected to recognize the volunteer efforts.
- **Project Ripple-** Trains volunteers to assist in important water monitoring. Staff and volunteer monitoring has provided the ability to find problems early and resolve them more quickly.
- Annual May Telephone Book Recycling—Old phone books are collected in a drop-off trailer near City Hall for the whole month of May for recycling.
- Annual TRIB TROT—Volunteers a clean up areas near streams or storm drains on the fourth Saturday in October to prevent pollution in the waterways. This program works in conjunction with the annual Georgia River Cleanup.
- **GREEN SCHOOL Program** Establishes environmental education as a tool in all disciplines and combines indoor instruction with outdoor activities. The program has more than 38,000 students, K through 12.

Historic Preservation

Unfortunately very little of original downtown Alpharetta exists today. The city has been very focused on the historic character of its existing downtown. Many resources have been invested to increase the livability and viability of this historic central business district, including streetscapes, historic remodeling, façade improvements, road improvements and pedestrian connections. The City of Alpharetta, through the aid of local community banks has instituted a low interest loan program to assist property owners in improving their properties. The Design Review Board reviews projects for aesthetic and architectural control. Several organizations promote the unique and historic character and history of the city including the Awesome Alpharetta Welcome Center, the Greater North Fulton Chamber of Commerce, the Alpharetta Historic Society and the Downtown Merchants through many special events and festivals, such as the Sacred Harp Singing, Old Soldiers Day, and Taste of Alpharetta

Cultural Resources

Where applicable, the following historic, archeological and culturally significant resources have been inventoried:

1. Residential Resources

The city has numerous significant residential districts and neighborhoods. Although few have historical significance, several have significance due to their architectural and aesthetic impact upon the city. The Windward community provides affluent executive housing, some located adjacent to golf course and lake amenities. Additionally, many smaller developments throughout the Alpharetta community provide the same type of housing for utilization by city residents. Mixed-use developments, such as Palisades and Cousins Westside, are integrating urban executive housing with the convenience of office, retail and restaurants as a valuable amenity.

Vulnerability and encroachment- The only vulnerability to this residential resources is functional obsolescence in the older housing districts. Building code issues should be addressed as they arise to mitigate any long term impact on structures.

B. Commercial Resources

The city maintains several commercial districts. The Central Business District (CBD) is an historic district that continues to see infill development and renovation of older structures. They city's goals and objectives indicate protection of this valuable resource. Additionally, the city is considering a public/private partnership to develop an additional seven acres within the CBD. The preliminary plans have indicated around 50,000 square feet of additional retail business. Additionally, the North Point Mall area is a large commercial resource that generates economic growth. With over 2 million square feet of retail development, this area continues to be an attractive commercial resource for city residents.

Vulnerability and Encroachment - The CBD may have vulnerability due to the age of the structures. However, building codes personnel have been attentive and proactive in the handling of building violation issues. There appears to be few, if any, vulnerabilities and encroachments for other important commercial resources.

C. Industrial Resources

The city has few areas that would be considered industrial resources. The area along North Fulton Industrial Boulevard has been utilized for industrial uses.

Vulnerability and Encroachment - None exist.

D. Institutional Resources

Within the city limits, two high schools and one elementary school exist. One of the high schools recently opened and the other has preliminary plan to become a magnet school. In the downtown area, three churches exist within walking distance to the town center.

Vulnerability and Encroachment - None exist.

E. Transportation Resources

See Section 8.0.0 Transportation System Components

F. Rural Resources

There are no significant rural resources within the present city limits.

5. Community Facilities and Services Element

Introduction

Community facilities within the city were evaluated as a part of the development of the city's comprehensive plan preparation. This element of the Comprehensive Plan evaluates and anticipates the need for facilities in coordination with future land uses so that facilities will be available to serve existing and future population and development. The primary services included in the Community Facilities and Services Element are transportation; general government; water supply and treatment; sewage system and wastewater treatment; solid waste management; public safety (police and fire); public health facilities and services; recreation and open space; educational facilities; and libraries and other cultural facilities.

Much of the development within the city over the last two decades has occurred within master planned districts. These developments have been planned to include a mix of land uses that take advantage of planned infrastructure including fiber optic cable, sewer, water, fire protection, etc. This policy of coordinated land use and infrastructure planning has assured residents and businesses within the city that appropriate infrastructure is planned to meet current and future needs. Alpharetta's goal for community facilities is to provide for an arrangement of public and semipublic facilities and services that meet the needs of Alpharetta citizens and enhance the quality of life. The location of these facilities is illustrated on the Community Facilities Map.

■ <u>Transportation Network</u>

See Section 8.0.0.0 for the complete transportation inventory and assessment.

General Government

The City of Alpharetta's main administration functions are located in the City Hall at the corner of Academy Street and Main Street. This approximately 10,000 square-foot building houses the purchasing, utilities, human resources, MIS and general administrative functions of the city. The City staff currently numbers 369 full and 19 part time employees.

As a decentralized government, most of the facilities are strategically located in different geographical areas throughout the City. For instance, the Public Works and Engineering staff, a total of 58 employees, operates from a facility located on Hembree Road. Although the departments are not related, the Parks and Recreation Department, with 51 employees, and Court Services Department, with 8 employees, operate out of the Municipal Complex, a renovated and revitalized church, located in the western region of the City in the historical Crabapple community contiguous to unique antique shops. The Community Development Department, which employs 20 employees, provides the planning, zoning, building inspections and economic development leases a separate office space on Haynes Bridge Road. The Finance department has 23 employees.

The City of Alpharetta also provides public safety services to include Police and Fire. As of November 2000, the police department staff occupied the new police headquarters off Old Milton Parkway one mile
west of State Route 400. The Police Department has 108 employees. The old police headquarters, located adjacent to the new building, has been renovated to expand the communications center/911 division and the detention facility. The Fire Department includes five separate station houses and a headquarters facility staffed by both full time employees and volunteers. A Mayor and six Council Members govern the City.

Current facilities within City Hall and other outlying offices have limited office space and are rapidly approaching full capacity. As the population and economic base continue to grow, there will be increased demand on the city government for staffing and office space. It is estimated that over the next ten years the City will add 50 to 60 new employees, largely in the public safety and services areas. The city has conducted a needs assessment of current and future space requirements for municipal services in order to address additional facility needs. This assessment has identified the opportunity to consolidate city facilities with a municipal complex anchored by the existing City Hall building. The city has acquired land adjacent to City Hall for future potential expansion and the City is currently planning a new City Hall complex, which will contain the existing city hall personnel as well as the Community Development and Finance Departments. In addition the City has plans for 2 new fire stations on existing city properties, which would serve the east and west sides of town.

Water Supply and Treatment

Water availability is one of the most important factors in planning current and potential land use. Water service availability is primarily governed by the permitted withdrawal rate from the Chattahoochee River as allowed by the Environmental Protection Division of the Georgia Department of Natural Resources. Secondary factors that affect service availability include the reservoir impoundment volume, water treatment capacity and the hydraulic capacity of the distribution system.

Alpharetta's water is provided by the Fulton County Department of Public Works from the North Area Water Treatment Plant. The City owns and operates a portion of the water lines west of GA 400, and Fulton County owns and operates the water lines east of GA 400. The City of Alpharetta is under contract with Fulton County to turn over all remaining city water supply facilities by June 30, 2005 at the latest. An extensive infrastructure network of 6-to 12-inch diameter water lines is currently in place and adequately serves the average and peak daily needs of Alpharetta residents and businesses. However, deficiencies have been identified in the system hydraulic capacity to meet sufficient water flows for fire fighting needs.

With the completion of a loop-type main system, Fulton County estimates that the water supply from North Area Water Treatment Plant should be adequate through the year 2050 for areas north of the Chattahoochee River. In addition, the construction of several large water mains in the north Alpharetta and Johns Creek areas should meet current and projected demand for potable water. There are also plans to add to the three existing tower storage structures to insure proper pressure during the day.

Using the Fulton County consumption rates of 92 gallons per day (gpd) per resident, 210 gpd per industrial employee and 32 gpd for other employees,¹ in the year 2020 Alpharetta's 48,333 residents will need

¹Water and Sewer Connection Fees, Fulton County, Georgia, 1994.

4.4 million gallons per day, and its 129,000 employees will consume 4.6 million gallons per day, for a total of 9.0 million gallons per day.

It is expected that new development will continue to extend water distribution lines where necessary. It is the goal of the City to design new water lines to meet both present and future demands, and to upgrade waterlines to 8" or greater in areas of intense commercial or higher density residential. The City will continue to coordinate development activities with Fulton County to insure adequate water capacities are planned to meet future demands, and to enforce water conservation measures in all new development in the City.

Sewerage System and Wastewater Treatment

Like water availability, wastewater service affects the growth rate and size of an area. Wastewater treatment is a regional issue affected by topography resulting in the need for cooperation between governmental jurisdictions. In North Fulton County, the Big Creek Water Reclamation Plant provides wastewater treatment to the City of Alpharetta. The Big Creek Water Reclamation Plant has a current capacity of 24 mgd and a life expectancy of 30 years. In addition, a diversion system is currently utilized to transfer wastewater from Big Creek to Johns Creek plant for treatment. The Johns Creek plant has a treatment capacity of 7 mgd. Alpharetta has an agreement with Fulton County to provide sewer capacity as needed.

An adequate infrastructure of sewer lines serves the existing development in Alpharetta. Fulton County currently provides service or has the potential to serve, approximately three-quarters of the land area of Alpharetta. The remaining one-quarter, which lies north of a ridge line extending across the northwest portion of Alpharetta, has no service at this time and relies on individual septic tanks for waste water disposal. This area is zoned for single-family, low-density residential development. The future land use plan identifies this area as low density rural; there are no plans to extend sewer lines to this area in the future Due to restrictions imposed by Little River Creek, Fulton County has adopted a policy of prohibiting sewer extension into this area.

Fulton County has entered into a contract with Cauley Creek Water Reclamation LLC to treat 5 mgd in the Johns Creek Basin by land application.

Fulton County estimates sewage generation in the Big Creek Basin at 100 gallons per day per resident, 230 gpd per industrial employee and 60 gpd for other employees. ²Total demand at the plant is projected to reach 27 mgd in the year 2010, Breaking out the City of Alpharetta, in the year 2020 Alpharetta's 48,333 residents will generate 4.8 million gallons per day, and its employment of 129,000 will generate 7.6 million gallons per day for a total of 12.4 million gallons per day. Maximum wastewater flow and pollutant loadings are currently being established by the Georgia Natural Resources Department's Environmental Protection Division (EPD) for the Chattahoochee River below the Big Creek Wastewater Reclamation Facility. According to EPD, the maximum amount of wastewater that can be safely discharged into the Chattahoochee River is 358 mgd. Currently, jurisdictions have been permitted for 302 mgd of wastewater discharge. Total sewer plant expansions, if approved, would increase wastewater flows to approximately 361 mgd within the next ten years; therefore, the EPD is investigating several alternative options for wastewater treatment in the future, including enhanced treatment, implementing better stormwater management techniques and encouraging water conservation.

²Water and Sewer Connection Fees, Fulton County, Georgia, 1994. Figures include wastewater return plus inflow and infiltration.

While the current infrastructure of sewer lines in Alpharetta is adequate to serve the area, new infrastructure will be extended to accommodate new development as necessary. It is the policy of the City that new sewer lines be designed to meet both present and future service demands and that lines should be sited to accommodate growth at the time of installation.

Solid Waste Management

In 1992 the City completed its solid waste plan. The Plan's goal was to reduce the solid waste stream by 25%. Cooperation and dedication to this goal has been excellent. Since the plan was completed, the City has met or exceeded this goal each year. This goal has been achieved through a variety of recycling programs for both businesses and residents and an extensive education program and marketing plan.

The City of Alpharetta has no solid waste disposal system of its own and contracts out this service to Waste Management Services of Atlanta. In addition to solid waste pickup, Waste Management Services administers a very successful curbside recycling program. This once weekly pickup for newspaper, glass, plastic and magazines has been extremely successful. Each household in Alpharetta is disposing of ten to thirteen pounds of recycleables per week; this poundage is greater than national averages. Other recycling programs in Alpharetta include school site programs, office paper and telephone book pick up. Solid wastes are disposed of in the Liveoak Landfill. Currently there are no restrictions associated with this landfill.

The City recently opened commercial solid waste disposal to allow several companies to participate. To ensure quality, the city requires a permit for carriers to operate within Alpharetta. Although business recycling is not mandatory, the City meets with businesses to discuss ways to reduce solid waste flow in conjunction with established recycling plans. A private transfer station has recently been constructed within the city's industrial district.

The City provides three types of waste pickup: mulch, chipper and large items. A mulch pickup includes leaves, grass clippings, pine straw, etc. The mulch is taken to Greencycle in Morgan Falls. The chipper pick-up is for any items too large for a regular truck, such as tree limbs, etc. After the items are chipped, they are offered back to the homeowner or any other resident within Alpharetta such as schools, or brought to Greencycle. The third pickup, "large items" are disposed at the Chadwick Road Landfill.

Alpharetta plans to continue its education programs and marketing to further reduce the solid waste stream.

Public Safety

Police

The goal of the Alpharetta Police Department is to maintain the quality of life in the City of Alpharetta by providing a safe and secure environment, and to meet community standards of high visibility through a service philosophy termed "community oriented policing". Although Alpharetta continues to have a low crime rate, the increasing growth combined with a large daytime transient population will present administrative and staffing challenges in the future.

The Alpharetta Police Department currently employs 71 sworn police officers and 34 non-sworn personnel. The Department is located at 2565 Old Milton Parkway in Alpharetta. The department is charged with delivering a full service law enforcement service to the community and currently provides a Detention Center and Emergency 911 Center. Using Alpharetta's current 2000 population of 34,854, and to provide the highest level of public safety protection, the Department staffs roughly 2 officers for every 1,000 residents. The City does however have a sizable non-residential population and therefore the current supply of officers is not overly generous.

The Department has adopted the mission of "providing excellence in service through meaningful community partnerships." Crime prevention and community policing share a common purpose—making the public safer and making communities healthier. Community policing in Alpharetta provides knowledge and information to citizens about preventing specific kinds of crime, mobilizes them for prevention efforts, and develops physical and social environments inhospitable to crime. Additionally, the Department will undergo a re-certification assessment in 2001 by the State of Georgia Law Enforcement Certification Program and a re-accreditation assessment in 2002 by the Commission on Accreditation for Law Enforcement Agencies.

Space deficiencies identified in the previous *City of Alpharetta Comprehensive Plan* are being alleviated with the construction of a new police administration facility and remodeling of the Detention Center and Emergency 911 Communications Center. Upon completion, the Detention Center capacity is estimated to be 48 beds. In addition, the completion of the Communications Center will strengthen service through the addition of personnel dedicated to call-taking, dispatching, and providing emergency medical assistance using state-of-the-art technology. Both the Detention Center and Communication Center are staffed 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.

By the year 2020 Alpharetta's population is projected to increase to 48,333 residents. To meet the current level of service of 2.04 sworn officers per 1,000 residents, the City will have to strengthen its police force in many areas. The Department has identified that additional officers would be added to the patrol division, investigations division, a DUI task force, a special bike or mounted patrol, a training division, special services division, detention division, and communications division. The Department will continue to place its current emphasis on community policing and high visibility. The agency prides itself on providing a professional law enforcement service, but also realizes that concurrent with this service is problem solving and community involvement.

Fire

The City of Alpharetta Department of Fire and Emergency Services is a proactive, customer oriented emergency services provider. The Department's objective is to provide the best possible fire and emergency medical services. The Department's goal is to maximize the savings of life, minimize the loss of property and avoid loss whenever possible through prevention and education.

Prior to 1987, the Alpharetta Fire Department was considered a volunteer department. As population grew and the City became increasingly cosmopolitan, the need to add full-time personnel became apparent; the department became a combination paid/volunteer service. This move to a paid fire company, along with the addition of new stations and equipment decreased the City's Insurance Service Organization (ISO) fire protection rating from 6 in 1983 to 3 in 1995. The reduced ISO fire protection rating amounts to millions of dollars in insurance premium savings to the residents and businesses of Alpharetta.

Currently, the Fire Department employees full-time and 4 part-time employees, and utilizes 14 volunteers and 26 Community Emergency Response Team members. Because of population and development increases, the Alpharetta Fire Department added four stations in six years. The service delivery system includes five fire stations located at Webb Bridge Road (#1), Market Place (#2), Westside Drive (#3), Park

Ridge (#4), and Mid Broadwell Road (#5). Also adjacent to Station #1 is an Administrative Office Building that consists of Alpharetta's Fire Prevention, Public Education and Administrative offices.

The Department's rolling inventory consists of five engines, three ladder trucks, one-reserve engines, one rescue unit, one air and light truck, and a HazMat trailer. The condition of the current equipment is good with the majority of it being less than ten years old. Each fire station serves an area of less than six square miles and is sited to meet a four-minute response time.

Each fire station is equipped with the Emergency Warning System. This system is comprised of 19 sirens strategically located throughout the City.

The Department of Fire and Emergency Services has branched out into several technical fields to provide a wider range of service to the public:

- Hazardous Materials: Awareness and limited operations level service is provided to identify and contain the release of hazardous materials. The primary function of the department is to stabilize a scene until arrangements can be made to stop, remove, or limit environmental damage by hazardous byproducts.
- Emergency Operations Center/Emergency Warning System Sirens: Fire personnel formulate the emergency operations plan, State and Federal planning, and weather monitoring. The City maintains a 19-site network of radio-controlled tornado warning sirens to alert the public of impending tornatic weather.
- Fire Prevention, Code Enforcement, Fire Inspections, and Public Education: These functions are maintained by the Fire Prevention Department. Code enforcement includes all fire safety aspects associated with the construction of a new commercial or multi-family building. Remodeling and other new construction projects are monitored for fire safety compliance through this function. Fire inspection maintains close contact with the owners and occupants of existing structures to ensure the safety of the general public through annual inspections. Public education targets a reduction in fire loss through preventative education. Grade school education and adult presentations are made to prevent injuries and property loss from fire.

The long-range objective of the Alpharetta Fire Department is to improve its current level of service and improve the City's ISO rating to a 2 rating. At the present time fire capacity and station locations meet current demands. Station 5 is currently in the design phase as a replacement station. Station 6 is in the design phase as a new station located on Kimball Bridge Road and serving the newly annexed eastern area of the city. Station 6 will require 12 new employees. As annexations occur in the future, the city will increase its fire service facilities accordingly, including the addition of Station 7 with an estimated 13 employees. Fire service areas are based on time to respond; as the City becomes more urban and thus more densely populated; new service areas may have to be established in order to meet the City's four-minute response time standard.

Public Health Facilities and Services

The City of Alpharetta Department of Fire and Emergency Services maintain a very proactive emergency medical services (EMS) system. All engine companies are equipped with advanced cardiac life support supplies and tools to render emergency pre-hospital life support. Other first-line equipment that maintains basic cardiac life support includes semi-automatic defibrillators. The Fire Department manages and coordinates the service delivery of emergency medical transport services as provided by the County approved

third party vendor. Performance standards and level of care standards are maintained and evaluated on a monthly basis by the Department.

Countywide, the Fulton County Health Department administers an array of health services through its three divisions: physical health, mental health, and environmental health. Programs include prevention, detection and control of disease, health education, environmental health services, mental health, and vital records. The County has a Health Department Branch located next to City Hall on Academy Street, which sufficiently meets the public health needs of the City. The Health Department has identified several programs that they would like to expand in the future to better serve City residents. These services include immunizations, Early Periodic Screening and Development Testing, Well Child Check-up, dental services, material and family planning and WIC. The Department also wants to develop and implement a program to support local physicians who accept new Medicaid assignments.

Several private physicians and medical centers provide health care to area residents. During the last several years several private health care facilities have been built, including Kaiser Pemanente and ThereTX. North Fulton Regional Hospital, located just outside the Alpharetta City limits serves Alpharetta's major hospital needs. North Fulton Regional is a 167-bed facility. In addition, a 400-bed Northside Hospital annex has recently been built. Currently private health care facilities are adequate within the city and surrounding area, but as the population continues to increase it will be necessary for hospital providers and other private health care providers to expand services.

Recreation and Open Space

Recreation and open space are top priorities to the residents of the city. In November 2001 the city received "Agency of the Year" award from the Georgia Recreation and Parks Association. The City of Alpharetta's Recreation Department administrative offices are located in a 1,300 square-foot renovated house on Marietta Street. Existing parks include Wills Park on Wills Road, North Park on Cogburn Road, Webb Bridge Park on Webb Bridge Road, Old Milton Square in the downtown business district, Eagle Gym and Alpharetta Pool Complex and open space/greenway trails located along Big Creek. The existing park inventory includes three citywide parks containing a total of 296 acres, two community parks containing a total of 4 acres, a neighborhood park containing .5 acres and open space/greenway areas containing 427 acres. The city has acquired additional parkland on Cogburn Road and has begun planning a passive park for this location.

Alpharetta benefits from a number of recreational facilities in the immediate area. City residents have access to several parks in north Fulton County: Bell Memorial Park, Birmingham Park, New Town Park, Providence Out-door Recreation Center, Ocee Park, Chattahoochee River Park, Chattahoochee Nature Center and Autrey Mill Park. Although not counted towards public park and recreational needs, private parks complement the overall park system and help to satisfy the recreational needs of the citizens. There are many private parks and recreation facilities located in Alpharetta such as the YMCA, the American Legion facility, the First Baptist Church, the Golf Club of Georgia and single and multi-family recreational facilities.

Alpharetta provides parkland through the following facilities:

Wills Park is located in the heart of Alpharetta. This approximately 120-acre park provides recreational facilities to the residents of Alpharetta as well as the surrounding north Fulton County area. The park provides such activities as swimming, an equestrian center, community-built playground, frisbee-golf, tennis, basketball and softball and two 2 indoor recreation facilities that include gymnasiums, gymnastics, volleyball, dance and aerobics programs. The park also contains 10 baseball fields, two basketball courts,

and three picnic shelters. The equestrian center contains two open riding rings, one covered arena, 300 horse stalls, a judge's administrative building, RV hook-ups and parking areas. Planned improvements will focus on enhanced landscaped and natural areas, updated support facilities, six tennis courts, parking expansion, elimination of pedestrian and vehicular circulation conflicts.

Alpharetta North Park on Cogburn Road was developed in 1988 under special legislation by the Georgia General Assembly for the noncontiguous 97 acres owned and annexed by the city. This facility includes two soccer-football fields, eight softball fields, a playground, a picnic shelter, 7 tennis courts, nature trails, a lake and the City's senior citizens activity and arts centers. The overall master plan provides for both active and passive type recreation facilities to include a community center, two gyms, two volleyball courts, and a passive area to include a small outside theater.

Eagle Gym provides two gyms with classroom space that accommodates a variety of indoor activities and programs. Planned improvements include landscape enhancement.

Webb Bridge Park is the city's newest park opened in 1998. The park contains the Webb Zone community build playground, soft surface trail system, small pond, and picnic shelter. The park also includes athletic facilities including four baseball diamonds, three soccer fields and four tennis courts. Development plans include increased picnic facilities and the planning of the 25 acres most recently purchased and an indoor recreation facility.

Alpharetta Pool Complex includes an Olympic size swimming pool, bathhouse, concession building, picnic area, parking and administrative offices. Planned improvements include pool renovation, land-scaping and parking.

Other Park Facilities. Old Milton Square is a small neighborhood park offering residents and area businesses a passive recreational area. In addition, there are seven school sites located within Alpharetta that provide limited public recreational opportunities. Alpharetta Recreation and Parks Department currently has a contractual agreement to use facilities at Milton High School and Haynes Bridge Middle School. Although school sites are not totally available for public use, they do assist in satisfying needs for informal neighborhood activities.

Open Space and Greenways. The Greenway Conceptual Master Plan outlines the development of several open space areas connected throughout the City to provide access to recreational areas from all sections of the City; this is particularly true along both Big Creek and Foe Killer Creek. Currently a 427-acre River Corridor facility from Mansell Road north to Webb Bridge Road along Big Creek has been dedicated to the City. Upon completion, the City's urban greenway will have a network of trails and environmental educational opportunities extending approximately six miles through the City along the banks of the Big Creek connecting residential and commercial areas. Several public and private parks are located along the linear park providing access points and nodes in which the users can intermingle active and passive recreational activities along the trail system. Amenities include jogging and bicycle paths, picnic areas, environmental education, and other recreation amenities. Funding has come from a combination of public and private sources.

Future Needs

To determine parkland standards, several factors were considered, including existing levels of service, National Recreation Parks Association (NRPA) standards, and existing levels of services for cities of similar size. The City has set as its park lands standards 9.5 acres of total parkland per 1000 residents (6 acres per 1,000 for active space). However, with a projected population of 48,333 by the year 2020, an additional 60 acres of active space will need to be acquired by 2020 to maintain the current level of ser-

vice. Alpharetta residents continue to express a strong desire for passive recreational areas offering areas for recreation such as small playgrounds, picnic areas and hiking/biking rails. Future acreage required does not include the Greenway system, or the Governor's Greenspace Program. A full description of the Governor's Greenspace Program is included in the Natural and Historic Resources Chapter.

Several methods have been developed for acquiring open space within the city. In addition to directly purchasing parkland for public use the city has been successful at encouraging recreation facilities within private developments. Current subdivision and zoning regulations dictate that 20% of the site be set aside for open space areas. In addition, developers are encouraged to build recreational facilities in their developments through impact fee credit incentives. Developments such as Windward and Park Bridge have set aside areas on their master plans to be used as open space and recreational areas. These private facilities contribute substantially to reducing the burden to the City of providing recreation facilities citywide.

In 1992 the City approved a Parks and Recreational Facilities Impact Fee Ordinance. Funds collected as the Parks and Recreational Facilities Impact Fee are used for system improvements to meet the needs of future City residents.

The Parks and Recreation Master Plan approved in 1998 calls for purchase of two additional citywide parks by the year 2008. Parks would be purchased and developed with one on each side of GA 400. Each park would provide a combination of active and passive elements.

Educational Facilities

The Fulton County Board of Education provides a network of elementary, middle and high schools to the residents of Alpharetta and nearby areas. Fulton County operates five elementary schools (Alpharetta, Lake Windward, Manning Oak, Creekview, and New Prospect); two middle schools (Haynes Bridge, and Webb Bridge); and one high school (Milton) within the City of Alpharetta. A new high school was recently completed on North Point Parkway within the city limits. Currently, three out of nine schools in Alpharetta are over capacity. Alpharetta is part of an award winning school system. Milton High School was named among the top 13 in the State of Georgia and was recently named a state School of Excellence. The elementary and middle schools are similarly noteworthy, boasting high test scores and academic achievement: two were recently named Merit Pay Schools by the state, helping Fulton County achieve more winners than any other district in the state.

Attendance figures indicate a need for immediate relief, particularly in the high school. A new high school is under construction on Birmingham Highway and is scheduled to open in September 2005. Conceivably, elementary and middle schools running over capacity could be relieved by a redistribution of students among the schools. The Fulton County Board Of Education is currently addressing classroom shortages by using mobile units and has researched and contracted for purchase additional sites for school facilities. The average number of students (pre-kindergarten through twelfth grade) per teacher can also be used as an indicator of trouble spots. The system-wide average (among the nine schools that serve Alpharetta) is about 16 students per teacher. This is comparable to the average among the middle schools, and just above the average among the elementary schools (15 students per teacher). The two high schools average about 18 students per teacher. This small range of averages—from 15 to 18 students per teacher schools size within the set of schools serving the City. No schools appear to be over-burdened with large class sizes while other schools enjoy smaller class sizes.

Several private primary schools are located in Alpharetta. In addition residents have access to higher education and training opportunities at the Alpharetta campuses of DeVry Institute of Technology, Reinhardt College and Georgia State University.

The City will continue to communicate with the Fulton County Board of Education concerning future growth areas, and will continue efforts to make the city attractive for private school development.

2000	2005	(Over) or Under
Enrollment	Enrollment	Capacity
971	1016	(216)
New school	Not available	
	Under construction	
New school	910	
"	885	
"	258	
1001	899	201
894	813	47
958	783	217
2348	2630	(687)
1200	1027	173
New school	1087	
1779	1186	593
	Enrollment 971 New school " " 1001 894 958 2348 1200 New school	Enrollment Enrollment 971 1016 New school Not available Under construction Under construction " 885 " 258 1001 899 894 813 958 783 2348 2630 1200 1027 New school 1087

Libraries and Other Cultural Facilities

Library facilities are operated by the Atlanta-Fulton County Public Library System. The Atlanta-Fulton County Library System serves the citizens of Fulton County and the City of Atlanta (including the portion of the city in DeKalb County). The system has 34 libraries. As of April, 2004, there were 362,542 registered library cardholders, with a collection over 2,177,267 items for adults and children, including books, magazines and other periodicals, CDs, DVDs, and videocassettes. Two branch offices serve North Fulton County. The Alpharetta/Louis E. Jones and Gertrude C. Jones Branch Library is a 10,000 square-foot facility located within the Alpharetta city limits at Mayfield and Canton Streets. This branch has some 62,000 volumes of materials, and has one of the highest circulations in the system with an annual circulation of 225,293 items. The Roswell Branch of the Fulton County library system, located at Norcross Street and Forest Avenue, has 20,000 square feet and 120,000 volumes, and has the highest circulation in the system of 430,191 items. These facilities provide educational enhancement through various methods including books, periodicals, audio and videocassettes, computers, educational programs, children's programming, films and lectures. In April 2004, the Library System instituted Sirsi's Unicorn, a state-of-the-art library automation system including iBistro, a virtual portal to resources in AFPL and throughout the world on the Internet. The Library System's electronic reference service provides on-line access to the

catalog of the System's entire materials collection as well as the Internet, periodicals, an electronic encyclopedia, and the collection catalogs of major libraries located throughout the United States.

A third branch, known as the Spruill Oaks Library, is located east of Georgia 400, at Old Alabama and Spruill roads. This new branch is a 25,000 square foot regional facility; however, it is not conveniently located to Alpharetta. There is a significant need for enhanced library facilities and services within Alpharetta. This need can be addressed in several ways including the expansion or relocation of the existing library on Mayfield Road.

The new Ocee/ Dr Robert Fulton Regional library has recently opened on Abbots Bridge Road outside of the city limits. This library is convenient to the Windward community and will help to serve the north-eastern sector of the city.

As the development of Alpharetta increases, the need for cultural arts facilities has increased accordingly. The North Fulton Centre for the Arts (NFCA) is a privately led initiative between the cities of Roswell, Alpharetta and Fulton County; and was created to serve this need. Their plans include the construction of a 70 million dollar regional performing and visual arts complex to be located along Westside Parkway in Alpharetta. This complex will contain a 2,000-seat multi-use performance hall, a 300-seat black box theater, visual art galleries, educational space and an outdoor performance venue. The NFCA has acquired a 27- acre site within a park-like setting as part of a 220-acre master planned community and is in the process of designing the phase 1 amphitheater complex. The City also has twenty-four movie screens in the North Point Mall area.

Stormwater Management Facilities

The City of Alpharetta does not currently operate a stormwater utility. The city has funded a Phase 1 GPS Inventory of all existing stormwater systems located within the city rights of way, including but not limited to; roadway drainage systems, catch basins, curbs and gutters, ditches, manmade channels and storm drains.

The city does maintain an inventory of 300 private stormwater outfall locations that discharge into waters of the State. A random audit of these outfalls is performed by the city on a yearly basis. In addition the city Engineering Department inspects and maintains 30 stormwater structures located on city properties, on a yearly basis. These audits are performed in accordance with the current Atlanta Regional Commission protocol.

Assessment of Needs

In a very real sense, community facilities are the physical embodiment of a jurisdiction's delivery of services strategy. It is at public facilities—city hall, fire and police stations, parks, etcetera—that the residents of the city can see the quality and quantity of service being provided. It is the goal of the City of Alpharetta to maintain, if not improve, the level of service in each of the areas that the City provides services. For services provided to city residents, but not owned or operated by the City, Alpharetta is committed to ongoing cooperation with those service providers to maintain or improve the service being provided.

• In the area of general government services, the City will soon require more office space for clerical and administrative functions. The City has acquired additional property and is in the de-

sign process with a development partner to create a new city hall complex as part of the central downtown revitalization plan. One of the goals of this plan is to promote the traditional Alpharetta downtown center including additional office, retail and residential development.

- In the areas of water supply, water treatment, and sewerage, the city will continue to coordinate and cooperate with Fulton County. The City has contracted with Fulton County to manage all of the city water services.
- In terms of public safety, the City intends to improve its current level of service. For police, this means maintaining the current staffing level ratio; for fire services, this means new station construction to maintain response times. The City will continue to work to attract medical services for the area.
- In the area of parks and recreation, a level of service based on acreage per 1,000 residents has been adopted. This serves as a guideline for future parkland acquisition.
- The Fulton County School Board operates local schools; the City will continue to coordinate local land use decisions with new school location choices.
- The Atlanta/Fulton County Public Library System operates libraries; the City will seek to coordinate local land use decisions and future library locations. The City will also work with the library board to increase library space and circulation materials to address the growing needs of Alpharetta residents.
- The North Fulton Centre for the Arts has acquired property within the City of Alpharetta and is proceeding with plans to build a regional performing and visual arts complex. Phase 1 of this project is in the design phase.

6. Intergovernmental Coordination

Existing Conditions

Adjacent Local Governments

An inventory of contiguous and neighboring governmental jurisdictions identifies the following:

• City of Roswell

Fulton County

City of Duluth

Gwinnett County

Cherokee County

The above listed cities and counties abut the City of Alpharetta and are considered to be partners for local and regional development issues and concerns. The City of Alpharetta has partnered, both fiscally and through public policy, with these entities for service delivery to include public safety, animal control, fire services, economic development, recreational services, transportation initiatives, and annexation and jurisdiction responsibilities for roads, intersections, and properties that partially lie in one of the other cities or that are currently unincorporated.

The following table provides insight into some of the groups that these governmental bodies have formed or participate in to aid in coordination of issues and service delivery.

Sample Of Multi-Jurisdictional Committees, Work Groups and Associations			
Group	Participants	Purpose	
Metro Atlanta Mayor's Association	Mayors of most cities within the core Metro Atlanta area	Discussion and coordination of gen- eral issues and needs among the ju- risdictions	
Fulton County Mayor's Luncheon	Mayors of all cities in Fulton County and the Chair of the Fulton County Commission	Discussion and coordination of gen- eral issues and needs among the ju- risdictions	
Atlanta Regional Commission	All jurisdictions within the desig- nated Metro Atlanta Area.	Regional strategies to address growth and development issues.	
Fulton County Schools Transporta- tion Committee	Elected officials from North Fulton and members of the Board of Educa- tion	Discuss transportation issues and promotion of the use of school buses by students	

In addition to these efforts, the City of Alpharetta works closely with the governments of Fulton County and the City of Roswell to ensure efficient delivery of services. For example:

- Through a joint agreement with the Fulton County Board of Elections, that body conducts all elections for the City of Alpharetta
- To improve efficiency and lower costs for our citizens, the City of Alpharetta recently entered into an intergovernmental agreement with Fulton County through which the County now provides all water utilities within the city limits
- The Cities of Alpharetta and Roswell jointly developed a Public Safety Training Center to meet the training needs of fire, police and other emergency services personnel in both jurisdictions. When availability allows, other are jurisdictions may also utilize the facility.
- To capture cost efficiencies, the City of Alpharetta maintains an intergovernmental agreement with the City of Roswell for that jurisdiction to provide Alpharetta's jail services. With Alpharetta's jail facility no longer in use, the City recently entered into an agreement with the Fulton County Sheriff's Department for that agency to temporarily house those awaiting trial.

School Boards

The Fulton County Board of Education serves the area of Fulton County outside the city limits of Atlanta, including the cities of Alpharetta, Roswell, and Mountain Park in the north, and College Park, East Point, Fairburn, Hapeville, Union City, Palmetto, and unincorporated portions of Fulton County in the south.

Concentrated efforts have been made to improve the level of coordination between the Board of Education and local jurisdictions in the area of land use and transportation planning. Whereas in the past the Board of Education tended to site school facilities without regard to local land use and transportation planning, school location decisions increasingly involve discussions between the school system and effected local jurisdictions before the site decision is finalized. That being said, the Board of Education legally can and frequently does site school facilities without regard to impacts on local land use plans or transportation infrastructure.

For the City of Alpharetta, another critical issue involving the Board of Education is the disposition of the 42-acre property in Downtown Alpharetta that was formerly the location of Milton High School. The school system's growth and technology needs made the facility obsolete for use as a standard high school, forcing Fulton County Schools to construct a new facility outside of the City of Alpharetta. The former Milton High School was vacated in Fall 2005, and a new use for the site has yet to be determined. Two members of the Alpharetta City Council serve on an advisory council studying how best to use or dispose of the property.

Independent Special Districts

The North Fulton Community Improvement District is a self-taxing district that uses additional property taxes to help accelerate transportation and infrastructure improvement projects. CIDs are leading the charge to implement vital transportation enhancements coupled with land use and zoning strategies that will enhance mobility and improve access to the North Fulton activity centers.

One seat on the North Fulton CID is appointed by the City of Alpharetta. The City's Director of Engineering and Public Works serves as the chief staff-level transportation planner and is a participant in all meetings of the CID.

Currently, the CID is working closely with the Cities of Alpharetta and Roswell on advancing the completion of Westside Parkway, a key arterial and vehicular roadway for relieving congestion on Highway 9, North Point Parkway and to a degree, Georgia 400. In this capacity, the CID is leveraging private sector funds to accelerate the project and is also assisting in coordinating the efforts of the two cities.

Through such efforts the North Fulton CID aids the City in advancing transportation infrastructure projects at a more rapid pace; helping the City meet the increasing demands of growth expeditiously.

Independent Development Authorities

The City of Alpharetta Development Authority is not an independent authority. The City of Alpharetta does from time-to-time partner with the Fulton County Development Authority (FCDA), which is an independent authority, on specific projects.

A good example of this is the recent expansion of Inhibitex, a growing bio-pharmaceutical firm that constructed a new facility in the City. The project was made possible, in part, by the issuance of Industrial Revenue Bonds by the Fulton County Development Authority. Via a mechanism commonly known as "bonds for title" the FCDA holds title to the facility that was financed by the bonds induced by the agency. As the property is considered to be the property of FCDA, a local governmental authority, the property can be exempt from local taxes. This makes it possible for Inhibitex to enjoy a ten-year phased tax abatement that results in substantial savings to the company. Without the involvement of FCDA and the resulting tax abatement program, Inhibitex would not have elected to site its expansion in the City of Alpharetta.

While not an active participant in local land use planning, the Fulton County Development Authority can serve as a tool by which commercial projects are attracted to the City; thus contributing to the realization of the future land use plan.

Other Units of Local Government Providing Services

The Alpharetta Convention and Visitors Bureau (ACVB) is another unit of local government that provides services within the City of Alpharetta. The ACVB was established to market the City of Alpharetta to visitors. It is funded by a hotel occupancy tax. This occupancy tax is divided up as follows: 43.33% of taxes collected are provided to the ACVB for operations and 56.67% are provided to the City of Alpharetta's General Fund. The funds that are derived from the revenue generated by these visitors are reinvested into the community.

The Mayor, one Council Member, the City Administrator, and the Community Development Director hold permanent seats on the board of directors. The Finance Director for the City projects revenues and presents these figures to the Mayor and Council for their approval during the budget process.

Beyond promoting the City as a tourist destination, the efforts of the ACVB have greatly assisted in the construction of Alpharetta's 6.5 mile Greenway Trail. This is due to the fact that much of the funding that is provided to the City by the ACVB has been channeled into Greenway construction projects. Without that funding, it is doubtful that the Alpharetta Greenway would be as extensive as it is today.

Utility Companies with Condemnation Powers

Three utility companies with condemnation powers are identified as operating within the City of Alpharetta:

- Georgia Power Company
- Sawnee Electric Membership Cooperative
- Atlanta Gas Light

Under the Official Code of Georgia Annotated Title 46 Chapter 3 Section 201(9) public utilities have the power to acquire, own, hold, use, exercise, and, to the extent permitted by law, sell, mortgage, pledge, hypothecate, and in any manner dispose of franchises, rights, privileges, licenses, rights of way, and easements necessary, useful, or appropriate. Any such electric membership corporation shall have the right to acquire rights of way, easements, and all interests in realty necessary and appropriate to effectuate the purposes of such electric membership corporation by condemnation under the same procedure and terms as provided by Title 22 and any other law of this state which provides a method or procedure for the condemnation of property for public purposes by all persons or corporations having the privilege of exercising the right of eminent domain.

■ Interrelated State Programs and Activities

Service Delivery Strategy

The 1997 Georgia General Assembly enacted the Local Government Services Delivery Strategy Act (HB 489). The intent of the Act is: a) to provide a flexible framework for local governments and authorities to agree on a plan for delivering services efficiently, effectively and responsively; b) to minimize any duplication and competition among local governments and authorities providing local services and, c) to provide a method to resolve disputes among service providers regarding service delivery, funding equity and land use.

The City of Alpharetta is coordinating with Fulton County to update and implement a county-wide Service Delivery Strategy.

Atlanta Regional Commission (ARC)

The Atlanta Regional Commission (ARC) is much better known for its role in regional environmental, land use, and transportation planning. However, ARC is actually a service provider in many respects. The agency provides planning data and technical services to local governments. It sponsors regional plans for community facilities and services, including water supply, wastewater management, transportation and air quality, human services, public safety, and other functional planning areas.

ARC is designated as the Area Agency on Aging by the Georgia Department of Human Resources and administers federal funds for projects. The regional agency is also working with the Georgia Regional Advisory Council (Region 3) in various workforce development programs.

ARC is fostering cooperative approaches to solve regional problems and address extraterritorial issues.

Governor's Greenspace Program

This program is no longer active.

Coastal Management

The City of Alpharetta is not located in or adjacent to a coastal area.

Appalachian Regional Commission

The City of Alpharetta falls within the jurisdiction of the Atlanta Regional Commission and is not directly impacted by the Appalachian Regional Commission.

Water Planning Districts

In September 2003, the Metropolitan North Georgia Water Planning District Board adopted three comprehensive plans to ensure adequate supplies of drinking water, to protect water quality and to minimize the impacts of development on the District's watersheds and downstream water quality. The adoption of the plans caps two years of planning efforts for the Metropolitan North Georgia Water Planning District. These plans signify a major step towards regional cooperation of how best to meet our future water resource needs while ensuring the long-term sustainability of these resources.

The plans provide District jurisdictions and state officials with recommendations for actions, policies and investments for watershed protection, wastewater treatment and water supply, and water conservation management. With input from technical experts and stakeholders from all river basins in the District, the plans were carefully developed to meet state laws, local needs and District goals. They offer a blueprint that supports anticipated growth while preserving the environment.

The City will coordinate with Fulton County on the District plans for water supply and wastewater treatment.

Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT)

In addition to the need to foster a new cooperative relationship with the Georgia Regional Transportation Authority, the need also exists to continue to foster new relationships with the Georgia Department of Transportation. Alpharetta receives state and federal transportation funds through GDOT. The City is also working on beautification and streetscape improvement projects (including the proposed installation of bus shelters) for major highway corridors in the City. These proposals and plans require approval of GDOT, and some of the ideas for streetscape improvement probably necessitate reconsideration of State standards and rules. For example, landscaping of highway medians may not meet all existing State traffic safety standards.

Pedestrian crosswalks are needed along various stretches of highway where no cross-street/highway intersection exists. Such pedestrian crosswalks across highways, outside the context of signalized intersections, reduce the carrying capacities of the road and speeds of motorists, which are two reasons why DOT is often reluctant to approve of pedestrian crosswalks. The primary purpose of highways is interurban travel, but there are also responsibilities to accommodate pedestrian as well as vehicular travel in cases where demand exists.

Negotiations are needed to provide new permissions that are currently outside the historical mainstream of DOT policy, though any suggested changes must respect the important safety and operational standards on which that state DOT policy and rules are based.

Georgia Regional Transportation Authority (GRTA)

The Georgia Regional Transportation Authority was created in 1999 by the Georgia General Assembly via the Georgia Regional Transportation Authority Act (Senate Bill 57) at the urging of Governor Roy Barnes. The authority has jurisdiction over any county that is designated by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency as a non-attainment area under the U.S. Clean Air Act amendments of 1990. Currently, the authority has jurisdiction over thirteen counties in the metropolitan Atlanta Area.

The authority has many broad powers, including development of a regional transportation plan and control over public transportation systems. The City of Alpharetta's transportation plans are subject to review and approval of the authority if the city's plans fail to meet the overall vision of the authority. In addition, the authority has powers to restrict access to roadways within its jurisdiction. Failure of the city to cooperate with the authority would result in the loss of all state grants except those related to physical and mental health, education, or police protection.

The Georgia Regional Transportation Act also creates special districts in each of Georgia's 159 counties, and these are deemed activated when the authority obtains jurisdiction over the county through the non-

attainment designation. Hence, there exists a special district for Fulton County, and the special district has authority to levy taxes, fees, and assessments to pay for the cost of providing services and constructing facilities to further the authority's mission.

The 15-member board of the authority is also the Governor's Development Council, which is responsible for formulating a statewide land use plan. In this sense, the authority has statewide jurisdiction.

Metropolitan Atlanta Rapid Transit Authority (MARTA)

The City will need to work with MARTA in any future plans to extend heavy rail through Alpharetta along Georgia 400, in planning transit-supportive developments along existing and proposed bus routes, in the installation of bus shelters and pedestrian plazas, and in the siting of park and ride lots. As traffic congestion increases in Alpharetta, MARTA will likely play an increasing role in the transportation needs of the City's residents and work force.

The city's land use and transportation plans should be reviewed by MARTA for consistency with public transportation plans. In addition, major developments along MARTA routes should be reviewed for consistency with principles of transit-friendly and transit-supportive development.

Transportation for Non-Attainment Areas

Local governments located within a nationally designated ambient air quality standards non-attainment area must include three elements in their comprehensive plan. For information on the City of Alpharetta's policies and coordination efforts with regards to being part of a non-attainment area, please see page 8-6 of the Transportation element of this plan.

■ Assessment

Given Alpharetta's role as a regional economic and employment center, growing traffic congestion issues in the area, and anticipated population expansion it will be increasingly important for the City of Alpharetta to not only coordinate planning activities with other jurisdictions and agencies, but to partner closely with these groups to affect regional solutions and strategies.

This is especially true of the relationship between the Cities of Alpharetta and Roswell, which is increasingly symbiotic in nature. Recent efforts to coordinate transportation programs (e.g. completion of Westside Parkway) and share community facilities (e.g. Joint Public Safety Training Center) have provided a foundation for a level of cooperation previously unseen in the area.

Introduction

Land, and the uses to which it is put, constitute the base scale on which all other aspects of development are founded. Land use and development patterns establish the foundation for the Comprehensive Plan. Consequently, the principal objective of the Land Use Element is to determine the most suitable and efficient use of the land and the pattern in which these uses will occur.

The integration of existing development patterns, growth trends and the analysis of land development capacity (the ability of the land resource to support development) form the basis for preparing the Future Land Use Plan. This Chapter also determines future patterns of growth, based on community needs and desires, and presents strategies for land use that strike a balance between effective and efficient delivery of public services, protection and preservation of valuable natural and historic resources, and respect for individual property rights. In addition to the city as a whole, particular attention is directed to the traditional downtown area and special considerations for its support and revitalization.

Development Patterns Today

A survey of existing land use was conducted to establish the type, spatial distribution and intensity of development within the city. A comprehensive survey of existing land use required a field inventory of each parcel of property within Alpharetta. Data collected as a result of the survey was classified by primary use and transferred to a map depicting existing land uses.

New development in Alpharetta is largely concentrated in two areas, the North Point and Windward Development Zones. The North Point Area is the center of the city's retail growth, anchored by North Point Mall. Windward is an award-winning multi-use development centered on Georgia's largest privately owned, manmade lake and is home to many of the technology companies for which Alpharetta has gained the national spotlight. The two development zones are linked by the city's greenway project, a source of pride for the community.

Through careful planning and by insisting that current and future development follow the Comprehensive Plan, Alpharetta has grown into a well-balanced community that continues to attract business and residential development.

For planning purposes, land uses are identified under the following categories and grouped by major category in accordance with State DCA guidelines. Several categories are further broken down for a more thorough understanding of development trends and patterns in the city. These categories are shown on the Existing Land Use Map.

Residential

Single-family residences consisting of individual houses, either attached or detached usually on separate lots, and often developed in subdivisions, as well as multi-family uses. There are three designations of single-family dwellings within the City. Multi-family residential contains two or more dwelling units, such as apartments.

Residential development played a significant role in Alpharetta during the decade of the 90's. There are three significant concentrations of residential development within the city: north and west of State Route

9, east of State Route 9 toward Georgia 400, and east of Georgia 400 between McGinnis Ferry Road on the north and State Bridge Road on the south (centered around Lake Windward). These areas consist primarily of newer subdivisions characterized by large homes on classically suburban lots with cul-de-sac streets.

Single-Family Attached and Multi-Family concentrations can be seen on Mid-Broadwell Road at Foe Killer Creek, east of downtown along Academy Street and Webb Bridge Road, at the far southwestern end of the city along Old Roswell Road, and east of GA 400 in the Preston Ridge and Park Bridge multi-use developments on Old Milton Parkway.

- Large Lot Single Family Detached. This category includes individual homes on lots of three to five acres in size and larger. The homes are often in a "rural" setting, and the properties may include horse barns and riding areas or other types of personal (as opposed to commercial) agricultural uses. Minimum lot size is 3 acres or more.
- **Single-Family Detached** covers all other single-family home sites, many of which are located within organized subdivisions, and are more "suburban" in character than the Large Lot category.
- **Single-Family Attached** includes all forms of attached housing (i.e., no dwellings located above others), such as duplexes and townhouses.
- **Multi-Family/Apartments** includes all multi-family residential buildings in which some dwellings are located above others, such as garden apartments.

Commercial

Commercial developments predominately occupied by establishments that offer goods or merchandise for sale, or rent, and other commercial uses that do not operate in "office" settings. Such uses include stores, shopping centers, hotels, restaurants, gasoline stations, automobile body shops; physical fitness centers, markets, hotels and building supply centers. These uses may be located as a single use in one building or grouped together in a shopping center. The City also has a "mixed-use" district for their CBD that allows residential along with nonresidential uses.

Retail commercial development within the City of Alpharetta consists of both sales and service uses. These uses occur on individual lots or within shopping centers. Retail commercial development is apparent along most of the State Route 9 corridor, with an emphasis in the downtown area and strip development extending south to the City of Roswell and continuing along Upper Hembree Road to Harry's Market, and extending to the north, culminating in a shopping center at Cogburn Road. Alpharetta has 6 neighborhood shopping centers: Ingles, Alpharetta Square, Alpharetta Crossing, the Publix Shopping Center, Ingles at the Silos and Kroger at the Silos. Major commercial areas are also well established at the city's western extreme on Crabapple at Houze Road, at the intersection of Hwy 9 and Windward Parkway, and most prominently the North Point Mall area along GA 400 between Mansell Road and Haynes Bridge Road. This latter area dwarfs all others, containing over 3 million square feet of retail space in a regional mall, three power centers and assorted individual stores. In addition to continued expansion in this area, other recent commercial developments have occurred in shopping centers, often organized around a grocery store, as opposed to individual lots. Alpharetta's commercial/retail land uses are primarily concentrated in shopping center type development.

Hotel development is one of the strongest submarkets of the commercial/retail market. There are currently 23 hotels containing 2,352 rooms concentrated mainly along Mansell and Haynes Bridge Roads.

Offices

This category encompasses uses that are employment based, such as administrative operations and corporate offices, as well as traditional "office" uses such as doctor's offices, insurance and real estate brokers, and businesses that offer their services away from the site.

Office commercial development in the city ranges from major corporate office buildings to small professional offices. A number of large office buildings are located on the east side of GA 400 in the several major office parks such as Windward, Royal 400, Preston Ridge and Brookside, and in the Mansell Road/Old Roswell Road area. Smaller office buildings, some in converted residential structures, are located along SR 9 north and south of downtown, often serving as a transitional use to residential areas. Master planned developments continue to build out, and during the past 5 years considerable additions have been made to the multi-tenant office market.

Industrial

This category is for land dedicated to manufacturing facilities, processing plants, factories, warehousing and wholesale trade facilities, mining or mineral extraction activities, or other similar uses. Alpharetta has a limited range of such uses.

Industrial development is reflected in two categories. Business center uses are located in the Mansell Road/Old Roswell Road area, Westside Drive at Windward Parkway, and within the Windward Business Center. More intense manufacturing/warehousing/wholesaling operations are located in the old industrial district off Hembree Road and Maxwell Road at the city limits, along Morrison Parkway (the Honda Plant), and at Union Hill and Westside Drive. Some nonconforming industrial uses are also found in the city—such as a rock quarry at the southern city limits on the east side of GA 400, and a cabinet manufacturer across from Milton High School on Milton Avenue. There has been little new activity during the last 5 years.

Business Centers are light industrial developments that are characterized by office and administrative operations in the front and storage space in the rear, usually served with loading docks, where merchandise is stored for distribution, repair assembly or otherwise handled in transit to the user.

Manufacturing/Warehousing/Wholesale covers the range of uses where goods or merchandise is fabricated, assembled or processed for distribution elsewhere; truck terminal operations for goods in transit; and wholesaling operations.

Transportation Communication Utilities

This category includes such uses as power generation plants, railroad facilities, transmission towers, public transit stations, telephone switching stations streets and highways.

Uses classified as "TCU" are almost exclusively streets and highways. Other uses within this category are within the light industrial district category.

Public Institutional

State, federal or local government uses, and quasi-public institutions. Governmental uses include City Hall, fire stations, libraries, post offices and public schools (but not parks). Institutional uses include churches, cemeteries and other private non-profit uses.

Public and institutional uses are typically not concentrated in specific locales. The majority of public and institutional land uses in Alpharetta are located on scattered sites within the original corporate limits, in-

cluding City Hall, the Community Center and the Senior Center. Facilities that are publicly owned, but would be classified more accurately in another land use category, are not included in this category. For example, publicly owned parks and/or recreational facilities are placed in the Park/Recreation/Conservation category, and general office buildings containing government offices are placed in the Offices category.

Parks Recreation Conservation

Defined: Land dedicated to active or passive recreational uses. These lands may be either publicly or privately owned and may include playgrounds, public parks, nature preserves, wildlife management areas, national forests, golf courses, recreation centers, etc.

The three major parks in the City of Alpharetta are Wills Park, Webb Bridge Park, and Alpharetta North Park. Wills Park, located in the heart of Alpharetta contains approximately 100-acres of passive and active recreation activities, including an equestrian center. Alpharetta North Park on Cogburn Road contains 57 acres of passive and active recreation. Other recreation facilities within Alpharetta are the Eagle Gym, Alpharetta Pool Complex, and Old Milton Square in downtown. Webb Bridge Park, located near Abbotts Bridge Road, includes ball fields, a playground and a jogging path.

The City has also developed the Alpharetta Greenway along both Big Creek and Foe Killer Creek. This urban greenway is a network of trails and environmental educational opportunities along a 1,000 to 4,000 foot wide corridor extending approximately ten miles through the City along the banks of the Big Creek connecting residential and commercial areas.

Alpharetta Recreation and Parks Department currently has a contractual agreement to use facilities at Milton High School and Haynes Bridge Middle School. There are also several subdivision recreation centers located within the corporate limits for use by subdivision residents.

Agriculture Forestry

Land being actively farmed, including crop cultivation or livestock operations, or set aside for commercial timber or pulpwood harvesting as an agricultural pursuit.

There are currently no lands that are actively being farmed and used for commercial agriculture. There are several small horse farms and personal large estates in the northern half of the City. These properties are often in a "rural" setting and the properties may include horse barns and riding areas or other types of personal (as opposed to commercial) agricultural uses. These properties are therefore classified Residential, since that is the primary use of those properties.

Undeveloped

Land not developed or not being used for a specific purpose, and lands where development has been abandoned or where deteriorated, vacant buildings are located. This category includes woodlands or pastureland (not in agricultural crop, livestock or commercial timber production), undeveloped portions of residential subdivisions and industrial parks, water bodies (lakes, rivers, etc.), and locations of structures that have been vacant for some time.

As is further indicated by the Existing Land Use Map, a small portion of the land within the city limits is either undeveloped or underdeveloped. The underdeveloped designation is for large tracts with only one or two residences or where a small portion of the tract is being utilized.

Existing Land Use Inventory

By 1990, Alpharetta had grown to a city of 12,160 acres, and further annexations have increased the city's size to 13,049 acres in 1995, and almost 15, 300 acres in 2000.

The Current Land Use by Acreages shows the amount of land being used under the various land use categories in the city. Of the total acres, over 91% of the land within the current city limits is currently developed with residences or businesses (exclusive of streets), public schools and other facilities, churches,

Current Land Use by Acreage		
City of Alpharetta		
Current Land Use	Acres	% Land Use
Residential		
Single Family Detached Residential	8,035.2	52.6%
Single Family Attached Residential	131.9	0.9%
Multi-Family / Apartments	672.3	4.4%
	8,839.5	57.9%
Commercial / Office / Industrial		
Retail Sales and Services / Hotels	760.5	5.0%
Office	2,167.4	14.2%
Manufacturing / Warehousing / Wholesale	287.8	1.9%
Other		
Parks / Recreation / Conservation	1,182.0	7.7%
Public / Institutional	602.6	3.9%
Transportation / Communication / Utilities	57.9	0.4%
Undeveloped	1,365.4	8.9%
		0.0%
Total	15,263.1	100.0%

cemeteries or parks. Of the developed acreage, the clear majority is residential, and of the residential acreage, the overwhelming majority, is single-family detached houses. The second largest land use category is office, while undeveloped land accounts for less than 9% of the total acreage in Alpharetta.

Influences on Future Development

Historic Patterns of Growth

The City of Alpharetta can trace its history back to the early days of north Georgia settlement. Incorporated in December of 1858, Alpharetta was the county seat and first official town of Milton County. Milton County had been formed one

year earlier from portions of Cherokee, Cobb, and Forsyth Counties in an area that was once part of the Cherokee Indian Nation. Early white settlers came to the region in response to the discovery of gold in north Georgia in 1828 and the state land lottery of 1832, establishing trading posts and small farms. The rich agricultural potential of the area was soon realized, and a scattering of informally organized farming communities developed. By the 1850s, a Methodist campground was in operation at the junction of present-day Main Street and Cumming Road. Known as New Prospect Campground, this outpost became the basis for the town of Alpharetta.

Unlike Georgia towns that flourished because of a rail line or river, Alpharetta owed much of its early prosperity to cotton farming. By the time of the 1860 Census for Milton County, agricultural activity was so dominant that 403 of the county's 564 families were involved in farming. The agricultural economy shaped the development of downtown Alpharetta, whose character remained more rural and "small town" than urban. Milton County's first courthouse was a modest, wood-frame building that burned in 1867 and was replaced by a brick building. The town's first schoolhouse consisted of a log cabin on Main Street that was replaced in 1871 by the Male and Female Academy. Cotton gins and warehouses were essential businesses at the turn of the century, along with blacksmith shops, general stores, livery stables, and ho-

tels. Few vestiges remain of this rugged but prosperous era of Alpharetta's history, in large part due to a 1910 fire that destroyed much of the town's business district.

Despite agricultural innovations after the turn of the century, Milton County's dependence on cotton ultimately spelled economic disaster. Problems of poor crop yields and boll weevil infestations were compounded by plunging crop prices at the onset of the Depression. Both the Alpharetta Bank and the Milton County Bank closed in 1931, and the county itself was nearly bankrupt. In 1932, Milton County merged with Fulton County in an effort to improve conditions, particularly with regard to its schools and roads. The area received its first paved roads in 1933, when Alpharetta's main street—then Canton and Roswell Streets—was paved all the way to Atlanta. Subsequently, Main Street, which once curved around into what is now Cumming Street, was paved and rerouted to become Highway 9.

Along with the economic recovery programs of the Roosevelt administration, Alpharetta's position in this improved transportation network was probably key to the town's survival during the 1930s and 1940s. The town's character during this period would have been that of a "small town" crossroads, featuring hotels, boarding houses, service institutions, and small stores catering to salesmen and other travelers as well as residents of the surrounding rural area. The central business district's distinctive "main street" character may have reached maturity during this period, and buildings from this period or before would be old enough to be considered historic under the 50-year rule common to historic districts and preservation ordinances. A 1950s aerial photograph of Main Street at the Academy Street/Milton Avenue intersection confirms a compass clustering of one- and two-story storefronts situated at the street's edge and shaded by deep awnings. However, many landmarks that contributed to the town's appearance during the 1920s, 1930s, and 1940s have since been lost to demolition and new construction. For example, the Milton County Courthouse was demolished in 1955 and hotels such as the Alpharetta Hotel are long gone as well.

Improved economic conditions and changing land use patterns in the decades since World War II have reshaped the character of the downtown area as well as the surrounding countryside. The appearance of the central business district has continued to change in an ongoing process of demolition, new construction, and remodeling, while the once-rural character of outlying areas is being rapidly redefined by largescale new development. While no comprehensive historic survey exists for properties in the downtown area, visual inspection confirms that the area contains an assortment of commercial and residential buildings whose appearance and apparent construction dates vary widely. These buildings range from the Cotton House-a former cotton warehouse probably built around the turn of the century-to ranch-style houses of the 1950s and 1960s and fast-food restaurants of the past few years. A survey of a select area of the central business district conducted for the city's application to the Georgia Main Street Program in June 1989, estimated the age of buildings within the study area as follows: pre-1900, none; 1900-1920, 8%; 1920-1940,11%; 1940-1960, 30%; and post-1960, 51%. Some noteworthy older buildings lie outside of the central business district altogether, such as the Sim Manning house, built on Cumming Street in 1895. However, with the majority of its buildings dating from after 1960, the present appearance of the downtown area has been shaped as much by modern styles and forms as by the streetscapes of its historic periods.

Land Use and Infrastructure Patterns

The physical development of Alpharetta strongly reflects the availability of infrastructure, primarily roads, water and sanitary sewer. Historically, the city developed as a crossroads community with a clearly identifiable downtown. Suburbanization of Atlanta in the 1950s and 1960s brought highway improvements, and growth followed. Initially, the city grew outward from the downtown center as new subdivisions were developed, and commercial uses spread along SR 9 (then US 19) as the highway became more traveled. Through the 1970s, the city limits remained essentially a circle focused on downtown.

Georgia 400 was built through the area in the early 1970s, but initially only connected I-285 (opened in the mid-1960s) with vacant hinterland to the north. Earlier, Fulton County had opened the Big Creek Water Pollution Control Plant and began an aggressive program of extending sewer service throughout the basin, adding the Johns Creek basin to the system with a second plant in the Horseshoe Bend development. Lastly, the restrictions on water supply north of the Chattahoochee were resolved in the 1980s through construction of the Atlanta/Fulton County Water Plant and reservoir. The northern movement of growth that had expanded Sandy Springs from a suburban crossroads to a major population center in the 1960s-70s exploded into North Fulton County in the 1980s.

The 1980s was the decade of the large, multi-use development, fueled by financing availability and tax advantages never seen before. During that decade, both Alpharetta and Roswell expanded their borders, incorporating large planned developments in the early stages of their design and construction. Windward, Preston Ridge, Royal 400, and the North Point Business Center brought the city's limits east of GA 400, while sewer availability in Foe Killer Creek (a Big Creek tributary) encouraged development and annexation on the west side of town.

The vast majority of the city today is served by public sanitary sewer and water. Almost by definition, the extension of these utilities (particularly sewer) generated the development activity that fueled annexation. The unincorporated area east and south of the city is also well served, and has been under intensive development along the same lines as in Alpharetta. Portions of the unincorporated area to the immediate northwest of the city are also within gravity flow of the Big Creek plant (via Foe Killer Creek) and to the north between SR 9 and GA 400 (via Big Creek). Properties northwest of Providence and Mayfield Roads are not served by sewer, and therefore are developed at rural densities.

Capacity was reached at both the Big Creek and the John's Creek Treatment facilities and a sewer moratorium was issued in March 2001 by Fulton County. The moratorium restricted the issuance of new sewer permits or additions to existing sewer permits in the Big Creek Basin. Most of the area farther to the north and west of the city, however, lies in another drainage basin (Cooper Sandy Creek) that cannot be sewered without pumping stations to transfer the effluent back into the Big Creek Basin, or through use of other extraordinary measures. A small Water Pollution Control Plant is located in the basin on the Little River. Because of flow restrictions in the river (which flows to the Etowah), the plant is at capacity and transferring up to 200,000 gallons per day to land application. As will be discussed below, this area is an important water recharge area where intense development should be avoided. In fact, the implementation strategy restricts the expansion of sewer into this area at all even though Fulton County has made expansion of the Little River Plant a priority.

Due to Alpharetta's growth in both its residential and non-residential populations, traffic congestion has become a problem within the city. In 2001, the City contracted with a transportation-engineering firm to develop a comprehensive transportation plan. A guiding principle of this plan was to restrict infrastructure improvements in the city that primarily benefit persons outside of the city, or facilitate additional flow-through traffic on local or secondary streets. Thus, the plan focuses primarily on improvements that directly effect the internal circulation of the city while encouraging the use of highways and higher capacity arterials for through traffic. This plan deals with multi-modal solutions to the City's existing traffic patterns, such as internal circulation solutions, sidewalks, bike paths and greenway linkages, and an expanded public transit system inside and to the city, over a 20-year period organized in short, medium and long range time frames. Transportation improvements are essential for continued quality of life for the city's residents and for the health of economic development within the city.

As a major employment center with an abundance of executive amenities and housing, Alpharetta will continue to reap the benefits of improved access and its position within the greater Atlanta Metropolitan area and prestigious North Fulton.

Areas of Transitional Land Use

The vast majority of Alpharetta is so relatively new, and the city was able to apply modern land use planning concepts to so much of the development before it occurred, that areas of blight and transitional land use are very limited. Where they occur is in the older parts of town.

Some of the oldest residential areas surrounded downtown, along Roswell and Canton Streets, and Marietta, Thompson and Brooke Streets. Residences on the west side of downtown have experienced pressures for reuse as businesses or multi-family housing. On the east side of downtown, the improvement and extension of Haynes Bridge Road created redevelopment activity that put commercial pressure on the older neighborhood to the east (Thompson Street) and also generated a new shopping center on downtown's immediate south side. The City is actively marketing its historic downtown for mixed uses, and envisions a center where people can live and work and be entertained. The Downtown Development Plan, discussed later in this chapter, encompasses these transitional areas.

Other areas experiencing transitional land use pressures tend to be composed of older single-family homes that have come face to face with incompatible development or other changes to their residential environment. One such area is the homes along the north side of Upper Hembree Road across from the Harry's Market location and the offices next door in Roswell. Some of the homes have been redeveloped as office type uses as a land use transition to the neighborhoods to the north; other houses are expected to follow suit.

Another area is composed of the homes along SR 9 running north of downtown. Higher traffic volumes and ensuing road improvements have made the properties undesirable for residential purposes, but excellent opportunities for adaptive reuse as offices. By keeping the uses low intensity both in use (offices) and density, the traffic capacity of SR 9 can be preserved while offering a reasonable reuse of the properties. Further reuse of the remaining residences is expected, and eventual assembly and redevelopment for new office construction is encouraged.

Incompatible Land Use Relationships

As noted above, Alpharetta has been able to avoid incompatible land use relationships in the vast majority of the city because planning was able to precede development to a large extent. Important planning concepts that Alpharetta instituted early include substantial buffers between incompatible land uses, transitions in land use intensity between incompatible land use districts, and planned developments requiring detailed master plans. The latter includes Community Unit Plans such as Windward and Park Bridge, as well as office parks such as Royal 400, and planned shopping centers such as North Point Mall and the surrounding properties. Other areas where encroachment of incompatible land uses has created transitional conditions have been included in the Downtown Development Plan area or planned for controlled transition through rezoning in anticipation of preferred use patterns.

Market Forces and Development Policies

The market forces affecting land use development in Alpharetta are fully discussed in the Economic Development Element. Alpharetta's policies in the past have been to direct growth that the market generates into appropriate locations that will strengthen the city's quality of life as an exceptional place to live, work and do business. Some uses are not considered appropriate for the quality of Signature City that has been desired—most notably heavy industry that generates air or water pollution—but the market has not presented demands for most of the undesirable land use types. To a great extent, Alpharetta is a product of its own success, driven by a highly inter-related market for up-scale north side housing, and high tech industry and remote corporate operations seeking a professional and executive employment base.

Environmentally Sensitive Areas

As discussed more fully in the Natural and Historic Resources Chapter of this Comprehensive Plan, Alpharetta does not contain a wealth of historic resources. However, major strides to highlight what the city does have are being taken through the Downtown Development Plan, which encompasses most of the older portions of the original city, and through other actions included in this Plan.

A major goal of the city is to protect the natural environment of the city and the areas that contribute to its unique character by ensuring a balance between the natural and the built environment. Alpharetta has long had in place effective flood plain restrictions, and has enforced erosion control regulations for many years. Grading and site plans are required even on individual houses to assure, among other things, that sedimentation is not given the opportunity to compromise water quality. Alpharetta also has more restrictive buffer standards for streams and rivers within the city, in addition to its proactive greenway, the GA 400 Buffer and other related Greenspace projects.

The most critical environmentally sensitive area affected by this Comprehensive Plan lies, basically, outside of the city but is important to its future growth. The area to the north and west is a portion of a large water recharge area where intense development is discouraged. The City's plans for this area are to protect this rural area from urban development and incompatible land uses and call for actions to encourage the preservation of the "horse county" atmosphere of the area, the exclusion of sewerage extensions into the area, and the maintenance of very low residential development densities of .33 units per acre or less.

Infill Development Patterns

The State Department of Community Affairs requires, in their guidelines, an "evaluation of the options of encouraging infill development in areas where infrastructure and services are available versus expanding infrastructure and services into new areas." For Alpharetta, these are not mutually exclusive options. As seen on the Future Land Use by Acreage Table, the city is expected to be substantially built out by the year 2020 and, in fact, will have to annex additional land to accommodate the entire development forecast. Thus, all infill areas where infrastructure is available will have been developed by that time, as well as new areas to which infrastructure had to be extended or its capacity expanded.

That is not to say that inefficiencies are bound to occur. Alpharetta is a well-planned community where infrastructure requirements and development demands have been kept in reasonable balance. By and large, development over the next twenty years will be served by the basic network of infrastructure already in place, although some capacity expansions will be required. Other areas into which Alpharetta may expand in the future are either: 1) well served by infrastructure now (to the southeast), or 2) not supported for infrastructure expansion in the future (to the northwest).

To encourage compact and compatible development within infill areas, this plan encourages creative urban design solutions, and a mix of residential and nonresidential types to accommodate projected growth.

Land Resources for Future Development

The last influence on future development is the availability of land to accommodate future growth. Appendix A of this Plan presents the population and employment forecasts for the city in detail, and their relationship to land absorption. To accommodate projected residential and employment growth using today's development assumptions, the city will need 1,728 acres for residential development and 1,430 acres for nonresidential development, or a total of 3,158 acres. Given the sustained growth projections in the North Fulton area over the next twenty years, the growth and development that can be anticipated within Alpharetta is more a function of its capacity to accept growth and the quality expected than a paucity of market demand.

The Future Land Use by Acreage Table shows the number of acres by land use category that are expected

Fortune Land Has by Assesse		
Future Land Use by Acreage		
City of Alpharetta		
Future Land Use	Acres	% Land Use
Residential		
Low Density Residential	8,252.4	54.1%
Medium Density Residential	200.5	1.3%
High Density Residential	689.7	4.5%
	9,142.6	59.9%
Commercial / Office / Industrial		
Retail Sales and Services / Hotels	961.3	6.3%
Office	2,973.3	19.5%
Manufacturing / Warehousing / Wholesale	313.2	2.1%
Other		
Parks / Recreation / Conservation	1,212.2	7.9%
Public / Institutional	602.6	3.9%
Transportation / Communication / Utilities	57.9	0.4%
Undeveloped	0.0	0.0%
		0.0%
Total	15,263.1	100.0%

to be developed by 2025. The land categories reflect the predominant land use character of expected development. It is expected that the City of Alpharetta will be completely built out by the year 2025. Of the developed acreage, residential uses will absorb 303.1 acres and remain the clear majority, at 59.9% of all development within the city. Of the residential acreage, the majority will continue to be land set aside for single-family detached houses, although the percentage of medium and high density residential will continue to increase especially near downtown and around transportation corridors.

Non-residential development, exclusive of parks and recreation uses, will absorb 1,032 acres, with offices absorbing the greatest number of acres, 805.9. Office use will continue to be the predominate non-residential use in the city, capturing almost 48% of all

non-residential uses, which is 19.5% of the total land use. This level of office development has remained consistent since the 1996 Comprehensive Plan.

It is important to note that Alpharetta has developed its infrastructure in keeping with these growth plans and forecasts. As such, the local infrastructure required to meet the demands of anticipated future growth is largely already in place or planned for. In regards to regional infrastructure, such as key transportation arterials, the City is working closely with neighboring jurisdictions to address these needs.

Outlook For Development

The City of Alpharetta can look to the future with optimism, but as in the past, should be proactive in guiding development. The Future Land Use Plan map places the majority of commercial and industrial uses adjacent to the Georgia 400 corridor, within planned developments. Several factors have combined to encourage the planning and zoning of these uses along Georgia 400 in the past. A major factor is the corridor's traffic noise and air pollution, which are not as conducive to the quality residential lifestyle Alpharetta is striving to provide. A second major factor is the volume of traffic that office, retail and industrial uses generate, particularly at peak hours. One of the polices of this plan is to minimize office and commercial traffic in residential neighborhoods. By locating these types of developments adjacent to Georgia 400, the traffic generated by these uses will tend to flow directly onto Georgia 400 rather than seek alternative routes through residential neighborhoods Ultimately, however higher density residential may be located within proximity of transportation corridors in order to mitigate traffic congestion especially if public transit is a component.

The Future Land Use Plan map focuses predominantly on residential development in the northwest quadrant of the city and between State Bridge Road on the south and McGinnis Ferry Road on the north, beyond the commercial development along the GA 400 corridor. Alpharetta anticipates that the rapid commercial development of the past twenty years will plateau and that the city will mature from a bedroom residential community to an economic center of significant proportion. However, the city does not want to lose the "small town" and equestrian influence that is such a significant part of Alpharetta. If the city continues to expand to the north and west, the Residential Estate designation will protect large tracts and horse farms so that those uses can continue even though such parcels may have been annexed into the city. Preservation of equestrian land will further enhance the city's attempt to provide recreational open space for its residents. Further, the city sees its future in office park and office-institutional development rather than for industrial uses, so additional lands beyond those currently zoned for light industrial are not designated for industrial use. There is room for new development within the industrial designation; since this area is adjacent to land classified as industrial by the city of Roswell; it ensures compatible development in both communities.

Development opportunities outweigh constraints by a comfortable margin. However, rapid growth in neighboring counties has strained the infrastructure within the Alpharetta City limits. The current development trend in Fulton County will encourage future development in Alpharetta over the 20-year planning period. The following summarizes opportunities for future development within Alpharetta and identifies potential constraints or concerns.

Opportunities

Opportunities for future development in the City of Alpharetta include the following:

- Alpharetta is located in the "northern arc" of the Atlanta Metropolitan area. More than 80% of the area's growth is projected to be to the north in the GA 400 corridor;
- Continued and sustained growth in the area will maintain a healthy market demand for new development—a "buyer's" market in which Alpharetta can afford to be selective.
- Alpharetta enjoys the amenities of the metropolitan area, while at the same time enjoying a "small town" feel. Public attitudes about "neighborhood" and "community" have notably shifted in the Metro area in recent years, with new purchasers looking for more traditional settings in which to raise their children and to put down more permanent roots.
- There exist few occurrences of incompatible land uses or blighted areas in the city.
- Past and planned road improvements create an unusually high level of accessibility within Alpharetta.
- Schools within the Alpharetta area continue to report higher than average test scores at all grade levels.

Constraints

Some important constraints that will mold and direct growth include the following:

- Undeveloped land is limited within the city limits. To accommodate projected growth, the City will have to annex additional property;
- Through traffic (from beyond the city limits) will continue to increase.
- Development trend of smaller residential lots tends to undermine the desire for character preservation in the semi-rural equestrian area of the City.

Development Assumptions

By the latter portion of the twenty-year planning period, Alpharetta will run out of developable land, both residentially and commercially zoned, while demand for new land will remain.

With approximately 1,467.3 acres of developable land in various land use categories, Alpharetta will not be able to accommodate projected growth using current development assumptions. As described more fully in Appendix A, residential will require almost 1,728 acres to meet projected demand. Since the market will be constrained by the availability of land, housing prices can be expected to remain high.

Non-residential land uses will also consume all the currently available land without satisfying estimated demand. Utilizing current employment projections, Retail uses will require an additional 1,110 acres, office use will require 101 acres and industrial/warehousing will require 219 acres for a total acreage of 1,430. However, absorption of existing office square footage has slowed the current rate of office development.

The following assumptions were incorporated into formulation of the Alpharetta Land Use Plan:

- North Fulton County will continue to be among the fastest growing areas in the Atlanta Metropolitan Area.
- The regional economy will remain viable and growth in the technology sectors of the Fulton County economy will continue to prosper.
- The GA 400 corridor will continue to be the focal point for commercial and technology expansion within the County.

To potentially accommodate growth, innovative strategies, such as transit oriented and traditional neighborhood development concepts are included in the Short Term Work Program of the Implementation Chapter. Designating the downtown area as a mixed-use center will accommodate higher density residential, while protecting the integrity of single-family neighborhoods. An improved internal circulation system is proposed to accommodate residential and employee movement within the city.

Future Land Use

The intent of the Land Use Element is to identify the most desirable pattern of land use in Alpharetta. This pattern is represented on the Future Land Use Plan map, which indicates areas appropriate to the various land use categories. These use categories are defined in this Section. The plan map is a representation of the Comprehensive Plan's goals and polices and, to a great extent, reflects current development patterns and trends, as well as current zoning approvals. The map designations indicate the predominant type of land use in the general areas identified. Guiding concepts for future land use in Alpharetta include:

- Ensure that future land use and development decisions are consistent with long range planning goals and policies and that such decisions promote social and economic well-being.
- Implement a land use plan that articulates a physical policy for a compact urban area and assures the availability of infrastructure concurrent with development;
- Encourage and promote clean, high tech industrial development that strengthens the economic base of the community and minimizes air and water pollution.
- Promote development that is pedestrian-oriented, community centered and minimizes vehicular trips.

Future Land Use Plan Map

The Future Land Use Plan map was developed to illustrate the most desirable pattern of land use in Alpharetta. The Future Land Use Plan map was developed taking into consideration the land use patterns illustrated on the Existing Land Use 2000 and Zoning maps, approved Master Plans for CUPs and other developments, topographic characteristics, the availability of infrastructure, and needs demonstrated by residential and employment forecasts. The needs and goals for each of the other chapters within the Comprehensive Plan were also used in development of the Future Land Use Plan map.

To make the document easier to read and understand, the Future Land Use Map identifies the primary land use on property; however, many zoning categories allow mixed uses. The four districts that encourage mixed-use development; CUP, O-I, PSC, and MU cover over 50% of the City.

Interpretation

The plan is developed with the concept that the Future Land Use Plan map and the text are to be used as an integrated whole, with the map being a graphic representation of the text.

Interpretation of the Future Land Use Plan map is a process, which rests on the goals and policies expressed in the text. The land use designations on the map, both in terms of overall definition and intensity of land use types, require that policies and intent statements regulating the development and location of each land use type be evaluated and applied in the process of plan implementation.

Plan implementation is carried out through the application of regulations such as the Unified Development Code and through projects and programs outlined in the STWP. It is administered by the City Council with input from the Planning Commission and planning staff. The procedure, once the plan is adopted, will involve checks for plan and ordinance consistency as part of the review for issuance of subdivision approvals and development and building permits.

If a specific land use or development project is proposed for an area but is not consistent with the designated use or density on the Future Land Use Plan map, it cannot be approved. The initial contact for plan interpretation begins with the Alpharetta Department of Community Development. It is at this point that the proposal is evaluated for its conformity and compliance with the Comprehensive Plan and other standards and regulations such as zoning and other functional plans. In the event a use or development proposal is inconsistent with the Future Land Use Plan map or Comprehensive Plan policies, an applicant may file for a Comprehensive Plan Amendment in accordance with the amendment procedures contained in Appendix B, *Procedures for Amending the Alpharetta Area Comprehensive Land Use Plan*.

Future Land Use Categories

The Future Land Use map is a representation of the plan's goals and policies and indicates where various types of land uses are permitted. The plan map designations indicate predominant types of land uses, which are described below.

The following Table presents the land use categories shown on the Future Land Use Plan map, and indicates those zoning districts that are most commonly compatible with the use designation. It is important to note that mixed-use projects are allowed in the CUP, O-I, PSC and MU zoning districts. In addition, designations are shown as most commonly used in Community Unit Plan (CUP) zoning. Specific requirements of the Unified Development Code and conditions of approval for specific properties and Master Plan approvals control in all cases.

Land Use Categories

Alpharetta Future Land Use Plan Map

Land Use Category	Uses Included	Compatible Zoning Districts	CUP Pod Designations
Residential	I		
Residential Estate	Personal agricultural uses such as farms and gardens, and single-family detached houses on lots that are 3 acres and greater in size.	AG, R	N/A
Very Low Density	Single-family detached house on lots of 1 acre or 22,000 square feet (with devel- opment densities limited to a maximum of 1 to 2 dwellings per acre, as appropri- ate to the surrounding area).	R, R-22	N/A
Low Density	Single-family detached houses on lots of 15,000 or 12,000 square feet (with maximum development densities limited to a maximum of 2 to 3 dwellings per acre, as appropriate to the surrounding area).	R-15, R-12	Low density residential
Medium Density	Single-family detached houses on mini- mum 10,000 square foot lots, and at- tached dwellings developed at maximum density of 4 units per acre.	R-10, R-4A	Medium den- sity residen- tial
High Density	Single-family attached dwellings devel- oped at maximum density of 8 units per acre, and apartments developed at maximum density of 10 units per acre	R-8A, RM- 10	High density residential, multi-family
Commercial			1
Professional Offices	Offices for such businesses as architec- tural or engineering services, financial institutions, insurance or real estate companies, medical or dental clinics	O-P	Office
Office Center	A planned development of office build- ings in a campus environment with ex- tensive landscaping and attention to de- sign amenities. Commercial uses are ancillary to the office uses and should be internal to the office buildings and ori- ented to serving the office employees and visitors.	O-I, CUP	Office

Land Use Categories

Alpharetta Future Land Use Plan Map

Land Use Category	Uses Included	Compatible Zoning Districts	CUP Pod Designations
Retail Sales & Services	Shopping centers and individual busi- ness properties offering products, enter- tainment, transient lodging, or services to the general public.	C-1, PSC	Commercial, shopping center
Central Business Dis- trict	A combination of offices, shops and other businesses offering products, en- tertainment or services to the general public in a traditional downtown setting.	C-2	N/A
Industrial			
Business, Manufactur- ing & Warehousing	Research and development businesses and office-warehouse developments where companies have administrative or sales space as well as an area for limited assembly or fabrication, product testing or refurbishment, or temporary storage.	LI, CUP	Business cen- ter, office/ distribution
Light Industrial	Limited manufacturing or processing, wholesale businesses, warehouse and distribution facilities.	LI	Light Indus- trial
Other			
Transporta- tion/Communications/U tilities	Electric substations, radio/TV/cable broadcasting stations and towers, tele- phone switching stations, public transit stations and similar uses.	LI	Light Indus- trial
Parks/Recreation/Open Space	Public or private active or passive rec- reation uses, such as playgrounds, parks, nature preserves, golf courses and rec- reation centers.	OS&R, SU	Open space, recreation
Public/Institutional	State, federal or local government uses such as fire stations, libraries, post of- fices, schools and government offices; and institutional uses such as cemeteries and hospitals.	SU, or other districts where spe- cific uses are permitted	Uses as des- ignated
Agriculture/Forestry	Profit-oriented agricultural uses such as crop production and general farming, the raising of livestock, and timbering or pulpwood harvesting.	AG	N/A

Land Use Categories			
Alpharetta Future Land Use Plan Map			
Land Use Category	Uses Included	Compatible Zoning Districts	CUP Pod Designations
Undeveloped	Lands that are expected to remain va- cant.	N/A	N/A

The following text describes the concepts behind the various land use designations on the Future Land Use Plan map.

Residential Estate

The Alpharetta area is in one of the largest equestrian centers between Florida and Kentucky, and equestrian activities constitute a major economic and lifestyle influence locally. For example, Wills Park contains major facilities for equestrian activities, there are polo fields to the north of the city, and the annual Atlanta Steeplechase is held in the area. Maintaining this equestrian influence is important both to Alpharetta's historic past and its economic future.

The Residential Estate designation is for those areas where horse farms or large tracts of land have been developed. The purpose of the Residential Estate designation is:

- To retain and conserve the rural character in the area;
- To protect sensitive natural resources areas;
- To encourage and accommodate the further development of estates and horse farms that are consistent with growth policies of the City and that blend into the overall fabric of the city.
- The adoption of a policy to provide a lower level of service to these areas, in terms of transportation and sewer improvements in order to maintain and protect the rural character.

Residential

In addition to the Residential Estate category, Residential uses have been placed within four categories based on minimum lot size and density characteristics. The Very Low Density Residential category encompasses development of ¹/₂- to 1-acre lots or larger, usually in a subdivision setting. The Low Density Residential category allows from two to three units per acre and encompasses developments with 12,000 or 15,000 square foot lots. The Medium Density Residential category includes single-family detached developments with minimum lot sizes down to 10,000 square feet, and single-family attached developments (such as duplexes or townhouses) at up to four dwelling units per acre. High Density Residential anticipates up to eight to ten dwelling units per acre, which most commonly will be townhouse or apartment developments. The minimum lot size or maximum density appropriate for a specific property would reflect prevailing land use patterns, the property's relationship to adjacent and nearby sites, and other applicable standards contained in the Unified Development Code.

The following discussion focuses on residential development as a whole. Other compatible land uses are permissible that provide services to the individuals living in the residential areas.

The purpose of the residential designations is:

- To retain and conserve the existing sound housing stock;
- To accommodate a variety of housing types at various income levels.
- To allow for the conversion of sites to more intensive residential use when appropriate;
- To ensure compatibility between established single family and newer multi-family development;
- To promote residential development that fosters a sense of community and provides essential mobility, recreation and open space.
- To provide for areas of innovative development, such as mixed use and traditional communities in appropriate locations.
- To provide and maintain a supply of developable land throughout the urban area for residential and other supportive urban uses, as demand warrants and service capabilities permit;
- To stabilize and protect the essential characteristics of residential environments, including natural features;
- To encourage locating residential development where full urban services, public facilities, and routes of public transportation are available: and
- To permit, in certain sections of the city, multi-family housing developments which are consistent with growth policies of the City and which blend into the overall fabric of the city
- Develop residential areas that utilize innovative urban design principles that encourage community, pedestrian linkages and mixed-use environments.

The designation of land for residential uses recognizes the need to provide land for support services to the individuals living in the area. Uses such as schools, parks and churches are compatible with the residential designations. However, in introducing such additional related uses into these residential environments, it is intended that they be designed, located and maintained with full and complete regard for the surround-ing residential environment. In addition, to ensure that quality is an integral component in residential development, infrastructure should be adequate to support residents' needs.

Commercial

The Commercial category contains several use designations that, collectively, include all business activities other than industrial uses. These include offices, retail sales and services, and a special designation for the Central Business District.

Offices are specifically addressed by two categories: Professional Offices and Office Centers. The Professional Office category allows for business and professional office uses with limited supportive commercial activity. This category is appropriate for small office complexes and in transition areas where existing residences are often converted into office use. The second category, Office Center, provides flexibility for large developments and is intended to allow for an environment often referred to as a corporate campus. Office Centers often include limited convenience retail and business services establishments, as well as hotels and conference centers that are oriented to the employees and clients in the center. As major entranceways into the City, the interchanges along GA 400 have been designated for office use in order to preserve the corporate campus image of the city.

The Retail Sales and Services category provides for a wide range of shopping and customer service facilities in the city. The category embraces neighborhood and community level shopping and service facilities as well as regional facilities such as North Point Mall. Developments in this category may be an individual store, restaurant or service business, a hotel or a shopping center. Individual office uses may also be found in this designation. Retail sales and service nodes have been developed at appropriate locations within the city to avoid "retail creep."

The Central Business District designation indicates the area that serves as the focal point for Alpharetta's traditional downtown. It is intended that this area contain a compact arrangement of retail and commercial enterprises together with office, financial, entertainment, governmental and certain residential developments, all designed and situated to permit a close pedestrian relationship between uses.

The commercial designation indicates areas throughout Alpharetta that provide shopping and service opportunities of the following types:

- Regional retail facilities provide for the shopping and service requirements of the city and region.
- Community shopping and service facilities offer a wide variety of goods and services, inducing both convenience goods for neighborhood residents and shopping goods for a market area consisting of several neighborhoods.
- Neighborhood shopping and services facilities include: only those stores and services establishments that are easily accessible and are used frequently by neighborhood residents.
- Convenience stores are limited to food-oriented stores and personal services establishments close to residential uses.

Industrial

Under normal circumstances, certain types of industrial uses may place heavy demands on public facilities or cause significant impacts on the environment. The industrial uses allowed in Alpharetta are not intended to create such problems or demands, and have been divided into two categories. The intent of the Business, Manufacturing & Warehousing designation is to provide a variety of tracts for industrial uses that are limited to office-warehouse centers, wholesaling companies and similar businesses that have no significant impacts on the environment. At the present time the only land designated for Light Industrial is adjacent to Georgia 400 in the southern part of the city (which includes the Honda plant on Morrison Parkway and the older industrial area on Hembree Road) and the portion of the Windward Business Center where the CUP's Master Plan designates such uses.

Transportation/Communications/Utilities

This category designates existing electric substations, telephone facilities, cable TV, transmission towers and satellite downlink operations in the city. There are no known plans for future locations for such facilities, which will be considered on a case-by-case basis. The category also includes all streets and highways in the city.

Parks/Recreation/Open Space

The Parks/Recreation/Open Space land use classification is for those areas within the city that has been developed for park or recreation use or is designated open space. The recreation and park areas illustrated on the map include neighborhood, community and regional parks, recreation facilities and golf courses. Not all developed or needed open space areas are indicated on the Future Land Use Plan map. Open space is required in all zoning Master Plans submitted to the city and is required in other developments when necessary to address recreational and aesthetic concerns, or to create a buffer between different land uses, or as required by the Unified Development Code.

Public/Institutional

This designation includes sites and facilities in public ownership for such uses as medical, educational, cultural, governmental, administrative and protective services, and cemeteries. Churches, though institutional in character, are not singled out in this category; rather, they are included within the categories of surrounding properties.

Agriculture/Forestry

There are no profit-oriented agricultural operations currently existing or expected to be located within Alpharetta through the year 2020.

Undeveloped

This category includes lakes, of which two are large enough to be specifically designated—Lake Windward and the lake in the Oxford Green development on Westside Parkway. No other areas are designated to be Undeveloped on the Future Land Use Plan map. As shown on the Future Land Use Table, the city will be built out by the year 2025. Although some lands may remain vacant and undeveloped by that time, their locations cannot be anticipated.

Downtown Development Plan

The tremendous growth that has been reshaping Alpharetta's environs is affecting the downtown as well, altering its original role as a small town crossroads. Plans for a viable future for the downtown area must address both the diversity of its existing conditions and the external pressures that are acting upon it.

Internal Conditions

In terms of overall character, the heart of downtown Alpharetta retains the general form of a twentiethcentury small town, featuring a blend of small-scale commercial buildings, community buildings, and residences. However, the building stock has changed in recent decades and will no doubt continue changing in response to new conditions. Many landmarks of the past, such as the Alpharetta Hotel and the Milton County Courthouse, are gone forever. However, new development has been designed in the main street style. This style reflects the elements of historic architecture including the use of brick, columns, pediments and heavy cornices. Veneer finishes and replacement doors and windows have altered some commercial storefronts that appear old enough to be considered historic. In conversion to commercial use, some early twentieth-century residences, including bungalows and wood frame houses, have also undergone alterations such as porch enclosures and wood shingle roofs. Sometime after World War II, a number of ranch-style houses were constructed along North Main Street; today these residences seem oddly close to the traffic and commercial activity of the downtown core. Changing conditions are transitioning these houses into office and service commercial businesses.

Changes in building stock reflect changes in the activity and uses of the downtown area. The downtown has lost both its old hotel and movie theater, two elements once common to thriving small towns, and has been short of traditional restaurants as well. Natural expansion and zoning changes have combined to initiate evolving patterns of commercial growth. On the north side of town, the residences along Main Street have been rezoned for commercial and office use. Alterations for business use will bring gradual decline to the remaining residences and will probably culminate in the demolition and redevelopment of individual properties over time. A number of fast-food restaurants and other freestanding businesses have been constructed along major arteries on the south side of town, each surrounded by its own parking lot and
curb cuts. These developments undermine the functional vitality and pedestrian orientation of the traditional downtown and introduce a suburban-style, "strip" pattern of growth.

Downtown Revitalization

Downtown Alpharetta has been striving to identify and establish a new niche for itself in the overall scheme of area development. Revitalization of the downtown has been focusing on developing an atmosphere or combination of assets not available in the surrounding shopping centers, malls, or mixed-use projects. The city's historic "small town" character can be a primary element of this approach, but the traditional forms and activities of the downtown area may need to be reshaped somewhat. For example, the downtown will develop as an "entertainment district" for residents and employees of the City. Several approaches would be the expansion of its concentration of discretionary-income businesses, such as antique stores and other specialty shops, quality restaurants and entertainment establishments, art galleries and other amenities that are noticeably scarce in the area. Alpharetta will continue to work to make the downtown area a "destination" within the city.

Design guidelines are another essential tool in this process and have recently been refined and expanded as discussed below. The guidelines address the rehabilitation of downtown's few remaining historic buildings while promoting modern commercial design that is sensitive to the massing and scale of traditional downtown buildings. The guidelines foster a distinct visual identity for the downtown, combining architectural supervision with recommendations for streetscape elements such as light fixtures, sidewalk materials, street trees, and distinctive signs. Elements of Alpharetta's historic past can be highlighted through public awareness mechanisms such as walking tours, special events, commemorative plaques, and descriptive brochures.

Design Guidelines

A carefully developed set of design guidelines can be an ideal tool for bringing visual and spatial unity to an existing or developing area. Design guidelines should respond both to the conditions of the built environment and to the expressed goals of the community. In areas featuring a well-defined concentration of mostly historic structures, design guidelines can focus on restoring the buildings to a dominant or common period of their past. In new communities, or in communities whose historic character is not a priority, design guidelines can foster a particular atmosphere or image by creating an entirely new look. Communities that have adopted this rather extreme approach, such as Helen, Georgia, often feature an architectural style that has no historic precedent but creates visual unity. The building stock of many communities—including Alpharetta—falls somewhere in the middle, combining traditional storefronts and residences with later construction which may differ considerably in terms of form and function. These conditions present a challenge to the development of comprehensive design guidelines, but the task is not an impossible one.

Alpharetta is typical of communities that possess a diminished stock of historic structures but have expressed a desire to project an image that respects the past. Situations vary, but a common approach is to research, identify, and restore the area's remaining landmarks to their original appearance or to their appearance during a unifying, influential period. For Alpharetta, the most representative period might be the late 1800's and early 1900's, when the Georgian revival style dominated the downtown visually. The materials, proportions, and character-defining details of these buildings then become the basis for design standards for the area as a whole. New construction is then executed in forms and materials that are compatible with the historic buildings without attempting to imitate them. The diverse conditions of existing, nonhistoric structures are more difficult to address, but a reasonable degree of visual unity can be achieved with the right design guidelines.

Effective design guidelines must be sufficiently detailed and comprehensive enough to direct the sensitive treatment of properties of all ages and types, residential as well as commercial. A number of source books and agencies, such as the National Park Service (NPS), provide guidance for the appropriate treatment of historic properties as well as contemporary infill development. For example the NPS's Technical Preservation Services provide the following "Guidelines for Rehabilitating Existing Historic Storefronts" (condensed from Preservation Brief #11, page 3):

Become familiar with the style of your building and the role of the storefront in the overall design. Don't "early up" a front. Avoid stock "lumberyard colonial" detailing such as coach lanterns, mansard overhangs, wood shakes, inoperable shutters, and small-paned windows except where they existed historically.

- Preserve the storefront's character even though there is a new use on the interior.
- Avoid use of materials that were unavailable when the storefront was constructed.
- Choose paint colors based on the building's historical appearance.

In adopting a design standards ordinance, the City of Alpharetta took an important step in addressing the variety of conditions of its downtown area. The creation of the Design Review Board has provided an important vehicle for adopting and applying design guidelines that will encourage a visually unified area "signature."

Land Use Assessment

Through careful planning, Alpharetta has positioned itself toward becoming a "Signature City" of welldesigned residential and non-residential projects. Although growth is projected to continue, the city is maturing. Demand for both residential and non-residential development will continue to be high, in fact, without changes in land use policy and annexation the city will not be able to fully accommodate projected growth. Over the next few years Alpharetta will review innovative development techniques and land use policies that can potentially accommodate growth. The challenge for the city over the next few decades will be to balance the built and non-built environment, while at the same time continuing to offer amenities such as Greenspace that have created the high quality of life within the city.

8. Transportation Network

Introduction

Alpharetta occupies an enviable position within the transportation network serving the Atlanta Region. Transportation is a key ingredient in the economic well-being of a community and its quality of life. Roads, transit, sidewalks and bicycle paths take the community's residents to work, school, recreation and shopping, and bring employees, clients and customers into the city to work or do business.

Recent social and economic forces have created major changes in transportation. The city has grown tremendously, with its population and employment exploding in the last decade. The transportation system in the city has been greatly impacted by GA 400. This state highway stretching from the City of Atlanta to North Fulton County has helped open the city to residential and commercial development while at the same time generated large amounts of through traffic in the city. While the city is relatively well served in terms of the types and number of major thoroughfares within its boundaries, the capacity of the facilities is routinely exceeded during peak periods. The recent completion of the Comprehensive Transportation Plan (CTP) has taken a proactive approach in the balance of growth and maintenance of community character. The purpose of the CTP was to address transportation demands throughout the city while providing a balance of transportation modes and policies. The CTP reflects the goals and objectives of the city and is responsive to the needs and concerns of citizens.

This chapter on the Transportation Network examines the roads, transit, and pedestrian and bicycle facilities in the city and in the surrounding area with regard to current demands and service, and discussed plans for improvements to the Transportation Network that are planned or need consideration. An assessment of the network is included at the end of the chapter, followed by an identification of needs and a set of strategies that will be undertaken to bring about improvements.

Roads

The City's road network (*reference Appendix A*) has evolved over time, beginning with a radial system of highways focused on the traditional downtown city center (some dating from the 1800s), subsequently overlain with a corridor system of improvements to distribute access from GA 400 to planned high-density developments along the freeway.

Streets, Roads, and Highways

The Transportation Plan map shows the major thoroughfares in and around Alpharetta by functional classification, and proposed transportation projects from the 2001 Comprehensive Transportation Plan. Three major road types are evaluated: freeways, arterials and collectors.

Freeways. Georgia State Route 400, a multi-laned divided, limited access facility, traverses the city with interchanges located at Mansell Road, Haynes Bridge Road, Old Milton Parkway, and Windward Parkway. This freeway experiences serious congestion during peak rush hours, particularly in the morning.

Arterials. The city has several arterial roadways that serve high volumes of traffic. Arterials are streets that integrate and complement the freeway system and/or serve trips of moderate length. These streets

often provide service between urban areas and smaller rural areas. Arterials within the City of Alpharetta include SR 9, SR 120, Rucker Road, and Mid Broadwell. There are about 91 miles of arterials in the city of Alpharetta.

Collectors. A number of major collectors traverse the city, feeding trips from local streets into the major thoroughfare system. These roads help link arterial roadways to trip origins and destinations. Collectors also provide circulation within urban areas and activity centers. There are nearly 67 miles of collector roads in the city. The area northwest of the city is served by collectors oriented toward downtown Alpharetta, including Providence Road and Mayfield Road (east of Bethany), and Cogburn Road. Within the city, Cumming Street- between SR 9 and Westside Drive functions as a collector, as well as Academy Street-Webb Bridge Road from Haynes Bridge to Kimball Bridge, Windward Parkway from North Point Parkway to McGinnis Ferry, and Clubhouse Drive from Windward Parkway to Douglas Road. Douglas Road, which is adjacent to the city on the east, functions as a collector, as does the Old Alabama Road Connector that extends from Mansell Road to Old Alabama Road on the south. Kimball Bridge Road, from Old Milton Pkwy to State Bridge Road on the east, functions as a collector, only a portion of which is in the city

Overall, there are more than 175 route miles within the city of Alpharetta. During 2000, many roadways within the city were operating at level of service E (absolute capacity) or F (failure). Apendix A contains a table listing functional classification of major streets in the City's road network, number of lanes per direction of travel, design capacity, as well as the existing and future level of service as estimated by the ARC's regional model.

Bridges

There are 17 Bridges maintained by the City of Alpharetta. All are considered acceptable by the 2001 Georgia DOT Bridge inspection. Appendix B, presents a listing of these bridges and their most recent rating assessment.

Signalization and Signage

In order to promote the safe and efficient movement of people and goods, the City of Alpharetta complies with the federal regulations presented in the Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) to regulate, warn, and guide traffic along all streets, highways, bicycle and pedestrian facilities. These regulations cover traffic signals, signage and pavement markers in order to provide consistency in traffic control devices across jurisdictions throughout the United States.

Traffic Signals. Currently, the City maintains 105 traffic signals at intersection along the street network. Appendix C presents a listing of these intersections.

Regulatory Signage. Regulatory signs are used to inform road users of traffic laws or regulations and indicate the applicability of legal requirements. These signs primarily consist of STOP signs, YIELD signs, and SPEED LIMIT signs. The City is in the process of performing a street sign inventory which will be added to the appendix when completed.

■ Alternative Modes of Transportation

The creation of alternative modes of transportation within the City of Alpharetta and to provide movement in and out of the City is extremely important. The City recognizes that the movement of people includes more than just roads. Transportation facilities not only facilitate the movement of goods and services, but they also have a profound influence on urban form. Good transportation planning includes the incorporation of roads, sidewalks, bikeways, trails, public transit and land use. Only through a proper and appropriate combination of these factors will movement through the city be maximized, in addition to land use policies that encourage the use of alternative modes.

In addition to the goals and objectives outlined in the implementation chapter regarding alternative modes, following is a list of guiding principles developed during the update to the Comprehensive Transportation Plan:

- Identify one or more locations for internal circulator services.
- Develop policy statements regarding rail service along Georgia 400 and express bus and HOV lanes.
- Explore the formation of a Transportation Management Association (TMA) along Georgia 400 and/or the Windward/Northpoint area.
- Locate sidewalks on all collector and arterial roadways.
- Provide bicycle and pedestrian connections from all activity centers (i.e. schools, commercial districts, parks, etc.), and ensure that sidewalks exist from all public transportation in areas that link to the existing sidewalk system.
- Review development guidelines and subdivision regulations for appropriate language supporting development of the sidewalk and bicycle systems.
- Connect the Big Creek Greenway to the sidewalk and bike systems.
- Review roadways for "bike-friendly" shoulders.
- Locate bus shelters throughout the City to encourage and accommodate use of public transportation.

Transit

Public transportation service to Alpharetta has been expanded in recent years. Currently, there is one Park-Ride lot located at Windward Parkway and GA 400 and another at the Mansell Road interchange with GA 400, where commuters can connect to the MARTA bus system running south to Atlanta. This lot has a capacity for 418 vehicles. Bus routes 85, 140 and 141 service this lot. In addition, MARTA operates a bus route connecting downtown Alpharetta with Roswell, Perimeter Center and Lenox Square, and service between the Mansell Road Park/Ride lot and North Point Mall. In recent years bus routes have been expanded and now include service to the full length of Northpoint Parkway and along Windward Parkway. Since 1996, MARTA has opened four new rapid rail stations: Medical Center, Sandy Springs Perimeter Center, and North Springs. In conjunction with these openings, north side bus routes have been modified to redirect most bus routes into the rail stations. The transit system provides service to more than 5,100 passengers daily. The following table represents the transit conditions within the city:

Transit Operations with the City of Alpharetta						
Bus Route Miles	4.71					
Daily Transit Boardings	5,153					
Service Miles	3,708					

In order to facilitate greater transit usage, the City will continue to seek further improved public transportation expansion, including additional bus services along Old Milton Parkway, Westside Parkway and Kimball Bridge Road and the extension of rail into Alpharetta. In anticipation of expanded services, new developments are required to locate bus shelters at appropriate locations. The Windward Park and Ride Lot, which was completed in 2002, is anticipated to become a MARTA rail station in the future.

There are currently 3 bus routes serving Alpharetta:

MARTA Route 85

From the North Springs rail station serving both Roswell and Alpharetta, the route follows GA 400 to Northridge Drive to Roswell Road and then to Alpharetta Highway onward to Windward Parkway. The route provides select trips to Georgia State University's North Campus. The route serves business parks, shopping areas and hotel

MARTA Route 140

From the North Springs rail station traveling along GA 400 to Mansell Road Park and Ride, the bus travels between the station and park and ride lot approximately every 12 minutes during rush hours.

MARTA Route 141

Serving Alpharetta and helping transport riders to North Point Mall, the route travels along Haynes Bridge Road, North Point Parkway, and Mansell Road to the park and ride lot. The route continues to travel along Mansell to Old Alabama Road, Holcomb Woods, and Holcomb Bridge Road to Crossville Road.

The overall trip to Atlanta was shortened in 1996 through connection to rail in Perimeter Center instead of Lenox. Access between Alpharetta and the Perimeter Center was greatly enhanced when the 141-Mansell Park/Ride bus was redirected to the Medical Center rail station (and thence by rail to Buckhead and Atlanta), and the local road circulation route was eliminated. Changes to the 141-North Point bus route were also beneficial, connecting the Mall area to downtown on a weekday and weekend. A great deal of public support has been expressed toward the extension of the MARTA rail line to Windward.

Pedestrian and Bikeway System

A comprehensive system of pedestrian and bicycle facilities is an important element of a high quality urban environment. Sidewalks provide pedestrians with safe, convenient access to local destinations and also facilitate recreational walking and jogging. Bikeways provide both a recreational outlet and serve as an alternate transportation opportunity for a variety of trips, from children going to school to light shopping errands to commuting. A network of sidewalks and bikeways unifies a community, both visually and functionally, and distinguishes it from the automobile-oriented environments of suburban and rural areas. Pedestrian activities are encourages through the implementation of a sidewalk and greenway facility program presently under construction. As part of the City's Unified Development Code, sidewalks are required for all new developments. This requirement has been in effect since 1993. The city is in the process of developing a sidewalk program. The program accentuates existing sidewalks with plans to expand and create new sidewalks in designated locations throughout the city, including residential and recreational areas. High priority sidewalk projects based on existing gaps in the network are estimated to be 3 million dollars. Sidewalk projects have been funded at this level in the Short Term Work Plan.

Sidewalks. A pedestrian orientation is particularly critical to a community's downtown area, where shops, offices, services, and community institutions are close to one another. If sidewalks are well-placed, citizens can commute to the downtown by bus or car, then continue on foot to all of their downtown destinations. This minimizes short-term parking turnover and local traffic and also encourages spontaneous interaction of shoppers, workers, and visitors. Sidewalks, as well as crosswalks, should be distinctive, clearly delineated, and well-maintained. Sidewalk rights-of-way can be ideal areas in which to promote a visual identity for the downtown through streetscape upgrades such as paving materials and small shade trees. The City of Alpharetta has invested many resources in the livability and viability of the Central Business District. New roads and streetscape improvements have been added to assist in pedestrian and vehicular traffic circulation.

Sidewalks are important beyond the downtown for purposes of both transportation and recreation. Sidewalks facilitate walking as an alternative means of transportation and provide safe passage from public bus stops to transit riders' homes and offices as well as throughout residential subdivisions. Sidewalks should be included as an integral part of every neighborhood. For children and teenagers too young to drive, sidewalks are often the most viable link to schools, neighborhood playgrounds or parks, community gathering places, and school bus stops.

Bikeways. There are few designated on-street bicycle lanes in the city. Although several corridors have wide shoulders that can accommodate experienced cyclists.

Greenways. In October 1994, Alpharetta expanded its interest in extending the sidewalk system through adoption of the Greenways Concept Plan. Greater use of sidewalks reflects a growing awareness of aerobic fitness and also can enhance community spirit, as residents of all ages choose to walk, jog, play, and socialize in their immediate neighborhoods. In addition, bicycle facilities can be integrated with the pedestrian system to create greater utility and enhance the overall pathway environment. In addition to facilities along roadways, the Greenways Concept Plan struck out cross country, using flood plains and utility easements, to create a more park-like setting for the system. This improved quality of the system will attract greater usage by pedestrians and bicyclists alike, and will play a special role in linking neighborhoods with new or expanded recreational areas, community facilities, shopping and work. The 6-mile greenway along Big Creek includes 12-foot wide concrete paths.

The map found in this chapter combines the City's sidewalk plan with the Greenways Concept corridors. The greenway system has been coordinated to connect with a similar system in Roswell and with bikeways planned by Fulton County in the unincorporated areas.

Railroads

There are no passenger rail lines or facilities within the City, nor are there any freight lines.

Airports

There are no airports within the City of Alpharetta boundaries. The majority of air transportation is provided south of downtown Atlanta at Hartsfield International Airport. Over the years there have been many proposals to locate a multi-modal terminal in downtown Atlanta that will connect the northern suburbs to the airport by way of train. If a multi-modal rail system is developed, links to Hartsfield International Airport will be further enhanced for the City of Alpharetta.

Requirements for Non-Attainment Areas

Local governments located within a nationally designated ambient air quality standards non-attainment area must include three elements in their comprehensive plan: a map of the area designated as a non-attainment area for ozone, carbon monoxide, and/or particulate matter; a discussion of the severity of any violations contributed by transportation-related sources that are contributing to air quality non-attainment; and identification of measures, activities, programs, regulations, etc. the local government will implement consistent with the

state implementation plan for air quality.

The map at right indicates the nonattainment area for the region.

In 1990, the Atlanta Metropolitan Area was one of 91 areas in the United States designated as nonattainment under the one-hour ozone standard. Currently 13 counties in Metro Atlanta fall under this designation: Cherokee, Clayton, Cobb, Coweta, DeKalb, Douglas, Fayette, Forsyth, Fulton, Gwinnett, Henry, Paulding and Rockdale.



The Clean Air Act requires that the NAAQS be reviewed every five years to determine if they need to be updated. In 1997, the ozone NAAQS was revised to reflect improved understanding of the health impacts of this pollutant. As a result, the eight-hour ozone standard was established. The eight-hour ozone standard is based on extensive research indicating ozone is more harmful when a person is exposed over a longer period of time, even if the ozone concentration is lower.

In April 2004, twenty counties within the Atlanta Metropolitan Area were designated as non-attainment under the eight-hour ozone standard, with an effective date of June 15, 2004. A transportation conformity demonstration is required one year from the effective date of designation. The counties within the Atlanta eight-hour ozone non-attainment area are Cherokee, Clayton, Cobb, Coweta, DeKalb, Douglas, Fayette, Forsyth, Fulton, Gwinnett, Henry, Paulding, Rockdale, Hall, Barrow, Walton, Newton, Spalding, Carroll, and Bartow. This is the one-hour ozone standard plus seven additional "ring counties."

The United States Environmental Protection Agency does not intend for there to be two standards in place at the same time. For this reason, the less stringent one-hour standard will be revoked on June 15, 2005.

In 1997, the same year in which the standards for ozone were reviewed, the standards for particulates were reviewed. A new PM2.5 (or fine particulate matter) standard was established to reflect the latest research, which revealed that smaller particles can more easily penetrate into the lungs and bloodstream.

On January 5, 2005 the USEPA designated the entirety of 20 counties and portions of 2 other counties in Metro Atlanta as non-attainment for fine particulates; with an effective date of April 5, 2005. The counties identified were Barrow, Bartow, Carroll, Cherokee, Clayton, Cobb, Coweta, DeKalb, Douglas, Fayette, Forsyth, Fulton, Gwinnett, Hall, Newton, Paulding, Rockdale, Spalding, Walton, and portions of Henry and Putnam.

Ground-level ozone is a regional problem that requires regional controls on both non-point (mobile) and point (commercial and industrial) sources that contribute to the ozone problem. In addition, ground level ozone and/or the precursors to ground level ozone can be transported over a significant geographical area; making non-attainment boundary determinations difficult, especially for a county-by-county determination. In recognition of the difficulty in designating an area as attainment or non-attainment, the USEPA identified 11 factors that should be considered by states when making recommendations of attainment or non-attainment in the presence of an ozone monitor that records a ground level ozone presence above or exceeding the NAAQS. These factors are:

- Location of emission sources
- Emissions and air quality in adjacent areas; including adjacent cities or metro areas
- Monitoring data representing the ozone concentrations in local areas as well as larger areas
- Traffic and commuting patterns
- Population density
- Expected growth
- Meteorology
- Geography and/or topography
- Level of control existing for emission sources
- Regional emission reductions
- Jurisdictional boundaries

Although the above factors are specifically focused on ozone, the guidelines issued by USEPA for PM2.5 non-attainment boundary determinations are very similar. In short, most of the factors or considerations listed remain the same. Public health effects for fine particulates are similar to those for ozone.

The Clean Air Act requires that every state meet health-based National Ambient Air Quality Standards. If one or more of the NAAQS are not met, the State Environmental Protection Division must develop a

State Implementation Plan (SIP) that defines a plan to attain the air quality standard by a particular year. The SIP provides measures, activities, programs, and regulations used by a state to reduce air pollution. Local governments in non-attainment areas are required to describe the actions each is taking to promote better air quality; such as programs like a clean air campaign, automobile testing or measures used to encourage land use to reduce pollution.

■ Assessment—Transportation Network

The existing transportation network continues to be a challenge for the volume of traffic experienced by Alpharetta. A large number of east-west trips, mostly generated by traffic traveling to and from Georgia 400, create congested conditions in Alpharetta on a daily basis. Over the last decade, the city of Alpharetta has experienced explosive growth in both the residential and commercial populations. The internal road system can no longer handle current capacities and is suffering from severe congestion in several places. Some of the roads within the city are currently operating at LOS E or F during peak periods.

Another factor that must be considered while discussing Alpharetta's congestion problems is its place in the region. Many problems that the city faces are regional in scope and require the cooperation of other governments and agencies; something that the City of Alpharetta is actively working to achieve. For example, the cities of Alpharetta and Roswell are working to implement a joint traffic management center in an effort to streamline traffic flow through both jurisdictions and improve efficiencies.

The city recently completed a Comprehensive Transportation Plan (CTP) that address transportation issues within a multi-modal context. With the need for multi-jurisdictional transportation planning in mind, the cities of Alpharetta and Roswell, as well as Fulton County, developed their Comprehensive Transportation Plans simultaneously and using the same consultants. By doing so, the plans adopted by the three jurisdictions achieve a certain level of cohesiveness, sharing similar goals and strategies.

It is understood that the city will never achieve non-congested conditions, or above Level of Service E on many of its major arterials during peak periods. While the City of Alpharetta drafted its transportation strategies to coordinate with neighboring jurisdictions and actively works to enhance regional and local transportation efficiencies, the City will not undertake strategies that promote regional goals but prove detrimental to the overall quality of the local community or its residents. Quality of life, aesthetics within the city, increased access and mobility of residents, preservation of neighborhoods and the availability of choices were strong underlying principals within the development of this plan. In addition to projects that are outlined in the CTP, several issues became apparent during this process:

- As transit becomes more convenient and traffic congestion increases a greater percentage of commuters may choose this option. It is estimated that currently 7% of the population now uses public transit as opposed to 1.1% in 1990.
- Adequate transit connections are critical to the economic health of the city's business sector.
- Employment is projected to increase to over 129,000 jobs within the city by the year 2020, while the residential population will increase to slightly less than 50,000. Given the number of quality employment opportunities, it is anticipated that Alpharetta's residents will increasingly reflect a growing trend of choosing to work closer to home. The city is aggressively implementing a more pedestrian/bike friendly internal circulation system to accommodate alternative means of transportation and improve overall internal circulation.
- Maintenance and operation of the transportation system in the city is critical to the system's ability to function in an efficient and safe manner. Citywide transportation programs that ad-

dress safety and maintenance are within the short, intermediate and long term work programs. This will assure greater efficient and effective utilization of the existing transportation infrastructure.

- The development of a Transportation Demand Association has been suggested to implement travel demand management measures that could further reduce peak hour congestion, reduce total travel and maximize the capacity of existing and planned transportation facilities. This association in conjunction with the CID to fund improvements would promote the following measures:
 - Facilitate a ridesharing program;
 - Provide employer-sponsored transit pass discounts;
 - Encourage telecommuting and compressed workweeks; and
 - Develop an internal shuttle

Land use and transportation planning go hand in hand. The City of Alpharetta has always been very conscious of this interrelation, and to the balance that must be maintained in order to maintain and improve the quality of life of its residents and workers. Based in part on available and/or planned infrastructure, future land use strategies outline appropriate areas for various housing and commercial densities. In addition to roadways, the city has and will continue to make great strides towards developing appropriate areas, such as the historic downtown, in a pedestrian friendly manner so that people will have several transportation options and not be so dependent on their automobiles. The city's Comprehensive Transportation Plan presents a multi-modal plan of local and regional road projects; local and regional transit options, sidewalks and citywide transportation programs that accommodates the projected growth within the city to the year 2020.

9. Housing Element

Introduction

The City of Alpharetta has experienced tremendous residential growth over the past twenty years. It is the City's goal to preserve existing neighborhoods while encouraging high quality residential development to accommodate a variety of housing types at all income levels. This element of the Comprehensive Plan is made up of four components: 1) an inventory of the existing housing stock; 2) an assessment of the adequacy and suitability for serving current and future populations as well as economic development needs; 3) a determination of future housing needs and goals; and 4) strategies to address current and future housing needs and goals.

Housing Stock Inventory

Housing Type, Age and Condition

During the 1980s Alpharetta's residential areas expanded dramatically. Using 2000 Census data, the City of Alpharetta had 8,903 single-family units and 5,725 multi-family units for a total of 14,648 housing units. The City added 8,761 new dwelling units from 1990 to 2000 for a 149% increase in total dwelling units. During the 1980s, the types of residential structures located in Alpharetta became more diverse. In 1980 92.6 percent of the housing stock was single-family houses. By 1990, housing types included condominiums, duplexes, apartments, cluster homes, and single family detached houses in a variety of sizes and styles. Although the majority of units in Alpharetta continued to be single-family detached homes, the total percentage of single-family units to total units had decreased to 60.7%, and this trend continued into 2000 when 60.8% of dwelling units were classified as single family. During the 1980s, multi-family units increased from 6.6% of the supply to 38.4% in 1990 and continued to increase into 2000, at which time they represented 39.1% of the housing stock. Multi-family units have become an increasing share of the housing market in the Atlanta Region and the State of Georgia.

Table 7-1

Comparison of Housing Type

Alpharetta, County, and State

Type of Structure	Alpha	Alpharetta		Alpharetta (2004)		County	Georgia		
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	
Single Family Detached	8,069	55.1	9,906	66.8	171,362	49.2	2,107,317	64.2	
Single Family Attached	834	5.7	N/A	N/A	15,171	4.4	94,150	2.9	
Multi-Family	5,717	39.1	4,893	33.0	160,491	46.1	681,019	20.8	
Mobile Home	17	0.1	17	0.1	1,457	0.4	394,938	12.0	
Source: US Census Bureau	and City of Al	pharetta							

In terms of age, the area's housing stock ranges from isolated houses built before the turn of the century to planned residential developments where construction has begun more recently. Most of the city's oldest residences are located in or near its historic downtown, along Main and Canton Streets and the Thompson Street District. The city's pre-World War II housing is typical of small southern towns, featuring both brick and wooden types such as bungalows, cottages, and two-story houses.

The decades following World War II brought a number of subdivisions to areas farther from downtown. Residential structures in these neighborhoods are mostly single family detached, consisting of the ranch-style and split-level types constructed nationwide during the same time period.

The period 1980 to 2000 was one of rapid expansion for housing inventory in the Atlanta region and the State of Georgia. Alpharetta was no exception to this new housing expansion. In 1980 there were 127 housing units built before 1939, or 11.4% of all units. In 1990 the percentage of houses built before 1939 decreased in real terms from 127 units to 44 units, and as a percentage of total units from 11.4% to 0.7% of all units. Alpharetta's percentage of older housing is very low compared to the 8.1% of housing units constructed before 1939 in the State of Georgia. By 2000, the housing stock in the city had increased by 13,532 units, suggesting that 92% of the city's housing stock has been added over the past twenty years.

Table 7-2

Comparison Of Housing Age

Alpharetta, County, State

Year Structure Built	Alpha	retta	Fulton (County	Georgia		
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	
1999 to March 2000	1,296	8.8	9,519	2.7	130,695	4.0	
1995 to 1998	5,066	34.6	35,497	10.2	413,557	12.6	
1990 to 1994	2,947	20.1	33,119	9.5	370,878	11.3	
1980 to 1989	3,817	26.1	63,177	18.1	721,174	22.0	
1970 to 1979	712	4.9	55,608	16.0	608,926	18.6	
1960 to 1969	375	2.6	56,928	16.3	416,047	12.7	
1940 to 1959	259	1.8	63,627	18.3	427,488	13.0	
1939 or Earlier	173	1.2	31,157	8.9	192,972	5.9	

Most of the housing in the Alpharetta area is in good condition. Houses and yards are generally well maintained, suggesting a sense of community spirit and pride of ownership among owners and residents. A "small town" character still pervades the older neighborhoods, while an upscale, quality atmosphere is expressed by the newer developments. Since the condition of Alpharetta's housing stock is good overall, the problems that do exist are not widespread or pervasive.

Occasional instances of substandard units that do not conform to code tend to be scattered among adequately maintained units rather than concentrated in deteriorated areas. Other deteriorated or vacant units are located in transitional areas where rezonings and market forces are acting to resolve conflicts of use or building type. Codes enforcement actions by the City also serve to control the proliferation of substandard units before they can influence a deterioration of neighborhoods. The percentage of housing units lacking complete plumbing decreased in Alpharetta between 1980 and 1990 from 1.5% to 0.3% of all housing units, a level that is maintained today. This reduction is especially significant in light of the fact that in 1980 Alpharetta was smaller in terms of land area.

Table 7-3 Comparison of Housing Condition

Alpharetta, County, and State

Selected Characteristics	aracteristics Alpharetta		Fulton	County	Georgia		
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	
Lacking Complete Plumbing	31	0.2	1,967	0.6	17,117	0.6	
Lacking Complete Kitchen Facilities	17	0.1	2,229	0.7	15,161	0.5	
No Telephone Service	26	0.2	6,916	2.2	96,140	3.2	
Source: US Census Bureau							

Trends in Housing Construction

Between the beginning of 2001 and the end of 2004, the City authorized construction of over 1,112 new dwelling units through issuance of building permits. Additionally, 717 building permits were issued for expansion of existing single-family dwellings. Over this period, total new units authorized for single-family detached and attached housing exceeded 57% of all new construction, while multi-family units accounted for fewer than 20%. The total number of permitted units by year has varied considerably, from a high of 1,786 (in 1997) to a low of 233 (in 2004). Across all housing types, however, there has been a general decreasing trend in the number of units authorized over these past six years.

Trends In Housing Type								
	Total Housing Units Permitted							
	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	1999 - 2005	% Of Total
Single Family	464	149	79	245	267	233	1,437	68%
Multi Family	296	88	275	13	-	-	672	32%
Mobile Homes	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0%
Total All Units	760	88	354	258	267	233	2,109	100%

Housing Occupancy Characteristics

In 2000, homeowners made up the majority of residents in Alpharetta, accounting for 60.3% of all units. Renter occupied units made up 39% of all units. As noted earlier, housing types diversified in Alpharetta during the 1980s. In 1980 owner occupied units made up 80% of the supply and renter occupied units made up 20%, a much higher ratio (4 to 1) than the State's overall ratio of less than 2 to 1. By 1990, Alpharetta's owner to renter ratio had grown to almost 3 to 2, reflecting a higher percentage of multi-family units than average for the state as a whole.

The 1990 Alpharetta owner vacancy was considerably higher at 6.2% as compared to the State of Georgia's 2.5% vacancy rate. The renter vacancy rate was 13.8%. This vacancy rate was slightly higher than the state rental vacancy rate of 12.2%. By 2000, vacancy rates had fallen dramatically to 1.7% of owner housing and 5.6% of renter housing, reflecting the city's robust housing market.

Table 7-5			
Comparison Of Housin	g Occupancy Char	acteristics	
Alpharetta, Fulton County, and Georgia			
	Alpharetta	Fulton County	Georgia
Owner Occupied Units	7,818	146,783	3,006,369
Vacancy Rate	1.7%	2.7%	1.9%
Median Value	\$ 226,300	\$ 180,700	\$ 111,200
Renter Occupied Units	5,505	153,778	964,446
Vacancy Rate	5.6%	7.1%	8.2%
Median Rent	\$ 908	\$ 709	\$ 613
Source: US Census Bureau			

According to the 2000 Census, approximately 3,457 Alpharetta residents, roughly 9% of the City's total population, was chategorized by the fedral government as having some disability. Within that group approximately 72.1% of those between the ages of 21 to 64 years were employed. By comparison 81% of Alpharetta residents between the ages of 21 to 64 years who were not chategorized as being disabled were employed.

While the percentage of Alpharetta's disabled population in the age cohorts of 5 to 20 years and those 65 and over is relatively consistent with the same population cohorts for both the county and Georgia, a dramatic difference exists in the age group of 21 to 64 years (*see figure 7-6*).

As is the case for Fulton County and much of Georgia, a relatively high percentage of the population over the age of 65 is characterized as having some level of disability by the federal government. This is an important characteristic in terms of general population but especially with regard to housing issues. Alpharetta anticipates continued growth in the 65 and over age cohort which should continue to create demand for housing amenities that cater to the needs of those with disabilities, even as advances in health care diminish the percentage of the elderly population characterized as being disabled.

Table 7-6

Disability Status of the Civilian Noninstitutionalized Population

Alpharetta, Fulton County, and Georgia

	Alpha	retta	Fulton (County	Georgia		
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	
Population 5 to 20 Years	475	6.4	14,496	8.1	157,923	8.2	
Population 21 to 64 Years	2,179	9.8	91,437	18.2	940,344	19.9	
Population 65 Years and Over	803	41.2	31,169	45.8	358,545	47.5	

Housing Value and Activity

During the last twenty years, residential building permit activity in the City of Alpharetta has been strong, particularly since 1990. During the decade of the 1990s, the City's population continued to increase dramatically, maintaining a high demand for new housing. From 1990 through 2000, there were 4,528 permits issued for single-family detached units and 2,918 permits issued for multi-family units, for a total of 7,446 new units. Much of the growth and variety in residential construction has occurred since 1980 in the form of large-scale developments to the east of downtown.

As shown on Table 7-5, a comparison of housing costs from 1980 to 2000 shows that the median owner value more than quadrupled from \$51,400 in 1980 to \$226,300 in 2000. Alpharetta's 2000 median purchase price was significantly higher than the County (\$270,999) and the State (\$162,954). Because of the abundance of multi-family units constructed during the 1980s and 1990s, median rental rates increased nearly six-fold between 1980 and 2000 from \$155 in 1980 to \$908 in 2000. Renter median rent in Alpharetta was significantly higher than both the County and State in 2000.

Table 7-7

Comparison of Owner Costs as a Percentage of Income

Alpharetta, Fulton County, and State

	Alpha	retta	Fulton C	County	Geor	gia
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent
Less than 15%	2,327	29.8	47,723	32.5	581,615	36.4
15% to 19%	1,599	20.5	25,121	17.1	293,480	18.4
20% to 24%	1,388	17.8	21,575	14.7	225,005	14.1
25% to 29%	826	10.6	14,241	9.7	147,360	9.2
30% to 34%	495	6.3	8,742	6.0	91,954	5.8
35% or More	1,162	14.9	27,979	19.1	242,927	15.2
Not Computed	21	0.3	1,402	1.0	14,067	0.9

Table 7-8

Comparison of Renter Costs as a Percentage of Income

Alpharetta, Fulton County, and State

	Alpha	retta	Fulton C	County	Georgia		
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	
Less than 15%	1,058	19.2	26,781	17.4	177,210	18.4	
15% to 19%	1,194	21.7	22,069	14.4	140,798	14.6	
20% to 24%	812	14.8	20,306	13.2	123,890	12.8	
25% to 29%	660	12.0	17,422	11.3	97,915	10.2	
30% to 34%	446	8.1	12,446	8.1	70,813	7.3	
35% or More	1,150	20.9	46,447	30.2	270,671	28.1	
Not Computed	185	3.4	8,307	5.4	83,149	8.6	

Assessment and Future Growth Needs

The Atlanta Regional Commission has identified the Atlanta region as having a very positive housing market, leading the nation in permits and starts during much of the past decade. Several factors will continue to fuel Alpharetta's residential growth, including location, transportation access, adequate infrastructure improvements and an abundance of executive housing and amenities. Vacant land still exists within the City for residential developments, and opportunities for innovative, mixed-use developments abound.

Although the majority of housing in Alpharetta is in good condition, there are several areas of concern that remain.

North Main Street Area

Parcels fronting on N. Main Street are zoned for office or commercial use, but the area includes a number of older residences and some offices that are in converted houses. These older homes and offices, which are well established and in good condition, maintain a residential atmosphere that probably will prevail for some time. Alpharetta will continue to encourage the conversion to professional uses that do not harm existing residential areas.

Thompson Street Area

Thompson Street appears to have developed following World War II, featuring houses, lots, and rights-ofway that are often smaller in scale than those of comparable neighborhoods. Zoning changes have been occurring on properties that back up to the neighborhood on the south (along Old Milton Parkway, which is a state highway) and on the north (along Academy Street).

It is the City's goal to preserve this neighborhood as an example of Alpharetta's small town past, by allowing conversion to office/professional uses while maintaining the residential character. The City will continue to encourage rezoning of the existing residences along Thompson Street to professional offices instead of commercial/retail in order to preserve the existing low-density use of Thompson Street.

Properties North of Marietta Street and East of Wills Road

An important goal of this Comprehensive Plan is to maintain the residential nature of the city's northwest quadrant; opening up this area to commercial or any more intensive use may jeopardize this goal and threaten the integrity of other neighborhoods in this part of town. Importantly, this Plan does not support the continued widening of Rucker Road west of Wills Road, and the City has consolidated its control over Wills Park activities through acquisition of the park and annexation. These actions reduce the potential future impact from the road improvements and park facilities and will have the effect of protecting this area.

While the City does seek to maintain a largely residential environment in this quadrant, the potential to redevelop some areas to encourage more diverse housing types and neighborhood-focused mixed-use projects is to be encouraged. This will help to promote affordable housing while also meeting the changing housing needs and wants of empty nesters and young professionals.

Trailer Street Area

Only one mobile home remains on Trailer Street and Christine Drive, which are adjacent to the Central Business District and north of an area that is in transition from residential to office use. The area represents one of the last remaining pockets of substandard housing in the city. Despite its small size, the development is split between office zoning and single-family zoning. This area is part of the Central Business District and although the City has committed considerable investment in capital improvements for the CBD, this area is primarily held by private property owners and is outside the scope of public investment. While codes enforcement actions have been a catalyst for change in this area, it is believed that the true potential of the property will be realized as market forces within the Downtown Area react to other City-sponsored initiatives and private sector investment.

Canton Street Area

Canton Street between Church Street and Hopewell Road is the oldest residential district in the city with the largest collection of original cottage homes in the city. This area is immediately adjacent to the Central Business District and helps to support the business uses downtown. As commercial development grows adjacent to Canton Street (in downtown and along North Main Street), greater pressure will result to convert the single-family homes on Canton Street to businesses. One way to resist the pressure and preserve this residential district is to designate it as the Garden District of Alpharetta, which is outlined as part of the City's 2003 Downtown Plan. Programs could be developed to provide incentives and awards for residents who enhance the appearance of their property. The retention of this residential area anchors surrounding neighborhoods and enhances the character of downtown

Workforce And Senior Housing

As the community matures and the number of jobs in the service and public sectors increases to meet increasing demand from the residential population, a growing need for housing opportunities for such employees will arise. The promotion of mixed-use developments and increased residential densities in appropriate locations, such as in the Downtown core and the recently approved Prospect Park development located at the intersection of two main arterials, is one strategy that the City is employing to meet this need. These strategies are intended to dilute land costs over a greater number of units and development types to make individual housing units more affordable.

It is recognized that as Alpharetta's population ages and transition to retirement income sources, it could become increasingly difficult for some to remain residents of the area unless housing affordability is actively addressed. Realizing the City's goal of developing a community where people can live, work, play, and stay is dependent upon providing housing that can be afforded by all of Alpharetta's workers and seniors. In addition to addressing this need through promotion of mixed-use and increased density developments in targeted locations, the City is also utilizing strategies that more directly address the needs of low and moderate income seniors. For instance, the City recently required that an age restricted senior apartment development set aside 20% of its units for moderate income tenants.

It is the City's goal to provide a variety of housing options through: 1) the continued diversification of the new housing market to offer greater choice in housing selection, 2) allowing mixed uses and higher densities in the downtown and other appropriate areas, and 3) continuation of its policy of preservation of older neighborhoods, such as the Thompson Street neighborhood. The City is also looking at mobility issues relating to employment and seeks to provide convenient transportation access to current and projected retail and service employees.

Future Growth

Population and household projections indicate that Alpharetta will continue to grow over the next 20 years. Between 2005 and 2025 the City's population is projected to increase by almost 13,349. This increase translates into an even faster rate of household formation and a need for housing construction to accommodate the new households. By the year 2025, Alpharetta will add over 6,120 new households.

The ratio of single-family houses to multi-family units is projected to remain the same over the next 20 years; however, an increasing percentage of single-family units will be townhomes and condominiums.

Residential growth is projected to continue through infill and new developments on both the east and west sides of town. In addition, the amount of land needed to accommodate the 2025 population is greater than the amount of land available for such use. It is therefore assumed that the City will also continue to grow through annexation.

The area northwest of Alpharetta should be maintained as a low density residential and Residential Estate area, for which the area is zoned and the infrastructure can support. Areas of higher density residential development are expected to be expanded around current areas zoned CUP and in the Downtown District, and to be developed at the same rate as has been experienced recently.

Appendix A

City Of Alpharetta Roadway Inventory

0 Centroid Connectors	
1 Interstate / Freeway	Freeway
2 Parkway	
3 HOV Buffer Separated	
4 HOV Barrier Separated	
5 High Speed Ramp / CD Road	
6 Medium Speed Ramp	
7 Low Speed Ramp	
8 Loop Ramp	
9 Off Ramp w/ Intersection	
10 On Ramp w/ Intersection	
11 Expressway	
12 Principal Arterial - Class I	Arterial
13 Principal Arterial - Class II	Arterial
14 Minor Arterial - Class I	Arterial
15 Minor Arterial - Class II	Arterial
16 HOV - Arterial (all classes)	Arterial
17 Major Collector	Collector
18 Minor Collector / Other Local	Collector
19 Planned Ramps w/ Intersections	Collector
20 Planned Directional Ramps	
50 Transit Only Link: Neighborhood Local	
51 Transit Only Link: Local Roads and Collectors	
52 Transit Only Link: Park-n-ride lot connector	
53 Transit Only Link: Transfer links between rail and bus	

54 Associated with BRT Routes (Future year coding)

					2005 E	xisting	2030 Pr	ojected
		Lanes		Existing				
	Functional	per	Capacity	Volumes				
Segment	Class	direction	(veh/hour)	(veh/day)			AM v/c	
ACADEMY ST	Collector	2	1300	16420	0.51	1.30	0.99	0.93
ACADEMY ST	Collector	1	650	1740	0.21	0.23	0.07	0.32
ALPHARETTA RD	Arterial	1	650	8590	1.01	0.94	0.47	0.99
ALPHARETTA RD	Arterial	1	650	10670	1.26	1.20	0.89	0.86
ALPHARETTA RD	Arterial	2	1300	9350	0.40	0.77	0.43	0.93
ALPHARETTA RD	Arterial	1	800	4160	0.44	0.38	0.08	0.48
ALPHARETTA RD	Arterial	1	800	3690	0.42	0.31	0.44	0.27
ARNOLD MILL RD	Arterial	1	1050	11920	0.88	0.81	0.45	0.92
BETHANY RD	Collector	1	650	5240	0.62	0.65	0.56	0.87
BETHANY RD	Collector	1	700	5920	0.47	0.83	0.73	0.98
BUICE RD	Arterial	1	650	3080	0.26	0.66	0.28	0.72
COGBURN RD	Collector	1	850	3040	0.27	0.28	0.19	0.34
COGBURN RD	Collector	1	800	3330	0.13	0.54	0.40	0.20
COGBURN RD	Collector	1	850	3400	0.13	0.50	0.66	0.35
DEERFIELD PKWY	Collector	2	1500	4620	0.30	0.20	0.23	0.76
GREEN RD	Arterial	1	850	3900	0.35	0.27	0.34	0.55
HARDSCRABLE RD	Arterial	1	850	8860	0.66	0.95	1.02	1.12
HARSCRABBLE RD	Arterial	1	850	7810	0.60	0.83	0.77	0.80
HARSCRABBLE RD	Arterial	1	850	4890	0.53	0.46	0.27	0.76
HAYNES BRIDGE RD	Arterial	2	1300	16960	1.08	0.93	0.58	1.11
HAYNES BRIDGE RD	Arterial	3	2700	14890	0.31	0.49	0.31	0.54
HAYNES BRIDGE RD	Arterial	3	2700	14750	0.37	0.49	0.44	0.57
HAYNES BRIDGE RD	Arterial	3	2700	15700	0.34	0.55	0.47	0.57
HAYNES BRIDGE RD	Arterial	3	2700	17180	0.37	0.55	0.48	0.60
HAYNES BRIDGE RD	Arterial	2	1500	9550	0.44	0.59	0.57	0.78
HAYNES BRIDGE RD	Arterial	3	2250	6070	0.22	0.23	0.12	0.28
HAYNES BRIDGE RD	Arterial	3	2250	9400	0.16	0.53	0.31	0.29
HAYNES BRIDGE RD	Arterial	1	750	3830	0.21	0.74	0.21	0.38
HEMBRERE	Collector	1	750	3020	0.22	0.35	0.34	0.46
HEMBRERE	Collector	1	750	4620	0.20	0.66	0.54	0.46
HEMBRERE	Collector	1	750	2920	0.31	0.31	0.20	0.47
HOPEWELL RD	Collector	1	700	4280	0.18	0.84	0.32	0.99
HOPEWELL RD	Collector	1	850	2270	0.06			0.33
HOUZE RD	Arterial	1	1000	11950	0.86	0.89	0.85	0.78
HOUZE RD	Arterial	1	1050	11840	0.56	0.99	0.52	1.01
KIMBALL BRIDGE	Collector	1	650	5230	0.40		0.66	0.73
KIMBALL BRIDGE RD	Collector	1	800	2830	0.18		0.19	0.39
KIMBALL BRIDGE RD	Collector	1	800	2570	0.12			0.36
KIMBALL BRIDGE RD	Collector	1	750	3850	0.27		0.39	0.54
MANSELL	Collector	2	1500	12520	0.46			0.69
MANSELL RD	Collector	2	1500	16740	0.70			1.00
MANSELL RD	Collector	2	900	8240	0.55	0.86		0.70
MANSELL RD	Collector	2	1500	12310	0.54			0.91
MANSELL RD	Collector	2	900	8150	0.60	0.81	0.46	0.85
MANSELL RD	Collector	2	1500	11040	0.59			0.80
MANSELL RD	Arterial	3	3450	28860	0.51	0.00	0.69	0.00
MANSELL RD	Arterial	3	3750	28460	0.31			0.84
MANGELL RD	Collector	1	450		0.40	0.03		0.93

					2005 E	xisting	2030 Pr	ojected
		Lanes		Existing				
	Functional	per	Capacity	Volumes				
Segment	Class	direction	(veh/hour)	(veh/day)	AM v/c	PM v/c	AM v/c	PM v/c
MAXWELL ROAD	Collector	1	450	6660	0.80	1.14	0.93	0.99
MAYFIELD	Collector	1	650	4280	0.19	0.91	0.79	0.63
MAYFIELD	Arterial	1	700	5170	0.54	0.61	0.46	0.64
MCFARLAND	Collector	1	550	4520	0.77	0.57	0.23	0.73
MCGINNIS FERRY	Collector	1	850	5670	0.60	0.45	0.21	0.60
MCGINNIS FERRY	Collector	1	650	4340	0.27	0.94	1.44	0.98
MCGINNIS FERRY	Collector	1	550	6000	0.74	1.05	0.79	1.09
MCGINNIS FERRY	Collector	1	550	6450	0.87	0.93	0.70	1.06
MCGINNIS FERRY	Collector	1	750	2930	0.26	0.44	0.13	0.43
MCGINNIS FERRY	Collector	1	650	5270	0.36	0.95	0.81	0.83
MCGINNIS FERRY RD	Collector	1	700	4980	0.31	0.79	0.44	0.31
MCGINNIS FERRY RD	Collector	1	850	4520	0.50	0.35	0.26	0.28
MID BROADWELL RD	Arterial	1	850	3470	0.20	0.38	0.37	0.33
MID BROADWELL RD	Arterial	1	850	3410	0.20	0.39	0.19	0.53
MID BROADWELL RD	Arterial	1	600	6300	0.47	0.95	0.92	0.85
MID BROADWELL RD	Arterial	1	650	7720	0.89	0.79	0.63	1.18
NORTH POINT PKWY	Collector	3	2100	13940	0.46	0.53	0.26	0.45
NORTH POINT PKWY	Collector	3	2100	14850	0.49	0.56	0.32	0.54
NORTHPOINT PKWY	Collector	3	2100	13940	0.29	0.70	0.37	0.47
NORTHPOINT PKWY	Collector	2	1500	7380	0.17	0.65	0.51	0.50
NORTHPOINT PKWY	Arterial	3	2250	2660	0.14	0.07	0.03	0.11
NORTHPOINT PKWY	Arterial	3	2250	2660	0.14	0.07	0.03	0.11
NORTHPOINT PKWY	Arterial	3	2250	7280	0.23	0.25	0.16	0.22
NORTHPOINT PKWY	Arterial	3	2250	3490	0.04	0.26	0.15	0.11
OLD ALABAMA RD CONN	Collector	2	1500	7950	0.31	0.51	0.41	0.59
OLD ROSWELL RD	Collector	1	750	8910	0.54	0.98	1.04	0.77
OLD ROSWELL RD	Collector	1	750	3330	0.26	0.34	0.22	0.50
OLD ROSWELL RD	Collector	1	650	8510	0.87	0.91		
OLD ROSWELL RD	Collector	1	600	330	0.00	0.13	0.08	0.12
RUCKER RD	Arterial	1	600	2580	0.20	0.51	0.56	0.50
RUCKER RD	Arterial	1	650	2700	0.37	0.37	0.35	0.50
RUCKER RD	Arterial	1	600	3820	0.31	0.71	0.71	0.69
RUCKER RD	Arterial	1	750	5770	0.65	0.54	0.45	0.99
SR 120	Arterial	3	3450	18740	0.41	0.48	0.32	0.49
SR 120	Arterial	2	1800	18740	0.78	0.91	0.62	0.93
SR 120	Arterial	3	3450	24800	0.46	0.60	0.50	0.69
SR 120	Arterial	3	3450	21570	0.35	0.60	0.53	0.75
SR 120	Arterial	1	1000	11650	0.62	1.06	0.79	0.80
SR 120	Arterial	2	2300	16920	0.36	0.76	0.43	0.81
SR 120	Arterial	1	1000	11870	0.69	1.00	0.52	0.96
SR 120	Arterial	2	2000	18550	0.74		0.86	0.86
SR 120	Arterial	2	2300	20320	0.49		0.65	0.72
SR 120	Arterial	2	2500	23660	0.63		0.69	0.86
SR 120	Arterial	2	2300	15680	0.43		0.49	0.73
SR 120	Arterial	3	3450	16800	0.25			0.58
SR 120	Arterial	3	3450	21230	0.33		0.55	0.58
SR 120	Arterial	2	2300	23950	0.57	0.93		0.91
STATE BRIDGE RD	Arterial	1	1000	9960	0.63			0.67

					2005 E	xisting	2030 Pr	ojected
		Lanes		Existing				-
	Functional	per	Capacity	Volumes				
Segment	Class	direction	(veh/hour)	(veh/day)	AM v/c	PM v/c	AM v/c	PM v/c
WEBB BRIDGE RD	Collector	1	750	4020	0.39	0.49	0.43	0.94
WEBB BRIDGE RD	Collector	1	750	4050	0.25	0.62	0.60	0.73
WEBB BRIDGE RD	Collector	1	800	2350	0.26	0.26	0.18	0.49
WEBB BRIDGE RD	Collector	1	750	2350	0.27	0.28	0.18	0.49
WEBB BRIDGE RD	Collector	1	750	3290	0.13	0.60	0.45	0.48
WEBB BRIDGE RD	Collector	1	750	370	0.03	0.09	0.04	0.14
WEBB BRIDGE RD	Collector	1	750	2350	0.10	0.44	0.32	0.33
WEBB BRIDGE RD	Collector	1	750	370	0.03	0.09	0.04	0.15
WEBB BRIDGE RD	Collector	1	750	960	0.05	0.26	0.09	0.34
WEBB BRIDGE RD	Collector	1	750	1740	0.09	0.25	0.38	0.58
WEBB BRIDGE RD	Collector	1	750	960	0.05	0.26	0.09	0.34
WESTSIDE PKWY	Arterial	2	1500				0.35	0.25
WESTSIDE PKWY	Arterial	2	1500				0.13	0.56
WESTSIDE PKWY	Arterial	2	1500				0.28	0.22
WESTSIDE PKWY	Arterial	2	1500				0.12	0.45
WESTSIDE PKWY	Arterial	2	1500				0.13	0.56
WESTSIDE PKWY	Arterial	2	1500				0.35	0.25
WESTSIDE PKWY	Arterial	2	1500				0.63	0.51
WESTSIDE PKWY	Arterial	2	1500				0.36	0.83
WESTSIDE PKWY	Arterial	2	1500				0.27	0.21
WESTSIDE PKWY	Arterial	2	1500				0.11	0.43
WESTSIDE PKWY	Arterial	2	1500				0.06	0.12
WESTSIDE PKWY	Arterial	2	1500				0.05	0.13
WINDWARD PKWY	Arterial	2	1300	4410	0.33	0.26	0.21	0.71
WINDWARD PKWY	Arterial	2	1300	2490	0.17	0.18	0.12	0.48
WINDWARD PKWY	Arterial	2	1400	5000	0.11	0.50	0.48	0.28
WINDWARD PKWY	Collector	2	1500	14910	0.61	0.80	0.94	1.03
WINDWARD PKWY	Collector	2	1500	6820	0.13	0.66	0.75	0.45
WINDWARD PKWY	Collector	2	1500	13290	0.51	0.84	0.73	0.81
WINDWARD PKWY	Collector	2	1500	14340	0.58	0.79	0.52	0.79
SOURCE: Atlanta Regional Con		Transportatior	Planning Mode				1	·

NOTE: Roadway segments with a v/c ratio above 0.80 are typically considered operating at or below Level of Service D and likely experience high levels of congestion during peak travel times.

Appendix B

City Of Alpharetta Bridge Inventory 04/28/2003

÷

2

BRIDGE INVENTORY BY G.D.O.T. CITY OF ALPHARETTA BRIDGES

		<u> </u>	CITY OF ALPHA							T	U
e la		BER		CALC	ULATE Bridge	D LOA Invent	ADS (fi ory Da	rom G ta)	DOT		RATIN
STRUCTURE ID	LOCATION ID	ROUTE NUMBER	DESCRIPTION	H-Modified	HS-Modified	Type 3	Type 3S2	Timber	Piggyback	REQUIRED POSTING	SUFFICIENCY RATING
121-0298-0	121-02233X-002.1E	CR 2233	Windward Pkwy WBL over Camp							· · ·	-
			Creek	20	25	28	40	36	0	None	95.0
121-0300-0	121-09411M-005.80E	CR 70	Webb Bridge Road over Big Creek	16	25	- 21	36	31	0	None	60.7
121-0301-0	121-09410M-000.30E	CR 1331	Rucker Road over Foe Killer Creek	16	25	21	30	27	0	None	51.9
121-0591-0	121-01321X-000.58E	CR 1321	Cumming Street over Big Creek Tributary	0	- 0	0	· 0 ·	0	0	None, box culvert	91.4
121-0624-0	121-02233X-002.14E	CR 2233	Windward Pkwy EBL over Camp Creek	20	25	28	40	36	0.	None	95.0
121-0629-0	121-02233X-003.02E	CR2233	Windward Pkwy EBL over Big				40	30		None	95.9
121-0630-0	121-02233X-003.03E	CR 2233	Creek Windward Pkwy WBL over Big	20	25	28	40	.50	<u> </u>		
		· · · ·	Creek	20	25	28	40	36	0	None	95.9
121-5023-0	121-00085X-001.63S	CR 85	Kimball Bridge Road over Big Creek	16 .	25	21	36	31	0	None	64.1
121-5027-0	121-00126X-000.14W	CR 126	Rock Mill Way over Foe Killer Creek							H - 10 Ton Type 3 - 2 Tons Timber - 5 Tons Type 3S2 -18 Tons	
				10	16	12	- 18	15	0	Type 332 -18 10hs	52.7
121-5258-0	121-09486M-001.47E	CR 2227	Mansell Road EBL over Foe killer Creek	20	25	28	40	36	0	None	80.3
121-5259-0	121-09486M-001.48E		Mansell Road WBL over Foe Killer						_	AT.	00.2
121-5260-0	121-09486M-002.33E		Creek Mansell Road EBL	20 20	25 25	28	40 40	36 36		None	80.3 82.0
121-5261-0	121-09486M-002.34E		over Big Creek Mansell Road WBL over Big Creek	20	25	28	40	36	-	None	82.0
121-5273-0	121-09409M-001.90N	CR 1334	Haynes Bridge Road over Big	-			40	36		None	90.0
121-5286-0	121-02233X-003.73E	CR 2233	Creek Windward Pkwy over Big Creek Tributary	20	25	28				H Modified 13 Tons Type 3 - 17 Tons Timber - 24 Tons	65.7
121-5292-0	121-00189X-000.18N	CR 189	Harris Road over	13	21	17	32	24	0	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0
161-9676-0			Foe Killer Creek tributary	0	0	0	0	0	0_	None, box culvert	99.9
121-0603-0	121-09407M-001.66E Note: This bridge was added by GDOT on Jan. 30, 2003		Rockmill Road over Foe Killer Creck tributary	19		19		.24		H-Mod Truck 19 Tons Tandem Truck 19 Tons Timber Truck 24 Tons	

This table was compiled from Georgia Department of Transportation's Bridge Inspection report dated October 12, 2001 includes only bridges within Apharetta's City Limits. The "Required Posting" column lists the data that should appear on the load limit signs.

Page 1 of 1

Appendix C

City Of Alpharetta Traffic Signal Inventory

City Of Alpharetta Signalized Intersections

ID#	Street 1	Street 2
1001	Academy Street	State Route 9
	Canton Street	Milton Avenue
1003	Canton Street	Mayfield Road
1004	Mayfield Road	State Route 9
	Cumming Street	State Route 9
	Academy Street	Haynes Bridge Road
2001	GA 400 NB Ramps	Old Milton Parkway
	Morris Road	Old Milton Parkway
2003	Old Milton Parkway	Siemens Driveway
2004	North Point Parkway	Old Milton Parkway
2005	Cotton Creek Entry	Old Milton Parkway
2006	Brookside Parkway	Old Milton Parkway
2007	Old Milton Parkway	Park Bridge Parkway
2009	Old Milton Parkway	Southbridge Parkway
2010	GA 400 SB Ramps	Old Milton Parkway
	Amber Park Drive	Old Milton Parkway
2012	Kimball Bridge Road	Old Milton Parkway
	Haynes Bridge Road	Old Milton Parkway
2014	Old Milton Parkway	State Route 9
2015	Old Milton Parkway	Roswell Street
	Old Milton Parkway	Wills Road
2017	Old Milton Parkway	Post Office
	GA 400 NB Ramps	Windward Parkway
3002	North Point Parkway	Windward Parkway
3003	Edison Drive	Windward Parkway
3004	Marconi Drive	Windward Parkway
3005	Alderman Drive	Windward Parkway
3006	Windward Concourse	Windward Parkway
3007	Union Hill Road	Windward Parkway
	GA 400 SB Ramps	Windward Parkway
	Deerfield Parkway	Windward Parkway
	Nortel/South Trust Bank	Windward Parkway
	Westfield Drive (Home Depot Driveway)	Windward Parkway
	Walmart Driveway	Windward Parkway
	State Route 9	Windward Parkway
	State Route 9	Windward Greens Driveway
	Haynes Bridge Road	North Point Parkway
	Georgia Lane	Haynes Bridge Road
	Haynes Bridge Road	Mansell Road
	Blackwatch Lane	Haynes Bridge Road
	Mansell Road	Old Alabama Connector
	Mansell One Driveway	Mansell Road
	Georgia Lane	North Point Parkway
	North Point Drive	North Point Parkway
	Rockmill Road	North Point Parkway
4010	Kimball Bridge Road	North Point Parkway

City Of Alpharetta Signalized Intersections

ID#	Street 1	Street 2
4011	Haynes Bridge Road	North Point Drive
	GA 400 NB Ramps	Haynes Bridge Road
	GA 400 SB Ramps	Haynes Bridge Road
	Haynes Bridge Road	Northwinds Parkway
	Haynes Bridge Road	Morrison Parkway
	Morrison Parkway	Lakeview Parkway
4017	Haynes Bridge Road	Rainwater Boulevard
	Haynes Bridge Road	Woodhaven Way
	Devore Road	Haynes Bridge Road
4020	Alpharetta Crossing	Haynes Bridge Road
	Mansell Road	North Point Parkway
5002	Mansell Crossing - South Entrance (Toys "R" Us)	North Point Parkway
	Mansell Crossing - Middle Entrance (AmeriSuites)	North Point Parkway
5004	Mansell Crossing - North Entrance (O'Charley's)	North Point Parkway
5005	Center Bridge Road	North Point Parkway
5006	Center Bridge Road	North Point Center East
5007	North Point Mall - South Entrance (United Artist Theaters)	North Point Parkway
5008	North Point Mall - North Entrance (California Pizza Kitchen)	North Point Parkway
5009	North Point Court	North Point Parkway
5011	GA 400 SB Ramps	Mansell Road
5012	Davis Drive	Mansell Road
5013	Mansell Road	Westside Parkway
5014	Kingswood Place	Mansell Road
5015	Mansell Road	Old Roswell Road
5016	Colonial Center Parkway	Old Roswell Road
5017	Colonial Center Parkway	Mansell Road
5018	Mansell Road	Warsaw Road
	Mansell Road	Walmart Driveway
	Great Oaks Way South	North Point Parkway
9003	Great Oaks Way North	North Point Parkway
	North Point Parkway	Preston Ridge Road
	North Point Parkway	Webb Bridge Road
9006	Morris Road	North Point Parkway
9009	Clubhouse Drive	Windward Parkway
9010	Walnut Creek Crossing	Windward Parkway
9011	McGinnis Ferry Road	Windward Parkway
9014	Sanctuary Parkway	Westside Parkway
9015	Center Bridge Road	Westside Parkway
	Maxwell Road	Westside Parkway
	Hembree Road	Westside Parkway
	Lake Windward Drive	Webb Bridge Road
9020	Park Glenn Drive	Webb Bridge Road
9021	Webb Bridge Middle School D/W #2	Webb Bridge Road
	Webb Bridge Road	Webb Bridge Way
	Kimball Bridge Road	Webb Bridge Way
9024	State Route 9	Wills Road

City Of Alpharetta Signalized Intersections

ID#	Street 1	Street 2
9025	Maxwell Road	State Route 9
9026	Cogburn Road	State Route 9
9027	Harris Road	Upper Hembree Road
9028	Harris Road	Rucker Road
9029	Mid Broadwell Road	Wills Road
9030	Cumming Street	Henderson Parkway
9031	Kimball Bridge Road	Rockmill Road
9032	Webb Bridge Road	Alpharetta High School Ent
9033	North Point Parkway	Alpharetta High School Ent

Appendix D

City Of Alpharetta Capital Improvement Element Fiscal Year 2005

Appendix D. Capital Improvement Element

Introduction

The purpose of a Capital Improvement Element (CIE) is to establish where and when certain new facilities will be provided within a jurisdiction and how they may be financed through an impact fee program. As required by the Development Impact Fee Act and defined by the Georgia Department of Community Affairs in its *Development Impact Fee Compliance Requirements*, the CIE must include the following for each category of capital facility for which an impact fee will be charged:

- the designation of service areas: the geographic area in which a defined set of public facilities provide service to development within the area;
- a projection of needs: for the planning period of the adopted Comprehensive Plan;
- the designation of service levels: the service levels that will be provided;
- a schedule of improvements: lists impact fee related projects and costs for the first five years after plan adoption;
- a description of funding sources: sources proposed for each project during the first five years of scheduled system improvements

System improvements expected to commence or be completed over the coming five years are also shown in the Short-Term Work Program, which is included in the Comprehensive Plan and updated annually.

Categories for Assessment of Impact Fees

To assist in paying for the high costs of expanding public facilities and services to meet the needs of projected growth and to ensure that new development pays a reasonable share of the costs for new public facilities, the City of Alpharetta has adopted impact fees for parks, public safety (police and fire protection), and roads.

Designation of Service Areas

The entire city is considered a single service district for needs related to parks, public safety (police and fire protection), and roads. An improvement in any portion of the city increases service to all parts of the city to some extent.

Components of the Impact Fee System

The City of Alpharetta Impact Fee System consists of several components:

- The Comprehensive Plan, including future land use assumptions and projected future demands;
- Appropriate level of service standards for each impact fee eligible facility category;
- This Capital Improvement Element to implement the City's proposed improvements;

• A Development Impact Fee Ordinance for each of the three impact fees; including an impact fee schedule

Parks and Recreation Facilities

Projection of Needs

Between 2005 and 2025, the number of dwelling units in the recreation and parks facilities service area will grow from 15,568 to 21,688; an increase of 6,120 units. This corresponds to an additional 13,349 new residents drawing on the City's recreation and parks facilities and services.

Level of Service

The City of Alpharetta has adopted a level of service for park space of 9.5 acres of total parkland per 1,000 residents (6 acres per 1,000 for active recreation space). Based on this level of service standard and a projected population of 52,370 by the year 2025, it is anticipated that an additional 80 acres of active space will need to be acquired.

The Parks and Recreation Master Plan calls for the purchase of two additional city-wide parks by the year 2008. Two land sites would be acquired, one on each side of Georgia 400, and developed such that each park would provide a combination of active and passive elements.

Future Demand Calculation Total Recreation Space						
Park Acres / Resident	Number of New Residents	Acres Demanded				
0.0095	13,349	126.8				

Future Demand Calculation Active Recreation Space						
Park Acres / Resident	Number of New Residents	Acres Demanded				
0.006	13,349	80.09				

Several other methods have been developed for acquiring open space within the city. In addition to the direct acquisition of parkland for public use, the City has been successful in encouraging recreation facilities within private developments through the use of impact fee credits. Developments such as Windward and Park Bridge have set aside areas on their master plans to be used as open space and recreational areas. These private facilities contribute substantially to reducing the burden to the City for meeting the established level of service standard for recreation and parks facilities.

Planned Capital Projects and Costs

The following table provides insight into the impact fee eligible capital projects that are planned over the next five years.

Recreation and Parks Planned Capital Projects and Costs 2005 – 2010

Project	Planned Start Year	Estimated End Year	Estimated Cost	Funding Source
Environmental Center	2005	2007	\$ 897,144	Impact Fees, Capi- tal Project Fund
North Park	1999	Ongoing	\$ 1,963,278	Impact Fees, Capi- tal Project Fund
Downtown Road Greenway	2005	2008	\$ 300,000	Impact Fees, Bond Funds
Northern Green- way Extension	2005	2008	\$ 2,000,000	Impact Fees, Bond Funds
Cogburn Road Park	2005	2007	\$ 400,000	Impact Fees, Bond Funds, Capital Project Fund
Webb Bridge Park Extension	2006	2009	\$ 700,000	Impact Fees, Bond Funds
Park Land Acqui- sition	2005	2006	\$ 3,800,000	Impact Fees, Bond Funds

Public Safety Facilities

Projection of Needs

Between 2005 and 2025, the number of dwelling units in the public safety service area will grow from 15,568 to 21,688; an increase of 6,120 units. This corresponds to an additional 13,349 new residents drawing on the City's public safety facilities and services. Additionally, by the year 2025 approximately 133,000 people will be employed within the geographic bounds of the City of Alpharetta, an increase of 31,480 people over 2005 levels. This increase will also impact demand for public safety services.

Level of Service

The City of Alpharetta's public safety service is comprised of two components, fire services and police services. Each service component has an independent standard for level of service delivery.

The level of service standard for fire services is based on maintaining a City-wide ISO rating of 3, an average emergency response time of four (4) minutes, and maintaining the ability to place a minimum of twelve (12) firefighters on the scene of a structure fire within eight (8) minutes of dispatch. To maintain this level of service it is necessary that the Alpharetta Fire Department is not only properly

staffed and equipped but that fire stations are located within five (5) miles of road travel to maintain established coverage within the City.

The level of service standard for police services is based on maintaining a ratio of one (1) officer per 500 residents and a target response time for emergency calls of four minutes from the time of dispatch. Based on this level of service standard and a projected population of 52,370 by the year 2025, it is anticipated that an additional 27 officers will need to be added to the force and properly equipped to meet the additional service demand.

Future Demand Calculation Police Officers						
Officers / Resident	Number of New Residents	Additional Officers Needed				
0.002	13,349	27				

Currently, the Alpharetta Police Department is maintaining an average response time to emergency calls of three (3) minutes, which surpasses the established four (4) minute standard.

The Alpharetta Police Department is a nationally accredited law enforcement agency and has an established goal of maintaining that accredited status.

Planned Capital Projects and Costs

The following table provides insight into the impact fee eligible capital projects that are planned over the next five years.

Public Safety Planned Capital Projects and Costs 2005 – 2010						
Project	Planned Start Year	Estimated End Year	Estimated Cost	Funding Source		
Police Storage Garage	2005	2008	\$ 650,000	Impact Fees		
Fire Station Six (Kimball Bridge Road)	2005	2006	\$ 1,450,000	Impact Fees, Capi- tal Project Fund, Grant Fund		
Fire Trucks	2005	2006	\$ 1,050,000	Impact Fees		

Roads Facilities

Projection of Needs

Between 2005 and 2025, the number of dwelling units in the roads and transportation service area will grow from 15,568 to 21,688; an increase of 6,120 units. This corresponds to an additional 13,349 new residents traveling the City's roads network. Additionally, by the year 2025 approximately 133,000 people will be employed within the geographic bounds of the City of Alpharetta, an increase of 31,480 people over 2005 levels; placing additional demands on the local transportation network.

Level of Service

The City of Alpharetta has established level of service standards for its roads network based on three intersection categories; critical intersections, urban corridor intersections, and isolated intersections. The level of service standards at these intersections is based on a letter-grade system, similar to that found on school report cards, ranging from level "A" (excellent) to level "F" (failing) and is determined based on performance at AM and PM peak travel periods. The established level of service standards for each type of intersection are as follows:

Level of Service Standards Alpharetta Intersections

Based on AM / PM Peak Travel Periods

Location	Target Performance Meas- ure	Acceptable Performance Measure
Critical Intersections	D	Е
Urban Corridor Intersections	С	D
Isolated Intersections	С	С

In order to maintain these levels of service it is necessary to make improvements throughout the city transportation system as growth increases service demand. This means not only enhancing intersections and roads, but also addressing strategies for reducing demand on those components. For instance, by providing improved pedestrian access between residential and retail nodes the City encourages increased pedestrian activity and reduces vehicular traffic.

The City has had considerable success in working with the development community, through the use of impact fee credits, to enhance road the road network. For example, much of North Point Parkway, a key local arterial, was developed by Cousins Properties as part of their North Point Retail development. This strategy will continue to be used to supplement the City's efforts.

Planned Capital Projects and Costs

The following table provides insight into the impact fee eligible capital projects that are planned over the next five years.
Roads Planned Capital Projects and Costs 2005 – 2010

				-
Project	Planned Start Year	Estimated End Year	Estimated Cost	Funding Source
Intersection Im- provement – Northpoint Park- way and North- point Court	2006	2009	\$ 170,000	Impact Fees, Bond Funds
Intersection Im- provement – May- field Road and Canton Street	2006	2009	\$ 210,000	Impact Fees, Bond Funds
Road Improvement – State Route 9 north of Vaughn Drive	2006	2009	\$ 1,000,000	Impact Fees, Bond Funds
Intersection Im- provement – Rucker Road and Harris Road	2006	2008	\$ 500,000	Impact Fees, Bond Funds
Bridge Improve- ment - Kimball Bridge Road	2006	2009	\$ 500,000	Impact Fees, Bond Funds
Road Construction – Westside Park- way Phase III	2006	2009	\$ 7,500,000	Impact Fees, Bond Funds
Road Construction – Downtown Roads	2006	2009	\$ 1,400,000	Impact Fees, Bond Funds
Road Construction – Downtown Alley	2006	2009	\$ 300,000	Impact Fees, Bond Funds
Traffic Signal In- terconnect	2006	2008	\$ 500,000	Impact Fees, Bond Funds

Project	Planned Start Year	Estimated End Year	Estimated Cost	Funding Source
Traffic Control Center	2006	2008	\$ 500,000	Impact Fees, Bond Funds
Shirley Bridge Road Sidewalks	2006	2009	\$ 88,000	Impact Fees, Bond Funds
Bethany Road Sidewalks	2006	2009	\$ 108,000	Impact Fees, Bond Funds
Cogburn Road Sidewalks	2006	2007	\$ 156,000	Impact Fees, Bond Funds
Devore Road Sidewalks	2006	2008	\$ 219,000	Impact Fees, Bond Funds
Mid-Broadwell Sidewalks	2006	2009	\$ 748,000	Impact Fees, Bond Funds
Kimball Bridge Road Sidewalks	2006	2009	\$ 200,000	Impact Fees, Bond Funds
Greenway Connec- tion Sidewalks	2005	2007	\$ 481,000	Impact Fees, Bond Funds

City Of Alpharetta Annual Impact Fee Financial Report Fiscal Year 2004

		Parks &		Roads		Public Safety		Total
EV 2003 Revenue	г 4	Kecreation 41 ARD 78	¥	500 807 20	¥	127 447 02	v	760 135 00
	÷		÷	01.000.10	÷	7 7 7 7 7	•	00,000,000
FY 2003 Interest Earned	ઝ	1,792.66	S	25,288.78	S	5,455.21	\$	32,536.65
FY 2003 Administrative Expenses	\$	1,256.42	\$	17,724.22	\$	3,823.41	\$	22,804.05
FY 2003 Encumbered	\$	I	\$	-	\$	-	\$	ı
FY 2003 Capital Expense	ഗ	ı	ഗ	•	မ	1	θ	•
FY 2003 Transfers to Debt Service	မ		ഗ	550,000.00	မ	550,000.00	θ	1,100,000.00
Ending FY 2003 Fund Balance	\$	72,612.37	S	630,729.49	θ	185,822.67	Ś	889,164.53
FY 2004 Revenue	θ	65,098.12	မ	301,606.43	φ	58,485.57	\$	425,190.12
FY 2004 Interest Earned	Υ	576.19	φ	2,669.56	ω	517.66	6 9	3,763.41
FY 2004 Administrative Expenses	မ	1,952.94	ഗ	9,048.19	မ	1,754.57	φ	12,755.70
FY 2004 Encumbered	မ	•	ഗ	•	မ	•	φ	•
FY 2004 Capital Expense	θ	ı	ക	ı	မ	I	φ	•
FY 2004 Transfers to Debt Service	ഗ	55,000.00	ഗ	565,000.00	မ	165,000.00	θ	785,000.00
Ending FY 2004 Fund Balance	બ્ર	81,333.74	\$	360,957.29	\$	78,071.33	θ	520,362.36
FY 2005 Revenue		\$109,678.87		\$918,819.97		\$284,496.92		\$1,312,995.76
FY 2005 Interest Earn		\$1,395.63		\$11,691.69		\$3,620.13		\$16,707.45
FY 2005 Admin Exp.		\$3,290.37		\$27,564.60		\$8,534.91		\$39,389.87
FY 2005 Transfers DS		\$70,000.00		\$270,000.00		\$60,000.00		\$400,000.00
Ending FY 05 F.B.		\$118,952.24		\$993,136.98		\$297,504.67		\$1,409,593.89

City Of Alpharetta	Capital Improvement Projects Update	FY 2004
--------------------	-------------------------------------	---------

Project Description	Project Start Date	Project End Date	Estimated Cost of Project	Percentage of Funding from Impact Fees *	Other Funding Sources	Expenditures For FY 2005	Impact Fees Encumbered Through FY 2005 *	Status/Remarks
Series 2005 Bonds								
Greenways								
Downtown Road Greenways	2005	2008	\$ 300,000			\$ 29,174	- \$	
Northern Greenway Extension	2005	2008	\$ 2,000,000			\$ 795	- \$	
Roads, Traffic, Intersection Improvements, Right of Way			- \$					
Northpoint Parkway & Northpoint Court	2006	2009	\$ 170,000		1998 Bond Fund	- \$	- \$	
Mayfield @ Canton	2006	2009	\$ 210,000			- \$	- \$	
Old Milton & Haynes Bridge	2006	2009	\$ 800,000			•	- \$	
State Route 9 North of Vaughn	2006	2009	\$ 1,000,000			•		
Rucker & Harris Road	2006	2008	\$ 500,000			- \$		
Kimball Bridge Road Bridge	2006	2009	\$ 500,000			- \$		
Westside Parkway Phase III	2006	2009	\$ 7,500,000		1998 Bond Fund	\$ 61,416		
Downtown Road Constructions	2006	2009	\$ 1,400,000			\$ 29,174		
Downtown Road Alley	2006	2009	\$ 300,000			•		
Traffic Signal Interconnect	2006	2008	\$ 500,000			- \$		
Traffic Control Center	2006	2008	\$ 500,000			- \$		
Shirley Bridge Road Sidewalks	2006	2009	\$ 88,000			- \$		
Bethany Road Sidewalks	2006	2009	\$ 108,000			- \$		
Cogburn Road Sidewalks	2005	2007	\$ 156,000			\$ 10,959		
Devore Road Sidewalks	2006	2008	\$ 219,000			•		
Mid-Broadwell Sidewalks	2006	2009	\$ 748,000			- \$		
Kimball Bridge Road Sidewalks	2006	2009	\$ 200,000			- \$		
Greenway Connection Sidewalks	2005	2007	\$ 481,000			\$ 22,650		
Public Safety			- \$					
Police Storage Garage	2005	2008	\$ 650,000		N/A	\$ 9,538		
Fire Station Six	2005	2006	\$ 1,450,000		Capital Project Fund Capital Grant Fund	\$ 583,460		
Fire Trucks	2005	2006	\$ 1,050,000		N/A	\$ 856,176		
Parks and Land			-					
Cogburn Road Park	2005	2007	\$ 400,000		Capital Project Fund	\$ 23,427		

	Capital Improvement Projects Update	FY 2004
--	-------------------------------------	---------

Project Description	Project Start Date	Project End Date	Estimated Cost of Project	Percentage of Funding from Impact Fees *	Other Funding Sources	Expenditures For FY 2005	Impact Fees Encumbered Through FY 2005 *	Status/Remarks
Webb Bridge Park Extension	2006	2009	\$ 700,000			- \$		
Park Land Acquisition	2005	2006	\$ 3,800,000			\$ 1,089,750		
Series 1998 and Series 1995 Bonds								
Recreational Facilities								
Environmental Center	2005	2007	\$ 897,144		Capital Project Fund	\$ 31,432	•	
Webb Bridge Park	1999	Complete	\$ 2,452,020		N/A	- \$	- \$	
North Park	1999	Ongoing	\$ 1,963,278		Capital Project Fund	\$ 12,294	•	
Greenway System	1999	Complete	\$ 3,449,016		Capital Project Fund	- \$	- \$	
Community Center	1999	Complete	\$ 1,632,719		N/A	۰ \$	- \$	
Wills Park	1999	Complete	\$ 2,852,572		Capital Project Fund	۔ ج	•	
Pedestrian Walkways	1999	Complete	\$ 507,747		N/A	•	۰ \$	
Street and Road Improvements								
Mayfield @ Canton	1999	Complete	\$ 41,795		N/A	- \$	- \$	
Windward Parkway @ Georgia 400	1999	Complete	\$ 952,633		N/A	۔ \$	- \$	
Roswell Road/Devore Road/Maxwell Road	1999	Complete	\$ 25,270		N/A	- \$	- \$	
Westside Parkway	2001	Complete	\$ 6,252,767		Capital Project Fund	\$ 1,883,190	•	
Windward Parkway & McGinnis Ferry	2002	Complete	\$ 326,270		N/A	\$ 254,480	۰ \$	
Wills Rd. & Mid-Broadwell	2002	Complete	\$ 53,280		N/A	۔ \$	- \$	
Kimball Bridge & Waters Rd.	2003	Complete	\$ 28,590		N/A	\$ 147	- \$	
Windward Parkway Optimcom System	2003	Complete	\$ 4,745		N/A	۔ \$	- \$	
Windward Parkway & Northpoint Parkway	2003	Complete	\$ 120,000		N/A	\$ 49,536	- \$	
Windward Parkway & Edison Drive	2003	Complete	\$ 40,000		N/A	\$ 6,935	- \$	
Traffic Signal Heads	2003	Complete	\$ 5,000		N/A	- \$	- \$	
Kimball Bridge & Northpoint Parkway	2003	Complete	\$ 17,900		N/A	۔ \$	- \$	
Rucker Road & Harris Road	2003	Complete	\$ 17,500		N/A	\$ 7,119	- \$	
Center Bridge & Northpoint Center	2003	Complete	\$ 40,000		N/A	•	-	
Northpoint Court & Northpoint Parkway	2003	Ongoing	\$ 162,000		N/A	\$ 30,465	.	
Old Milton & Northpoint Parkway	2003	Ongoing	\$ 5,000		N/A	•	-	
Bridge Repair	2004	Ongoing	\$ 89,000		Capital Project Fund	\$ 4,843	÷	
State Route 9 & Norcross Street	2004	Ongoing	\$ 5,000		N/A	φ.	-	

Capital Improvement Projects Update FY 2004	
--	--

Project Description	Project Start Date	Project End Date	Estimated Cost of Project	Percentage of Funding from Imnact Fees *	Other Funding Sources	Expenditures For FY 2005	Impact Fees Encumbered Throuch FY 2005 *	Status/Remarks
State Route 9 & Windward Parkway	2004	Ongoing	\$ 92,468	5	N/A	' ډ	- \$	
Traffic Signal Loops	2004	Ongoing	\$ 75,000		Capital Project Fund	\$ 28,451	۰ ج	
Traffic Signal/Sign Replacement	2004	Ongoing	\$ 284,818		City Capital Project Fund	\$ 173,387	-	
Windward Parkway Milling & Resurfacing	2004	Complete	\$ 81,000		Capital Project Fund	\$ 81,000	-	
Handicapped Ramp Improvements	2003	Ongoing	\$ 20,000		N/A	\$ 209	•	
Webb Bridge & Shirley Bridge	2005	Ongoing	\$ 200,000		N/A	۔ ج	۔ ج	
Police Headquarters	1999	Complete	\$ 4,643,830		Capital Project Fund	' ب	۰ ج	
Crabapple Center	1999	Complete	\$ 1,031,200		Y/N	\$	- \$	
							۰ ج	
Series 1992 Bond								
Streets and Roads	not available	Complete	\$ 17,435,000		Y/N			
Roswell Street/Canton Street	not available	Complete	\$ 76,997		Y/N	•	-	
Fire Stations	not available	Complete	\$ 1,565,000		Y/N	• \$	-	
Series 1987 Bond:								
Fire Department Facilities and Two Trucks	not available	Complete	\$ 795,000		Y/N	\$	- \$	
Police Department Headquarters and Jail	not available	Complete	\$ 700,000		Y/N	۔ ج	-	
52 Acre Park and Construction (Including Swimming Pool)	not available	Complete	\$ 1,180,000		Y/N	•	-	
Public Works Building/Vehicles/Equipment	not available	Complete	\$ 285,000		Y/N	•	- \$	
Street and Sidewalk Improvements	not available	Complete	\$ 225,000		Y/N	•	- \$	
Water System Extensions and Improvements	not available	Complete	\$ 315,000		N/A	•	•	
* Impact fees are used for debt service payments on general obligation bonds sold to finance	nts on genera	I obligation bond	is sold to finance	ce the above capital projects	pital projects.			

Appendix E

City Of Alpharetta Short-Term Work Program

		Community Facilities		
Activity	Years	Responsible Party	Cost Estimate	Funding Source
To enhance ease of public access to government, consolidate most City offices to City-owned property in the Downtown Area as part of the overall mixed-use development of the site. See related item under the Economic Development component.	2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010	Community Develoment Department, Private Sector	\$6.5 million	Public / Private partnership
To streamline operations, reduce public expense, and eliminate duplication of services sell or turnover remaining City water utility operations to Fulton County.	2006	Public Works Department, Finance Department	N/A	N/A
Completely privatize the solid waste collection program via franchise agreement	2006	Finance Department	N/A	N/A
Expand the Community Policing Program to continue meeting the City's level of service of 2.6 sworn officers per 1,000 residents	2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010	Police Department	\$200,000	Federal grants, City of Alpharetta
Construct a new fire station on Kimball Bridge Road	2006	Fire Department	\$2.3 million	Impact Fees, City of Alpharetta
Continue expansion of the City's Greenway Program	2006, 2007, 2008, 2009	Recreation and Parks Department	\$5 million	Impact Fees, City of Alpharetta
Develop the Encore Center for the Arts to include a 12,000 seat amphitheater, a 2,000 seat multi-use performance hall, and a 500 seat black box theater	2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010	Community Development Department, 501(c)(3) organization	\$70 million	City of Alpharetta, Fulton County, Private donations, Amphitheater revenues
Enhance landscaping and facilities at Wills Park	2006	Recreation and Parks Department, 501(c)(3) organization	\$2 million	City of Alpharetta
Develop an adaptive use playground for special needs consumers	2006	Recreation and Parks Department, 501(c)(3) organization	\$85,000	City of Alpharetta, private donations, grants
Continue implementation of the Solid Waste Management Plan to further reduce the volume of the solid waste stream	2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010	Public Works Department, Community Development Department	N/A	N/A
Conduct a needs assessment of government service facilities	2006	Community Development Department	N/A	N/A

		Economic Development		
Activity	Years	Responsible Party	Cost Estimate	Funding Source
Develop an entrepreneurial assistance guide	2006	Community Development Department	\$2,000	City of Alpharetta
Through regular public meetings, complete annual updates to the Downtown Development Plan to ensure consistency of the plan with community needs and goals	2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010	Community Development Department	\$1,000	City of Alpharetta
Leverage City-owned property in the Downtown core to advance the adopted Downtown Plan through development of a mixed-use complex that features expanded City offices, public greenspace, and private retail, office, and residential uses	2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010	Community Development Department, private sector	\$70 million	Public / private partnership
On an annual basis, update the City's economic development action plan to ensure consistency with overall community objectives and needs	2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010	Community Development Department, Alpharetta Development Authority	N/A	N/A
Study potential need for local development incentives to entice the location and growth of targeted corporate clientel and business clusters	2006	Community Development Department, Alpharetta Development Authority	N/A	N/A
Create and coordinate a technology forum to encourage an environment of innovation, build linkages between technology companies with a presence in the community, and attract new technology firms	2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010	Community Development Department, Greater North Fulton Chamber of Commerce, private sector	\$7,000 annually	Participants, private donations
Work with MARTA, the Clean Air Campaign and other partners to encourage the use of public transportation, carpools, and alternative commute options to reduce traffic congestion	2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010	Community Development Department	N/A	N/A
Pursue the establishment of a Tax Allocation district (TAD) to encourage and support development within Downtown Alpharetta that is consistent with the Downtown Development Plan and the Downtown Incentive Zoning Package	2006	Community Development Department, private sector	\$40,000	City of Alpharetta, private sector partners

		Housing		
Activity	Years	Responsible Party	Cost Estimate	Funding Source
Encourage development, through a public / private venture, for the incorporation of housing in the Downtown Area	2006, 2007	Community Development Department	N/A	N/A
Encourage development of housing opportunities for seniors that accomodates the needs of the aging population.	2006, 2007	Community Development Department	N/A	N/A

Land Use						
Activity	Years	Responsible Party	Cost Estimate	Funding Source		
Continue application of the Cost of Government Services Land Use Model to forecast fiscal impacts of land use decisions within the City	2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010	Community Development Department	N/A	N/A		
Continue integration of the City's land use and transportation plans	2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010	Community Development Department, Engineering / Public Works Department	N/A	N/A		
Pursue annexation of unincorporated islands that currently exist within the main boundaries of the City of Alpharetta and between the boundaries of the Cities of Alpharetta and Roswell, to which we currently provide services	2006	Community Development Department, Finance Department, Engineering / Public Works Department	N/A	N/A		
Create a phased annexation plan that ensures surrounding unincorporated areas will be developed and/or maintained in a manner consistent with City land use policy and supportive of the health, welfare and quality of life of Alpharetta residents	2006	Community Development Department	N/A	N/A		

Natural And Historic Resources Cost Activity Years **Responsible Party Funding Source** Estimate 2006, 2007 \$900,000 Construct and establish an environmental Engineering / Public Works Department Bond Proceeds education park Community Development Department Promote environmental awareness among 2006, 2007, Engineering / Public Works Department \$8,000 City of Alpharetta 2008, 2009, the general public and the development community through educational programs 2010 Enhance the City of Alpharetta 2006, 2007, Engineering / Public Works Department \$100,000 City of Alpharetta Environmental and Stormwater Ordinance to 2008, 2009, meet or exceed State standards 2010 Continue administration of the Gatekeeper Complete Community Development Department, N/A City of Alpharetta Program to preserve the existing tree canopy Engineering / Public Works Department Conduct a tree survey within the Downtown 2006 Community Development Department, City of Alpharetta, forestry grant \$20,000 Engineering / Public Works Department Area to identify and help preserve healthy specimen trees and promote the overall tree canopy Study applicability of incentives such as the 2006 Engineering / Public Works Department, N/A N/A transfer of development rights or tax Community Development Department abatements to encourage preservation of greenspace Develop a Downtown Incentive Zoning Complete Community Development Department N/A N/A Package to encourage development within the identified Downtown Plan Area so as to encourgae mixed-use development and promote a pedestrian oriented environment within the context of appropriate, historically sensitive architectural themes

		Other Considerations		
Activity	Years	Responsible Party	Cost Estimate	Funding Source
To enhance public safety and improve traffic movement through the City, install red light cameras at "high incident" intersections	2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010	Police Department	\$300,000	City of Alpharetta, grant funds

General Planning						
Activity	Years	Responsible Party	Cost Estimate	Funding Source		
Construct Phase II, Section 3 of Westside Parkway	2006, 2007	Engineering / Public Works Department	\$2.7 million	Bond proceeds		
Continue development of the Joint Traffic Control Center in partnership with the City of Roswell	2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010	Engineering / Public Works Department	\$5 million	City of Alpharetta, City of Roswell, grant funds		
Update and expand the computerized system for maintaining land development records, building permits, and engineering plans	2006	Technology Services Department, Engineering / Public Works Department, Community Development Department	\$25,000	City of Alpharetta		
Work with MARTA to acquire 9 acres of land along Georgia 400 for future public transit purposes	2006, 2007, 2008	Community Development Department, MARTA, North Fulton CID	\$1.8 million	Joint		
Revise the Capital Improvements Plan annually as part of the budget process	2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010	Finance Department	N/A	N/A		

Appendix F

City Of Alpharetta Annual Report Of Accomplishments

Community Facilities					
Activity	Status	Explanation			
Develop a Downtown Incentive Zoning Package to encourage development within the identified Downtown Plan Area that encourages mixed-use development with an emphasis on increasing residential options, and promotes a pedestrian oriented environment within the context of appropriate, historically sensitive architectural themes	Complete	N/A			
Build a fire station at Windward Parkway and Highway 9	Posponed	Growth and development in the area have made construction of a fire station on Kimball Bridge Road a higher priority in order to maintain appropriate levels of service			
Continuie to improve training and responsiveness of the Fire Department	Completed	N/A			
Study ways to better apply new technologies to improve delivery of City services	Completed	N/A			
Become a "storm ready" city	Underway	N/A			
Enhance landscaping, tennis courts, facilities, and parking at Wills Park	Underway	Landscaping and parking projects still in process			
Construct picnic area, maintenance facility, and indoor recreation facility at Webb Bridge Park	Completed	N/A			
Continue to purchase acreage to maintain the City's 9.5 acres / 1,000 residents ratio	Postponed	This project has been postponed while additional community input as to parks offerings can be gathered and assessed			
Perform a study to determine application of water service to areas shown on the annexation map	Not Accomplished	The study has been abandoned as the City relinquishes all water / sewer infrastructure and service to Fulton County			
Develop a maintenance plan for City streets, including the identification of substandard roads	Completed	N/A			

		Economic Development
Activity	Status	Explanation
Via public input, create and adopt a new Downtown Development Plan that meets the standards of the Atlanta Regional Commission's Livable Centers Initiative	Complete	N/A
Continue to place emphasis on enforcement of appropriate signage, landscaping and buffering controls	Underway	N/A
Identify and create an image or theme for selected areas of the City	Underway	N/A

Land Use					
Activity	Status	Explanation			
Develop a Downtown Incentive Zoning Package to encourage development within the identified Downtown Plan Area that encourages mixed use development and promotes a pedestrian oriented environment within the context of appropriate, historically sensitive architectural themes.	Complete	N/A			
Continue policies that interrelate land use and capital improvements planning.	Underway	N/A			
Through annexation, provide sufficient land area within the City to accommodate appropriate residential and non-residential development.	Underway	N/A			

Natural And Historic Resources				
Activity	Status	Explanation		
Continue the City's Operation Greenspace Program	Complete	N/A		
Restore the historic farm silos in the Crabapple area as a feature element in a new public park	Complete	N/A		
Identify any land uses that pose a threat to valuable natural resources	Underway	N/A		

General Planning					
Activity	Status	Explanation			
Establish a complaint tracking and management software program	Not Accomplished	The pilot program for implementation of the software-based system resulted in a finding that the system was not as effective as existing methodologies.			
Work with Fulton County to identify growth areas and future school sites.	Completed	N/A			
Implement the Comprehensive Plan to provide an aesthetically pleasing, pedestrian friendly and responsible environment	Underway	N/A			
Update and expand the computerized system for maintaining land development records, building permits, and engineering drawings as data becomes available	Underway	N/A			
Revise the Capital Improvements Plan annually as part of the budget process	Underway	N/A			

Appendix G

City Of Alpharetta Solid Waste Management Plan

City of Alpharetta, Georgia

Solid Waste Management Plan

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Purpose Introduction Minimum Planning Standard Elements 1. Waste disposal stream analysis

- 1. waste disposal stream anal
- 2. Waste reduction
- 3. Collection
- 4. Disposal
- 5. Land limitation
- 6. Education and public involvement
- 7. Implementation schedule.

Appendix

Purpose

The Standards and Procedures provided herein are for the implementation of the Georgia Comprehensive Solid Waste Management Act, O.C.G.A. § 12-8-20 *et seq.*, and are intended to provide comprehensive solid waste management planning for the City of Alpharetta. As the Act also established an integral relationship between solid waste planning, reporting, and permitting, the Minimum Standards and Procedures are designed to promote and reinforce the link between solid waste plans, the Solid Waste Annual Survey and Full -Cost Report, and solid waste grants, loans, and facility permits.

Introduction

Located 28 miles north of downtown Atlanta, the City of Alpharetta has been one of the fastestgrowing cities in the fastest-growing area of the Atlanta Region—the northern arc. Growth in the northern portion of the Region will continue to outpace the Region as a whole, and Alpharetta will share in this continued pace of development, but at a relatively slower pace as more growth in the Region shifts to the rural northern counties. The city's population increase to 1990 exceeded four times the 1980 population, adding some 10,000 residents. During the decade of the 1990s, the pace of growth dropped to about 2.7 times the 1990 population, but another 22,000 people became city residents (more than twice the number during the 1980s). At the same time, the number of households increased at an even greater rate of growth reflecting the population increase combined with smaller household sizes. Population and housing growth to 2000 has continued the high rate of increase established during the 1980s, but at a slightly lower pace.

Table 1 shows the projected population forecasts thru the year 2030. As noted, a gradual slowing in population growth is expected, reflecting both a regional shift further north and, more importantly, less land left for development in the city. The forecast anticipates an additional 7,600 residents by 2015, with 5,700 new residents added between 2015 and 2025. Since 1997, on average, building construction has been on the decrease.

	2000	2005	2010	2015	2020	2025	2030
Total Population	34,854	39,021	42,360	46,623	50,552	52,370	54,164

Number of Households 1	13,911	15,568	17,286	19,154	20,943	21,688	22,424
Household Size 2	2.51	2.51	2.45	2.43	2.41	2.42	2.42

Source: City of Alpharetta

Forecasts based on 2000 - 2030 marginal increases.

(1) Waste disposal stream analysis

Alpharetta has a 2005 resident population of 39,021; however the daytime population increases to over 100,000 people due to the large commercial component. Residential customers have increased from 9,449 in 2003 to 9,775 in 2005. The number of commercial customers almost doubled from 469 to 894 within the same time frame. Population dynamics were very different in 1991 when the employment population numbered approximately 15,215 and the residential population 13,002.

The methodology developed in the 1993 Solid Waste Management Plan used the resident and employment population to determine the waste generation rate per person (per generator source), and this plan uses the same method. The calculated tons per generator source per year (tgs/y) were 0.63 in 1993. With a projected 2005 business population of 101,619 and a residential population of 39,021, dynamics have clearly changed. Recalculation of the waste generation rate based upon the 2004 data has resulted in a reduction from 0.63 to 0.30 tgs/y. This change is reflected in the information that follows. The 2004 year was selected to generate the tgs/y because it is most representative of current conditions. Averaging with year 2003 was not performed because the data is incomplete for that year and would not result in reliable comparisons.

Residential and Commercial	2004 (tons)
Waste Landfilled	31,827
Recycled	9,808
Special recycling collections	101
Roswell Recycling Center	368
Total Waste Generated	42,104

Table 1-1 Total Actual Waste Generated

Source: City of Alpharetta Waste Hauler Information reports, Engineering/Public Works Department, and the September 2004 Roswell and Alpharetta Recycling Programs Assessment Report.

The methodology used to determine a 2004 total waste generation rate is based on known determinants of tons of waste generated annually from all sources in Alpharetta. The formulae used are as follows:

Annual tons generated (tons landfilled + tons recycled) Number of generator sources (population + employment)	=	tons per generator source per year (tgs/y)
Tgs/y x future year number of generator sources (Population + employment)	=	projected waste generated
Therefore: <u>42,104</u> = 0.299 = 0.30 tgs/y 140,640		

A reduction in the tgs/y by 50 percent is a very significant change because although the number of waste generators has increased sharply over the last few years, people are actually generating less waste on the average. We believe that the change in the employment/residential ratio has been a significant contributing factor.

There is no accurate source available for the number of people who live and also work in Alpharetta and thus overlap in the population and the employment numbers. An aggressive approach is to assume that all persons living in the city are not the same persons working in the city. This will maximize the waste generation factors. This methodology also assumes that the same conditions with waste generation and recycling that exist today will also exist in the year 2015.

The breakdown of the number of Alpharetta customers is tabulated in Table 1-2. A description of waste services offered by the city is discussed in another section of this plan. The current and projected employment data is located in the Appendix.

		FY 03	FY 04	FY 05
Residen	tial			
Browning Ferris Industries	Browning Ferris Industries		9798	9775
Number of residential customers				
Commer	cial			
Browning Ferris Industries	Commercial	157	151	163
	City Offices	20	18	19
Advanced Disposal Services		9	17	17
G & G Sanitation Systems		33	32	32
United Waste Service Inc		0	72	74
Waste Management		223	463	589
C & C Disposal		27	0	0
Number of Commercial customers		469	753	894

Table 1-2 Number of Customers

Source: City of Alpharetta Engineering/ Public Works Department

Supplemental information showing the breakdown of the actual tons of waste generated is provided in Table 1-3.

TABLE 1-3 Actual Waste Generated in Tons

	FY 02	FY 03	FY 04****	FY 05**
				1st qtr.
Landfilled	32888	34303	31827	9597
Recycled	7660	5019	6479	2194
Yard Waste	1,346	1714*	3329	2021
Special Recycling Collections			101	

Total tons collected	41,894	41,036****	41,736	13,812
Roswell Recycle Center				
Contributions***	unknown	368	368	
% recycled including items from RRC		17%	25%	31%
Total tons collected	41,894	41,404****	42,104	13,812

Source: Quarterly waste reports

* Figure represents from July-Dec 03 Other figures are unavailable.

** 1st quarter only.

***Roswell and Alpharetta Recycling Programs Assessment Report. R.W.Beck, September 2004.

This report determined that 15% of customer visits to the Roswell Recycle Center (RRC) were Alpharetta residents. Tonnage figure was derived from a calculation of 15% of the total recyclable volume received at the RRC in 2003 and estimated totals for 2004 [2,453 tons x 15% = 368 tons]

****Partial total. Complete figures for the disposal of yard waste is unavailable

***** Actual numbers from city Finance Department

Table 1-4 shows the waste reduction opportunities for the business sector. Alpharetta does require businesses to recycle however businesses are a difficult sector to practically track and we do not have complete collection figures. Most commercial haulers are required to report their solid waste and recycling collection to the city, however there are commercial vendors that collect recyclables only and they are not currently required to register and report to the city. We have identified this reporting requirement as a strategic goal for the future.

Business Category & Number of Employees	Most common disposed commodity	Other items included in waste stream
Retail (11,648)	Paper (office, corrugated cardboard, chipboard, junk mail, packing, cups.	Food waste, plastics, foam- Styrofoam, pipe.
Services (72,698)	All types of paper	Plastic, fabric, organic matter food waste.
Wholesale (7,843)	All types of paper	Plastics, fiberglass, cans, wood, Styrofoam
Other (9,430)	All types of paper	Plastic, metal, wood.

Table 1-4 Commercial Recycling Profile

Sources: US Bureau of Transportation Statistics, US Census Bureau. Forecasts based on 2000-2025 marginal increases. City of Alpharetta 1993 Solid Waste Management Plan

Further examination of the business profile shows that a majority of people who work in Alpharetta are involved in the service industry. Paper products (including cardboard) are the most commonly recycled item from commercial properties whereas the content of residential solid waste generates a larger variety of items. This population ratio impacts the waste stream character.

The waste stream characterization anticipated with this increase in commercial uses is illustrated in Table 1-5 and is based upon the last available published information for the Atlanta Regional Commission. An assumption is made that Alpharetta's waste stream is similar to that of the Atlanta Regional Commission. Applying these percentages to the total waste generated yields a potential waste stream characterization to the year 2015. It must be noted that as the city grows, changes in the business mix and environmental education of people may greatly affect this characterization and the waste volumes generated.

Waste Stream Characterization	'90/'91	2005	2010	2015
Total tons disposed	14,716	42,104	45,689	49,238

Yardwaste 26.2%	2, 532	7,242	11,970	12,900
Plastics 16.8%	1,177	3,368	7,675	8,272
Metals 5.6%	1,387	3,958	2,559	2,757
Glass 3.8%	1,324	3,789	1,736	1,871
Paper 40.0%	5,592	16,000	18,276	19,695
C & D 5.5%	na	1,432	2,513	2,710
Inorganics 3.2%	na	3,074	1,462	1,576

Source: Georgia DCA, 2005.

There are two recycling centers in North Fulton that accept items from the public. We are currently unable to track the specific volume of recyclables from Alpharetta that are processed by these two recycling centers. Survey information was recently collected for the Roswell and Alpharetta Recycling Programs Assessment Report. This report revealed that 15% of the users of the Roswell Recycle Center are Alpharetta residents. This report is still under review by the city but we are able to include 368 tons of recyclables in both 2003 and 2004 from the Roswell Recycle Center based upon this analysis. We would like to collect more specific information with the owners/operators of both facilities; however we have not identified an economically viable method of accomplishing this goal.

Table 1-6 shows the annual projected waste amounts to the year 2020 and the anticipated reduction volume needed to meet the 25% reduction goal.

Table 1-0 Solid Waste Allidar Projection Allounts							
YEAR	TOTAL GENERATOR (Population + Employment)	TOTAL WASTE GENERATED (TONS)	TOTAL WASTE REDUCTION (TONS) 25% reduction assumed	TOTAL WASTE DISPOSED (TONS)			
2004	140,620*	42,104	10,526	31,579			
2005	140,620	42,104	10,526	31,579			
2010	152,297	45,689	11,422	34,267			
2015	164,127	49,238	12,310	36,928			
2020	175,903	52,771	13,193	39,579			

Table 1-6 Solid Waste Annual Projection Amounts

* Used 2005 total generator figure because we have. First quarter figures indicate that the recycling rate may be higher than calculated in 2004. The 2004 amounts were assumed for the 2005 year as a conservative estimate. Note: The projected annual waste amounts are represented using tgs/y of 0.30, the calculated as shown.

The breakdown of materials shown in Table 1-7 is included in Table 1-1 totals.

Table 1-7 Special Recycling Events

Events	Number	Pounds of Materials Collected
2004	of	
	Events	
Computer and Electronics	2	100,000
Recycling Collection		
Christmas Tree – Bring One for	1	60,000
the Chipper		
Cell Phones	Ongoing	100
Pesticide collection		41,925
TOTAL		202,025 pounds or 101 tons

The computer and electronics recycling collection and Pesticide collection reflect amounts collected from Alpharetta and areas outside of the City limits.

(2) Waste reduction

As a strategy for managing commercial waste, the City of Alpharetta requires that all new commercial developments include a waste generation analysis (WGA) on their civil plans which demonstrates a 25% minimum solid waste reduction. The construction plans must demonstrate that there is a dedicated location for recycling which is large enough to accommodate the recyclables as calculated in the WGA. Prior to obtaining an annual business license, applicants must sign an affidavit stating that they are aware of the city's commercial recycling requirement and that they are in compliance. Commercial sites are audited on a random basis for compliance. City businesses may choose any of the permitted companies to provide their services with varying fees charged based on the company providing the service. Different landfills may also be used.

Alpharetta implements a residential "Pay-As-You-Throw" fee structure as a financial incentive for source reduction of solid waste. Pay-As-You-Throw directly supports waste prevention and recycling. Because residents pay for whatever they throw out, they tend to work harder to reduce, reuse and recycle. A staged pricing system is in place where customers may use one of two sizes of collection carts. Recycle containers are provided. Customers may recycle as many of the accepted items as they want to for no additional cost. Should the customer wish to dispose of more garbage than will fit into their waste receptacle, they may use bag tags for those items. Bag tags can be purchased through the city and make this a convenient option when needed. Collection is provided once weekly.

Alpharetta accepts an extensive list of recyclable items in its curbside collection program. These include most containers, foil, residential mixed paper and yard waste. Curbside collection service is provided once weekly. Curbside pick up of additional bulky items that cannot be collected through the normal service can be arranged for a fee by contacting customer service.

The curbside collection of yardwaste began January 2, 1993. Items collected as part of this service include grass, leaves, pine straw/cones, and garden debris, thatch, and tree limbs. Christmas trees were collected as a part of this curbside service until 2003. The Engineering/Public Works Department conducts a Christmas tree recycling collection as part of the Keep Georgia Beautiful "Bring One for the Chipper" program. An average of 3,000 trees has been collected annually for recycling over the last three years.

Alpharetta requires that all yard waste be containerized with the exception of limbs. Yard waste pick-up is limited to five containers from any residential unit. Tree limbs can be no longer than 3 feet in length and no larger than 6 inches in diameter, and must be stacked at the curb. The collection of yard waste has been administered through contract with private vendors. Beginning April 1, 2005, these services will be provided by BFI. BFI is the current waste company serving the city's residential population. The program will continue to collect yard waste in the same manner with ultimate disposal at the Chadwick Landfill and in accordance with current requirements. No yard waste will be disposed at a municipal landfill.

Alpharetta's curbside recycling program has been very successful. Additional recyclables can be brought to two area recycle centers that are located nearby. The Roswell Recycle Center is located between the cities of Alpharetta and Roswell at 11570 Maxwell Road in Alpharetta. The R. V. Dick Schmalz Recycling Center is located at 470 Morgan Falls Road in Sandy Springs. Although neither recycling center is located within the city limits, both accept recyclable items from Alpharetta citizens as well as surrounding Metro-Atlanta suburban areas.

Alpharetta and the City of Roswell received a grant from the Georgia Environmental Facilities Authority (GEFA) in 2004 to conduct a facilities assessment. The purpose of this study was to examine the recycling programs for both cities and to address efficiency measures, identify users of the Roswell Recycle Center and to make recommendations regarding both programs and partnership options. The results of that study are in progress. Alpharetta citizens comprise about 15% of the users of the Roswell Recycle facility according to a recent survey conducted as part of a facilities assessment report.

Items collected at the Roswell Recycling Center include: #1 and #2 plastics, plastic bags, foam loose-fill, glass containers, aluminum and steel cans, milk cartons/drink boxes, all types of paper (including cardboard, books, mail, magazines etc.), all types of scrap metal including appliances, car tires and batteries, oil and antifreeze, cell phones, and toner cartridges. A Goodwill trailer is located onsite to collect donated items for reuse in the community. Items collected at the R. V. Dick Schmalz Recycling Center include #1 and #2 plastics, all types of paper, steel, iron, aluminum, glass, cell phones and mercury thermometers. A Goodwill trailer is located onsite to collect donated items for reuse in the community. Other privately operated programs exist in addition to the city sponsored collections include the following. Cell phone recycling programs have been encouraged through school programs. An undetermined number of schools conduct ongoing programs as well as Earth Day and America Recycles Day collections. Harry's Farmers Market and several local grocers also provide collection containers for cell phones, printer cartridges and plastic grocery bags. Office retail stores such as Staples and Best Buy have conducted recycling collections for cell phones, PDAs, pagers, ink jet and toner cartridges, rechargeable batteries, mercury thermometers and various computer equipment. The Alpharetta branch library accepts used books for re-sale at their book fairs. There is no current program for tracking these activities.

Outdated and unusable computer and electronic equipment are an increasing concern. These items contain toxic chemicals that can be reclaimed and reused rather than disposal in a landfill. Alpharetta participated in our first computer and electronics recycling collection in 2003 with HP and Best Buy. Since then, two more collections have been conducted. These collections are offered to all of North Fulton residents and are made possible through partnerships. The last two collections have collected approximately 50,000 pounds of equipment for each collection.

Household hazardous waste is a common problem throughout Georgia. Educational outreach in this area is essential. Current resources exist and are used by city staff. Additional public outreach avenues need to be established. Creation of a website for environmental education within the Engineering/Public Works Department can accomplish part of this goal. Alpharetta's Engineering/Public Works Department implemented a cell phone recycling collection beginning in November of 2004. Area Starbucks Coffee stores are assisting with this program as drop off sites.

Alpharetta is pleased with the Pay-As-You-Throw program and its direct impact as a recycling incentive. Evaluation of the services provided is currently in progress since the current contract with our waste hauler will end within a year. Feedback from the customers served will be considered in this process and when determining modifications. Waste reduction is directly linked to community education and incentives. An informed population can better participate in waste reduction. Education has been and will continue to be one of the most important components of waste management in Alpharetta.

The City of Alpharetta will continue to provide quality and cost effective service to Alpharetta customers; and to continually evaluate our solid waste service and identify areas where beneficial changes can be made. We will continue to identify obstacles for commercial and residential customers toward recycling and assist them by developing informational materials that identify solutions.

(3) Collection

Alpharetta has not directly provided garbage service since 1982, but does contract this service out. The city has no plans to change this policy and will continue to contract with a private

vendor for residential services. The business sector contracts directly with a waste hauler from the city's approved vendor list. The city will continue to exercise due diligence in obtaining contracts which satisfy the economic considerations of citizens while assuring maximum service options in garbage pickup and curbside recycling. This service is managed by the city Finance Department. Currently the contracted vendor is BFI. BFI collects trash weekly from 9.775 residential customers. Businesses are served by six waste haulers licensed through the city for their garbage service. Copies of the existing contract and service agreements are included in the Appendix.

Alpharetta offers a curbside recycling program which accepts glass, 1 and 2 plastics, newspapers, cardboard and aluminum. BFI provides this service for the city and reports the volumes recycled as well as the volumes land filled. Alpharetta city offices recycle cardboard, plastics, mixed office paper and corrugated cardboard. BFI collects both garbage and recyclables from 18 city office buildings.

BFI maintains a customer service hot line for customer service inquiries. City Finance Department staff is also available to assist customers with issues that might arise with their collection service. Schedules and applicable information are available through the city web site, bill inserts and letter correspondence if necessary.

There are no staffed or un-staffed drop centers for recycling within the city limits. Many items which cannot be accepted curbside can be taken to the Roswell Recycling Center (RRC). RRC accepts batteries, ferrous metals, appliances, phone books and mixed office paper. They also have a manned Goodwill drop-off for items with re-use value.

Alpharetta offers an amnesty bulky trash collection twice a year, as well as numerous special recycling events which are described further in the education and public involvement element.

The city contracts with a private vendor for yard waste services. The yard waste collection services will be provided by BFI beginning in April 2005. The program will continue to collect yard waste in the same manner.

The current collection programs are adequately serving the present and future community needs, and the city is meeting its waste reduction goals. The city will continue to maintain this service level as apart of the contract and bid review process for solid waste services. The city contract is currently renewed on a 7-year cycle; however the city will insure at each contract renewal that the service provider has developed a strategy for providing an effective, and affordable collection system for the ten -year planning period. As part of the bid review process, the city evaluates each provider's ability to provide innovative waste reduction strategies to tour citizens. The future city contractor will also provide a contingency strategy for the interim collection of solid waste in the event the primary collection option becomes interrupted. The contract for city solid waste services will be re-bid in 2006 and will include this requirement. The city is considering a five-year renewal cycle.

Included in the Appendix are letters of assurance from our solid waste vendors for their strategy for the interim collection of solid waste and yard waste in the event of a disruption of normal service. The vendor agrees to assign additional personnel and equipment immediately. The city agrees to work with our vendor is planning and re-scheduling the interrupted routes. The city also agrees to negociate special payment for this work. The collection would begin as soon as safely possible. The city Public Works Department is responsible for maintaining clear and safe rights of way within the city limits at all times, including emergency situations.

(4) Disposal

The Richland Creek Road Landfill, owned and operated by Allied Waste Management receives Alpharetta's municipal solid waste. This landfill has a 164 acre landfill footprint with over 5 million tons of waste in place. A capacity assurance letter is included in the Appendix.

Approximately 9,775 residential customers are served with an estimated 31,827 tons of waste land-filled in 2004. Commercial solid waste is disposed at three additional area landfills as listed below. None of these landfills are located within the city limits.

2004	Location	Facility Name	Permit Number	Facility Type Description	Remaining Capacity (CY)	Estimate d Fill Date
BFI - Yard Waste Community Waste - Yard Waste Waste	Roswell Fulton	Chadwick Rd	060- 072D(L)	Construction and Demolition Landfill	5685213	11/09
Management BFI	Buford Gwinnett	Landfill, Inc. BFI-Richland Creek Rd (SL)	067- 032D(SL)	Municipal Solid Waste Landfill	23609066	09/38
Advanced Disposal G & G Sanitation Systems	Jacksonville Forsyth	Eagle Point Landfill	058-012D (MSWL)	Municipal Solid Waste Landfill	3978266	02/11
United Waste	Winder Barrow	Republic Waste - Oak Grove MSWLF SR324	007-020D (SL)	Municipal Solid Waste Landfill	21622121	02/23

Table 4-1 Disposal Locations for Alpharetta Solid Waste

Source: Georgia DNR (http://www.dnr.state.ga.us/environ/regcomm_files/lpb/solidwaste.xls) Updated January 05

Total tonnage reports for fiscal years 2002 through 20004 show an approximated 41,548 tons per year.

	FY 02	FY 03	FY 04	FY 05**
				1st qtr.
Landfilled	32888	34303	31827	9597
Recycled	7660	5019	6479	2194
Yard Waste	1,346	1714*	3329	2021
Special Recycling Collections			101	
% Recycled			24%	31%
Roswell Recycle Center Contributions***		368	368	
Total tons collected	41,894	41,036****	42,104	13,812
% recycled including items from RRC			24%	

* figure represents from July-Dec 03 Other figures are unavailable.

** 1st quarter only.

***Roswell and Alpharetta Recycling Programs Assessment Report. B.W.Beck, September 2004. This report determined that 15% of customer visits to the Roswell Recycle Center (RRC) were Alpharetta residents. Tonnage figure was derived from a calculation of 15% of the total recyclable volume received at the RRC in 2003 and estimated totals for 2004 [2,453 tons x 15% = 368 tons]

****Partial total. Complete figures for the disposal of yard waste is unavailable

Yard waste is disposed at the Chadwick Landfill sections appropriate for yard waste and in accordance with current requirements. No yard waste will be disposed at a municipal landfill.

The city will continue to use contractors who are properly permitted with the state and who operate environmentally sound landfills. As per the Georgia Comprehensive Solid Waste Management Act of 1990, the city contractor must provide capacity assurance for the length of the contract period including any agreements with other landfills for disposal of yard wastes. The 2006 contract will require that the city hauler provide the contingency strategy for the interim disposal of the solid waste in the event the primary disposal option becomes interrupted.

Included in the Appendix are copies of the current city contracts and the written certification of landfill capacity for the future.

There are no thermal treatment facilities within the City of Alpharetta, (including waste-toenergy, refuse-derived fuel, wood waste incinerator, tire-derived fuel, co-firing industrial boiler).

Included in the Appendix is a letter of assurance from our solid waste vendor for their strategy for the interim disposal of solid waste in the event of a disruption of normal service. The vendor agrees to assign additional personnel and equipment immediately for collections. One of the alternate landfills listed will be used in the event that the current landfills cannot provide service. This information is also in the Appendix.

(5) Land Limitation Element

The city of Alpharetta does not operate a landfill facility, nor does it intend to. A landfill or transfer station is only allowed in Light Industrial zoning and would require city council approval thru the public hearing process. The city council approval process must include a review of the following: public notification and meetings in compliance with state regulations for any zoning action; review of the anticipated impact the proposed facility will have upon current solid waste management facilities; the anticipated impact the proposed facility will have upon the adequate collection and disposal capability within the planning area; and the effect the facility will have upon achieving the States 25% per capita waste disposal reduction goal.

After a decade of intensive building in the area, the more developable properties have been taken. Properties remaining in the city for a landfill would have streams, steep topography, specimen trees, and other challenges in addition to the required zoning approval.

The city has adopted the following environmental ordinances which further regulate landfill locations in the city: Water supply watershed protection (DNR Rule 391-3-16-.01), Groundwater recharge area protection (DNR Rule 391-3-16-.02) and Wetlands protection (DNR Rule 391-3-16-.03). Due to the lack of appropriate land within the city limits, we do not foresee the permitting of a landfill or another transfer station. If a landfill or transfer station is proposed, the owner would apply to the city and follow the public hearing procedure which includes public involvement and notification and City Council approval. The City Council would ensure that the proposal is consistent with all environmental and land use regulations, as well as evaluating impacts to the existing community and facilities, prior to approval.

The enclosed city zoning map shows the light industrial district. This map also shows the existing Transfer Station, which is privately owned and operated.

(6) Education and Public Involvement

The city understands that education and public involvement are key elements in any successful recycling program. The city's Engineering/Public Works Department implements an Environmental Education program. The Environmental Education Coordinator oversees the Alpharetta Clean and Beautiful functions, EverGreen School program, storm water education and other public outreach activities. The Mission Statement for this program is:

To make Alpharetta a leader in environmental education and compliance with state and federal regulations with actions that sustain natural resources, improve waste management and enhance the overall livability of the city.

The focus of Alpharetta Clean and Beautiful is aligned with the national Keep America Beautiful's mission to involve volunteers in community action dedicated to litter and graffiti prevention, beautification, waste minimization and community improvement. Alpharetta Clean and Beautiful involves hundreds of volunteers each year in hands-on community improvement activities, where they learn how to take personal responsibility for improving their local community environments and their quality of life. Keep Georgia Beautiful requires affiliates to participate in annual events, submit an annual report and to assess the problem of littering by conducting an assessment using a litter index. These programs include:

Bring One for the Chipper – On the first Saturday following January 1^{st} of each year, Alpharetta Clean and Beautiful along with other Keep Georgia Beautiful affiliates works with area business partners and community volunteers to conduct a Christmas tree recycling collection. Averages of 3,000 trees have been collected for recycling each year at the Alpharetta drop off location. The trees are then chipped into mulch which is then delivered free of charge to those who want it. Tree seedlings are given to each participant to plant in exchange for their Christmas tree.

The Great American Clean Up occurs every spring from March 1st through May. This time period is set aside to focus on involving community volunteers in a variety of recycling, beautification and clean up opportunities. The events vary from year to year. Examples of past public outreach events include:

- Computer and electronics recycling collections. Since March 2004, Alpharetta has participated in two collections for the North Fulton County area.
- Bulky Trash Day- Alpharetta offers an amnesty bulky trash collection twice a year. This event is held in cooperation with Fulton County and the City of Roswell so that all North Fulton residents may participate.
- Adopt-A-Mile and other special pick ups
- Take Pride in America Garden plantings

Adopt-A-Mile – The Alpharetta Adopt-A-Mile program began in the early 1990's. Local businesses, service organizations, individuals and families volunteer to adopt a mile of city roadway and agree to conduct at least four litter pick ups annually. The city supplies sponsor signs for recognition, safety vests, and supplies. The volunteers supply the labor. Bright orange bags are used to promote awareness for passing motorists.

Clean is Cool – The Clean is Cool Campaign was launched in 2002 as a positive litter prevention program. It consists of signage to promote awareness, installation of waste receptacles at public transportation waiting areas and the creation of two litter crews within

the Engineering/Public Works Department. Responsibilities of the litter crews include maintaining the rights of way which include removal of litter and debris. The combination of these ongoing efforts with the active Adopt-A-Mile volunteers has been very effective in reducing the amount of litter found around the city.

Cell Phone Collection- Alpharetta recently began a cell phone collection for the recycling of old cell phones and printer cartridges. Alpharetta area Starbucks Coffee stores and city offices are drop off locations for those who want to recycle these items.

Workshops - Various workshops are conducted that target specific audiences to reinforce messages about how they can do their part in protecting the environment including: auto service workshops, xeriscape, rain garden design and pesticide applicator training certification. The workshops will vary from year to year as appropriate.

EverGreen School Program- The EverGreen School program offers support and recognition for public and private City of Alpharetta schools that implement successful environmental education programs. The Environmental Education Coordinator works with school teams of teachers, curriculum support staff and PTA members to encourage and involve students in activities that focus on understanding environmental issues. Program offerings meet the curriculum requirements for the Georgia education system and correlate to grade specific standards. Support through this program includes classroom presentations, an environmental resource lending library, personal assistance, a traveling trunk program and Arbor Day tree education and planting programs. The lending library and traveling trunk program offer resource materials relating to litter prevention, recycling and environmental issues, including videotapes, lesson plans and activities They include topics such as recycling, habitats, animals, social action, arts and crafts, meteorology, geology, water quality and others. The library includes resources that are not readily available and may be checked out by school representatives for use in the classroom. Alpharetta has teamed up with the City of Roswell and Keep Sandy Springs North Fulton Beautiful to create an EverGreen School Program that is now offered to all of the North Fulton County schools under this umbrella title. Five joint meetings are held at various locations and five newsletters are published. Expanded networking opportunities and facilitation of information are two of the most valuable benefits derived from the partnership. Although each jurisdiction implements their own school program within their respective jurisdictions, the joining of talents and resources for these joint meetings has proven to be a benefit to everyone. A few of the nationally approved curriculum include Waste in Place, Project WET, Project Wild, Project Learning Tree and others. EverGreen schools are strongly encouraged to implement recycling programs that involve student participation. Most of our schools implement recycling to some degree for newspaper and mixed office paper.

Adopt-A-Stream Training -Alpharetta has an Adopt-A-Stream program. Adopt-A-Stream facilitators train volunteers who then assist the city with stream monitoring and removal of trash, tires and debris along their adopted stream segment. This program can be instrumental in identifying waste disposal problems among the citizens monitoring their watershed.

Rivers Alive – Every October, volunteers from North Fulton conduct one of the largest waterway clean ups in the state. Alpharetta, Roswell and Keep Sandy Springs North Fulton Beautiful coordinate with sponsors to invite hundreds of volunteers to assist with the clean up. The main registration area is along the Chattahoochee River where educational exhibits, fun activities and information are available for all ages.

Georgia Clean Day is an amnesty pesticide collection implemented through the Department of Agriculture and funded through the General Assembly. Alpharetta businesses and citizens were able to benefit from a Georgia Clean Day in October 2004. Improper disposal of pesticides can cause serious environmental problems. Vast amounts of waste and unusable chemicals are stored for no better reason than lack of a place to dispose of them. The one-day collection held in an Alpharetta location resulted in the proper disposal of 41,925 pounds of pesticides. There are few local options for homeowners to properly dispose of pesticide related chemicals. Continuing partnership with the Department of Agriculture is desired to allow future Georgia Clean Day collections in this area.

The City of Alpharetta will continue to promote environmental awareness through education and public outreach activities, through our Environmental Education program. The city does not intend to expand this program with additional staffing however we do intend to benefit from volunteer interns and citizen participation. There is a need to create a portion of the Alpharetta web site for environmental education information on "Reduce/Reuse/Recycle".

There is a desire on the part of most of our schools to implement recycling programs. The continued success of a program from year to year is dependent upon many factors. Whether a school is public or private, many of them have encountered the problem of how to get the items they have collected for recycling to the place where they will be recycled. The public schools within the city limits are served through a contract implemented by the school system, and not by the city's service providers. That contract does not provide for recycling service. A goal is to solve this problem so that school recycling programs can be successful without creating undue hardship on the PTA volunteers to transport recyclables weekly.

The National Safety Council has estimated that in 2005 there will be over 300 million obsolete computers in storage in American households, businesses and factories. We can expect this number to continue to increase with the rate of technological advances in the marketplace. Electronics are made with valuable materials. In 1998 over 112 million pounds of materials were recovered from electronics including steel, glass, plastic, and precious metals. By reclaiming these materials through the recycling process and by reusing items as appropriate, consumers save natural resources, create jobs, save valuable landfill space and reduce the amount of toxic materials that are land filled. Alpharetta has chosen to implement computer and electronics recycling through partnerships that provide this valuable service to North Fulton Residents. The awareness factor increases with every collection event. A goal is to continue to educate the public regarding e-waste and to offer recycling collections when possible.

(7) Implementation Strategy

The state has mandated municipalities to attain a 25% reduction in the waste stream since 1996. Alpharetta has met or exceeded this requirement every year since this requirement.

Activity	Funding	Responsible	Year	
	Source	Department		
V	VASTE REDUCTIO	N		
All new business and commercial developments must provide a waste generation analysis for their project based on established waste generation criteria, in order to establish the total amount of solid waste. A plan must be established to accomplish a minimum of 25% recycling based on the type of recyclables generated by that particular use. A site or building plan is required showing that sufficient area for recyclables has been provided.	General Budget	Community Development	Ongoing program. Adopted 1993, amended as needed.	
Require commercial recyclers to register and report to the city.	Include in 2006 contract	Finance	2006	

Table 7-1 CITY OF ALPHARETTA IMPLEMENTATION SCHEDULE

Caparal	Financa	Ongoing		
	Finance	Ongoing		
Duugei				
ASTE COLLECTI				
		New contract		
		award 2006		
1001001110				
User pays cost	Finance	Ongoing		
WASTE DISPOSA	L	·		
General	Community	2001		
	City Administrator	Ongoing		
Budget				
	Finance	2006		
contract				
	Finance	2006		
contract				
		0005		
General Budget		2005		
	Development			
		Ongoing		
	Engineening	Ongoing		
Duugei				
Private	Engineering	2006		
General	Engineering	Ongoing		
Budget		- 5- 5		
	General Budget Plus utility fees collected from residents User pays cost WASTE DISPOSA General Budget Include in 2006 contract Include in 2006 contract LAND LIMITATION General Budget NAND PUBLIC IN General Budget Private donations & General Budget	Budget ASTE COLLECTION General Budget Plus utility fees collected from residents Finance User pays cost Finance WASTE DISPOSAL General Development General Budget Community Development General Budget City Administrator Include in 2006 contract Finance Include in 2006 contract Finance Include in 2006 contract Finance VAND PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT General Budget Private donations & General Budget Engineering		

APPENDIX

- Employment Trends
- Capacity Assurance letter & Emergency Plan
- City/ BFI Contract, including Yardwaste addendum (in process)
- Previous Yardwaste Contract
- Land Use Map

Employment Trends And Forecasts

	1990	1997	2000	2005	2010	2015	2020	2025
Construction	1,223	2,065	2,426	2,102	1,777	1,453	1,128	804
Manufacturing	2,670	2,279	2,111	2,111	2,382	2,652	2,389	2,396
TCU	1,784	2,570	2,907	3,402	3,896	4,390	4,908	5,409
Wholesale	2,090	5,776	7,356	7,843	8,330	8,817	10,880	12,074
Retail Trade	1,921	6,233	7,609	11,648	15,661	19,925	22,734	26,229
Services*	5,070	59,570	76,524	72,698	75,674	77,648	80,290	82,765
Government	457	1,126	1,413	1,815	2,217	2,619	3,021	3,423
Total Employees	15,215	79,619	100,346	101,619	109,937	117,504	125,351	133,099
Source: US Burea	u of Transr	ortation S	tatistics 119	Concus	Ruroou			
				Census E	buleau.			
Forecasts based o increases.	n 2000 - 20	025 margii	nal					

	1990	1997	2000	2005	2010	2015	2020	2025
Construction	8.04%	2.59%	2.42%	2.07%	1.62%	1.24%	0.09%	0.06%
Manufacturing	17.55%	2.86%	2.10%	2.08%	2.17%	2.26%	1.91%	1.80%
TCU	11.73%	3.23%	2.90%	3.35%	3.54%	3.74%	3.92%	4.06%
Wholesale	13.74%	7.25%	7.33%	7.72%	7.58%	7.50%	8.68%	9.07%
Retail Trade	12.63%	7.83%	7.58%	11.46%	14.25%	16.96%	18.14%	19.71%
Services*	33.32%	74.82%	76.26%	71.54%	68.83%	66.08%	64.05%	62.18%
Government	3.00%	1.41%	1.41%	1.79%	2.02%	2.23%	2.41%	2.57%
APPENDIX

- Employment Trends .
- .
- Capacity Assurance letter & Emergency Plan City/ BFI Contract, including Yardwaste addendum (in process) Previous Yardwaste Contract .
- .
- Land Use Map

Employment Trends And Forecasts

	1990	1997	2000	2005	2010	2015	2020	2025
Construction	1,223	2,065	2,426	2,102	1,777	1,453	1,128	804
Manufacturing	2,670	2,279	2,111	2,111	2,382	2,652	2,389	2,396
TCU	1,784	2,570	2,907	3,402	3,896	4,390	4,908	5,409
Wholesale	2,090	5,776	7,356	7,843	8,330	8,817	10,880	12,074
Retail Trade	1,921	6,233	7,609	11,648	15,661	· 19,925	22,734	26,229
Services*	5,070	59,570	76,524	72,698	75,674	77,648	80,290	82,765
Government	457	1,126	1,413	1,815	2,217	2,619	3,021	3,423
Total Employees	15,215	79,619	100,346	101,619	109,937	117,504	125,351	133,099
Source: US Burea	u of Transp	ortation St	atistics, US	Census B	ureau.			

	1990	1997	2000	2005	2010	2015	2020	2025
Construction	8.04%	2.59%	2.42%	2.07%	1.62%	1.24%	0.09%	0.06%
Manufacturing	17.55%	2.86%	2.10%	2.08%	2.17%	2.26%	1.91%	1.80%
TCU	11.73%	3.23%	2.90%	3.35%	3.54%	3.74%	3.92%	4.06%
Wholesale	13.74%	7.25%	7.33%	7.72%	7.58%	7.50%	8.68%	9.07%
Retail Trade	12.63%	7.83%	7.58%	11.46%	14.25%	16.96%	18.14%	19.71%
Services*	33.32%	74.82%	76.26%	71.54%	68.83%	66.08%	64.05%	62.18%
Government	3.00%	1.41%	1.41%	1.79%	2.02%	2.23%	2.41%	2.57%

City of Alpharetta Solid Waste Management Plan 2005 15



City of Alpharetta Two South Main Street Alpharetta, GA 30004

ALPHARETTA

Dear Terry Porter,

This letter serves as a disposal **capacity assurance** for waste generated by Alpharetta from 2005 to 2015 at BFI's Richland Creek landfill.

The Georgia EPD permit number for this facility is 067-032D(SL). This **assurance** is based upon the City of Alpharetta disposing of approximately 14,289 tons of waste at this facility on an annua basis.

We thank the City of Apharetta for this business partnership and look forward to providing environmentally sound waste disposal options for the foreseeable future.

Sincerely,

Paul Barnett Environmental Manager BFI/ Allied Waste

BFI/Allied Waste - Emergency Response and Contingency Plans

Disaster and Storm Response

ALLIED WASTE/BFI will immediately begin to plan the response to the needs of the City during a natural disaster. Our experienced team of operations managers, supervisors and drivers will work hand in hand with the City staff to develop the best strategy toward the most effective response. The ALLIED WASTE/BFI/Allied fleet of vehicles will remain on call to service the City's needs in the case of a hurricane, ice storm or any natural disaster. ALLIED WASTE/BFI will notify the City Administrator and the customers of the estimated time when regular collection services will resume, if delayed by a natural disaster.

In the case of natural disasters (hurricanes, tornadoes, etc.) in which State/Federal agencies declare the service area eligible for State/Federal disaster relief AlliedWaste/ALLIED WASTE/BFI will work with the City, GEMA and FEMA officials to provide needed additional services and equipment.

Equipment Failure

In the case of equipment failure, the driver will notify the dispatcher of the nature of the failure via Nextel radio. The dispatcher will consult with the on-call maintenance mechanic to determine if the vehicle can be repaired on site or needs to be towed. On-site repairs will warrant an immediate dispatch and in the instance of a towed vehicle, a "back-up" truck will be dispatched to continue the service route. The Allied Waste/ALLIED WASTE/BFI customer service rep and the City contact will be contacted to warn of any delay in service.

Personnel Contingency

ALLIED WASTE/BFI employs more than 29,000 people across the country, providing disposal services at more than 331 landfills and transfer stations. In the event that a proposed team member is unable to fulfill his or her duty a replacement team member with like skills will fill the role. Because of ALLIED WASTE/BFI/Allied's breadth of experience the City is guaranteed to get qualified and experienced personnel, even in the event that a contingency person or plan is called into action.

MEMORANDUM

TO:	Landfill Owners, Operators, and Other Interested Parties
FROM:	Rick Brooks, Director, Planning and Environmental Management
DATE:	January 28, 2005
RE:	Landfill Operator Capacity Assurance Letter

Over the past few months, with the advent of a new solid waste management planning cycle, a number of landfill operators have asked about the need to provide capacity assurance documentation to local governments as those governments update solid waste management plans. As landfill operators you play a critical role in solid waste planning in Georgia. Local governments rely upon you to provide disposal capacity, and in order for you to expand your facility or site a new landfill, you must demonstrate "consistency" with local solid waste plans and ensure the local governments sending waste to your facility have a strategy to meet the state's 25% per capita waste disposal reduction goal.

According to the Georgia Solid Waste Management Act of 1990, an essential and required component of local government Solid Waste Management Plans is disposal capacity assurance. The Act states that:

The local, multijurisdictional, or regional solid waste plan shall, at a minimum, provide for the assurance of adequate solid waste handling capability and capacity within the planning area for at least ten years from the date of completion of the plan which shall specifically include an adequate collection and disposal capability ... (12-8-31.1(b)).

Further into the Act, language directed specifically at landfill operators states:

Each application for a permit, grant, or loan issued after July 1, 1992, shall include the following: (3) Demonstration that the host jurisdiction and all jurisdictions generating solid waste destined for the applicant's facility are part of an approved solid waste management plan developed in accordance with standards promulgated pursuant to this part, and are actively involved in, and have a strategy for, meeting the state-wide goal for reduction of solid waste disposal by July 1, 1996. (12-8-31.1 (e)(3))

The Department of Community Affairs' (DCA) Minimum Planning Standards and Procedures for Solid Waste Management were promulgated from the Act and the Standards state that each local government Solid Waste Management Plan must identify how the ten year disposal capacity requirement has been met. Assurances of capacity may be from one or more disposal facility, as long as the ten-year requirement is met. Local governments can meet this capacity assurance requirement in one of three ways:

- 1. If a local government is providing the disposal capacity to other local governments, a formal written agreement (e.g., an interlocal agreement) between the parties shall be incorporated into the plan; for disposal of its own waste, the landfill manager must write a letter to the city or county manager, mayor, or commission chair certifying capacity;
- 2. If a private disposal facility is providing the assurance of disposal capacity, that facility owner must certify, in writing, the facility has sufficient capacity to accept the jurisdiction's waste over the ten-year period <u>at one or more</u> of the landfills owned or operated by the company. Please note, this certification of capacity does not obligate the disposal facility to "reserve" this space for a particular jurisdiction, but rather indicates that, at that point in time and given existing disposal rates, the landfill has space available to accept the waste from the jurisdiction(s) in question.
- 3. If a private hauler is providing the capacity assurance, the hauler must identify the amount of waste to be disposed by the jurisdiction(s) and indicate which disposal facility or facilities they will use over the ten year period to adequately demonstrate ten years of disposal capacity.

These certifications have always been a planning requirement. In an attempt to simplify this planning requirement, we have enclosed a sample capacity assurance letter suitable for use by landfill operators. The letter need not follow this format, but the information contained in the letter is required. In order for a plan to be approved by DCA, the disposal capacity assurance document must name the disposal facility, list the facility EPD permit number, state the time-frame for providing the capacity assurance, and identify the annual amount of waste to be disposed by the jurisdiction(s). Plan updates which do not include these key elements in their capacity assurance documentation will not be approved.

This planning requirement should not be construed as an endorsement or obligation for local governments to contract for ten years of disposal capacity or collection services. The capacity assurance requirement is intended to help local governments understand where their waste is being disposed and prepare them for changes in the disposal marketplace.

As an owner/operator of a landfill, we hope you will work with local governments throughout your region to provide them the capacity assurances they need to fulfill their planning requirements. Please keep in mind that you may indicate that you have capacity for the waste coming from their jurisdiction for the entire 10-year period or for a period less than the ten years. If providing capacity assurance for less than the entire 10-year period, it is very important to clearly state the time period for which you will be providing the capacity assurance so that local governments know they need to secure additional capacity to fulfill the ten-year requirement.

Thank you for your support and cooperation on this very important issue. If you have any questions about this capacity assurance requirement, please contact Mary Harrington at the Department of Community Affairs, (404) 679-3144.

RECYCLING SERVICES AND SOLID WASTE COLLECTION AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT (the "Agreement") made and entered into as of the <u>20th</u> day of December, 1999, by and between the CITY OF ALPHARETTA, a municipal corporation of the State of Georgia, hereinafter referred to as the "City," and **BFI WASTE SYSTEMS OF NORTH** AMERICA, INC., a Delaware corporation authorized to do business in the State of Georgia, hereinafter referred to as "BFI."

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the City is desirous of securing the services of BFI to provide (1) residential collection of recyclable materials; (2) residential collection and disposal of solid waste and (3) certain, as described herein, solid waste and recycling services for the City itself (collectively, the "Collection Services") for and on behalf of the City; and

WHEREAS, BFI desires to provide Collection Services for and on behalf of the City, all on the terms and conditions set forth herein;

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY AGREED AS FOLLOWS:

1. Definitions.

a Sanda

- 1.1 <u>Bin</u> A receptacle made of plastic with a capacity of 24 gallons, and used for the purpose of curbside collection of certain Recyclable Materials.
- 1.2 <u>Bulky Waste</u> Stoves, refrigerators, water tanks, washing machines, furniture and other waste materials other than Hazardous Waste with weights or volumes greater than those allowed for Carts.
- 1.3 <u>Cart</u> The City residents shall choose between a 95 or a 68 Refuse cart for use under this Agreement based on a BFI survey of their Cart size preference as described in Section 6.6 below.
- 1.4 <u>Garbage</u> Every accumulation of waste (animal, vegetable and/or other matter) that results from the preparation, processing, consumption, dealing in,

handling, packing, canning, storage, transportation, decay or decomposition of meats, fish, fowl, birds, fruits, grains or other animal or vegetable matter and all other putrescible or easily decomposable waste; <u>except</u> (in all cases) any matter included in the definition of Bulky Waste, Hazardous Waste, Rubbish or Yard Waste.

- 1.5 <u>Hazardous Waste</u> Waste, in any amount, which is defined, characterized or designated as hazardous by the United States Environmental Protection Agency or appropriate State agency by or pursuant to Federal or State law, or waste, in any amount, which is regulated under Federal or State law. For purposes of this Agreement, the term Hazardous Waste shall also include, without limitation, batteries, tires, gasoline, paint and paint cans (except empty paint cans) and Bulky Waste containing chlorofluorocarbon refrigerants or freon.
- 1.6 <u>Producer</u> An occupant of a Residential Unit who generates Refuse.
- 1.7 <u>Refuse</u> -All Garbage and Rubbish generated by a Producer at a Residential Unit, in all cases to exclude Hazardous Waste, Yard Waste and Bulky Waste.
- 1.8 <u>Residential Unit</u> A free-standing structure constructed for use as a residence by a person or group of persons comprising a family. A Residential Unit shall be deemed occupied when either water or domestic light and power services are being supplied thereto. An apartment, condominium, townhome or other home structures containing multiple residents (a "Multi-Residence Complex") shall count as multiple Residential Units for purposes of this Agreement and not as one Residential Unit.
- 1.9 <u>Recyclable Material(s)</u> Recyclable Materials are the following:
 - Newspapers;
 - Chipboard, such as cereal boxes, (no liners);
 - White and colored paper;
 - Catalogues;
 - Magazines;
 - Corrugated cardboard (must be cut in pieces no more than 2 ft. x 2 ft.);
 - Aluminum and bimetal cans;

- Clear, green and brown glass bottles and jars; and
- Plastic bottles (#1 and #2).

Recyclable Materials shall also include any other materials mutually agreed by BFI and the City to be added as a "Recyclable Material" hereunder.

- 1.10 <u>Rubbish</u> All printed matter, paper, pasteboard, rags, used and discarded clothing, used and discarded shoes and boots, combustible waste pulp and other products such as are used for packaging, or wrapping crockery and glass, ashes, cinders, floor sweepings, glass, mineral or metallic substances, and any and all other waste materials not included in the definition of Bulky Waste, Garbage, Hazardous Waste or Yard Waste.
- 1.11 <u>Service Area</u> The entire geographic area within the City of Alpharetta, Georgia.
- 1.12 <u>Yard Waste</u> Tree, shrub and brush trimmings; and leaves, grass or other vegetative matter resulting from landscaping maintenance.

2. General Scope of Work.

- 2.1 <u>General</u> The work ("Work") under this Agreement shall consist of the Collection Services described in Sections 3, 4 and 5 of this Agreement, including all the supervision, materials, equipment, labor and all other items necessary to complete said Work in accordance with this Agreement.
- 2.2 <u>Additional Residential Units</u> BFI will, within five (5) working days after notification by the City, provide Collection Services of the same frequency and quality otherwise required of BFI to additional Residential Units within the Service Area. As new Residential Units are constructed and occupied in the Service Area, BFI shall, after written notification from the City, provide Collection Services as required by this Agreement.
- 2.3 <u>Location of Containers for Collection</u> The term "Curbside" as used in this Agreement refers to that portion of right-of-way adjacent to paved or traveled City roadways. Carts and Bins shall be placed as close to the roadway as practicable without interfering with or endangering the movement of vehicles or pedestrians. When construction work is being performed in the right-of-

way, Carts and Bins shall be placed as close as practicable to an access point for the collection vehicle. BFI may decline to collect any Cart or Bin not so placed.

3. <u>Residential Recycling Services</u>.

Commencing January 1, 2000 (the "Effective Date"), BFI shall provide curbside collection service for the collection of Recyclable Materials from each Residential Unit within the Service Area one (1) time per week ("Residential Recycling Services") which shall be the same day that such Residential Unit receives Residential Waste Services. Bins shall be placed at curbside by 7:00 a.m. on the BFI designated collection day. The City has already provided each Residential Unit with a Bin for the deposit of Recyclable Materials. BFI will replace up to ten percent (10%) of Bins which are no longer in working order during the term of this Agreement at BFI's expense. After such 10% threshold is exceeded whenever during the term of this Agreement, the replacement Bins shall be supplied a Bin by BFI, at BFI's expense. BFI will place the City logo provided by the City on all such replacement Bins and Bins for new Residential Units. All new Bins whether required to be bought by BFI or the City shall become the property of the City.

It is the intent under this Agreement for BFI to collect certain commingled Recyclable Materials but BFI will not be required to collect Recyclable Materials which are mixed with Refuse, Yard Waste, Hazardous Waste or Bulky Waste. BFI will notify the City of any such addresses where the residents are so commingling Recyclable Materials.

BFI shall not be obligated to collect Yard Waste, Hazardous Waste or Bulky Waste and in the event that any addresses commingle Yard Waste, Hazardous Waste or Bulky Waste with Recyclable Materials or Residential Refuse or otherwise place out for collection Yard Waste, Hazardous Waste or Bulky Waste, BFI will notify the City of these cases.

4. <u>Residential Waste Collection Services</u>.

4.1 Commencing on the Effective Date, BFI shall collect and dispose of in a workmanlike manner one (1) time per week Residential Refuse placed in the Cart placed at curbside at each Residential Unit located within the Service

Area ("Residential Waste Services") which shall be the same day that such Residential Unit receives Residential Recycling Services. BFI shall not be required to collect more than the equivalent of one (1) Cart per week except for Tagged Containers as described below. Nothing placed outside of the Cart or the Bin will be picked up by BFI unless it has a tag in such form as approved by the City and BFI (the "Tag") and such Tag is on a reusable trash container and all Refuse is in such container (the "Tagged Container"). For the one week period after Christmas Day in each year of this Agreement, BFI will pick up free of charge extra Refuse placed in reusable trash containers without the requirement that they have a Tag. Further, new residents that move into the City shall not be required to have Tags for extra Refuse created from unpacking as described further in Section 6.11.

4.2 BFI shall provide a Cart at its expense to all Producers. Carts shall be placed at curbside by 7:00 a.m. on the BFI designated collection day.

5. <u>Services to the City</u>

5.1 Commencing on the Effective Date, BFI shall provide the following services to the City's own offices as shown below:

CITY OFFICE	TYPE OF SERVICE AND FREQUENCY			
	REFUSE	RECYCLING		
City Hall	4 cy 1x/wk	8 cy cb 1x/wk		
		5-95g carts 1x/wk		
Community Development	Leased Space	2-95g carts 1x/wk		
Eng./Pub. Works	Roswell provides basic garbage	4-95g carts 1x/wk		
	BFI 30 cy rolloff container every			
	other week service			
Court Services -	6 cy 1x/wk	4-95g carts 1x/wk		
Crabapple Facility				
Environmental Services	Leased Space	2-95 carts 1x/wk		
Police Station	2-6 cy 2x/wk	4-95g carts 1x/wk		
Fire Station #1 & Headquarters	8cy 1x/wk	8 cy cb 1x/wk		
		4-95g carts 1x/wk		
Fire Station #2	4 cy 1x/wk	2-95g carts 1x/wk		
Fire Station #3	Same	Same		
Fire Station #4	Same	Same		
Fire Station #5	Same	Same		

CITY OFFICE	TYPE OF SERVICE AND FREQUENCY			
	REFUSE	RECYCLING		
Wills Park	6cy 2x/wk	Recycling "sort" will be done by Staff		
Pool/Playground		of City and taken to central location		
Community Center	4 cy 1x/wk	2-95g carts 1x/wk		
Equestrian Center, Wills Park Recreation, Ball Fields/Concession	20 cy rolloff container every other week service	2-95g carts 1x/wk		
Rec./Parks Administration Bldg.	2-95 carts 1x/wk	2-95g carts 1x/wk		
Senior Center	2-6 cy 1x/wk	4-95g carts 1x/wk		
Webb Bridge Park	2-6 cy 2x/wk	Recycling "sort" will be done by Staff of City and taken to central location		
Union Hills Road Roller Hockey	4 cy 1x/wk	Same as Webb Bridge Park above		
North Park Ball Fields	6 cy 2x/wk	Same as Webb Bridge Park above		
Mansell House	2 cy 1x/wk	2-95g carts 1x/wk		

The City shall be allowed to add future City offices to this Agreement at equivalent rates and frequencies as those given above (with the exception of the City Hall rate which may only be used for other City Hall facilities). The City may also adjust the frequency of pick-ups at the locations given above and the rate will be adjusted to correspond to the new frequency.

5.2 The 8 cubic yard cardboard recycling container provided to City Hall as described in the table of Section 5.1 shall be at no charge so long as it only needs service once per week.

6. **Operations**.

- 6.1 <u>Hours of Operation</u> Collection Services shall not start before 6:30 a.m. or continue after 8:00 p.m. on the same day. Exceptions to collection hours shall be effected only upon the mutual agreement of the City and BFI (in the case of Residential Recycling Services or Residential Waste Services) or when it is reasonably determined by BFI that an exception is necessary in order to complete collection on an existing collection route due to unusual circumstances.
- 6.2 <u>Routes of Collection</u> Collection routes, days and schedules within the Service Area shall be established by BFI. BFI shall submit a map designating the collection routes, days and schedules to the City for its approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. The maps shall be of such size to clearly show all pertinent information. BFI may from time to time propose to the City for approval changes in routes or days of collection, which approval

shall not be unreasonably withheld if the proposed change is based upon a material increase in Residential Units, or, during the first six-months of this Agreement, upon a greater efficiency being shown by BFI to the City. BFI will notify the Residential Units of any day of service change as a result of the foregoing.

6.3 <u>Holidays</u> - The following shall be holidays for purposes of this Agreement:

New Year's Day Martin Luther King's Birthday Memorial Day Independence Day Labor Day Thanksgiving Day Christmas Day

BFI may decide to observe any or all of the above mentioned holidays by suspension of collection service on the holiday, in which case Residential nits will be serviced on another day during the week in which the holiday occurs.

- 6.4 Processing, Marketing and Sale of Recyclable Materials BFI may process Recyclable Materials collected shall be marketed by BFI for recycling unless market prices drop substantially or contamination or residue results in unmarketability or loss in value, in which event such materials will be disposed of as Refuse. BFI will notify the City each time that it discontinues marketing a particular Recyclable Material and provide to the City reasonably satisfactory evidence to establish that the foregoing sentence has been met to allow such material to be disposed of as Refuse. BFI shall have a good faith obligation to resume marketing efforts when market conditions improve. All proceeds from the sale of Recyclable Materials shall be the property of BFI.
- 6.5 <u>Disposal</u> All Refuse collected for disposal by BFI shall be hauled to such sanitary landfill as BFI shall determine (the "Disposal Site"). BFI represents and warrants that it has guaranteed access to Disposal Sites for at least a ten year capacity.
- 6.6 <u>Container Size</u> On or before the Effective Date of this Agreement, all Residential Units will get a 95 gallon Cart. BFI shall mail out a survey to see

if any Residential Units prefer a 68 gallon Cart instead of the 95 gallon Cart. BFI shall inform the City by January 31, 2000 which Residential Units want a 68 gallon Cart instead of a 95 gallon Cart. As soon as possible thereafter, a 68 gallon Cart shall be delivered by BFI and the 95 gallon Cart taken away at no charge to the City.

- 6.7 <u>Not Responsible for Paving Damage Unless Negligent</u> BFI shall not be responsible, in connection with providing the Collection Services under this Agreement, for damage to paving of any sort (whether it be asphalt, concrete or any other paving material) caused by BFI's vehicles unless due to BFI's negligence.
- 6.8 <u>Switching Size of Carts</u> Residential Units desiring to switch from a 68 gallon Cart to a 95 gallon Cart, or vice versa, may do so only once per year on the anniversary of this Agreement (being January 1).
- 6.9 <u>Communication to Residential Units of Services</u> BFI will inform the City's residents of the Services before the Effective Date by three modes:
 - A. Mail newsletter to every Residential Unit address provided by the City at or before the start of this Agreement;
 - B. Place information on the Carts delivered to every Residential Unit indicating their collection day, and
 - C. BFI will place information regarding the recycling program details (and such holidays and the day of collection after the holidays) in or on the Bins for the first three weeks after such Effective Date, and BFI shall thereafter annually remind the Residential Units about the recycling program details (and the holidays and the day of collection after such holidays) with handbills placed by BFI in or on the Bins.

The contents of all printed information distributed pursuant to this Section 6.9 shall be approved by City personnel which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. The City shall be responsible for all press releases regarding the recycling program or any other aspect of the Collection Services to be provided under this Agreement.

- 6.10 <u>Phone Numbers</u> BFI will set up a customer service center number that the residents of the City and the City itself may call regarding Work under this Agreement. BFI will provide a list of managers' phone numbers and areas of expertise. In the case of an emergency, certain City officials will have a procedure to contact BFI.
- 6.11 <u>New Residents</u> BFI will work with the City's Environmental Services Department and the Utility Department to develop a procedure to ensure that new residents of the City receive the necessary information regarding the Residential Recycling Services and Residential Waste Services. BFI will not require such new residents to the City to buy Tags for the extra Refuse created from unpacking at the time of move-in to their Residential Unit.
- 6.12 <u>Five Day Week Work Schedule</u> BFI will dedicate workers and equipment for a five day work week (Monday through Friday excluding holidays) to providing the Collection Services in accordance with this Agreement.
- 6.13 <u>Backdoor Residential Units</u> The City shall provide a list of the addresses of Residential Units which due to disabilities of its occupants are in need of back door service. After BFI receives such list from the City, BFI will place a dot on the curb for each such back door Residential Unit.
- 6.14 <u>Distribution and Collection of Tags</u> The City shall distribute the Tags to the Residential Units. BFI will make Tags available to the City at City Hall and at the City Environmental Services Offices. It shall be the City's responsibility to collect any moneys from Residential Units for the use of such Tags.
- 6.15 <u>Further Education to City Personnel</u> For Collection Services provided under Section 5, BFI shall educate City personnel on the City facility recycling program. BFI shall meet with custodial workers of the City to educate them on the proper procedures to ensure that materials that City Employees set out for collection under Section 5 are placed in the correct recycling containers.
- 6.16 <u>Monthly Tonnage Report; Record of Calls</u> On a monthly basis, BFI will provide for the previous month's Collection Services within ten (10) business days from the end of such month being report.

- Summaries of tonnage of all Recyclable Materials collected from the Bins from Residential Units and the City's facilities which use recycling carts and the tonnage of such materials that were a part of the "Recyclable Materials" which were taken to a Disposal Site pursuant to this Agreement.
- Estimation of any City cardboard recycling service utilizing dumpsters
- Summary of tons of Refuse collected
- Monthly total of calls received by BFI's customer service representative(s) including the number of missed collections and the information regarding complaints described in Section 6.19
- 6.17 <u>Wheel Kits For Recycling Bins</u> Residential Units will be supplied a wheel kit if they request one which shall be placed on the Bin by the Producer. The City will be charged \$5.00 per wheel kit supplied.
- 6.18 <u>BFI MOBIUS to Elementary Schools</u> The BFI MOBIUS Curriculum will be offered to all City elementary schools by BFI in conjunction with the City's Environmental Services Department.
- 6.19 <u>Missed Collections, Handling of Complaints</u> All complaints from the residents of the City shall be given prompt and courteous attention. In the case of a missed collection, BFI shall arrange for the collection on that same day if reasonably possible, and in no event later than the next day. In the case of a missed collection on a Friday, BFI shall go back to make the collection that same day if reasonably possible, and if that is not reasonably possible, BFI will provide collection on Saturday or Monday, depending on the request of the customer. BFI shall maintain complaint records which record the date a complaint is received, the name and address of the affected customer, a short description of the complaint and a note that it is resolved.
- 6.20 <u>Spills</u> Any spills by BFI will be cleaned up by BFI, including, but not limited to, environmental spills. The foregoing sentence requires BFI having spill containment kits on all vehicles and having all drivers trained in the proper use of such kits. In addition, BFI shall report all such spills and cleanups promptly to the City.

7. <u>Compensation</u>.

- 7.1 <u>Rates</u> The City shall pay BFI on a monthly basis amounts calculated as follows:
 - A. During the period from February 15, 2000 through the end of the term of this Agreement, for Residential Recycling Services and Residential Waste Services
 - Twelve and 74/100 Dollars (\$12.74) per month (prorated for February 2000) multiplied times the number of Residential Units in the Service Area using a 95 gallon Cart plus
 - (ii) Eleven and 24/100 Dollars (\$11.24) per month (prorated for February 2000) multiplied times the number of Residential Units in the Service Area using a 68 gallon Cart
 - B. During the period from January 1, 2000 to February 14, 2000, for Residential Recycling Services and Residential Waste Services, Twelve and no/100 Dollars (\$12.00) per month (prorated for February 2000) multiplied times the number of Residential Units in the Service Area.
 - C. One Hundred Dollars (\$100) per 100 Tag packs as and when the City obtains them.
 - D. Five Dollars (\$5.00) per Residential Unit requesting a wheel kit as described in Section 6.17.
 - E. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Collection Services for Residential Units in which the primary wage-earners are couples or singles that are either
 - (i) age sixty-five (65) or older, or
 - (ii) handicapped,

shall be provided by BFI at no fee if the household income is at or below the poverty level, and at Six and no/100 Dollars (\$6.00) per month per such Residential Unit if the household income exceeds the poverty level. For the purposes of this Agreement, the "poverty level" shall be the amount established from time to time by the United States Government. People in Residential Units who wish to qualify for reduced fees shall provide to the City affidavits and such other documentation as the City may require to establish the entitlement. The City shall provide to BFI on an annual basis (meaning January 1 or thereabouts) a list of Residential Units who are entitled to the reduced rates.

CONTAINER SIZE	FREQUENCY OF PICK UP	MONTHLY PRICE PER CONTAINER
2 cy	1x/wk (refuse)	\$ 24.77
4 cy	1x/wk (refuse)	49.54
бсу	1x/wk (refuse)	74.30
6 су	2x/wk (refuse)	148.60
8 cy	1x/wk (recycling other than City Hall)	36.47
8 cy	1x/wk (recycling at City Hall)	0.00
8 cy	1x/wk (refuse)	99.07
8 cy	2x/wk (refuse)	198.14
20 cy rolloff	Every other week (refuse)	360.00
30 cy rolloff	Every other week (refuse)	460.00
95 gallon cart	1x/wk (refuse)	12.21
95 gallon cart	1x/wk (recycling other than City Hall)	9.58
95 gallon cart	1x/wk (recycling at City Hall)	5.63

F. For Work for the City pursuant to Section 5:

7.2. <u>Rate Modification Under Certain Circumstances</u>. The foregoing rates in Section 7.1 include the current One and 50/100 Dollar (\$1.50) fee imposed on waste disposal in the State of Georgia, but not any increases in such fee. At this time, BFI is not aware of any proposed additional taxes, charges, surcharges or fees. However, such rates, upon ten (10) days written notice, shall be increased if such additional taxes, charges, surcharges and fees imposed by governmental authorities on the Work or the Disposal Site after the date hereof occur and shall also be increased due to laws, rules, regulations and ordinances which are passed after the date hereof or the interpretation or enforcement of which has changed after the date hereof which have the effect of increasing the Work or the Disposal Site's direct costs. With respect to any such rate increase, BFI will provide to the City evidence reasonably satisfactory to the City regarding fee increases prior to increasing the rate hereunder.

- 7.3 <u>Invoices, Payment</u> BFI shall bill the City for Collection Services rendered within ten (10) days following the end of each month and the City shall pay BFI on or before the last day of the month in which the invoice is received. Such billing and payment shall be based on the rates set forth herein, as may be adjusted in accordance herewith. Such invoice shall show the number of Residential Units serviced hereunder and the applicable rate. In addition, the invoice will list each City facility serviced pursuant to Section 5 and the service level and monthly price for such City facility. All of the Collection Services will be provided to the City in one monthly invoice. BFI shall be entitled to payment for services rendered irrespective of whether or not the City collects from the Producers for such service.
- 7.4 <u>Rates Exclude City Charges</u> The rates described in this Section 7, exclude any extra fee that the City may charge per Residential Unit per month as an environmental fee or any other charge or fee that the City proposes to make. Thus, the rates owing to BFI described in this Section 7 shall not be offset by any City imposed environmental fee or other fee or charge imposed by the City and regardless of whether or not the City is able to collect any such fees. The City agrees, however, that any fees charged will be charged evenly to maintain the One Dollar and 50/100 (\$1.50) differential between the 68-gallon Cart price and the 95-gallon Cart price under this Agreement.

8. Term and Termination.

- 8.1 This Agreement shall be for a term of five (5) years and three (3) months, commencing on the Effective Date and ending March 31, 2005. The parties hereto may renew this Agreement for five additional one (1) year terms if both parties reach an agreement on all other terms and conditions for such renewal periods. Neither party hereto shall be liable for failure to reach mutually satisfactory terms and conditions for a renewal period.
- 8.2 In the event there should occur any material breach or material default in the

performance of any covenant or obligation of City or BFI which has not been remedied within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice from the nonbreaching party specifying such breach or default (or such longer period of time as is reasonably necessary to cure any such breach or default which is not capable of being cured within thirty (30) days provided the breaching party has undertaken to cure within such thirty (30) days and proceeds diligently thereafter to cure in an expeditious manner), the non-breaching party may, if such breach or default is continuing, terminate this Agreement upon written notice to the other party. In the event of a breach, event of default, or termination of this Agreement, each party shall have available all remedies in equity or at law, unless otherwise provided elsewhere in this Agreement.

9. Indemnification; Insurance and Bonding.

- 9.1 BFI shall indemnify and save harmless the City, its officers and its employees, from and against any and all claims, demands, actions, suits and proceedings by others, and against all liability to others, resulting from the negligence or willful misconduct of BFI in the performance of this Agreement, including, but not limited to, any liability for damages by reason of or arising out of any failure of BFI to secure proper licenses, bonds, insurance coverage or the like, and against any loss, cost, expense, and damages resulting therefrom, including reasonable attorney's fees, except that BFI shall not indemnify the City for any of the foregoing which arise out of or result from the negligence or willful misconduct of or the breach of this Agreement by the City or its employees or agents.
- 9.2 <u>Insurance and Bonding</u>. BFI shall at all times during the Agreement maintain in full force and effect the insurance and bonding shown on Exhibit "A" attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.

10. Compliance With Law.

BFI shall conduct operations under this Agreement in compliance with all applicable laws except that this Agreement shall govern the obligations of BFI and the City in the event of any conflicting ordinances of the City concerning the subject matter hereof. In the event that any Collection Services provided hereunder, or portions thereof, are rendered unlawful or impractical pursuant to laws or regulations promulgated by state, local or federal authorities in the future, BFI shall, upon notice to City, cease providing that Service or portion thereof.

11. Nondiscrimination.

BFI shall not discriminate against any person because of race, sex, age, creed, color, religion or national origin.

12. Licenses and Taxes.

BFI shall obtain all licenses and permits (other than the license and permit granted by the Agreement) and promptly pay all taxes lawfully required by the City and by the State of Georgia.

13. Assignment.

The rights under this Agreement cannot be sold, transferred, leased or assigned or disposed of in whole or in part, without the prior consent of the City expressed by resolution, and then only under such conditions as may therein be prescribed. BFI may, without consent, transfer this Agreement to any entity controlling, controlled by or under common control with BFI as of the date of this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a transfer or assignment occurring by operation of law, merger, consolidation, reorganization or other change of BFI's corporate or proprietory structure shall be deemed to be an assignment requiring the approval of the City. If a successor in interest is approved by the City, such successor shall comply with the requirements of this Agreement with respect to insurance. This subsection shall not apply to a transfer in trust, mortgage or other hypothecation to secure an indebtedness.

14. Force Majeure.

- 14.1 Except for the payment obligation of City hereunder, if the City or BFI is unable to perform, or is delayed in its performance of, any of its obligations under this Agreement by reason of any event of force majeure, such inability or delay shall be excused at any time during which compliance therewith is prevented by such event and during such period thereafter as may be reasonably necessary for the City or BFI to correct the adverse effect of such event of force majeure.
- 14.2 An event of "Force Majeure" shall mean any events or circumstances beyond the reasonable control of the affected party to the extent that they delay the

City or BFI from performing any of its obligations (other than payment obligations) under this Agreement; including the following:

14.2.1 Strikes, work stoppages, and other labor unrest;

- 14.2.2 Acts of God, tornadoes, hurricanes, floods, sinkholes, fires, and explosions (except those cause by negligence of BFI, its agents, and assigns), landslides, earthquakes, epidemics, quarantine, pestilence, and extremely abnormal and excessively inclement weather; and
- 14.2.3 Acts of a public enemy, acts of war, terrorism, effects of nuclear radiation, blockages, insurrections, riots, civil disturbances, or national or international calamities.
- 14.3 In order to be entitled to the benefit of this section, a party claiming an event of force majeure shall be required to give prompt verbal notice followed up with a written notice to the other party specifying in detail the event of force majeure and shall further be required to use its best efforts to cure the event of force majeure. The parties agree that, as to this section, time is of the essence.
- 14.4 The City will grant such variances in routes and schedules as are reasonably required in the event of force majeure, and will negotiate with BFI fees for any additional work which BFI may agree to perform in such event.

15. Amendments.

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the parties regarding the subject matter hereof and may be amended or modified only by a written agreement signed by both parties.

16. Governing Law.

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Georgia.

17. Exclusivity.

BFI shall have the sole and exclusive franchise, license and privilege to provide (i) solid waste collection services and recyclables collection services to all Residential Units within the Service Area and (ii) the Work to the City as described in Section 5 hereof during the term of this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized officers as of the date first above stated in this Agreement.

ATTEST:

By: Name: <u>Tracy</u> Dy Title: Assistant Clerk (SEAL)

CITY OF ALPHARETTA, STATE OF GEORGIA

By: Name: Title: Mayor

BFI WASTE SYSTEMS OF NORTH AMERICA, INC.

APPE

By:	The THOMAS MARTYN
Name:	Autorizas Offlerin
Title:	DISTRIET MANHOUND

ADDENDUM TO RECYCLING SERVICES AND SOLID WASTE AGREEMENT

THIS ADDENDUM is made and entered into this ______ day of March 2005, to be effective as of April 1, 2005, by and between **THE CITY OF ALPHARETTA** (herein referred to as the "City") and **BFI WASTE SYSTEMS OF NORTH AMERICA, INC.**, a Delaware limited liability company authorized to do business in the State of Georgia (herein referred to as "BFI").

WHEREAS, on December 20, 1999, the City and BFI entered into a Recycling Services and Solid Waste Collection Contract (the "Contract") under which BFI has been providing curbside collection of residential Garbage and Recyclable Materials (as defined therein).

WHEREAS, BFI and the City desire to extend the existing Contract for an additional one (1) year term with the following mutually agreed upon modifications

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY AGREED AS FOLLOWS:

1. Residential Yard Waste Collection

Commencing April 1, 2005, BFI shall collect and dispose of in a workmanlike manner one (1) time per week residential yard waste placed in a City approved container at curbside at each Residential Unit located within the Service Area ("Residential Waste Services"). BFI shall not be required to collect more than five (5) approved yard waste containers from any one (1) Residential Unit. Tree limbs must be no greater than three (3) feet in length or six (6) inches in diameter and stacked at curbside.

2. Term

The Contract shall be extended for a term commencing on April 1, 2005 and ending March 31, 2006. The contract shall automatically renew for successive one (1) year terms if both parties reach an agreement on all the terms and conditions for such renewal periods.

<u>3. Rates</u> – The City shall pay BFI on a monthly basis amounts calculated as follows:

During the period from April 1, 2005 through the end of the term of this Agreement, for Residential Recycling Services, Residential Waste Services and Residential Yard Waste Services

- (i) Fifteen and 49/100 Dollars (\$15.49) per month multiplied times the number of Residential Units in the Service Area using a 95 gallon Cart, **plus**
- (ii) Thirteen and 99/100 Dollars (\$13.99) per month multiplied times the number of Residential Units in the Service Area using a 68 gallon Cart, plus
- (iii) Eight and 75/100 Dollars (\$8.75) per month multiplied times the number of Residential Units in the Service Area receiving City

approved reduced rates for age sixty-five (65) or older, or handicapped, **plus**

- (iv) Collection Services for Residential Units in which the primary wage-earners are couples or singles that are either
 - a. age sixty-five (65) or older, or
 - b. handicapped

shall be provided by BFI at no fee if the household income is at or below poverty level. For the purposes of this Agreement, the "poverty level" shall be the amount established from time to time by the United States Government. People in Residential Units who wish to qualify for reduced fees shall provide to the City affidavits and such other documentation as the City may require to establish the entitlement. The City shall provide to BFI on an annual basis (meaning January 1 or thereabouts) a list of Residential Units who are entitled to the reduced rates.

4. <u>9.2 Insurance and Bonding</u> – City agrees to drop the performance bond requirement of the contract for the renewal term.

Except as specifically modified and amended hereby, the Contract shall remain in full force and in effect in accordance with its terms. In the event of any conflict between the terms of this Amendment and the Contract, the terms of this Amendment shall prevail.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Addendum has been executed on the day and year first above mentioned. The execution by the City is made pursuant to the authority granted by the action of the Mayor and Council of the City of Alpharetta, entered at the meeting of said Mayor and Council held on the 18TH day of January 2005.

Attested to:

By: ______ ROBERT REGUS, CITY MANAGER

CITY OF ALPHARETTA

BY:

ARTHUR LETCHAS, MAYOR

BFI WASTE SYSTEMS

By: _____

Name: _____

Title: _____

AGREEMENT FOR SPECIALIZED WASTE COLLECTION SERVICES

This Agreement for Specialized Waste Collection Services is effective the 1st day of September, 1997, by and between Greenworks, Inc. (the "Contractor") and the City of Alpharetta, Georgia (the "City").

1. Scope of Services.

(a) General Services. During the term of this Agreement, Contractor shall collect and dispose of all specialized waste from each residential unit within the City. For the purposes of this Agreement, the term "specialized waste" includes yard trimmings, large limbs and trees, and bulky waste. The collection and disposal services shall include all labor, equipment and materials necessary to complete the services in a timely and efficient manner. All collections shall be at curb side, unless otherwise agreed to by the Contractor and the residential customer. It is the customer's responsibility to properly prepare all specialized waste for pick up consistent with current City policies and ordinances, but Contractor agrees to cooperate and work with the City and the customer to educate the customer in respect to the proper preparation of materials for collection. The area to be served under this Agreement includes all residential units within the City and all residential units which are hereafter constructed or annexed into the City during the term of this Agreement.

(b) Frequency of Collection. Contractor shall collect and dispose of bagged or containerized yard trimmings from each residential unit within the City once per week as scheduled by the Contractor, subject to approval by the City. Chipping services are included as necessary. Collection of bulky waste and large limbs, branches and logs (trees) shall be on an on-call basis, not less than bi-weekly.

(c) Disposal. All yard trimmings and large wood collected will be delivered to the Green Cycle of Georgia, Inc. composting site at Morgan Falls, or such other composting site as may be approved by the City. All non-organic bulky waste will be delivered to an approved landfill, with the exception of white goods which shall be separated and recycled.

(d) Additional Regulations. Contractor shall permit the City to inspect the records of the Contractor concerning services rendered to the City upon reasonable notice and during normal business hours. Contractor shall at all times exercise due diligence in making its collections on the designated days according to normal routes and schedules, national holidays excluded. In the event Contractor is unable to make collection on any designated day due to circumstances beyond its control, including but not limited to accidents, inclement weather, strikes or governmental interference, Contractor shall provide a make up service within three (3) days. and the Contractor prior to collection. Contractor's current fee schedule for bulky waste items is attached as Exhibit "A" to this Agreement. The fee for these items shall be billed directly to the customer by Contractor.

(b) Adjustments.

(i) Yard Trimmings. The service fee of three and 25/100 dollars (\$3.25) per unit per month for yard trimmings collection is guaranteed for the term of this Agreement. However, after the first year of this Agreement, Contractor may petition the City Administrator for an annual rate adjustment based upon unforeseen and unusual changes in the cost of operations that could not be reasonably anticipated, such as new or revised laws, ordinances, regulations or similar reasons. Contractor shall provide written evidence satisfactory to the City Administrator to verify increased costs. In no event shall a rate adjustment be granted unless it is also established to the satisfaction of the City Administrator that the proposed adjusted rate is competitive with rates then existing in the Atlanta metropolitan area. In no event shall a rate adjustment be requested more frequently than annually. No rate adjustment shall exceed five percent (5%).

(ii) Large Wood and Bulky Waste. Contractor shall also exercise its best efforts not to increase the service fees for the collection of large wood and bulky waste during the term of this Agreement. Any such increase is subject to the same criteria as increases for yard trimmings, except that the approval of the City Administrator is not required. However, Contractor will notify the City Administrator in advance of any such increase. In the event that Contractor increases the service fees for the collection of large wood or bulky waste, the customer shall have the option to select another contractor willing to provide the service at a lower In no event shall the Contractor increase the service fee rate. for the collection of large wood or bulky waste in response to a determination by the City Administrator that a request for an increase in the service fee for the collection of yard trimmings is not warranted.

(iii) <u>Natural Disasters</u>. In the event of ice storms, tornadoes, hurricanes or similar natural disasters that result in an inordinate amount of yard waste, the City will cooperate with the Contractor by providing man-power assistance and/or additional compensation to handle the additional work.

3. <u>Term and Termination</u>. The term of this Agreement shall be five (5) years. However, if in the opinion of the City Administrator the Contractor fails to perform in a satisfactory manner, or to perform in accordance with applicable ordinances, the City Administrator shall notify the Contractor in writing. The Contractor shall, within ten (10) days of receipt of such notice, return to the City Administrator a written statement that explains any reason or justification for non-performance or delayed, partial or substandard performance, and sets forth the steps that have been 7. <u>Compliance Regulations</u>. City agrees to use its best efforts to require compliance by all residence of the City and shall maintain such appropriate ordinances and regulations regarding the collection, removal and disposal of specialized waste as is appropriate.

8. <u>Notices</u>. All notices, consents, approvals and other communications required or permitted hereunder must be in writing and are deemed to have been duly given and to be effective upon delivery, to the person to whom directed, as the case may be, at the following addresses:

If to the City:	City of Alpharetta Two South Main Street Alpharetta, Georgia 30004 Attention: City Administrator
With copy to:	C. Sam Thomas, City Attorney Bovis, Kyle & Burch, LLC 53 Perimeter Center East Suite 330 Atlanta, Georgia 30201-2298

If to the Contractor: Charles E. Slade Greenworks, Inc. 2255 Cumberland Parkway Suite 1100-B Atlanta, Georgia 30339

9. <u>Miscellaneous</u>.

(a) No Discrimination. In performing the services required under this Agreement, the Contractor shall not discriminate against any person on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, national origin or ancestry, age or disability.

(b) Governing Law. This Agreement is executed and shall be performed in the State of Georgia, and this Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Georgia.

(c) Captions. Titles or captions of sections contained in this Agreement are inserted only as a matter of convenience and for reference, and in no way define, limit, extend or prescribe the scope of this Agreement or the intent of any provision.

(d) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two (2) or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which shall together constitute one (1) and the same instrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed and delivered as of the date first above written.

Greenworks, Inc.

B

City of Alpharetta, Georgia

By: Charles E. Martin, May Jr.

Approved as to Form:

C. Sam Thomas, City Attorney

F:\USERS\CITYALPH\WASTECOL.AGT

Appendix H

Resolution Adopting The 2025 Comprehensive Plan

Introduction

The previous chapters provided a basic inventory and an assessment of needs related to the eight elements of the Alpharetta's Comprehensive Plan: population; economic development; natural, historic and scenic resources; community facilities; transportation; housing; land use; and annexation. However, without an overall strategy for implementation, the Plan's goals and strategies will not be realized. This chapter merges and coordinates the goals and strategies arising from the separate plan chapters into an overall implementation strategy to direct the Plan over the next 20-years. Complementing this long-term implementation strategy is the Five-Year Short Term Work Program. The Short Term Work Program sets out specific actions and time frames for the next five years to implement the Plan—who is suppose to do what, when and where the money is coming from .

Lastly, this chapter sets out provisions for annual review, amendment and updating of the Plan as time goes by and changes occur, whether or not anticipated in the forecasts of future development or in the City's vision for the future.

Implementation Process

Communication: The first step in the implementation process is communication. However, to fully communicate the values of the planning process, the City Council and Planning Commission will be fully appraised of the Plan's overall goals, facility needs and the strategies necessary to address these needs. This communication step is not limited to the policy makers but will also be extended to the citizens and businesses in the community. The public should be aware of the processes involved to create the Comprehensive Plan, how they can contribute to the process, and how the plan will be implemented.

Formal Adoption: The second step is the formal adoption by the City Council and Planning Commission after public hearings are held. The Planning Commission and City Council will then use the Comprehensive Plan as a guide for making decisions that will affect future growth in Alpharetta. Unless the goals and strategies are accepted and embraced by the City Council, the Planning Commission, residents, and business interests, the Comprehensive Plan will have little value.

Continuous Monitoring: To ensure that the Comprehensive Plan remains a useful tool for guiding growth, it will be monitored for its impact and modified periodically to reflect changing community conditions. As part of plan implementation, the Plan's Five-Year Short Term Work Program is to be updated annually and extended into another year to maintain the five-year horizon.

Implementation Tools

Detailed Planning Studies: Detailed plans, such as a Park and Recreation Plan or a Major Thoroughfare Plan, are adopted as implementing measures of the Comprehensive Plan. These are more detailed planning studies for specific elements within the Plan; however, all facility improvements recommended by these plans will conform to the overall Comprehensive Plan.

Unified Development Code: The City of Alpharetta recently transformed the City's zoning ordinance, subdivision regulations and other land use regulatory controls into a Unified Development Code. The new Unified Development Code combines the land use regulatory aspects of the zoning ordinance with the land development aspects of the subdivision regulations. Like its predecessor (the zoning ordinance), the Unified Development Code will continue to regulate the use of the lot, lot size, building bulk and height, and setbacks. In addition, it will regulate the manner in which land may be subdivided to ensure that each subdivision meets standards as to minimum block and lot sizes, streets, relationship to existing streets, and provisions for open space, schools, and other public facilities. The Unified Development Code is a valuable and necessary tool for the implementation of the Comprehensive Plan and for the creation of quality developments within Alpharetta.

Capital Improvements Program: The Alpharetta Capital Improvements Program (CIP) provides the link between the planning effort and the operational budget of the City. Capital improvement programming is the scheduling of selected physical plans and facilities over a five-year period. These improvements are based on a series of priorities, according to the need for such improvements and the present and expected financial capabilities.

The CIP also provides the basis for substantiating impact fees in the community. Currently, the City charges an impact fee for road improvement projects, parks and recreation projects, and public safety projects. Appendix D contains the specific projects upon which the impact fees were based, as originally adopted in 1992-93 and included in the ordinances establishing the impact fees.¹

For each of the improvement categories, the service area is considered to be the city as a whole. Levels of service (LOS) are calculated and presented in each of the impact fee ordinances, and are consistent with the goals, policies and strategies of this Comprehensive Plan.

Inducements: The City can implement inducements to encourage certain types of private development that will contribute significantly to the public good. Typically these inducements relate to the creation of favorable financial arrangements, including:

- Low-interest loans
- Tax exemptions
- Fee waivers
- Aids in land acquisition, or
- Direct subsidy payments.

At times land use controls may provide positive inducements to develop in a more favorable manner. For example, in community unit plans where large parcels may be developed with more latitude as to site development, there is much more attention to common areas and open space than would be possible through traditional zoning controls on residential densities.

Citizen Involvement: Citizen involvement is critical in the development of a comprehensive land use plan. A comprehensive land use plan that is written in a vacuum will not accurately identify the goals and needs of the citizens of the community. The Alpharetta City Council, Planning Commission and Community Development Department all recognize that citizen involvement is important in the planning process. To this end, the City distributes a public newsletter outlining projects and activities in which the City is involved. Citizen involvement was encouraged and provided for within the development and adoption of this Comprehensive Plan.

¹ In 1998 the City of Alpharetta amended the Fire impact fee ordinance so as to allow for the broader Public Safety impact fee.

Overarching Implementation Strategy

The Alpharetta Comprehensive Plan's overarching implementation strategy is most clearly stated through its Vision Statement:

"Our Vision is to advance Alpharetta as a Signature City by ...

- Offering the highest quality of environment for our residents and businesses,
- A strong sense of community including a safe and secure environment, and
- Providing a business climate that attracts the top echelon companies."

Goals and Strategies

The following goals reflect the assessment of existing conditions and desired future results discussed in the various chapters of this Plan, coupled with the advice and guidance generated through the intensive public participation program.

Economic Development Goal: Strengthen and sustain the economic base of Alpharetta.

Based on the inventory and assessment presented above, the City needs to...

- Attract highly skilled and professional-level employment to corporate and industrial development areas of the City.
- Maintain a highly viable and attractive downtown.
- Continue to attract quality retailers for commercial areas throughout the City.
- Maintain a high standard of aesthetics and enhance the architectural environment of the City.
- Revise and implement a business retention plan

Strategies that will address these needs include...

- Implement the updated Economic Development Action Plan to direct the City's economic development efforts in utilizing a strategic approach to developing and marketing Alpharetta and the local economy.
- Provide mobility options such as improved public and private transportation for the 65,000 retail and service employees projected to be working in commercial centers of Alpharetta in the year 2020.
- Business and Job Creation
- Investigate the option of reducing development permit fees as a development incentive if permit valuations begin to decrease

- Implement a business calling and retention program to encourage existing quality businesses to remain and grow in the City
- Establish an image or theme for selected areas of the City
- Fully implement the Downtown Development Plan
- Coordinate with the Downtown Alpharetta Trade Association on downtown marketing efforts

□ Natural, Historic and Scenic Resources Goal: Protect and nurture the natural and historic environment of the City

Based on the inventory and assessment presented above, the City needs to...

- Protect the natural, historic and scenic qualities of the city, including water resources.
- Encourage preservation of historic structures and tree-lined street canopies, especially in the downtown area.
- Protect the natural environment, and areas that contribute to the unique character of the City by ensuring a balance between the natural and the built environment by continued use of buffers, and other techniques
- Protect the rural northwest part of the City from urban development and incompatible land uses
- Promote environment awareness through education.
- Permanently protect existing Greenspace and purchase or protect additional Greenspace to meet a 20% open space objective.

Strategies that will address these needs include...

- Adopt the DNR's Part 5 Standards to protect water resources in the area.
- Strictly enforce the City's Erosion and Sedimentation Control Ordinance. Continue to enforce on-site storm water management policies that limit runoff to pre-development rates and require detention areas.
- Continue to require water conservation measures in new developments.
- Maintain the scenic tree-lined view along GA 400 through corridor setbacks, clearing and grading setbacks and signage and lighting height limitations.
- Continue to enforce standards and enact ordinances for tree protection, signage, landscaping, tree-lined boulevards, sidewalks, bicycle paths, the greenway system and open space requirements.
- Retain the rural, horse farm character of the northwest section of the City by not extending sanitary sewer and not rezoning for urban densities in that area.
- Continue to utilize environmental education programs for both the general public and development, through the City's Environmental Services Office and the development of the Big Creek Environmental Center.

□ Community Facilities and Services Goal: Provide the best possible public facilities and services for the citizens and businesses within the City

Based on the inventory and assessment presented above, the City needs to...

- Encourage infrastructure development that keeps pace with growth and develops concurrently with the City's population, including water & sewer service, public safety, municipal government services and parks and recreation.
- Meet health needs of residents through a combination of private and public sources.
- Enhance the quality of life for residents through the provision of open space, park and recreational facilities and cultural opportunities that are convenient to all City residents.
- Ensure that infrastructure and public services are adequately positioned with personnel and facilities to provide coverage to serve newly annexed areas.
- Continue to improve training and responsiveness of the fire department.
- Encourage an educational system that achieves a higher standard of learning and meets current and future population needs.
- Encourage the expansion of library facilities within Alpharetta to meet the growing population needs.

Strategies that will address these needs include...

General Administration Strategies...

- To ensure that infrastructure keeps pace with new development, develop a capital improvement plan and program tied to the City's Comprehensive plan.
- Conduct a needs assessment to better accommodate the space requirements of conducting City business and serving the needs of the public currently and in the future.

Water and Sewer Strategies...

- Coordinate development activities with Fulton County to insure adequate sewer and water capacities are planned to meet future demands; and establish agreements with Fulton County concerning the volume of water the City can acquire and the reserve capacities for sewer effluent.
- Upgrade existing water lines to 8" or greater in areas of intense commercial and high-density residential development to ensure fire fighting adequacy, and to meet the needs of future demands.
- Develop additional water storage facilities in the City (water tanks).
- Develop and enforce water conservation measures in all new development in the City.
- Prohibit extension of sewer lines in the more rural northwest area of the City.

Solid Waste Strategies...

• Continue to emphasize education and current programs to reduce the solid waste stream even further.

Public Safety Strategies...

- Maintain a Fire/EMS system that ensures response times of four (4) minutes or less 90% of the time.
- Maintain ISO fire rating of class 3.
- Continue to attempt to be NFPA compliant.
- Develop a fire station in the Kimball Bridge Road/North Point Parkway area to provide protection and response time standards to the southeastern areas of the City were annexation is taking place.
- Develop public awareness, training and establish a defibrillator program and their usage in emergency medical situations.
- Become a "Storm Ready City" as defined by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration.
- Work to improve technology base to improve customer relations and work flows.
- Increase internal and external support staff to meet growing needs of department and community.
- Provide police service of 2.6 sworn police officers per 1000 residents.
- Maintain community-oriented foot patrol policing for the downtown.

Hospitals and Other Public Health Facility Strategies...

• Continue to work with the Fulton County Health Department to develop and expand programming to meet the needs of Alpharetta Citizens.

Recreation and Open Space Strategies...

- Maintain a regionally recognized equestrian center.
- Encourage developers to build recreational opportunities in conjunction with new development, and encouraging use of permanently protected open space for future generations to enjoy.
- Finalize the Big Creek Linear Park System as part of a regional park system.

Cultural and Library Strategies...

- Pursue development of the Encore Park for the Arts performing arts center in Alpharetta.
- Investigate the feasibility of developing a museum in Alpharetta.
- Encourage the Atlanta-Fulton County Library Board to upgrade the existing Library Facility at Mayfield Road.
- Encourage the improvement and expansion of existing library facilities within the city.
Educational Strategies...

- Communicate with Fulton County Board of Education concerning future growth areas of the City and the County's plans for provision of public schools to meet future capacities.
- Investigate the feasibility of creating an improved school system for Alpharetta.
- Continue to promote local opportunities for human resource development and employee training.

□ Transportation Goal: Provide a transportation system that continues to keep pace with growth and integrates various modes of travel (automobile, bus, bicycle and pedestrian) in order to allow mobility options

Based on the inventory and assessment presented above, the City needs to...

- Implement organizational measures to improve transportation service to the public.
- Increase transportation accessibility and mobility
- Provide multi-modal transportation options
- Improve transportation safety and neighborhood livability
- Improve the environment and air quality
- Maintain and preserve the existing transportation system

Strategies that will address these needs include...

- Implement appropriate organizational structure within the city of Alpharetta to provide a better level of transportation service to the public that promotes a proactive problem solving approach.
- Increase available resources (staffing levels, operational budget, capital improvement budget, etc.) to implement the city's infrastructure needs in conjunction with development demands.
- Develop an integrated transportation approach that integrates public participation and awareness, land use, projected population and employment growth and coordination with other jurisdictions.
- Maintain the Major Thoroughfare Plan on an annual basis.
- Improve the safety of the transportation system by improving intersections, traffic signal operations, and grade separations for motorists, bicyclists and pedestrians.
- Improve east-west roadway connections.
- Identify key areas where north-south links between collector roadways can be made in order to provide vehicular options and reduce roadway backups.
- Reduce congestion on GA 400 and Highway 9.

- Develop land use strategies to support transit friendly, bicycle routes and walkable communities that provide linkages to activity centers within the City.
- Build a safe and efficient sidewalk system, greenway system and bicycle routes, linking residential, commercial, school, employment, transit and parks.
- In examining new development proposals, assess their ability to offer transportation alternatives and reduce the number of vehicular trips.
- Extend the transit rail line, park and ride lots, express bus service and expand local bus and shuttle services.
- Encourage greater school bus ridership.
- Encourage transportation demand management (e.g., vanpools, carpools, telecommuting, etc.) in the private and public sector, and greater development of HOV lanes on major corridors.
- Minimize cut-through traffic on local roads, and reduced speeds, where appropriate.
- Minimize transportation impacts on social, environmental, and historic resources by reducing total vehicle emissions.
- Create policies that promote the development of compact mixed-use and transit-oriented development.
- Require development designs to encourage pedestrian activity that reduces on-site vehicular dependence.
- Promote efficient use of the existing system, through improved operational and maintenance strategies.
- Identify roads that need to be upgraded to city standards.
- Incorporate sidewalks throughout the city.
- Develop a network of interconnected streets to provide more access routes and less dependence on the arterial and major collector street system.

□ Housing Goal: Capture the major market share of executive housing while providing opportunities for first-time home buyers and quality rental accommodations

Based on the inventory and assessment presented above, the City needs to...

- Promote and encourage residential densities and designs that ensure varied living areas and housing types.
- Promote and maintain a supply of available land for future housing development.
- Balance residential development on the east and west sides of the City.
- Design quality and long-term value into residential development from site design to material selection as a means of maintaining high standards, quality image and property values.
- Use infrastructure as a tool to guide new residential locations.

- Assure that people who work in Alpharetta have the opportunity to live in Alpharetta.
- Preserve the character of distinct residential areas such as Crabapple and the northwest quadrant horse farms.

Strategies that will address these needs include...

- Review residential plats and master plans (existing and proposed) to determine their response to providing a variety of housing choices as to size and costs.
- Encourage higher residential densities and appropriate mixed uses close to downtown and other appropriate areas.
- Preserve Canton Street between Church Street and Hopewell Road as residential and designate it as the Garden District of Alpharetta.
- Encourage large land holdings to plan for multiple land uses.
- Maintain a balance between single-family and multi-family development in Alpharetta such that at least 2/3's of the housing stock is single-family.
- Promote subdivisions that foster a sense of community and promote pedestrian mobility, the natural environment, community recreation and public open space.
- Continue to preserve the area to the northwest as Country Estate with a minimum of three acres per unit.
- Preserve existing neighborhoods as a source of affordable housing.
- Assess the need of providing additional affordable housing.

□ Land Use Goal: Develop a land use pattern and structure that fully complements the vision of a signature community for the region

Based on the inventory and assessment presented above, the City needs to...

- Ensure that future land use and development decisions are consistent with long range planning goals and policies and that such decisions promote social and economic well-being.
- Implement a land use plan that articulates a physical policy for a compact urban area and assures the availability of utilities concurrent with development.
- Encourage and promote clean, high tech commercial development that strengthens the economic base of the community and minimizes air and water pollution.
- Promote development that is pedestrian-oriented and minimizes vehicular trips.

Strategies that will address these needs include...

Growth Management Strategies...

• Adopt a land use plan that will accommodate the projected year 2025 population of 52,370 and employment base of 133,099.

- Use infrastructure as a tool to guide development into locations where the land is most cost effectively serviced (i.e., accessible to police, fire, sewer and the urban road network).
- Adopt public service and facility standards that ensure new development will only be approved when the facilities to serve it will be concurrently available.
- Implement a system of interrelated land use and capital improvements planning.
- Monitor development's (including undeveloped areas zoned and / or platted) impact on existing or future infrastructure capacities.
- Balance development on the east and west sides of the city through policies that target capital investment in parks, roads and public buildings, and encourage private investment in business and residential development on the west side of the city.
- When development densities are proposed to be reduced through rezoning, give due consideration to investment in infrastructure that has been made by the City.
- Encourage large land holdings to plan for multiple land uses.

Urban Design Strategies...

- Encourage creative urban design solutions for development within the city.
- Develop corridor design plans for major entranceways into the city to serve as a guide for future development.

Residential Estate Strategies...

- Specifically delineate the northwest area of Alpharetta to be maintained as country estate with lots of 3 acres or greater and protect other areas such as the Big Creek Overlook Community that have been established as country estate subdivisions.
- Adopt distinct land use regulations for the country estate area of the city that recognize the need to preserve its rural character and that promote and protect the horse farms and equestrian influence in the area.
- Maintain development densities in the country estate area of the city (northwest Alpharetta) that are generally at much lower levels than the rest of the city.
- Prohibit extension of sewer in the country estate area of the city.
- Investigate opportunities for incentives through zoning, services, taxes, etc. to preserve the country estate land use type.

Residential Strategies...

- Proactively plan for, and manage the preservation and maintenance of existing neighborhoods through code enforcement and land use decisions that protect the integrity of these areas.
- Develop subdivisions that foster a sense of community and promote pedestrian mobility, community recreation and an abundance of public open space.
- Ensure suitable land is available for the projected acres of future single family development and multifamily development.
- Encourage residential uses in the Downtown at higher densities and in mixed use buildings.

Employment Center Strategies...

- Ensure suitable land is available by the year 2020 for the projected acres that will be absorbed by retail uses, office uses and by business centers, industry and warehousing.
- Support a cohesive approach to providing retail sales and service nodes within the city thereby avoiding strip commercial patterns along arterial routes; these nodes would be developed on a scale that is compatible with residential development and pedestrian access.
- Retail areas should be well defined to avoid "retail creep" beyond designated retail areas.
- As major entranceways to the City, the interchanges along GA 400 should be designated for office use in order to preserve the corporate campus image of the City.
- Consider special land use categories for "downtown" and "historic" Crabapple.
- Support a Downtown that contains a compact arrangement of retail and commercial enterprises with office, financial, entertainment, governmental and certain residential development, all designed and situated to permit internal pedestrian circulation.
- Continue to encourage redevelopment of Alpharetta's Downtown through major streetscape improvements, landscaping, business development, and higher density residential.
- Support employment centers that allow for a corporate campus environment, with a mix of retail/office fronts and discreetly developed warehouse/distribution facilities accommodated to the rear of the buildings.
- Limit development of industrial uses to light industry only.
- □ Annexation Goal: Provide a systematic expansion of the City's boundaries to accommodate future growth and coherent land development and service delivery.

Based on the discussion presented above, the City needs to...

- Control the development of land where necessary to ensure that the long-term goals and vision of the City will be realized.
- Ensure that an adequate supply of land is made available within the city limits of Alpharetta to meet the future land use demands of the city.
- Enhance the delivery of public services and public facilities to meet future growth objectives.

Strategies that will address these needs include...

- Pursue the annexation of isolated areas of unincorporated Fulton County that are on the edge of the city limits.
- Identify unincorporated areas that would be beneficial for the City to annex in the near term or would create land use conflicts if not developed under the City's controls.

- Define a geographical area for eventual expansion of the city and develop a priority plan for annexation based on future growth in the ability of the City to economically provide and administer services.
- Analyze the cost of public facilities and services versus potential tax revenue from areas proposed or requested for annexation.

■ Short Term Work Program

The Short Term Work Program (or STWP) is found in Appendix E. The STWP presents a schedule of specific actions that the City intents to take during each of the coming five years to address its needs ant to implement its strategies for the City of Alpharetta. The STWP includes the following:

- A description of initiatives and programs to be put in place over each of the next five years, including cost estimates and alternative funding sources where applicable.
- A description of major capital improvements or infrastructure expansions proposed by the City over each of the next five years, including cost estimates and alternative funding sources where applicable.
- A description of administrative systems, regulatory measures or land development regulations to be adopted or amended over each of the next five years.

Plan Amendments and Updates

To be a useful and influential tool in guiding growth and development in the future and in ultimately realizing Alpharetta's vision for the future, the Plan must be kept current. Over time, changes will occur in the county that may not have been anticipated and over which the City may have no control—changing lifestyles, national or regional economic shifts, the impact of telecommuting or internet access on working and shopping patterns, etc. Annually monitoring these shifts against progress in Plan implementation may lead to the need for amendments to the Plan. In addition, the State has certain requirements for amendments and updates that must be followed. All of these issues are addressed below.

Annual Plan Review

The annual review is to be accomplished in coordination with the annual budgeting process. At a minimum, the annual review will consider:

- Apparent changes in the pace of growth, in terms of housing units built and land absorbed by nonresidential development.
- Land development approvals over the past year in light of realization of the Comprehensive Plan Design Guidelines (as applicable).
- Zoning approvals over the past year in relation to the Future Land Use Map.
- Planned Short Term Work Program activities compared to actual accomplishments.

Updates to the Short Term Work Program

The STWP will be updated annually, reflecting the results of the Annual Plan Review. The STWP will be extended one year into the future in order to maintain a full five years of future activity, and any changes appropriate to the other years will be included. No later than 30 days after the end of the year just completed, the updated STWP will be forwarded to the ARC for their files.

Minor Plan Amendments

As a result of the Annual Plan Review, amendments to the Plan may be appropriate. If the needed changes are strictly local and not considered to have an effect on another local government, the changes may be adopted as a minor amendment to the Plan at any time during the year by Board action. At the end of each year, along with the annual update to the STWP, a summary of all minor amendments is to be sent to the ARC with a statement that the individual and cumulative effects of the minor amendments do not significantly alter the basic tenets of the approved Plan.

Major Plan Amendments

If, as a result of the Annual Plan Review, conditions or policies on which the Plan is based have changed significantly so as to alter the basic tenets of the Plan, the City will initiate a major Plan amendment. The public will be involved in preparation of the Plan amendment to the extent warranted by the degree of change that has occurred. Following State procedural guidelines, a public hearing will be held to inform the public of the City's intent to amend the Plan, and to seek public participation. The major Plan amendment will be submitted to Fulton County and near-by cities for review in accordance with our agreement under HB 489, and to the ARC for review under the State's requirements, prior to adoption.

Fifth-Year Review and Tenth-Year Plan Update

In accordance with State requirements, the Comprehensive Plan will be given a full update, at a minimum, in ten years (2015). After five years, however, in 2010, the City will determine if the Comprehensive Plan needs a major update based on the degree of change in the county that has occurred by that time. If major changes have taken place that have not been incorporated into the Plan through past amendments, a complete update will be initiated following State procedural guidelines (which are the same as for adoption of a new Plan).













CITY OF ALPHARETTA COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND SERVICES

B Legend City Limits Parcel Park Recreation NI G City Government Office F Fire Station XX Greenway Access i Libary Ρ Police Deparment School



CITY OF ALPHARETTA COMPREHENSIVE PLAN NATURAL FEATURES II

Legend

- WETLAND
- GREENWAYS
- BASINS
- FULTON COUNTY
 - STREAM / RIVER
 - SLOPE GREATER THAN 25%



CITY OF ALPHARETTA COMPREHENSIVE PLAN TRANSPORTATION PLAN

LEGEND STREETS ALPHARETTA CITY LIMIT LOCAL TRANSIT PROJECT INTERMEDIATE REGIONAL TRANSIT PROJECT INTERMEDIATE LONG TERM LOCAL HWY PROJECT INTERMEDIATE LONG TERM SHORT TERM